

New strategies to reduce liver ischemia – reperfusion injury in fatty and non-fatty livers: a focus on sirtuin 1 implication

Eirini Pantazi

ADVERTIMENT. La consulta d'aquesta tesi queda condicionada a l'acceptació de les següents condicions d'ús: La difusió d'aquesta tesi per mitjà del servei TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) i a través del Dipòsit Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha estat autoritzada pels titulars dels drets de propietat intel·lectual únicament per a usos privats emmarcats en activitats d'investigació i docència. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva difusió i posada a disposició des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX ni al Dipòsit Digital de la UB. No s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX o al Dipòsit Digital de la UB (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant al resum de presentació de la tesi com als seus continguts. En la utilització o cita de parts de la tesi és obligat indicar el nom de la persona autora.

ADVERTENCIA. La consulta de esta tesis queda condicionada a la aceptación de las siguientes condiciones de uso: La difusión de esta tesis por medio del servicio TDR (**www.tdx.cat**) y a través del Repositorio Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha sido autorizada por los titulares de los derechos de propiedad intelectual únicamente para usos privados enmarcados en actividades de investigación y docencia. No se autoriza su reproducción con finalidades de lucro ni su difusión y puesta a disposición desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB. No se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al resumen de presentación de la tesis contenidos. En la utilización o cita de partes de la tesis es obligado indicar el nombre de la persona autora.

WARNING. On having consulted this thesis you're accepting the following use conditions: Spreading this thesis by the TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) service and by the UB Digital Repository (**diposit.ub.edu**) has been authorized by the titular of the intellectual property rights only for private uses placed in investigation and teaching activities. Reproduction with lucrative aims is not authorized nor its spreading and availability from a site foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository. Introducing its content in a window or frame foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository is not authorized (framing). Those rights affect to the presentation summary of the thesis as well as to its contents. In the using or citation of parts of the thesis it's obliged to indicate the name of the author.

Universitat de Barcelona

TESIS DOCTORAL

New strategies to reduce liver ischemia – reperfusion injury in fatty and non-fatty livers: a focus on sirtuin 1 implication

S ISCHEMIA REPERFUSION T 1 Eirini Pantazi Barcelona 2015



PROGRAMA DE DOCTORADO DE BIOTECNOLOGIA

New strategies to reduce liver ischemia – reperfusion injury in fatty and non-fatty livers: a focus on sirtuin 1 implication

Memoria presentada por Eirini Pantazi para optar al título de Doctora de la Universidad de Barcelona

Eirini Pantazi

Barcelona 2015



PROGRAMA DE DOCTORADO DE BIOTECNOLOGIA

New strategies to reduce liver ischemia – reperfusion injury in fatty and non-fatty livers: a focus on sirtuin 1 implication

Memoria presentada por Eirini Pantazi para optar al título de Doctor de la Universidad de Barcelona

Joan Roselló-Catafau (Director) Mohamed Amine Zaouali (co-director)

Josefa Badía Palacín (tutora) Eirini Pantazi

Barcelona, marzo 2015

A Chara, José, Aris, Miguel y a Edoardo

Agradecimientos

Hay varias personas que han contribuido para que esta tesis se realice, tanto con su propio trabajo científico, como también con su apoyo psicológico. Aparte de la Generalitat de Catalunya y el grupo de Institut Georges Lopez por la financiación económica, querría agradecer a los siguientes:

A Dr Joan Roselló-Catafau, el director de la tesis, que me haya aceptado en su equipo de investigación y así me haya ofrecido la oportunidad de poder trabajar en la ciencia, desarrollar mis ideas y afrontar los problemas que han surgido durante estos años. Sus comentarios han contribuido en la mejora de mi trabajo, como también en mi evolución científica.

A Dr Mohamed Amine Zaouali, el co-director de la tesis, por haberme ayudado a diseñar los experimentos y analizar los datos.

A Dr Josefa Badía Palacín por ser la tutora de esta tesis y por poder facilitarme su tiempo para cualquier consulta.

A Dr Emma Folch-Puy por haber corregido los artículos, discutir con ella los protocolos, enseñarme las técnicas de los cultivos y sobre todo por haber sido una muy buena y agradable compañera de trabajo.

A Mohamed Bejaoui (que muy pronto será Doctor....) por enseñarme manejar animales y los pasos de la cirugía, por haber discutido conmigo los protocolos (Bejaoui´s protocols!!!) y sobre todo, por haber sido una muy buena compañía, gracias a nuestras laaaargas discusiones en varios aspectos de la vida!

A Arnau Panisello por su ayuda en el laboratorio, especialmente en los últimos meses que escribía mi tesis. También a Laura Pla por su colaboración durante los pocos meses en los que hacía su master.

A Prof Carlos Marques Palmeira de la Universidad de Coimbra en Portugal por haberme permitido realizar mi estancia en su laboratorio y ayudarme a aprender nuevas cosas. También a todas las personas que forman parte de su equipo, a Anabela, Ana, Felipe, Joao y Lilian, por su ayuda en las técnicas que desarrollé allí, pero también por su buena compañía y hacerme sentir como amiga suya desde el primer día de mi estancia. Muito, muito obrigada!!!!

A Dr Valérie Petegnief por haber aportado una mirada crítica en nuestros resultados y ayudado en las dificultades que hemos afrontado, especialmente en el primer estudio.

A Dr Anna Serafín por realizar la histología en el primer artículo.

A todos mis compañeros en la 7ª y la 6ª planta del IIBB por haberme prestado material en el momento que lo necesitaba y especialmente por todas nuestras discusiones cómicas en la cantina y estos momentos tan, tan divertidos que hemos compartido en las casas rurales!!! Además, quiero dar las gracias a todos mis amigos aquí en España como también en Grecia por ayudarme a pasarlo tan bien y por darme ánimo para afrontar todas las dificultades!

Υ por último, pero no menos importante, a mi familia!!! Οφείλω ένα πάρα, πάρα, πάρα πολύ μεγαλο ευχαριστώ στην αδερφή μου Χαρά και στον συζυγό της Χοσέ, επειδή με παρακίνησαν να πάρω την απόφαση να έρθω στην Ισπανία για να παρακολουθήσω ένα μάστερ, από όπου και στην συνέχεια προέκυψε η υποτροφία για το διδακτορικό και έτσι και το παρόν σύγγραμα. Χωρίς αυτούς δεν θα μπορούσα να βρίσκομαι εδώ!!Η Χαρά και ο Χοσέ με υποδεχτεικαν σαν ένα νέο μέλος στην οικογένεια τους και μέχρι σήμερα με υποστηρίζουν σε σημαντικό βαθμό. Οι δυο γιοι τους, Άρης και Μικέλ, μου χάρησαν πολλές διασκεδαστικές στιγμές!!!! Οι γονείς μου, ακόμα και αν βρίσκονται στην Ελλάδα και δεν μπορούν να με επισκεφτούν, δεν έπαψαν στιγμή να με στηρίζουν και να πιστεύουν σε εμενα. Επίσης, η Δέσποινα και ο Γιώργος πάντα με ενθαρρύνουν, ιδιαίτερα όταν συναντιόμαστε στις διακοπές μου στην Ελλάδα. Η Δέσποινα πάντα μου δείχνει να βάζω προτεραιότητες και να συγκεντρώνομαι στον στόχο μου. Πάντως την πιο διαρκή υποστήριξη την λαμβάνω από τον Εδοάρδο, που με κάνει να πιστεύω ότι μπορώ να κατακτήσω το βραβείο Νόμπελ!!! Χάρις τον Εδοάρδο μπορώ να κάνω υπομονή και να τα καταφέρνω όλα!!!

Gracias a todos que están a mi lado!!!

Summary

Liver transplantation is the last-resort treatment for end-stage of both acute and chronic liver diseases. However, this therapy is always hampered by the extreme sensitivity of liver to ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI). Moreover, the lack of suitable donors and the increasing number of patients in the waiting list for transplantation has obliged the physicians to transplant liver that previously have been considered unacceptable due to their higher incidence of dysfunction after transplantation. One example of these suboptimal grafts are the steatotic livers, which are characterized by an excessive lipid accumulation and have been associated with poor transplantation outcome. In fact, the coincidence of multiple marginal characteristics further exacerbates the extent of IRI in the liver graft and reduces the chances of a successful outcome. In this context, the improvement of preservation solutions is a key step in the attempt to meet these clinical demands. In addition, the development of surgical strategies such as the use of reduced-size liver grafts, in order to expand the pool of donors, is considered as one of the most important advances in LT.

IRI associated with liver transplantation is a complex phenomenon that occurs when blood flow is interrupted for a prolonged period of time (ischemia) and then it is restored (reperfusion). During ischemia, the initiation of anaerobic metabolism and the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) depletion results in cell swelling and death. However, the injury is more severe during the reperfusion phase, where the increase in oxygen delivery provokes generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that damage cells and proteins, enhance microcirculatory disturbances and the initiation of inflammatory reponses. The final result is cell death and organ injury.

Due to the fact that IRI remains a serious complication in liver surgery and suboptimal grafts are more vulnerable to IRI, it is an urgent need to identify new pharmaceutical targets and develop new strategies in order to diminish its detrimental effects. Various investigations have demonstrated that ischemic preconditioning, a surgical approach that consists on the application of brief episodes of ischemia followed by short periods of reperfusion defore a sustained period of ischemiareperfusion, decreases significantly IRI. The main PC beneficial effects are mediated through endogenous adenosine and nitric oxide increases, activation of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK), attenuation of oxidative stress, apoptosis and inflammation. However, the potential application of PC in clinical practice remains controversial.

Recent experimental investigations have associated sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) with protective effects against IRI. SIRT1 belongs to the family of class III histone deacetylases of sirtuins, whose activity is dependent of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺). Sirtuins regulate a wide variety of cellular functions, such as cell cycle, metabolism and cellular stress response. SIRT1 has been shown to exert its beneficial effect against oxidative stress, hypoxic injury, apoptosis and inflammation associated with IRI in heart and brain, but no data has been reported concerning the implication of SIRT1 in hepatic IRI and liver transplantation. Consequently, the present tesis aims to investigate the potential role of SIRT1 in a model of warm ischemiareperfusion in steatotic livers when PC has been applied (first study), in a model of orthotopic liver transplantation, OLT, (second study) and in reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation, ROLT, (third study).

In the first study, we applied PC (5 minutes ischemia and 10 minutes of reperfusion) prior to 1 hour of partial ischemia followed by 24-hour reperfusion in Zucker obese rats. In additional groups, we administered either sirtinol or EX527 (SIRT1 inhibitors). We observed that SIRT1 protein levels and activity are augmented during PC. SIRT1 inhibition during PC increases liver injury, oxidative stress and apoptosis and abolishes the activation of cytoprotective mediators of PC, such as AMPK. Consequently, SIRT1 contributes to the beneficial mechanisms of PC against IRI in fatty livers.

In the second study, livers from Sprague-Dawley male rats were preserved for 8 hours (4 ^oC) in Institute Georges Lopez-1 (IGL-1) preservation solution enriched or not with trimetazidine (an anti-ischemic drug) and then subjected to OLT. We observed that the addition of TMZ in IGL-1 solution reduced liver injury and mitochondrial damage and increased SIRT1 protein expression levels and SIRT1 activity-related parameters. Also, SIRT1 overexpression was accompanied by a significant increase in

autophagy. This study evidences for the first time the involvement of SIRT1 in hepatic IRI associated to OLT.

In the third study, we further aimed to examine a possible association of SIRT1 with angiotensin II, the main effector of the renin-angiotensin system which has been correlated with increased hepatic injury. Losartan, an angiotensin II type I receptor antagonist, has been shown to exert protective effects against IRI, but the underlying mechanisms are not fully understood. Livers of Sprague-Dawley rats were preserved in University of Wisconsin preservation solution for 1 hour (4 °C) and then subjected to ROLT. In an additional group, losartan was orally administered 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient rats. We observed that losartan pretreatment diminished hepatic injury in ROLT and promoted both SIRT1 protein expression and activity. This fact was consistent with decreases in the endoplasmic reticulum stress parameters and in liver apoptosis. This study evidences the existence of an angiotensin II/SIRT1 axis in liver transplantation, and that the benefits of angiotensin II inhibition against liver IRI are mediated, at least in part, through SIRT1 activation.

According these results, the present thesis concludes that SIRT1 is implicated in the hepatic IRI and that strategies that enhance its activity can be a promising approach to reduce liver IRI.

Abbreviations

- ACE: angiotensin converting enzyme
- ALT: alanine aminotransferase
- AMPK: adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
- **APAF1:** apoptotic protease activation factor 1
- **AST:** aspartate aminotransferase
- AT1R: angiotensin II type I receptors
- AT2R: angiotensin type II receptors
- ATF-6: activating transcription factor 6
- ATP: adenosine triphosphate
- Bcl-2: B cell lymphoma-2
- BcL-xL: Bcl-like X
- Cat: catalase
- CHOP: C/EBP homologous protein
- **CytC:** cytochrome c
- elF2a: eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2a subunit
- eNOS: endothelial nitric oxide synthase
- ERK ½: Extracellular signal regulated kinases
- ERS: endoplasmic reticulum stress
- ET: endothelins
- FoxO: Forkhead box-containing protein O
- GADPH: 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- GRP78: glucose regulated protein 78

HES: hydroxyethyl starch

HIFs: hypoxia-inducible factors

HSPs: Heat shock proteins

ICAM-1: intracellular adhesion molecule

IGL-1: Institut Georges Lopez-1

IL-1: interleukin-1

IL-10: interleukin-10

IL-6: interleukin-6

INF-γ: interferon-γ

iNOS: inducible nitric oxide synthase

IRE1α: inositol requiring enzyme 1

IRI: ischemia-reperfusion injury

LDH: lactate dehydrogenase

LDLT: living donor liver transplantation

LT: liver transplantation

MAPKS: mitogen activated protein kinases

MDH: malate dehydrogenase

MnSOD: Mn-superoxide dismutase

mPTP: mitochondria permeability transition pore

mTOR: (mammalian Target of rapamycin)

NADPH: nicotinamide adenine dionucleotide phosphate

NF-kB: nuclear factor kappa B

NO: nitric oxide

p70S6k: protein S6 kinase

PC: ischemic preconditioning

PERK: RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR)-like ER kinase

PGC1α: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ coactivator

PI3K: phosphoinositide 3-kinase

PKC: protein kinase C

ppar- α :peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- α

RAS: renin-angiotensin system

ROLT: reduced orthotopic liver transplantation

ROS: reactive oxygen species

SECs: Sinusoidal endothelial cells

SIRT1: sirtuin 1

SIRT3: sirtuin 3

SLT: split liver transplantation

STAT3: signal transducer and activator of transcription-3

TBA: thiobarbituric acid

TCA: trichloroacetic acid

TNF-α: tumour necrosis factor

Trx1: thioredoxin 1

UCP2: uncoupling protein 2

UPR: unfolded protein response

UW: University of Wisconsin

XBP-1: X box-binding protein 1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of contents

T/	ABLE OF	CONTENTS	. 18
1.	INT	RODUCTION	. 25
	1. IN	ITRODUCTION	. 26
	1.1.	Anatomy of the liver and hepatic vasculature	. 26
	1.2.	Hepatic Cells	. 28
	1.2.1.	Hepatocytes	. 29
	1.2.2.	Kupffer cells	. 30
	1.2.3.	Sinusoidal endothelial cells	. 30
	1.2.4.	Stellate cells	. 31
	1.3.	Liver transplantation	. 31
	1.3.1.	Reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation	. 32
	1.3.2.	Living donor liver transplantation	. 33
	1.3.3.	Split liver transplantation	. 34
	1.4.	Suboptimal grafts in LT: Steatotic livers	. 35
	1.5.	Pathophysiology of ischemia-reperfusion injury	. 36
	1.6.	Ischemic injury	. 37
	1.7.	Reperfusion injury	. 38
	1.7.1.	Reactive oxygen species	. 38
	1.7.2.	Nitric oxide and endothelins	. 39
	1.7.3.	Inflammatory mediators	. 40
	1.8. Ce	Ilular processes involved in ischemia-reperfusion injury	. 41
	1.8.1.	Apoptosis	. 41
	1.8.2.	Necrosis	. 42
	1.8.3.	Autophagy	. 43
	1.8.4.	Endoplasmic reticulum stress	. 44
	1.9.	The renin-angiotensin system and IRI	. 47
	1.10.	Steatotic livers in IRI	. 48
	1.11.	Surgical strategies to prevent IRI: Ischemic Preconditioning	. 48
	1.11.1	Mediators of ischemic preconditioning	. 49
	1.11.1	i. Adenosine	. 49
	1.11.1	ii. AMPK and eNOS	. 50
	1.11.1	iii. Mitogen activated protein kinases	. 51
	1.11.1	iv. Heat shock proteins	. 51

1.11.1.v	. Signal transducer and activator of transcription-3	52
1.11.2.	PC effect on liver apoptosis	52
1.11.3.	PC correlation with oxidative stress and inflammation	52
1.11.4.	PC in fatty livers	53
1.12. PC	in clinical practice	53
1.13.	Strategies against cold ischemia-reperfusion injury: preservation solution	ons 54
1.14.	New therapeutical targets for ischemia-reperfusion injury: Sirtuins	55
1.14.1.	Role of sirtuins in ischemia	56
1.14.2.	Role of sirtuins in reperfusion	58
1.14.3.	Role of sirtuins in IRI-associated inflammation	61
1.14.4.	Sirtuins: cell survival or death?	62
2. OBJECTI	VES	64
3. MATERI	ALS AND METHODS	68
3. Mater	rials and Methods	70
3.1. Anir	nals	70
3.2. Isch	emic Preconditioning	70
3.3. Ortł	notopic liver transplantation design	70
3.3.i. Do	onor Surgery	71
3.3.ii. B	ench surgery	71
3.3.iii. S	urgery of the receptor	72
3.4. Red	uced-size orthotopic liver transplantation design	73
3.5. Exp	erimental Groups	74
3.6. E	Biochemical determinations	77
3.6.2.	Glutamate Dehydrogenase	77
3.6.3.	Lipid peroxidation assay	78
3.6.4.	SIRT1 activity	78
3.7. N	Molecular Biology techniques	79
3.7.1.	Protein extraction	79
3.7.2.	Western Blot	80
3.7.3. Ar	nalysis of RNA	82
3.8. H	listology	
3.9. 5	statistics analysis	84
4. RESULTS	5	
4. Resul	lts	
4.1. First	t study: SIRT1 in PC	
4.2. Seco	ond study: SIRT1 in OLT	101

4.3. Third study: SIRT1 in ROLT	114			
5. DISCUSSION				
5.1. Ischemic preconditioning	142			
5.2. Transplantation models	145			
5.2.1. Orthotopic liver transplantation				
5.2.2. Reduced size orthotopic liver transplantation				
5.3. New perspectives				
6. CONCLUSIONS	150			
7. BIBLIOGRAPHY	154			
8. ANNEX				

1. INTRODUCTION

Introduction

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Anatomy of the liver and hepatic vasculature

The liver is the largest solid organ in the body, situated in the upper-right abdomen and forms part of the digestive system. In humans it is separated incompletely into lobes, covered on their external surfaces by a thin connective tissue capsule. The main hepatic function is the uptake of substrates from the intestine in order to be stored, metabolized and distributed to the peripheral circulation for being used by other tissues. Furthermore, it is the main detoxifying organ of the body, which removes wastes and xenobiotics by metabolic conversion and biliary excretion [1].

Anatomically human liver is divided into right and left lobes by the falciform ligament, which connects the liver to the anterior abdominal wall and the diaphragm. The right lobe is further subdivided into two smaller lobes, the caudate and the quadrate lobes. The left part of the liver can also be divided into medial and lateral sections by the tissue named as ligamentum teres. Furthermore, the right lobe is firmly attached to the gall bladder, a pear-shaped pocket that stores and evacuates bile. The liver can also be divided into eight segments, where each one has its own vascular and biliary supply (Figure 1A).

The hepatic circulation has some unique characteristics. The liver has two blood supplies; one is the hepatic artery whose function is mainly nutritional and the other is the portal vein that provides blood from intestine, pancreas and spleen. Approximately 80% of the blood entering the liver is supplied by the portal vein, is poorly oxygenated, but facilitates exposure of nutrients and toxins to hepatocytes. The remaining 20% of the blood supply is delivered by the hepatic artery and is oxygenated.

The hepatic artery and the portal vein accompanied by the hepatic bile duct enter the liver at portal triad. Then, branches of each one travels together in portal tracts through the liver parenchyma. After repeated branching, terminal branches of the blood vessels supply blood to sinusoids. After flowing through the sinusoids, blood is collected in small branches of hepatic veins, which finally leave the liver on the dorsal surface and join the inferior vena cava. Apart from blood vessels, it can also be found the bile canaliculi, spaces of 1-2 μ m wide which are formed between adjacent

hepatocytes. They are interconnected and form a network of intercellular channels that receive the bile secreted from hepatocytes (Figure 1B).



Figure 1: (A) Scheme division of the liver in eight segments, (B) Hepatic circulation in lobules.

Liver is divided histologically into lobules. The classic hepatic lobule is a polygonal structure where the hepatic venule forms its central axis and in its periphery boundaries are regularly distributed the portal triads, containing a bile duct and a terminal branch of the hepatic artery and portal vein, as shown in Figure 2A. The lobule is further composed of multiple smaller units, called acini. The boundaries of the hepatic acinus can not be visualized; its axis is the portal tract and its peripheral boundary is an imaginary line connecting the neighboring central hepatic venule. The acinus is divided in three zones, with zone 1 closest to the portal vein and zone 3 closest to the hepatic venule in the center of the lobule (Figure 2B). The blood circulates through the sinusoids from zone 1 to zone 3, whereas bile flows in the opposite direction via a separate route to the portal bile ducts. Thus, each zone has different levels of oxygenation and metabolic function; hepatocytes closest to the hepatic artery (zone 1) are the best oxygenated, while those in zone 3 have the poorest supply of oxygen [2, 3].



Figure 2: (A) Representation of a hepatic lobule. (B) Scheme of hepatic acinus.

1.2. Hepatic Cells

The liver is composed of several cell types that contribute to different functions. The hepatic parenchymal cell, or hepatocyte which makes up almost 60% of cells and 80% of the volume of the organ, is considered as the main cell type of the liver that carries out most of the hepatic functions. The other 20% comprises represent the non-parenchymal cells, which include sinusoids, Kuppfer cells, lymphocytes and perisinusoidal stellate cells (fat-storing cells of Ito) [2].

Sinusoids are the large capillaries of the liver, are located between the cords of parenchymal cells, nourishing thus each hepatocyte on various sides. Sinusoids are lined by a thin layer of endothelial cells and contain Kupffer cells which are the resident macrophage of the liver. The space between the hepatocyte and the sinusoid is named Disse space, where stellate cells are found. Furthermore, in space of Disse it can be observed different components of the extracellular matrix, like collagen, proteoglycans and fibronectin that contribute to the cellular adherence, intercellular communication and cellular differentiation. Lymphocytes are also part of the innate immune system that resides within the liver to help resist infection (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Schematic structure of the hepatic cells.

1.2.1. Hepatocytes

Hepatocytes carry out most of the hepatic functions; they extract and process the nutrients from the blood and produce both exocrine and endocrine secretions, as follows [1, 2]:

i) Protein synthesis: Hepatocytes synthesize various liver specific enzymes that process many synthetic and detoxifying functions of the liver. Furthermore, hepatocytes secrete the majority of plasma proteins, except immunoglobulins, including albumin, prothrombin, fibrinogen, lipoproteins and complement proteins.

ii) Bile synthesis and secretion: Hepatocytes synthesize bile acids from cholesterol. Bile acids emulsify fats in the lumen of the small intestine. Insoluble bilirubin is produced from red blood cell breakdown in the spleen. Then, it circulates in the blood by forming complex with albumin and is taken up from the blood hepatocytes in order to be secreted into the bile canaliculi.

iii) Glucose homeostasis: Liver contributes to the maintenance of the blood glucose levels. In response to pancreatic islet hormones, hepatocytes synthesize glucogen from glucose or break down glycogen in order to produce glucose (glycogenolysis). Glucose can also be generated from other sugars, such as fructose, and from amino acids (gluconeogenesis).

iv) Metabolism of drugs and toxins: Hepatocyte enzymes metabolize drugs and toxins delivered from the gut via the portal circulation. In the endoplasmic reticulum of liver

Introduction

cells are located enzymes that convert lipid-soluble exogenous and endogenous compounds to water-soluble metabolites that can be easily excreted by the kidney. For example, in phase I biotransformation reactions the cytochrome P450 superfamily of monooxygenases oxidates lipid-soluble compounds to polar compounds. Phase II reactions conjugate these polar metabolites to glucuronic acid, sulfate, glutathione, glycine, or taurine. In Phase III reactions, these conjugated metabolites are transported into bile by specific transporters in phase III reactions. Due to the fact that the enzymes that participate in these reactions have a wide array of substrate specificity, the liver is able to metabolize various drugs. Depending on the rate of their metabolism in the endoplasmic reticulum, drugs are converted to less active or inactive compounds. Metabolism of the drugs by this enzyme system can also lead to more toxic compounds which can produce liver injury, for example in the case of carbon tetrachloride [4, 5].

1.2.2. Kupffer cells

Kupffer cells are macrophages that are situated in the luminal surface of the hepatic sinusoids and thus are exposed to the bloodstream. As Kupffer cells' main function is to remove toxic substances, they are strategically located in the areas of entrance of foreign substances; the majority is found in the periportal region where they are larger and present greater phagocytic activity than those found in the central area of the lobule.

Kupffer cells remove through endocytosis toxicants and bacteria from the circulation, as well as toxic and infective substances of intestine origin. Furthermore, they secrete inflammatory mediators that influence the function of adjacent cells. Kupffer cells also produce both beneficial and toxic substances that contribute to host defense and liver injury respectively [3].

1.2.3. Sinusoidal endothelial cells

Sinusoidal endothelial cells (SECs) are a layer of cells between the hepatocytes and the blood flowing in sinusoids. SECs contain numerous fenestrae (pores) which are clustered together in groups known as "sieve plates" and allow the exchange between

the blood and the surrounding tissue. The endothelial fenestrae are dynamic structures whose diameters are affected by luminal blood pressure, vasoactive substances, drugs and toxins.

SECs represent an important blood clearance system, as all transport between the lumen and the hepatocytes has to pass through this filter. Furthermore, permit rapid access to substances in the blood. SECs play an important role in immunity and inflammation, as secrete pro-inflammatory mediators such as interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), interferons and eicosanoids. They facilitate also adhesion of leucocytes and lymphocytes by secreting chemokines and expressing molecules, such as intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1). Thus, along with the Kupffer cells, the endothelium participates in host defense mechanisms. Furthermore, they contribute to the formation of new blood vessels and regulate sinusoidal blood flow by releasing vasoconstrictor and vasodilator factors [1].

1.2.4. Stellate cells

Stellate cells are located in the space of Disse, in the space between hepatocytes and sinusoidal endothelial cells. In this way, they are able to interact with the surrounding cell types. Stellate cells contain fat droplets and constitute the most important storage site of retinoids, including vitamin A. In healthy liver, they are quiescent. However, when activated, they synthesize collagen and thus contribute to the development of cirrhosis [1, 6].

1.3. Liver transplantation

Liver transplantation (LT) is the last resort option for patients with short edge diseases, such as chronic hepatitis B/C, autoimmune hepatitis and alcoholic cirrhosis. Between them, cirrhosis represents the main indication of LT, where predominate patients with alcoholic and virus C related cirrhosis [7]. The first successful LT was carried out with a whole liver graft (orthotopic LT, OLT) in 1967 and the procedure has been improved dramatically over the last years, due to the refinement and standardization of the surgical procedure [8]. The number of LT has been significantly

grown since 1980s and OLT consists the most common procedure for transplantation. According to European Liver Transplant Registry, more than 5000 liver transplants per year are performed in Europe and in USA and in most cases the 5-year patient survival is over 70% [7]. However, the overwhelming success of LT is limited by the increased number of patients added to the waiting list every year.

Consequently, several surgical techniques have been developed to enlarge the pool of organs that are based on the use of partial liver grafts that can be obtained from either a deceased donor (in this case the liver graft can be split and used for two recipients, usually an adult and a child) or a living donor [9]. The need for the development of new techniques is more important in case of pediatric transplantation, due to the fact that in this population the number of the cadaveric grafts with the adequate size is much more limited [10]. Although more technically demanding, these techniques give results similar to those for cadaveric LT and allow a larger number of patients to undergo LT [11].

1.3.1. Reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation

Reduced orthotopic liver transplantation (ROLT) where only one lobe of the liver is used as a graft, whereas the rest is discarded, was firstly reported by Bismuth and Houssin in 1984, and aimed to overcome size disparity and provide grafts from older donors to younger recipients [12]. ROLT takes advantage of the segmental anatomy of the liver, where each segment is an independent functional unit with its own vascular and biliary supply. The most commonly employed parts of a graft used in children are segments 2 and 3 (left lateral segment) and segments 2, 3, and 4 (left lobe). However, the type of the graft chosen for transplantation depends mainly on the size disparity between donor and recipient. For example, a full right graft will usually fit in a recipient at least half the size of the donor, whereas a full left graft permits a donor-recipient size disparity of up to 4:1. Besides this, the relative size of the individual segments can vary significantly and for this reason the donor liver and the recipient's hepatic fossa should be examined carefully [13].

Results with ROLT in children have been comparable to those reported with whole-organ cadaveric grafts [14, 15]. Furthermore, ROLT provides the advantage of

Introduction

lower incidence of hepatic arterial complications due to the larger caliber of the adult hepatic artery [16, 17]. ROLT has increased the number of pediatric donor organs, but not the total number of organs available for transplantation [10].

The surgical techniques applying partial grafts are based on the unique capacity of the liver to regenerate within a short period. During donor surgery, a part of the lobe is resected and the remaining hepatic cells are proliferated, so that the liver can be expanded in mass and compensate for the lost tissue, without harming the viability of the whole body. Through resection, it is important to achieve the minimal bleeding and leave adequate functional liver [18]. In experimental models, as rodents possess five lobules, three of them can be easily removed through a technique known as 2/3 partial hepatectomy. Thus, the remnant hepatocytes initiate the phenomenon of regeneration and within 5–7 days after surgery the liver size has been completely restored [19].

Liver regeneration is a very complex and well-orchestrated process, which involves the activation of various signaling cascades involving growth factors, cytokines and extracellular matrix remodeling. It is divided into three phases: priming, proliferation and growth termination. The priming phase involves extracellular matrix degradation and the activation of tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α and IL-6, which present pro-mitogenic effects and facilitate the entering of hepatocytes to the proliferation stage. During proliferation stage, various growth factors are released, including hepatocyte growth factor, epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor α that enhance DNA synthesis, the matrix remodelling and the restoration of liver function. Furthermore, in this stage many pro-angiogenic growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor, are up-regulated so that the microcirculatory system can be restored. Finally, in the 'termination stage', factors that inhibit proliferation, including transforming growth factor β are released and the hepatocytes are brought back into a state of quiescence [19].

1.3.2. Living donor liver transplantation

Living donor liver transplantation (LDLT) is a natural extension of ROLT, where a living person donates a portion of his liver to others. Potential donors can be

Introduction

considered persons that are completely healthy and have a compatible blood group. The LDLT procedure for adults usually involves transplantation of the right hepatic lobe from an adult donor to the recipient, whereas for children recipient the left lateral lobe. For this reason, the hepatic size, liver anatomy and vasculature of the donor are factors to be considered for LDLT [20].

The development of LDLT was a result of the increased demand for organs in the late 80 's, when LT was increasingly successful. The first LDLT was realized in United States in 1989, where a child received a segment of his mother's liver [21]. LDLT presents the advantage of increased histocompatibility between donor and recipient, favoring thus the lower incidence of rejection [10] Furthermore, the mean waiting time for LDLT is much shorter than in case of deceased donor LT. Thus, LDLT constitutes an alternative therapy for patients with end-stage liver diseases in conditions of increased lack of cadaver livers [22].

Furthermore, the eventual postoperative complications of donor, as well as the possible mortality of the recipient after the surgery have decreased the health-related quality of life of donors [23]. In addition, although most donors present a satisfying level of liver regeneration [24], they can face post-operative complications, including biliary leakage and incision infection; in most cases patients are recovered after adequate treatment, but the hospitalization is prolonged [22].

1.3.3. Split liver transplantation

Split liver transplantation (SLT) is a technique that combines the procedures of ROLT and LDLT. In this case, a whole adult cadaveric liver is divided into two functioning allografts, allowing the transplantation in two recipients. It was firstly reported by Pichlmayr in 1988, where the right graft was placed into a 63-year-old woman with primary biliary cirrhosis and the left graft into a small child. Consequently, not only the drawbacks of ROLT and LDLT are overcoming, but also the total number of donor organs is augmented, especially in pediatric transplantation. While SLT is commonly accepted when one pediatric and one adult patient are transplanted, there is a strong debate about the possible success of adult-to-adult SLT. Indeed, two experienced centers in Italy have provided inferior outcomes in case of SLT when
compared to those achieved with whole liver grafts transplanted into adults [25, 26]. Furthermore, graft size must be adequate to fit into the recipient and to provide sufficient functional hepatic mass [27].

Besides this, the application of SLT for two adults can be hampered by many difficulties [25]. First of all, the procurement of the full left graft and the full right graft is a procedure that is highly technically demanding and requires surgeons with a high experience in liver resection and transplantation both during the graft procurement, as well as during the transplant. In addition, it is necessary an efficiently coordinated system between the donor and recipient teams, which are often working in different institutions. Furthermore, it still lacks an agreement between the physicians respecting on indications, surgical technique, and results, and therefore it is difficult to evaluate the final outcome and the possible advantages/inconvenients. At last, the theoretical feasibility of SLT for two adults has been estimated to be very low (less than 15%), may be due to the decreased availability of healthy big donors.

Partial liver grafts have a higher incidence of biliary complications as a result of the risks of biliary leakage from the transected liver surface and as a result of the risks of surgical dissection in the hepatic hilum. However, various studies have evidenced that the survival rates of grafts from SLT are comparable to those achieved with LT with complete cadaveric grafts [28-30].

1.4. Suboptimal grafts in LT: Steatotic livers

In an attempt to overcome the discrepancy between liver organ availability and demand, many liver transplant programmes are increasingly using donor livers of "marginal" quality; liver grafts that previously have been considered unsuitable for transplantation. The marginal grafts, such as the steatotic livers, are associated with higher liver graft dysfunction and postoperative complications [31-33]. This could justify the need for optimizing the techniques related with the transplantation of the suboptimal grafts. As steatotic or fatty livers are defined the livers that present an excessive (above 5% of wet liver weight) accumulation of lipids, mainly triglycerides, as lipid synthesis overcomes liver export and consumption. Liver steatosis can be provoked by various factors such as insulin resistance, a high fat diet, obesity and

alcohol abuse [34]. Depending on the percentage of hepatocytes that contain fat vacuoles within the cytoplasm, steatosis is considered as mild (< 30%), moderate (30 - 60%) or severe (>60%). In addition to this, fatty infiltration can be separated into, macro- and micro-vesicular steatosis. In macrovesicular steatosis, hepatocytes contain one large vacuole of fat, which displaces the nuclei to the cell periphery and it is mostly correlated with obesity, diabetes, or alcohol abuse. In case of microvesicular steatosis, the cytoplasm contains many small fatty inclusions and the nuclei remain in the center of the cell. Microvesicular steatosis is provoked when mitochondrial β -oxidation is impaired, like in presence of toxins or metabolic disorders [35]. In contrast to microvesicular steatosis, macrovesicular steatosis has been associated with poor outcome following LT [36].

The pathophysiology of hepatic steatosis is complex. Due to the fact that fat accumulates excessively in vacuoles within hepatocytes, cell volume is increased and subsequently the sinusoidal lumen is narrowed. Thus, microcirculation is impaired, nutrient and oxygen transfer is limited. Other characteristics include the dysfunction of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis, the development of a low energy balance with subsequent activation of cytosolic glycolysis and lactate accumulation, limited mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, decreased oxygen consumption and the production of the reactive oxygen species (ROS) due to elevated mitochondrial dysfunction [37].

1.5. Pathophysiology of ischemia-reperfusion injury

Apart from the immunologic reject, the success of transplantation is significantly restricted by the syndrome of ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI). IRI develops when blood flow is interrupted or significantly attenuated for a period of time (ischemia) and then it is restored (reperfusion). The pathophysiology of liver IRI includes both direct cellular damage as a result of the ischemic insult, as well as delayed dysfunction and damage resulting from the ROS production and activation of inflammatory pathways during the reperfusion phase [38]. IRI remains a serious complication in clinical settings such as LT and hepatic resection and is the main factor responsible for primary graft non-function or malfunction following LT [39]. During

surgical resection, the portal triad is usually clamped in order to control excessive bleeding from the cut hepatic surface, provoking thus an ischemic insult. The posterior removal of clamp permits the blood return, but also causes reperfusion injury. In the case of transplantation, following graft ex-plantation from the donor, the liver graft is preserved to a cold preservation solution (and thus subjected to cold ischemia) in order to diminish metabolic activity. Then, it is implanted into the recipient and subjected to warm reperfusion [40].

The degree of IRI depends on various parameters, being the length and method of ischemia applied and the liver condition the most important ones. For example, patients who undergo short intermittent periods of ischemia, suffer less liver dysfunction compared to those with prolonged ischemia [41]. Furthermore, animal models with chronic liver disease or older/fatty livers exhibit exaggerated liver IRI when compared to younger or normal ones [40].

The mechanisms underlying IRI are multifactorial and more profound investigations are necessary in order to elucidate the implicated mediators and define their interactions. Reducing or preventing IRI is a central strategy for improving the graft performance after transplantation.

1.6. Ischemic injury

To begin with, the absent blood flow during ischemia results in insufficient oxygen supply to hepatocytes. Consequently, the mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation is inhibited and the ATP synthesis is interrupted. Thus, there is a shift towards anaerobic metabolism. As cellular ATP stores are decreased, the ATP-dependent Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase is inhibited, causing alterations in intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ homeostasis. The energy deficiency during ischemia also provokes SEC vacuolization and swelling, as well as sinusoidal lumenal narrowing [42]. Further, ATP degradation products, like adenosine, hypoxanthine and xanthine are accumulated, contributing to ROS production after reperfusion. The final result is cell swelling and death via necrosis or apoptosis. In addition, ischemia stimulates the formation of pro-inflammatory mediators and expression of adhesion molecules that mainly contribute to the injury in the reperfusion phase [43].

Liver ischemic injury can be categorized into warm (or normothermic), cold (or hypotermic) injury, and rewarming. Warm ischemia occurs in various clinical situations, such as hepatectomia, trauma and shock [44, 45]. Cold ischemic injury happens during LT, when the graft is conserved. Rewarming ischemia occurs when the graft is implanted during the anastomosis in LT. Ischemic injury influences differently hepatic cell types; nonparenchymal cells (sinusoidal endothelial, Kupffer, stellate and biliary epithelial cells) are more affected during cold ischemia, whereas in warm and rewarming ischemia are the hepatocytes [42].

1.7. Reperfusion injury

The hypoxic organ damage is further accentuated after the return of blood flow to the previously ischemic tissue. First of all, the increase in oxygen delivery exceeds the rate at which cellular metabolism returns to aerobic pathways, which results in ROS production. Apart from the direct cellular injury caused by ROS, the reperfusion phase is characterized by a cascade of mediators leading to microvascular changes and activation of inflammation, which are described as follows:

1.7.1. Reactive oxygen species

Crucial mediators of IRI are the ROS. Superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and reactive nitrogen species, such as peroxynitrite, are produced by cytosolic xanthine oxidase, mitochondria or are released by Kupffer cells and adherent leukocytes [46-48]. First of all, xanthine oxidase, with the molecular oxygen that is introduced on tissue during reperfusion, catalyzes the oxidation of hypoxanthine to xanthine, whereas superoxide is released. The production of ROS depends on the concentration of xanthine and hypoxanthine, which are accumulated during ischemia, but they are fast metabolized. Besides this, mitochondria are considered to play the most important role in ROS production. Under stress conditions, the electron leakage from the respiratory chain enzyme complexes leads to superoxide formation. However, mitochondria dispose anti-oxidant enzymes, including Mn-superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), glutathione and glutathione peroxidase, thioredoxin-2, and glutaredoxin in order to confront ROS [49]. In addition, Kupffer cells are the main source of ROS in the

early stages of liver IRI, whereas neutrophils are the main source in the very later stages [50].

Oxygen radical formation leads to damage various biomolecules, including nucleic acids, membrane lipids, enzymes, and receptors. Peroxidation of membrane lipids disrupts membrane fluidity and cell compartmentalization, which can result in cell lysis. Also, lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation contributes to the impaired cellular function and cell death. ROS can also ruin the microvasculature integrity by damaging endothelial cells [51] [52-54].

Moreover, oxidative stress in combination with calcium over-load induces opening of huge channels, named mitochondria permeability transition pores (mPTPs) that are localized to contact sites between the inner and outer mitochondrial membranes. Once opened, mPTPs permit ion exchange between the cytoplasm and the mitochondrial matrix. Consequently, the mitochondrial membrane potential is collapsed and ATP synthesis is inhbited. mPTPs induction also results in matrix swelling and rupture of the outer membrane, which subsequently leads to release of proapoptotic factors like cytochrome c (CytC)[43, 55].

1.7.2. Nitric oxide and endothelins

One of the earliest processes of liver reperfusion is the reduction in sinusoidal diameter and consequently the decreased blood flow. These microcirculatory changes are provoked due to an imbalance between vasoconstrictor factors, such as endothelins (ET) and vasodilator substances like nitric oxide (NO)[50]. First of all, SECs damage (that has been initiated during ischemia) results in deficient NO generation during reperfusion. In addition to this, SECs, as well as Kupffer and stellate cells, release augmented levels of ET. The final outcome is a significant reduction of the sinusoidal diameter[42]. Microcirculatory disturbances may also be triggered by the activation of the coagulation cascade[56].

NO is a free-radical diatomic gas that endogenously is synthesized from the amino acid precursor L-arginine. In endothelial cells, NO is produced in small quantities for short periods of time by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) under physiologic conditions, as well as in response to extracellular stimuli, such as shear or metabolic

stress. Besides this, NO can also be generated in large amounts for sustained periods by inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), in response to inflammatory mediators. It has been proposed that eNOS-derived NO has a protective effect against liver IRI by regulating sinusoidal diameter and abrogating thus the microcirculatory changes during reperfusion [57]. In this sense, it has been demonstrated that NOS inhibitors exaggerate IRI [58]. Furthermore, NO production by eNOS can prevent neutrophil adhesion and platelet aggregation. On the other hand, the excessive levels of iNOSderived NO have been considered to be detrimental, as they have been associated with production of nitrogen species like superoxide and peroxynitrite [59].

1.7.3. Inflammatory mediators

The activation of inflammatory cells is a key event in the development of liver injury during ischemia and reperfusion. Kupffer cells are activated during reperfusion and release reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF α , interferon- γ (INF- γ), interleukin-12 and IL-1. These chemokines promote the expression of adhesion molecules, such as ICAM-1, potentiating thus the activation, recruitment, and adhesion of neutrophils to the endothelial cells. Adhered neutrophils trigger cell death by releasing various proteases (elastases, proteinases, and collagenases), which degrade components of the extracellular matrix, attack cells, and inactivate various proteins such as immunoglobulins and proteins of complement. Furthermore, neutrophils generate ROS, like hydrogen peroxide, through activation of nicotinamide adenine dionucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase. In addition, the produced cytokines, ROS and the increased translocation of P-selectin (endothelial adhesion molecule) to the surface of endothelial cells and platelets promote the adherence of leukocytes to the microvascular endothelium. The inflammatory cascade induces significant organ infiltration and injury [38, 45, 60].

The discussed mechanisms of IRI are summarized in Figure 4:



Figure 4: Mediators involved in ischemia-reprefusion injury (IRI).

1.8. Cellular processes involved in ischemia-reperfusion injury

IRI is a multifactorial process, as involves alterations in various signaling pathways, including apoptosis, necrosis, autophagy and endoplasmic reticulum stress

1.8.1. Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a relevant cell death mechanism during hepatic IRI. Two main pathways have been described for apoptosis; the intrinsic (mitochondrial) pathway that is activated by various stressors such as DNA damage and p53 activation and the extrinsic pathway that is triggered through death receptors. In intrinsic pathway, proapoptotic proteins, such as the Bcl-2 family (Bax, Bak, Bad, Bid) are activated and then translocate to mitochondria, contributing to increased permeability of the outer mitochondrial membrane. Consequently, mitochondrial cytochrome C (CytC) is released and interacts with apoptosis-activating factor-1 (APAF-1) to promote caspase 9 activation which then activates caspase 3 and the final stages of apoptosis.

The extrinsic pathway is initiated by the binding of various transmembrane receptors, (death receptors) to their cognate ligands. Death receptors include Fas, TNF α -receptor 1 and the death receptor 4 and 5. When the ligand is binding to its receptor, procaspases 8 and 10 and several adaptor proteins are recruited in order to

form a large complex, which results in activation of caspase 8 and 10 and finally in a proteolytic cascade that leads to cell death [5].

1.8.2. Necrosis

Apart from apoptosis, cell death also occurs through necrosis. Necrosis and apoptosis share characteristics and mechanisms, which complicates the discrimination between these forms of cell death. The basic characteristics of necrosis are cell swelling, vacuolation, karyolysis (dissolution of the nucleus) and release of cell content that can affect neighbouring cells and favour the initiation of inflammatory response. This contrast with the apoptotic features of apoptosis, where both the nucleus and cytoplasm are fragmented into apoptotic bodies which are then phagocyted by phagocytes or neighboring cells. Furthermore, the apoptotic cells usually present normal appearance; they do not release intracellular contents and consequently do not promote the inflammatory response. The initiation of necrosis and apoptosis depends from mPTP opening and ATP levels. In case of an excessive mPTP opening that involves most mitochondria, a complete ATP depletion is remarked. This fact halts caspase activation and promotes the opening of a glycine-sensitive organic anion channel which promotes plasma membrane rupture and the onset of necrotic cell death. However, if ATP is preserved, at least in part, CytC is released in order to activate the caspase-dependent apoptosis. The intracellular acidosis that occurs during ischemia delays the onset of necrotic cell death, whereas the pH normalization during reperfusion promotes necrosis [61]. Moreover, it has been reported that in warm ischemia reperfusion necrosis occurs predominantly in hepatocytes whereas in cold ischemia, necrotic death occurs nearly exclusively in SEC [62].

Besides this, CytC liberation to the cytosol can also lead to mitochondrial membrane depolarization and ATP depletion and finally promote necrotic cell killing. Thus, it is considered that apoptosis and necrosis coexist in liver pathology and share common signals, a phenomenon called necrapoptosis. For example, mPTP opening during IRI causes both apoptosis and necrosis, although in a particular circumstance one or the other may predominate [61].

1.8.3. Autophagy

Autophagy is a tightly regulated pathway implicated in many physiological and pathological processes. The term "autophagy" comes from Greek, meaning self-eating, as the cell degrades its own intracellular components. Autophagy is essential for normal development and embryogenesis, as contributes to the clearance of apoptotic cells. Autophagic degradation of cellular constituents can efficiently recycle essential nutrients so that basic biological processes can be sustained. [63].

One of the major regulatory components of autophagy is the protein kinase mammalian Target of rapamycin (mTOR), a serine/threonine protein kinase that modulates various cellular processes including cell cycle, growth and survival [64]. mTOR is activated through phosphorylation in the presence of growth factors and nutrient-rich conditions and results in inhibition of autophagy. Furthermore, activation of Akt/protein kinase B results in mTOR activation and subsequent activation of ribosomal protein S6 kinase (p70S6k). [65]. On the other hand, food restriction or starvation are well-known inducers of autophagy. Under these conditions, autophagy is activated to provide cells with all the necessary nutrients by degrading intracellular components. During starvation, AMPK is activated and suppresses mTOR, and thus activates autophagy [65].

The process of autophagy can be divided into four basic steps: induction, formation of autophagosome, autophagosome fusion with the lysosome, and degradation, where more than 30 autophagy-related proteins participate. The first step, the induction of autophagy, requires the beclin-1–class III PI3K (phosphoinositide 3-kinase) complex. After induction, the isolation membrane is elongated in order to sequester the cytosolic components and form the double membrane autophagosome. This step is primarily mediated by LC3II. LC3, the full length precursor protein, is converted to LC3-I which then is conjugated with phosphatidylethanolamine and thus is converted into LC3-II. LC3-II is inserted into the autophagosomes [65]. Next, the outer membrane of autophagosomes fuse with lysosomes to generate the autophagolysosome and finally the contents of the autophagolysosome are degradated onto the lysosome [66].

The role of autophagy has been better described in cardiac IRI. It has been reported that autophagy is induced during cardiac ischemia, as the low nutrient provision and the subsequent activation of AMPK are necessary for autophagy induction. During the degradation process of autophagy, free fatty acids and amino acids are released, so they can be recycled to generate ATP and thus compensate for the energy deficient. It has been shown that cardiac autophagy serves as an energy-recovering process during ischemic phase and is essential for cardiomyocyte survival [67].

Furthermore, autophagy has been described to contribute to remove the dysfunctional mitochondria during reperfusion, as in this phase mitochondria become an important source of ROS, which results in initiation of inflammatory response and the damage of proteins and protein membranes. Under these conditions, a process known as mitochondrial autophagy or mitophagy is induced in order to take away the damaged mitochondria and prevent the release of the novice ROS [68].

Besides this, it has been reported that autophagy can be a double-edged sword in the pathological process of IRI [67]. Autophagy can be detrimental during reperfusion, but the underlying mechanisms remain to be elucidated. In case that autophagy is hyper-activated, can result in degradation of necessary proteins and thus lead to cell dysfunction and final cell death. During reperfusion, as AMPK is not activated, beclin-1 might be the most important mediator of autophagy [69]. The enhanced autophagic response by beclin-1 has been related with downregulation of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein, which could implicate a cross talk between autophagy and apoptosis [70, 71]. Furthermore, in an "ex-vivo" liver perfusion model decreases in autophagy parameters have been associated with increased hepatic IRI [72].

1.8.4. Endoplasmic reticulum stress

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is an organelle where the secretory and membrane proteins are succumbed to posttranslational modifications. Proteins must be folded properly in order to be able to reach their destiny and fulfil their function. Thus, in ER nascent proteins are folded with the assistance of molecular chaperones

and folding enzymes. Furthermore, ER is the site where Ca²⁺ is stored and is released under various stimuli and in order to participate in cellular signal transduction [73].

Besides this, in case that the folding apparatus cannot deal with an excessive increase of protein translation or with perturbations in the ER environment, such as alterations in redox state and Ca²⁺ levels or improper post-translational modifications, then unfolded proteins are accumulated. The unfolded proteins expose hydrophobic amino-acid residues and form toxic protein aggregates, which results in stress conditions in the ER. To cope with ER stress (ERS), cells activate a series of signaling pathways referred to as unfolded protein response (UPR) that aim to decrease the load of nascent and unfolded proteins or clear out the damaged ER. The UPR involves the activation of three main resident transmembrane sensors in the ER: inositol requiring enzyme 1 (IRE1 α), activating transcription factor 6 (ATF-6), and RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK), which normally bind in ER chaperones, like glucose regulated protein 78 (GRP78 or BiP) and thus are held in an inactive state. Upon UPR, GRP78 is displaced in order to manage the exposed hydrophobic regions of the unfolded proteins. The displacement of GRP78 results in IRE1 α , PERK, and ATF-6 release and activation [74].

The activated IRE1 α functions as a nuclease in order to splice X box-binding protein 1 (XBP-1) mRNA which contributes to degradation of mRNA of secretory and membrane proteins. The accumulation of unfolded proteins leads to proteolytical cleavage of ATF6 and its translocation in nucleus, where upregulates chaperones, such as GRP78, in order to restore the folding of proteins in the ER lumen [75]. PERK activation leads to phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 α subunit (eIF2 α) in order to halt protein translation and upregulate chaperones through increases in ATF4 mRNA (Figure 5A). In addition, it has been shown that the UPR induces the autophagic pathway in order to remove damaged organelles [73].

Although the early activation of UPR diminishes ER stress and contributes to cell survival, UPR prolongation due to excessive injury can result in cell suicide, usually in the form of apoptosis [74]. In this case, activated IRE1α binds the tumor necrosis factor associated factor 2 (TRAF2), and promotes apoptosis through the JunNH2-terminal kinases ½ (JNK), MAPK p38 and caspase-12 activation [76]. The proapoptotic

Bax and Bak translocate to the ER membrane causing Ca2+ release, provoking activation of caspases. Sustained activation of PERK and subsequent upregulation ATF4 results in increased expression of the C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP or GADD153). CHOP is a transcription factor that induces apoptosis, through inhibition of Bcl-2 expression [77]. CHOP over-expression has also been associated with enhancement of oxidative stress and inflammatory response (Figure 5B) [78].

It has been evidenced that IRI is associated with ER stress, including increased GRP78, CHOP, sXBP-1 and PERK [78, 79]. In rat OLT, decreases in ER stress parameters including GRP78, CHOP, ATF4, p-eIF2, caspase-12, has been related with attenuation of apoptosis and improved LT outcome [76]. Furthermore, in human LT UPR can lead to both adaptive or pro-apoptotic responses depending on the phase of transplantation. For example, during ischemia IRE1 α enhances survival pathways in order to increase the folding capacity of the ER, whereas during reperfusion IRE1 α can also activate the pro-apoptotic kinase JNK [80]. Consequently, it can be assumed that the regulation of the balance between the pro-apoptotic and pro-survival signalling pathways may be critical for organ recovery and function during transplantation.



Figure 5: Main pathways of (A) unfolded protein response (UPR) and (B) endoplasmic reticulum stress (ERS) response (ERS response)

1.9. The renin-angiotensin system and IRI

The renin-angiotensin system (RAS) plays a central role in the regulation of blood pressure by affecting vascular smooth muscle tone and extracellular fluid homoeostasis. RAS includes the combination of various signal transductions, which initiates when angiotensinogen (released from the liver) is cleaved in the circulation by the enzyme renin (secreted from the kidney) in order to form the decapeptide angiotensin I. Angiotensin I is then activated to the octapeptide angiotensin II by angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) (highly expressed in the lung). Besides this, it has been found that various tissues like heart, liver, kidney and brain can produce AngII (local RAS system) through pathways dependent or not of ACE. These local RAS systems act in a paracrine fashion and regulate inflammation, fibrosis, angiogenesis and cell proliferation, apoptosis and survival in various stimuli [81, 82].

Angiotensin II is the most powerful biologically active product of the RAS, although other bioactive angiotensin peptides have been described, such as angiotensin III, angiotensin IV, and angiotensin 1-7. Angiotensin II increases arterial blood pressure and maintains glomerular filtration, enhances vasoconstriction and myocardial contractility and regulates sodium transport by epithelial cells in intestine and kidney. Angiotensin II exerts its effects through its binding to two receptors, angiotensinII type I receptors (AT1R) and angiotensinII type II receptors (AT2R). Angiotensin II binds to the two receptors with similar affinity, but the majority of its biological actions are mediated through AT1R. Activation of the AT1R by angiotensin II leads to a variety of intracellular signalling events, which finally result in proliferation, inflammation, angiogenesis, and regulation of apoptosis. On the other hand, AT2R are mainly expressed during fetal development and have been associated with cellular differentiation and regeneration [83]. In addition, AT2R antagonizes the actions stimulated by AT1R, contributing thus to counterbalance some of the effects of angiotensinII mediated by the AT1R [84].

Various studies have demonstrated that the RAS is significantly involved in hepatic injury and inflammation. Previous study demonstrated that angiotensinII exerts proinflammatory actions by stimulating the secretion of cytokines and the expression of proinflammatory proteins, such as iNOS, as well as it activates hepatic

stellate cells in order to increase oxidative stress [85]. AngII has also been associated with liver fibrosis [86]. The biological effects of AngII in the liver are mainly mediated by AT1R, which are expressed on hepatocytes, hepatic stellate cells and Kupffer cells [86, 87]. Consequently, antagonists of AT1R, like losartan, have been associated with anti-fibrotic effects, as well as with attenuation of inflammation and oxidative stress in experimental models of IRI [88] [87, 89]. In addition, Losartan also has been found to protect steatotic livers against IRI [87, 90]. In clinical practice, it has been shown that losartan, lessens portal pressure in cirrhosis and liver fibrosis, including cases of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis [91, 92].

1.10. Steatotic livers in IRI

Steatotic livers are more vulnerable to IRI than non steatotic ones. Livers with severe steatosis are considered inappropriate for transplantation, as they are associated with a high risk of primary non-function, postoperative complications and patient death following LT. However, transplantation with livers containing mild steatosis (<30%) provide similar results than non steatotic ones, but the final outcome depends on the existence of additional risk factors [35]. Fatty livers tolerate to a less extent ischemic injury, as the decreased ATP levels lead to acidosis and cellular edema, which significantly impairs hepatic microcirculation. In addition to this, during reperfusion, the oxidative stress and the inflammatory response (including Kupffer cells, adhesion of neutrophils, cytokines) are much more excessive than in non-steatotic ones. For these reasons, it is an urgent need the development of strategies in order to minimize the detrimental effects of IRI in case of steatotic livers or to eliminate the fat content.

1.11. Surgical strategies to prevent IRI: Ischemic Preconditioning

Ischemic preconditioning (PC) is a surgical strategy developed to diminish IRI in various organs including liver, heart and brain. PC is based on the application of short periods of ischemia (5-10 minutes), separated by short reperfusions (10-15 minutes) prior to a sustained episode of IR. In this way, hepatocytes are prepared to respond favorably against the sequential prolonged IRI. Various duration times of PC have been applied in the rat and it has been shown that PC consisting of 5 minutes of ischemia

followed by 10 minutes of reperfusion conferred the strongest protection against hepatic ischemia -reperfusion after 60 minutes of partial ischemia followed by 24 hours of reperfusion in both normal and steatotic livers [2]. Moreover, the duration of the brief ischemic period is critical for the induction of preconditioning, as hypoxic periods shorter than 5 minutes or exceeding 15 minutes failed to induce protection. PC process involves multiple extracellular signals and intracellular second messengers [93-95].

The effects of PC can be differentiated in 2 phases characterized by different time frames and mechanisms: an early phase (early preconditioning) and the late phase (late preconditioning). Early preconditioning immediately follows the brief ischemic time and lasts 2–3 hours. The late preconditioning begins 12–24 hours from the transient ischemia and lasts for about 3–4 days [93, 96].

The effectiveness of PC led to the development of various strategies capable of mimicking its beneficial effects. Between them we can report the heat shock or hyperbaric preconditiong where the organ is temporarily exposed to hyperthermia or at 100% oxygen at 2.5 atmosphere absolute prior to ischemia [97, 98], as well as the pharmacological preconditioning which includes the administration of a chemical compound like doxorubicin [99] and simvastatin [100]. Although their protective effects against IRI have been evidenced in experimental models, their possible clinical application seems to be limited due to difficulties in implementing them in clinical practice, and other toxicity and side-effects problems [57].

1.11.1. Mediators of ischemic preconditioning

1.11.1.i. Adenosine

Various studies have evidenced the potential protective mechanisms of PC against hepatic IRI. The protective effect of PC is based on the fact that as ATP decreases during the brief ischemic period, induces endogenous adenosine and NO increases. In fact, the optimal ischemic time window to induce PC in the liver depends on adenosine and xanthine concentration levels. It is required an adenosine concentration high enough to induce NO generation through the activation of

adenosine A2 receptors, but also a low xanthine concentration in order to avoid the deleterious effects of NO.

Adenosine receptors are divided into 4 major subclasses: A1, A2A, A2B and A3, and in liver A2A receptor has been involved in the hepatoprotective effects of PC. Stimulation of liver adenosine results in activation of various kinases, including protein kinase C (PKC). PKCs are serine/threonine kinase isoenzymes that are divided into 3 main subclasses, from which novel PKCs (PKC - δ and - ϵ), that require diacylglycerol and phosphatidylserine for their activation, are involved in liver PC [101]. Activation of PKC during PC leads to elevated tolerance to IRI through activation of several intracellular signaling pathways like nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) and mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs), such as p38 [102].

1.11.1.ii. AMPK and eNOS

Furthermore, during the brief period of PC, adenosine monophosphateactivated protein kinase (AMPK) is activated and phosphorylates various downstream substrates in order to maintain ATP levels and reduce the lactate levels that have been accumulated during sustained ischemia. Furthermore, it has been shown that administration of an AMPK activator before ischemia simulated the benefits of preconditioning on energy metabolism and hepatic injury [103]. AMPK, a serine/threonine protein kinase, is an important regulator of cellular energy homeostasis and coordinates various metabolic pathways in order to provide a balance between the energy supply and demand. AMPK is activated by a high AMP/ATP ratio and in turn switches off ATP-dependent processes [64]. Apart from regulating hepatic energy metabolism, PC also regulates Na⁺ homeostasis and contributes to the neutralization of intracellular pH by inhibiting the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger [104].

NO also has been involved in the protective effects of PC against rat IRI by inhibiting ET levels and ameliorating hepatic microcirculation [105-107]. In addition, augmented eNOS expression was detected in preconditioned rat liver [108]. Apart from its vasodilator effects, NO contributes to decreased inflammatory response by increasing the anti-inflammatory interleukin-10 (IL-10) and thus inhibiting interleukin-1β release [109]. NO can also induce preconditioning of hepatocytes by promoting the

sequential activation of guanylate cyclase, cyclic GMP-dependent kinase and p38 MAPK [101]. Moreover, in a rat model of LT it has been shown that AMPK is activated during PC and induces the synthesis of NO and thus protects against IRI [110]. Also, NO contributed to the hepatoprotective effects of PC in a rat ROLT model; PC enhanced liver regeneration and decreased oxidative stress through inhibition of interleukin-1α [111].

1.11.1.iii. Mitogen activated protein kinases

MAPKs play an important role in intracellular signal transduction in response to extracellular stimuli and dual phosphorylation of their threonine and tyrosine residues is necessary for their activation. Once activated, these kinases are translocated to the nucleus, where they phosphorylate and activate different transcription factors and thus the transcription of various genes. MAPKs are classified as: (1) Extracellular signal regulated kinases, ERK ½, (2) (JNK 1/2) and (3) p38 MAPK. ERK 1/2 is usually activated by mitogenic and proliferative stimuli, like growth hormone receptors, whereas JNK and p38 are stimulated by various cellular stresses like: ROS, heat shock, inflammatory cytokines, and ischemia and for this reason are also referred as stress-activated protein kinases [112] [113]. p38 kinase regulates cell proliferation and differentiation and can modulate either pro-proliferative or pro-apoptotic signals [114]. Besides this, p38 activation has been mainly associated with the production and activation of inflammatory mediators [115].

The hepato-protective effects of PC have been associated with activation of JNK-1 and p-p38 and subsequent entry of hepatocytes into the cell cycle, thus favoring hepatocyte survival against IRI [102]. However, more recent studies in steatotic livers revealed that PC reduced p38 and JNK expression [116]. Furthermore, the pro-apoptotic ERK has been shown to be activated during cardiac PC [117].

1.11.1.iv. Heat shock proteins

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are closely related to PC. HSPs are induced during exposure to a wide variety of stresses, including thermal stress, ischemia-reperfusion, hypoxia, in order to protect cells from damage. HSPs have been associated with anti-

apoptotic effect by binding to CytC, APAF-1 and inhibiting caspase activation [118]. In addition to this, HSPs activation decreases pro-inflammatory mediators, such as NF-kB and enhances the anti-oxidant capacity of the cell [119] [120]. Various studies have evidenced that the induction of HSP72 and HO-1 expression during PC contributed to the acquisition of improved hepatic function and increased tolerance against IRI [121, 122]. In addition, HSP70 and HO-1 activation during PC contributed to augmented liver regeneration in a rat ROLT model [111].

1.11.1.v. Signal transducer and activator of transcription-3

Furthermore, the IL-6/STAT3 pathway has also been involved in the protective mechanisms of PC. IL-6 is a cytokine that plays a central role in host defense, inflammation and liver regeneration [123, 124]. IL-6 carries out these functions through activation of the signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 (STAT3) and subsequent translocation of cytoplasmic STAT3 to the nucleus [125]. STAT3 is a factor of transcription that causes gene transcription of various genes associated with cell growth and differentiation, as well as with anti-oxidant and anti-apoptotic effect [126, 127]. It has been demonstrated that the up-regulation of IL-6 and subsequent induction of phosphorylated STAT3 contribute to decreased hepatocellular injury during PC [128].

1.11.2. PC effect on liver apoptosis

Furthermore, hepatic PC prevents hepatocyte and sinusoidal endothelial cell apoptosis, by down-regulating caspase-3 [129]. In addition, PC promotes anti-apoptotic signals through the Akt pathway. Akt is activated during hepatic PC and inhibits through phosphorylation pro-apoptotic factors such as Bad and glycogen synthase kinase β , as well as downregulates the JNK and NF-kB activities related with inflammation and tissue necrosis [130].

1.11.3. PC correlation with oxidative stress and inflammation

In addition, PC inhibits the oxidative stress derived through the xanthine oxidase pathway by limiting the accumulation of xanthine and the conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to xanthine oxidase [131, 132]. PC can also reduce oxidative

stress by inhibiting the release of free radicals by Kupffer cells. Moreover, it has been reported that PC decreases the expression of P-selectin, thereby diminishes the oxidative neutrophil-mediated damage and the leukocyte adhesion, migration and activation[133] [134]. The anti-inflammatory capacity of PC has also been attributed to attenuated production of pro-inflammatory chemokines, such as TNF- α [135].

1.11.4. PC in fatty livers

Experimental models in warm ischemia and LT have evidenced the favorable effects of PC against the increased vulnerability of fatty livers to hepatic IRI. In rat warm ischemia, PC counteracted the mechanisms associated with the low resistance of fatty livers to hepatic IRI, including oxidative stress, neutrophil accumulation and microcirculatory failure, as well as prevented the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β) and increased the IL-10 generation (anti-inflammatory cytokine). Further, NO has been demonstrated to be an important mediator of these PC benefits [136]. Additional PC protective mechanisms include the decreases in adiponectin levels and in MAPKs activation, the enhanced expression of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor- α (ppar- α) and of HSPs [116] [122]. Furthermore, PC contributes to increased tolerance of fatty livers to IRI by lessening the induction of mitochondrial permeability transition pore and by preserving ATP synthase activity [137]. In rat steatotic LT, PC through NO generation attenuated lipid peroxidation and neutrophil accumulation, resulting in decreased hepatic and lung damage [138]. AMPK is another important mediator involved in the protection against lipid peroxidation and hepatic injury in steatotic livers during transplantation [110].

1.12. PC in clinical practice

In clinical practice, the effectiveness of PC against IRI remains controversial. Several clinical studies have evidenced the beneficial effects of PC in hepatic resection. PC was demonstrated to be an effective straregy for lessening hepatic injury in both healthy and cirrotic livers [139, 140] and decreasing postoperative complications such as hemorrhage and biliary leakage [141]. Another randomized study evidenced that PC protective effect was stronger for young patients (less than 60 years) and patients with steatotic livers (>25% esteatosis) and was associated with ameliorated preservation of

hepatic ATP contents after reperfusion [142]. Besides these encouraging findings, more recent studies were not able to demonstrate any beneficial effect of PC in liver resection [143-145]. Significant controversy regarding the use of PC has also been evident in transplantation. A randomized prospective study of deceased donor LT showed a significant improvement in hepatic injury, decreased apoptosis and reduced incidence of primary non-function when PC was performed at the end of the procurement procedure [146]. Moreover, PC has also been shown to attenuate graft rejection incidence in recipients of steatotic grafts through augmenting autophagy and thus preventing parenchymal necrosis [147]. In a nonrandomized study of OLT, the use of PC was associated with lower increases in hepatic injury parameters, but it did not ameliorate the perioperative outcome [148]. In other study of deceased donor LT PC was found to be insufficient to provide clinical benefits [149]. Consequently, more randomized clinical studies are necessary in order to confirm whether PC is appropriate for LT in clinical practice.

1.13. Strategies against cold ischemia-reperfusion injury: preservation solutions

Cold IRI is inherent to LT and an appropriate organ preservation solution is necessary for the maintenance of the functional and morphological integrity of the graft. Although cold is a fundamental requirement for tissue preservation, it has harmful consequences, such as induction of cell swelling. For this reason, various commercial organ preservation solutions have been produced in order to prevent many of the cellular alterations associated to hypothermia [150].

Various preservation solutions have been proposed, with the University of Wisconsin (UW) solution being considered as the gold standard for liver grafts. UW has been developed in the early 1980s by Belzer and Southard and has improved significantly organ preservation and has been widely used in USA and Europe [151, 152]. UW solution is a phosphate buffer, with high K+ concentration (intracellular like solution) which further contains lactobionic acid, raffinose and hydroxyethyl starch (HES) as osmotic supporters and glutathione and allopurinol in order to eliminate free radicals. Although the colloid HES prevents interstitial edema [153], it has also been shown that enhances the aggregation of erythrocytes, a fact that could result in stasis

of blood and incomplete washout of donor organs before transplantation [154]. Furthermore, the high K^+ levels can cause blood vessel constriction when the organ is cold flushed [155].

The inconvenients of UW solution led to the development of the Institut Georges Lopez-1 (IGL-1) solution. IGL-1 solution is characterized by inversion of K⁺ and Na⁺ concentrations compared to UW solution and contains polyethylene glycol of 35 kDa (PEG35) as osmotic support rather than HES. IGL-1 has been applied in clinical kidney [156] and LT models [157] with satisfying results. Furthermore, in several experimental orthotopic LT models IGL-1 has been evidenced as good alternative to UW solution of NO through eNOS activation, prevention of oxidative stress and decreases in apoptosis and endoplasmic reticulum stress [76, 160]. In addition, IGL-1 provided a more effective preservation of steatotic livers in an "ex-vivo" perfusion model [58]. Furthermore, in order to ameliorate liver graft preservation, various experimental studies have proposed the enrichment of UW and IGL-1 solutions with various additives, including anti-ischemic drugs (like trimetazidine, TMZ) or hormones (like melatonin)[150].

1.14. New therapeutical targets for ischemia-reperfusion injury: Sirtuins

Although the IRI has been extensively investigated, it still remains a serious complication in liver surgery and for this reason it is an urgent need to identify new pharmaceutical targets in order to diminish its detrimental effects. Recent experimental investigations in heart and brain have evidenced that sirtuins are implicated in IRI and can potentially be appealing targets for therapeutic interventions against IRI.

The sirtuins belong to the highly conserved class III histone deacetylases with homology to the yeast silent information regulator 2 (Sir2). To date, seven sirtuins have been described in mammals (SIRT1 through SIRT7). They possess nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) deacetylase activity, with the exception of SIRT4 which has only ADP-ribosyltransferase activity, and SIRT1 and SIRT6 which have both

deacetylation and a relatively weak ADP-ribosyltransferase activity [161]. Their enzymatic activity depends on their protein expression levels, the availability of NAD⁺ and the presence of proteins that modulate sirtuin enzymatic activity. For instance, expression of SIRT1 increases during starvation or when cells are exposed to conditions of oxidative stress and DNA damage [162, 163].

Sirtuins are found in different subcellular locations, including the nucleus (SIRT1, SIRT6, and SIRT7), cytosol (SIRT2), and mitochondria (SIRT3–5), although in some studies, SIRT1 has been found to possess cytosolic activities, and SIRT2 has been found to associate with nuclear proteins [164].

Several studies in the past few years have shown that sirtuins regulate a wide variety of cellular functions, such as gene transcription, metabolism and cellular stress response [165-167]. SIRT1, the most studied member of the family, plays an important role in several processes ranging from cell cycle regulation to energy homeostasis. SIRT3 has recently emerged as a sirtuin with considerable impact on mitochondrial energy metabolism and function.

1.14.1. Role of sirtuins in ischemia

The low energy state during ischemia results in activation of AMPK. Sirtuins activity is directly related to the metabolic state of the cell due to their dependence on NAD+. In this regard, Suchankova and collaborators have found that glucose-induced changes in AMPK are linked to alterations in NAD +/NADH ratio and SIRT1 abundance and activity [168]. From these results, we might consider a possible implication between AMPK and SIRT1 in ischemic conditions. Indeed, an activator of AMPK, AICAR, has been found to ameliorate IRI and decrease SIRT1 expression in the rat kidney [169]. Furthermore, enhancing the activity of SIRT1 through the application of resveratrol, a SIRT1 activator, has been demonstrated to protect against cerebral ischemia [170].

Another element that plays an essential role in triggering cellular protection and metabolic alterations from the consequences of oxygen deprivation are hypoxiainducible factors (HIFs). Mammals possess three isoforms of HIF α , of which HIF1 α and HIF2 α are the most structurally similar and best characterized. During hypoxia, protein

levels of HIF-2 α increase slightly, but it becomes significantly activated, suggesting that additional post-translational mechanisms regulate its activity. One of these post-translational modulations could be deacetylation, since in hypoxic Hep3B cells SIRT1 deacetylates lysine residues in the HIF2 α protein, enhancing its transcriptional activity [171].

Additionally, SIRT1 interacts with HIF1 α , but in this case SIRT1 represses HIF-1 α transcriptional activity [172]. Under hypoxic stress, decreased cellular NAD regulates SIRT1, increases HIF1 α acetylation, and thereby promotes the expression of HIF1 α target genes [172]. Interestingly, other studies have shown that HIF2 α compete with HIF1 α for binding to SIRT1 [173]. Moreover, it has been evidenced that SIRT6 is also linked to HIF1 α by repressing the transcription of HIF1 α target genes [174].

Likewise, the effects of SIRT3 appear to be protective in the context of hypoxic stress in human cancer cells. SIRT3 overexpression resulted in decreased ROS and impediment of stabilization of HIF1a, with a subsequent suppression of tumorigenesis [175, 176]. On the contrary, the role of SIRT3 on HIF1α stabilization in IRI has not been reported.

One of the most important factors involved in the metabolic control regulated by SIRT1 is peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator (PGC1 α), a transcriptional co-activator of many nuclear receptors and transcriptional factors. SIRT1 functionally interacts with PGC1 α and deacetylates it thus inducing the expression of mitochondrial proteins involved in ATP-generating pathways [177]. Increased PGC1 α activity is also related with lessened oxidative damage during ischemia, as it has been shown by decreasing ROS scavenge in rodents lacking PGC1 α and subjected to global ischemia [178]. Furthermore, the uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2), an inner mitochondrial membrane protein, regulates proton electrochemical gradient and in neuronal cells PGC1 α is required for the induction of UCP2 and a subsequent protection against oxidative stress [179]. It has also been shown that enhanced activity of SIRT1 during PC or resveratrol preconditioning confers protection against cerebral ischemia through decrease of UCP2 levels, resulting in increased ATP levels [170]. However, a more recent study associated the protective effect of resveratrol against oxidative stress in cerebral ischemia with increased levels of both SIRT1/PGC1a and

UCP2 levels [180]. Moreover, the exact role of UCP2 during ischemia has not been fully understood, as studies of its effects have produced conflicting results [181-184]. The overall mechanisms are summarized in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Protective role of sirtuin 1 during ischemia. Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) activates adenosine monophosphate protein kinase (AMPK) as a cell response to counteract the energy deficiency. SIRT1 upregulates hypoxia-inducible factor 2α (HIF 2α) and downregulates HIF 1α to increase their transcriptional activity. SIRT1 upregulates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptory coactivator, leading to enhancement of anti-oxidant capacity of uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2). PGC1 α : Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptory coactivator.

1.14.2. Role of sirtuins in reperfusion

Deprivation of oxygen to the grafts during ischemia induces severe lesions, but the most important damage is caused during reperfusion, when oxygen entry to the organ is restored and ROS are generated. ROS can be eliminated by enzymatic pathways including MnSOD, catalase (Cat) and peroxidases. Imbalance between ROS generation and elimination produces oxidative stress [50, 185].

Various reports in cardiomyocytes have demonstrated the protective role of SIRT1 against oxidative stress [186, 187]. Hearts overexpressing SIRT1 were more resistant to oxidative stress in response to IRI, as SIRT1 upregulated the expression of anti-oxidants like MnSOD and thioredoxin 1 (Trx1) [188]. SIRT1 also deacetylated Forkhead box-containing protein O (FoxO) 1 (FoxO1) transcription factor, inducing its

translocation and subsequent transcription of anti-oxidants molecules [188, 189]. Moreover, the question of whether SIRT1 can induce the transcription of other FoxO transcription factors, like FoxO3 α , has not yet been investigated. However, the levels of SIRT1 activation are decisive for its protective role, as very high cardiac SIRT1 expression induces mitochondrial dysfunction and increases oxidative stress [186]. Furthermore, in a model of kidney IRI, the protective effect of SIRT1 against oxidative stress has also been demonstrated, since SIRT1 up-regulated Cat levels and maintained peroxisomes number and function [190].

Although mitochondrial sirtuins (SIRT3-SIRT5) have not been studied as extensively as SIRT1, an increasing body of evidence indicates the importance of SIRT3 in mitochondrial biology and function. Lombard and collaborators demonstrated that SIRT3 is the dominant mitochondrial deacetylase, as a significant number of mitochondrial proteins are hyperacetylated in SIRT3–/– mice [191]. SIRT3 deacetylates and thus enhances the activity of various proteins that appear to be an important part of the antioxidative defense mechanisms of mitochondria, such as MnSOD [192, 193], regulatory proteins of the glutathione [194-196] and Trx [197].

Transcriptional upregulation of the antioxidant enzymes MnSOD, Cat and peroxiredoxin can also be achieved by FoxO3α transcription factor, which is translocated to the nucleus after being deacetylated by SIRT3 [198, 199]. Furthermore, SIRT3 is necessary for the enhanced expression of Cytc, which presents peroxidase-and superoxidase-scavenging capacity [194, 196, 200]. However, a similar anti-oxidant effect of SIRT3 has not yet been established in models of IRI.

A wide array of functional alterations develops in mitochondria during reperfusion injury [201, 202]. In healthy cells, their primary function is the provision of ATP through oxidative phosphorylation in order to meet the high energy demands. Moreover, mPTP is involved in the decline in mitochondrial function, which is a common finding during reperfusion injury [203-205]. SIRT3 is known to deacetylate the regulatory component of the mPTP, cyclophilin D, and thereby reduces its activity and the subsequent mitochondrial swelling in heart [206]. It has also been shown that SIRT4 interacts with the adenine nucleotide translocator, another component of mPTP,

and that SIRT5 deacetylates CytC, but the physiological importance of these interactions has not yet been established [207, 208], especially in models of IRI.

Microcirculatory alterations play an important part in IRI. During the ischemic period, vascular hypoxia can cause increased vascular permeability. After reperfusion, complement system activation, leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion and platelet-leukocyte aggregation further aggravate microvascular dysfunction [209].

NO opposes the vasoconstrictive actions of ET can abrogate the microcirculatory stresses generated during reperfusion [210]. There is a large body of evidence in favour of the relationship between eNOS and SIRT1; SIRT1 interacts and modifies the acetylation state of eNOS, resulting in the activation of the enzyme [211-213]. In SIRT1^{+/+} hearts subjected to IRI SIRT1 was associated with eNOS activation [214]. SIRT1 activation by resveratrol protected against subacute intestinal IRI by reducing the NO production through iNOS [215] Moreover, various experimental models showed that resveratrol inhibits endothelin-1 levels, providing a better regulation of vascular tone [216-218]. However, a recent study in human umbilical vein endothelial cells has shown that the inhibitory effects of resveratrol in endothelin-1 levels are SIRT1-independent [219]. The overall mechanisms are summarized in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Protective role of sirtuin 1 and suggestive role of sirtuin 3 during reperfusion. Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) inhibits inflammation through inhibition of nuclear factor kappa B and activates

endothelial nitric oxide synthase for a better microcirculation. SIRT1 downregulates apoptosis through multiple pathways, for example, inhibiting p53 transcriptional activity or favoring the binding between Ku70 and Bax. SIRT1 also enhances forkhead box-containing protein O 1 (FoxO1) transcriptional activity, resulting in Bax downregulation and in the upregulation of B cell lymphoma-2 and Bcl-like X. Deacetylation of FoxO1 by SIRT1 also results in lessening oxidative stress, whereas the same effect may be achieved by deacetylation of forkhead boxcontaining protein 3 alpha (FoxO3 α). Sirtuin 3 (SIRT3) is suggested to contribute to decrease in oxidative stress either by a direct interaction with mitochondrial anti-oxidant enzymes [manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), thioredoxin system (Trx), cytochrome (Cyt)] or by enhancing FoxO3 α to transcribe MnSOD and Cat. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) may also be inhibited by SIRT3 and result in less production of oxidative stress. NFkB: Nuclear factor kappa B; eNOS: Endothelial nitric oxide synthase; Bcl-2: B cell lymphoma-2; BclxL: Bcllike X; Bax: Bcl-2-associated X; Cat: Catalase

1.14.3. Role of sirtuins in IRI-associated inflammation

IRI results in a profound inflammatory tissue reaction with immune cells infiltrating the tissue. The damage is mediated by various cytokines, chemokines, adhesion molecules, and compounds of the extracellular matrix. The expression of these factors is regulated by specific transcription factors with NF-kB being one of the key modulators of inflammation. After activation, the transcription factor migrates to the nucleus and enhances the transcription of pro-inflammatory genes, potentiating the inflammatory response. This is followed by an infiltration of lymphocytes, mononuclear cells/macrophages, and granulocytes into the injured tissue [220-222].

SIRT1 plays an important role in neuroprotection against brain ischemia by deacetylation and subsequent inhibition of p53 and NF-κB pathways [223]. In SIRT1+/+ hearts subjected to IRI SIRT1 was correlated with decreased acetylation of NF-κB and a possible prevention of inflammation [214]. Moreover, SIRT1's anti-inflammatory action, by deacetylating NF-κB and thus inhibiting the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules, has also been demonstrated in human aortic endothelial cells [222].

1.14.4. Sirtuins: cell survival or death?

Apoptotic cell death is a well-known mechanism involved in IRI which occurs via activation of caspases that cleave DNA and other cellular components [50, 224, 225]. There is evidence that SIRT1 is associated with life longevity in mammals and enhances mammalian cell survival under stress conditions by regulating the specific substrates [226-228]. In fact, several studies have mentioned SIRT1's anti-apoptotic effect in IRI. SIRT1 deacetylates known mediators of apoptosis, such as the tumor-suppressor p53, resulting in inhibition of its transcriptional activity [229, 230] and the DNA repair factor Ku70 [162, 231, 232], causing it to sequester the pro-apoptotic factor Bcl-2-associated X / Bax away from the mitochondria. In ischemic kidney and brain SIRT1 has been identified as an important survival mediator, given that increased SIRT1 was associated with reduced p53 expression and apoptosis [223, 233]. SIRT1 also modulates apoptosis-related molecules through the deacetylation of FoxO family of transcription factors. During IRI in SIRT1+/+ heart transgenic mice, SIRT1 induces nuclear translocation of FoxO1, which upregulates the anti-apoptotic factors B cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) and Bcl-like X (Bcl-xL) and downregulates Bax [188]. As regards other members of FoxO family, Brunet et al. revealed a dual role of SIRT1 in the cell cycle in stress conditions; SIRT1 inhibited FOXO3's ability to induce cell death, thus promoting cell survival, and surprisingly, it increased FOXO3's ability to induce cell cycle arrest and resistance to oxidative stress [234].

A possible pro-apoptotic role of SIRT1 in IRI has not been reported previously. However, studies in human embryonic kidney cells, have revealed that SIRT1can promote cell death by inhibiting NF-kB in response to TNF α [235]. Further investigation is required in order to define the conditions under which SIRT1 may promote apoptosis.

Since apoptotic pathways are initiated upon the opening of the mPTP and SIRT3 is located in the mitochondria, it may be involved in anti-apoptotic pathways. In this regard, SIRT3 protects various types of cells from apoptotic cell death triggered by genotoxic or oxidative stress [236-239]. The pro-apoptotic role of SIRT3 has also been associated with tumor suppression and restraint of ROS [240]. However, SIRT3 has also been reported to contribute to Bcl-2- and JNK-related apoptotic pathways in human

colorectal carcinoma cells [241]. In any case, the potential anti-apoptotic mechanisms of SIRT3 during IRI are yet to be elucidated.

2. OBJECTIVES

Taking into account the crucial importance of identifying new mediators implicated in IRI and that SIRT1 has been involved in models of IRI in heart and brain but no data is reported concerning its role in liver IRI, the objectives of the present thesis are the following:

- <u>Objective 1</u>: Examine whether SIRT1 is involved in the hepato-protective mechanisms of PC against IRI in obese rats.
- Objective 2: Investigate the potential implication of SIRT1 in a model of OLT when an IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with trimetazidine was used.
- Objective 3: Evaluate the possible involvement of SIRT1 in ROLT when an antagonist of angiotensin II was administrated.

Mateials and Methods

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Animals

In order to realize the study related to PC, male homozygous obese (Ob) Zucker rats aged 12 weeks were used. Ob rats are characterized by the lack of the cerebral leptin receptor and show severe macro- and microvesicular fatty infiltration in hepatocytes (40–60% steatosis). As far as transplantation experiments are concerned, male Sprague–Dawley rats (200–250 g) were used as donors and recipients. All animals come from Charles River (France) and were housed in conventional animal facilities (Faculty of Medicine, University of Barcelona) for at least one week before the surgical procedure. The environmental conditions of animal facilities were constantly regulated; temperature at 22⁰C, humidity 70 % and 12-hour light/dark cycle. All animals had free access to water and a standard laboratory diet (12% fat, 28% protein and 60% of carbohydrates). All procedures were performed under isofluorane inhalation anesthesia at 1.5-2%, and oxygen flow at 2-2.5 L/min. Animal experiments were approved by the Ethics Committees for Animal Experimentation (CEEA, Directive 400/12 and 396/12), University of Barcelona, as well as complied with European Union regulations for animal experiments (EU guideline 86/609/EEC).

3.2. Ischemic Preconditioning

In order to induce PC, a microvascular clamp was applied to the hepatic artery and the portal vein of the rats for 5min. In this way, we induce partial ischemia (70 %) in the liver. Then the clamp was removed and 10 minutes later we induced partial hepatic ischemia of 60 min followed by 24-hours of reperfusion.

3.3. Orthotopic liver transplantation design

The orthotopic liver transplantation was performed according to the technique of double "cuff" without reconstruction of the hepatic artery, as has been previously described by Kamada *et al.* [242]. The technique can be divided into three phases: donor surgery, bank surgery and surgery of the receptor.
3.3.i. Donor Surgery

After the rat being anesthetized, the rat abdomen was shaved and transverse laparotomy was performed. The hepatic ligaments were sectioned and the inferior vena cava was freed. The right renal pedicle was dissected and then the right renal artery and vein and the right lumbar and suprarenal veins were ligated. Next, in hepatic hilum, portal vein was dissected away from hepatic artery and the bile duct. The pyloric and splenic veins were ligated. Then, it followed the cannulation of bile duct with a catheter of polyethylene (approximately 2 cm long) and fixed with a double 6/0 silk ligature. The right diaphragmatic vein was freed and ligated, whereas aorta was separated from inferior vena cava (Figure 8A).

Afterwards, we administered intravenously 300 units of heparin. Once the liver was ready for its extraction, the aorta was cannulated (with a catheter of 20 G) and perfusion of the graft was started with 50 ml of UW solution. For this reason, it was necessary the occlusion of thoracic aorta and the cut of the suprahepatic inferior vena cava (Figure 8B). Once the perfused liver was extracted, it was placed in a bath with UW solution at 4 $^{\circ}$ C.

3.3.ii. Bench surgery

Bench surgery is performed in order to prepare the graft for its implantation into the receptor. The diaphragm surrounding the suprahepatic inferior vena cava was cut. Then, we cut the length of the inferior vena cava, leaving a small rim for its posterior anastomosis. In order to facilitate the anastomosis, we place two surgical 7.0 polypropylene sutures at both ends of the suprahepatic inferior vena cava. Furthermore, the anastomosis of the portal vein and infrahepatic inferior vena cava were performed in the receptor applying the technique of double cuff. During the bench surgery, we localized in both veins some tubular structures of polyethelene called cuffs (Figure 8C). In this way, during the implantation process, each cuff is inserted into portal vein and infrahepatic inferior cava, avoiding thus a continuous suture that could increase the duration of the intervention and could also be detrimental for the survival of the receptor.

3.3.iii. Surgery of the receptor

Similarly as in case of donor, we perform laparotomy and liver dissection. Furthermore, in hepatic hilum, bile duct was sectioned. Two surgical 7.0 polypropylene sutures were located in the extreme sites of portal vein and infrahepatic inferior vena cava in order to make easier the introduction of cuffs and the proper orientation of both veins. By applying microvascular clamps we obtained the occlusion of portal vein (in the point of its confluence with splenic vein), of the infrahepatic inferior vena cava (in the upper site of right renal vein) and of the suprahepatic inferior vena cava (in this case we used a Satinsky clamp). At this point begins the anhepatic phase; the portal vein as well as both the infra- and supra- hepatic inferior vena cava were sectioned in sites as much nearer to liver as possible (Figure 8D).

Following, donor's liver is perfused with Lactate Ringer Hartmann solution in order to eliminate the excessive concentration of K⁺ that possesses the UW solution. Donor's liver is now ready to be implanted to the receptor, through a continuous surgical 7.0 polypropylene sutures between the donor's and the receptor's suprahepatic inferior vena cava (Figure 8E). Then, with a vascular clamp holding the cuff extension, the cuff of the donor portal vein was inserted into the lumen of the recipient portal vein and secured with a 6.0 silk ligature. Then, the clamps that occluded the portal vein and the suprahepatic inferior vena cava were removed, allowing graft reperfusion. Next, the anastomosis of infrahepatic inferior vena cava is realized, as in case of portal vein, which was followed by the removal of the correspondent microvascular clamp and the subsequent blood flow restoration. Then, the graft is rehydrated by an intravenous administration of 0.5 ml of sodium bicarbonate (1 M) and 2.5 ml of isotonic Ringer Lactate solution; in this way we achieve to restore the volume that has been lost and counteract the acidosis produced during surgery. At last, bile duct anastomosis took place (Figure 8F) and the surgical intervention finalized with a continuous suture (2.0) of both muscle and skin.



Figure 8: Orthotopic liver transplantation in Sprague-Dawley rats. (A): Hepatic hilum of the donor, (B) Liver graft perfusion with UW solution, (C) Cuffs of portal vein and of infrahepatic inferior vena cava, (D) Hepatectomy of the receptor, (E) Anastomosis of inferior suprahepatic vena cava, (F) Anastomosis of infrahepatic vena cava, portal vein and bile duct

3.4. Reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation design

The procedure of reduced orthotopic liver transplantation was realized similarly as in case of OLT, according the technique reported by Kamada *et al.* and Xia *et al.*, [242, 243] but with the only difference regarding the previously described protocol:

During donor surgery, after the cannulation of the bile duct with the catheter, the reduction of the liver was carried out. The left lateral lobule and the two caudate lobules, which account for 70 % of liver mass, were elevated to expose their vascular pedicle, which was encircled with a ligature (5.0) and then they were removed. Then, we administered heparin and and we perfused the graft with 50 ml de UW solution, as mentioned before.



Figure 9: (A) Ligature of left lateral lobule and (B) Removed hepatic lobules (left lateral lobule and the two caudate)

3.5. Experimental Groups

3.5.1. First study

<u>Silent information regulator 1 protects the liver against ischemia–reperfusion injury:</u> <u>implications in steatotic liver ischemic preconditioning</u>

The first study aimed to evaluate the potential role of SIRT1 in fatty liver ischemic preconditioning. For this reason, the following experimental groups were realized with Zucker obeses (ob) rats:

- Sham (n = 6): Ob rats were anesthetized and subjected to transversal laparotomy and hepatic hilum vessels were dissected. We finally realized a continuous suture of both muscle and skin and animals were returned to their cage and after 24 hours they were sacrificed.
- 2. IR (n = 6): After laparotomy and the dissection of hepatic hilum vessels, a microvascular clamp was localized for 1 hour to both the hepatic artery and the portal vein. In this way, the hepatic inflow to the median and left lobes was obstructed, provoking thus a partial (70 %) ischemia. After 1 hour, the clamp was removed, allowing thus the blood flow recovery and the initiation of reperfusion phase. Animals were sacrificed after 24 hours of reperfusion.
- 3. PC (n = 6): In order to induce PC, a clamp was applied to the hepatic artery and the portal vein for 5 min and was removed for 10 min. Then, the clamp was returned to be localized and provoke partial ischemia for 1 hour, as similarly occurred in IR group. Animals were sacrificed after 24 hours of reperfusion.
- Sirtinol + PC (n = 6). As in group of PC, but 5 minutes before PC application, a SIRT1 inhibitor, sirtinol (dissolved in DMSO), was administered in rats intravenously at 0.9 mg/kg [244].
- EX + PC [n = 6]. As in group sirtinol + PC, but in this case rats were treated with an intravenously administration of a more specific inhibitor of SIRT1, EX527 (dissolved in DMSO/saline), at 5 mg/Kg, 30 min before PC [245].

In all experimental groups, before rats being sacrificed, liver samples were collected; some of them were immediately frozen at dry ice and then stored at -80 $^{\circ}$ C for further determinations. Other hepatic samples were fixed in

paraformaldehyde at 4 % for their posterior histological analysis and evaluation of liver damage. Before liver extraction, blood samples were collected and centrifuged immediately at 4 °C for 10 min at 3000 rpm. Plasma extracts (supernatant) were then stored at -20 °C for further determinations. Hepatic injury was evaluated through determination of hepatic transaminase levels in plasma. We further determine lipid peroxidation, SIRT1 activity and, through western blot, various proteins involved in PC mechanisms, such as AMPK, eNOS, MAPKs, HSP70 and caspase levels.

3.5.2. Second study

Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach

The second study aimed to examine the possible implication of SIRT1 in orthtopic liver transplantation when IGL-1 preservation solution enriched or not with TMZ was used. Thus, male Sprague-Dawley rats (200-250 gr) were distributed in the following groups:

- Sham (n = 6): Animals underwent transverse laparotomy and received silk ligatures in the right suprarenal vein, diaphragmatic vein and hepatic artery.
- 2. IGL-1 (n = 6): Livers were extracted from donors, flushed with IGL-1 solution and then stored in IGL-1 preservation solution for 8 hours at 4°C. Then, they underwent OLT according to Kamada's cuff technique without arterialization. Rats were sacrificed 24 hours after the blood flow in the graft was successfully restored after its implantation to the recipient.
- 3. IGL-1+TMZ (n = 6): Similarly as in previous group, but during bench surgery livers were preserved in IGL-1 solution supplemented with TMZ at 10^{-6} mol/L.

After the 24 hours of transplantation, liver samples were collected and stored at -80 ⁰C, as well as plasma extracts for a posterior determination of transaminase levels and glutamate dehydrogenase activity (mitochondrial damage).Through western blot technique, we analyzed the protein expression pattern of SIRT1 and of proteins related to its activity (NAMPT, acetylated p53 and FoxO1), along with the expression of AMPK, p-mTOR, p-p70S6K, MAPKs and of autophagy parameters (beclin-1, LC3B). Lipid peroxidation and NAD⁺ levels were also evaluated.

3.5.3. Third study

Losartan activates SIRT1 in rat reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation

In order to explore whether SIRT1 is involved in the protective mechanisms of Losartan against IRI associated with ROLT, the following groups with Sprague-Dawley rats were assessed:

- Sham (n=6): Animals were subjected to transverse laparotomy and silk ligatures were located in the right suprarenal vein, diaphragmatic vein and hepatic artery.
- 2. ROLT (n =12, 6 transplants): Rats were subjected to ROLT, according to Kamada *et al.* and Xia *et al.*, [242, 243], which also involved the reduction of the liver mass at 40 %. Before harvesting the graft, the pedicle of the left lateral lobe was ligated with 5.0 silk ligature, and the lobe was removed. Two caudate lobes were then separately removed with the ligation. The donor livers were flushed and preserved with cold (4 ^oC) UW for 1 hour; the short time of ischemia coincided with the ischemic time that occurs in clinical practice of living donor liver transplantation. Furthermore, the time of the anhepatic phase was 20 min. Rats were sacrificed 24 hours after the initiation of graft reperfusion in the receptor.
- Losartan + ROLT (n=12, 6 transplants): Similarly as occurred in ROLT, but in this case, an AT1R antagonist (Losartan) was orally administered (5 mg/kg) 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient.

After 24 hours of reperfusion, liver and blood samples were collected. We evaluated liver injury by determining hepatic transaminases in liver plasma. In hepatic tissue samples, we examined the protein expression pattern of SIRT1 and of its direct substrates (acetylated p53 and FoxO1), which was associated with the protein expression of ERS parameters (GRP78, IRE1a, p-eIF2), of MAPKs (p-p38 and p-ERK), of

HSPs (HSP70 and HO-1) and with liver apoptosis (caspase 12 and caspase 3). SIRT1 activity and NAD+ levels were also measured.

3.6. Biochemical determinations

3.6.1. Transaminases (AST, ALT)

The transaminases, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) are hepatic enzymes whose elevated plasma concentration has been associated with hepatic damage. In case of hepatocellular damage, plasma membrane is disrupted, which allows the leakage of intracellular enzymes such as ALT or AST into the bloodstream.

The reactions related with ALT are the following (LDH: lactate dehydrogenase):

2-oxoglutarate + L-arginine \longrightarrow Pyruvate + L-glutamate Pyruvate + NADH + H+ \longrightarrow D-Lactate + NAD⁺

In case of AST the following reactions are realized (MDH: malate dehydrogenase): 2-oxoglutarate + L-arginine \xrightarrow{AST} Oxaloacetic acid + L-glutamate MDH

Oxaloacetic acid + NADH + H+ ----->D-malate + NAD+

The activity of these enzymes was determined in rat plasma by a commercial kit (RAL, Barcelona, Spain), where the NADH decreases were determined through spectrophotometry at 365 nm for 5 minutes. The final result was calculated as Δ abs/min x 1745.

3.6.2. Glutamate Dehydrogenase

Glutamate dehydrogenase (GLDH) is located in the mitochondria and is involved in carbon and nitrogen metabolism, as catalyzes the reversible inter-conversion of glutamate to α -ketoglutarate and ammonia, as showing:

 α -oxoglutarate + NADH + NH₄⁺ \leftarrow glutamate + NAD⁺ + H₂O

In case of injured hepatocytes, GLDH is released from mitochondria to the cytosol and finally to systemic circulation. Consequently, increased GLDH levels in plasma have

been associated with mitochondrial injury. The assay (Randox, Spain) involves the determination of absorbance at 340 nm after incubation at 25 0 C of the serum with the adequate co-factors for 3 and 5 minutes (absorbance A1 and A2 respectively) and after the addition of the substrate (A3) and the incubation for 5 minutes (A4). The final result was calculated firstly as: (A3-A4)-(A1-A2) = $\Delta A / 5$ minutes and then the final result was reported as: 197* $\Delta A / 5$ minutes (U/I).

3.6.3. Lipid peroxidation assay

The formation of malondialdehyde (MDA) has been associated with lipid peroxidation induced by ROS and has been used as an indirect measurement of the oxidative injury. Hepatic tissue has been homogenized in 1 ml of Tris-base buffer (pH=7) and we quantify the concentration of the proteins by the method of Bradford. When protein molecules bind to the Bradford reagent, the absorption maximum of the reagent shifts from 465 to 595 nm. The bovine serum albumin (BSA) is used as a protein standard in the range of 5.26 - 60µg/ml. BSA standard stock is prepared in water at 6 mg/ml and the absorbance of the blank, standard curve and the samples are measured at 595 nm in a total volume of 160 µl. Later, 250 µl of the homogenized solution are added to 250 μ l of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) so than the proteins can be precipitated. Then, vortex and centrifugation at 3000 rpm during 15 min at 4 $^{\circ}$ C follows. We mixed the supernatant with 250 µl of thiobarbituric acid (TBA) and incubated it at 100 ^oC for 30 minutes, where a pink chromogen compound was formed and its absorbance at 540 nm was then measured. The standard curve for MDA was prepared by dissolving 120 µl of 1,1,3,3-tetraethoxypropane in 50 ml of (hydrochloric acid) HCL 0.1 M and heating at 50 0 C for 1 hour and then adequate dilutions up in the range of 1.25 – 80 nmoles/ml were obtained. The final result was expressed as nmoles/ mg protein.

3.6.4. SIRT1 activity

First of all, we homogenized 100 mg of liver tissue in 1 ml of a mild lysis buffer (50 mM Tris–HCl pH 8, 125 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT, 5 mM MgCl2, 1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol and 0.1% NP40). Then proteins have been quantified with the method of Brandford and then samples were further diluted with the homogenization buffer in order to

obtain equal quantity of proteins (10 μ g/ μ l approximately). SIRT1 activity was measured using a deacetylase fluorometric assay kit (CY-1151; CycLex, MBL International Corp.), which provides an acetylated peptide as substrate for SIRT1 and a protease (lysylendopeptidase) that cuts the peptide only when it is deacetylated. Moreover, a fluorophore and quencher are coupled to amino- and carboxyl- terminal of the peptide and fluorescence is not emitted in absence of deacetylase action. When SIRT1 performs deacetylation of the peptide, protease will cut the peptide and consequently quencher will separate from fluorophore and thus fluorescence will be emitted. In this way, deacetylase enzyme activity is measured by determining this fluorescence activity. A total of 25 µl of assay buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL, pH=8.8, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.25 mAU/ml Lysylendopeptidase, 1 µM Trichostatin A and 20 µM Fluoro-Substrate Peptide in 50 μ l of reaction mixture) and 5 μ l of protein extracts were added to all wells. The fluorescence intensity was monitored every 2 min for 1 hour at 25 $^{\circ}$ C using the fluorescence plate reader Spectramax Gemini, applying an excitation wavelength of 355 nm and an emission wavelength of 460 nm. The results were expressed as the rate of reaction for the first 30 min, when a linear correlation between the fluorescence and this period of time was observed.

3.7. Molecular Biology techniques

3.7.1. Protein extraction

In order to extract proteins from a tissue, we firstly prepare the extraction buffer (Hepes or Ripa, as indicated to each study), then we add 1ml of buffer to 200 mg of hepatic tissue and we start the homogenization; in this way the cells are lysed and the proteins can be liberated in the extracellular environment. The samples are incubated for 30 min on ice and then are centrifugated in 4 °C 12000 rpm, for 30 min, so as the proteins (supernatant) and the rest of the cell components (precipitate) are separated. After the collection of the supernatant, follows the quantification of the concentration of the proteins by the method of Bradford.

Mateials and Methods

3.7.2. Western Blot

The Western Blot technique detects, by using a specific antibody, a protein between a sample of proteins that have been separated by electrophoresis and transfered to a nitrocellulose or PVDF membrane.

The first step consists of an electrophoresis in a polyacrylamide gel, which is composed by two parts: the upper or stacking gel at pH 6.8 and the lower or separating gel at pH 8.8. Sample proteins are loaded at the wells located on the stacking gel and under the impact of an electric field can migrate towards the separating gel. The different pH between these two parts makes the proteins to be concentrated at the interphase before entering to the separating gel. In this way, thinner bands can be obtained instead of diffuse bands, so the separation of the proteins will be better.

As the protein concentration of each sample has been known, appropriate dilutions are made, in order to load the same quantity of proteins (50 µg) for each sample. In each sample, we add a mix of laemli buffer (2x, Bio-rad Laboratories) and βmercaptoethanol (Bio-rad Laboratories). Laemli buffer contains glycerol, sodium dodecul sulphate (SDS) and bromoethanol blue. Bromoethanol blue is a colorant that allows us to observe the running point of the samples in the gel. Due to glycerol, the density of the samples increases, facilitating their movement in the gel. Both βmercaptoethanol and SDS result in the loss of the tridimensional structure and the unfolding of the proteins, as the former cleaves the disulfide bonds (S-S) of the cysteins, and the latter disrupts the non-covalent bonds. Also, SDS, as it is an anionic surfactant, charges negatively the proteins. Consequently, the denaturated proteins are able to be separated in the gel by molecular weight once an electric field is applied. Heating at 95 °C for 5 minutes is followed to accelerate the process of denaturation. A protein marker (1,5 µl, abcam) is also to be loaded to determine by comparison the molecular weight of our protein. Electrophoresis buffer (Tris-HCl 25mM, pH=8.8, glycine 250 mM) is added on to the electrophoresis chamber and electrophoresis is performed at a constant current of 120V for 1,30 h approximately.

Once the electrophoresis is finished, stacking gel is removed and proteins in the separating gel are transfered to a PVDF membrane. The phase of transference is realized in semi-dry blot (Bio-rad Laboratories) and the transfer sandwich contains a sponge, the PVDF membrane, the gel and another sponge. The sponges have been submersed previously in transfer buffer (Tris-base 25 mM, pH=8.8, glycine 250 mM and methanol). The transfer is performed at 18 V for 30 min in Trans-Blot SD Semi-Dry Electrophoretic Transfer Cell (Bio-rad Laboratories). In this way, the proteins move from within the gel onto the membrane while maintaining the organization they had within the gel.

After the transfer, the next steps for the detection of the proteins are followed: i) blocking of non-specific binding, by placing the membrane in a blocking buffer of 5% w/v dry milk in Tris-Buffered Saline (TBS, Tris 200 mM, pH=7.5, NaCl 1.5 M, Tween 0.05%) and incubation in room temperature for 1 h. The milk attaches to all places where proteins have not attached, eliminating false positives and leading to clearer results, ii)incubation overnight at 4 °C with the primary antibody that binds specifically to the protein of interest, iii) hybridization to the secondary antibody for 1 hour in room temperature. From one hand, the secondary antibody binds to the primary antibody that comes from the same animal source. On the other hand, it is linked to horseradish peroxidase. The horseradish peroxidase catalyses the oxidation of luminol, a reaction accompanied by emission of low-intensity light at 428 nm. For this reason, the membrane is incubated for 5 min in a solution of luminol and enhancer (Bio-rad Laboratories/Advansta) and the produced light, which is proportionate to the amount of the protein, can be detected. In order to visualize the chemiluminescent signal, we use a photographic film, where the bands of the proteins appear. Finally, the film is scanned and the generated bands are quantified by using the Quantity One program (Bio-rad Laboratories). The values obtained for each protein are then divided by the correspondent values of β -actin in order to reduce experimental variability between samples, due to incorrect loading or transference.

3.7.3. Analysis of RNA

3.7.3.a. RNA extraction

In order to extract RNA from a tissue, the next steps were followed: i) place a piece of tissue in Trizol (1 ml), so as the plasmatic membrane be destroyed, proteins, like the RNAases, be desnaturated and the RNA be seperated from the ribosomes, ii) incubation with chloroform (200 µl, 2-3 min, room temperature) and centrifugation (12000 g, 15 min, 4 °C) for the formation and separation of aqueous phase which contains the RNA and organic phase of lipids of the destroyed membrane, iii) rejection of the organic phase and continuation with the aqueous phase, iv) incubation with isopropanol (500 µl, 10 min, room temperature) so as the RNA be dehydrated, and centrifugation (12000 g, 10 min, 4 °C) for the precipitation of RNA, v) rejection of the aqueous phase and continuation with the precipitated RNA, vi) centrifugation with 75% ethanol: The salts are eliminated as they are soluble in 25% of water, while the RNA is precipitated in 75% ethanol, vii)rejection of ethanol and let the precipitated RNA dry, viii) dissolving the RNA in distilled water (200 μl), and ix) quantification of the concentration of RNA: spectrometric measurement of the samples; the nucleotides absorb at 260 nm as the ring of ribose absorbs in this region of spectrum. Also, the ratio of absorbance at 260 nm and 280 nm is used to assess the purity of RNA. A ratio of ~2.0 is generally accepted as "adequate" for RNA.

3.7.3.b. Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

The RT-PCR (Reverse Transcription-PCR) is a molecular technique where a sample of RNA is converted into cDNA, using reverse transcriptase, an enzyme that contributes to the incorporation of dNTPs to the new synthesized polimer of DNA, without RNase H activity. We used the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Biorad). After we had prepared samples of RNA of the same quantity (1 µg), the followed incubations are carried out: i) at 25 °C for 5 minutes, ii) at 42 °C for 30 minutes and iii) at 85 °C for 5 minutes. Then, we adjust the samples at a final volume of 80 µl. The low quantity of cDNA is suitable for the next procedure (Q-PCR).

3.7.3.c.Real-Time polymerase chain reaction, or Quantitative real time polymerase chain (Q-PCR)

PCR is a technique used to amplify a single or a few copies of a piece of DNA and is based on the ability of DNA polymerase to synthesize new strand of DNA complementary to the offered template strand. The PCR reaction requires the following components: i) DNA template: the sample DNA that contains the target sequence, ii) DNA polymerase: enzyme that generates new strands of DNA, complementary to the target sequence and primers, iii) Primers: short pieces of singlestranded DNA, complementary to the target sequence, whose 3'-OH end is the starting point of polymerase.

The Quantitive real-time polymerase chain (Q-PCR), is a type of PCR that measures the amplified PCR product at each cycle. The quantity can be either an absolute number of copies or a relative amount when normalized to DNA input or additional normalizing genes. The reaction mix contains 37,5 ng of sample cDNA, 500 nm of forward primer and 500 nm of reverse primer that bind to the gene of interest and finally 5 ul of Sso Advanced SYBR Green supermix (Bio-rad Laboratories) in a total volume of 10 µl. The Sso Advanced supermix contains all the components that are necessary for Q-PCR reaction, such as dNTPs, DNA polymerase, MgCl₂ and the SYBR Green I, a fluorescent DNA binding dye that binds all double–stranded DNA and detection is monitored by measuring the increase in fluorescence throughout the cycle.

The whole process consists of the repetition (40 times) of the following steps: i) heating the reaction to 95 °C for 30 seconds, ii) heating the reaction to 95 °C for 5 seconds so as the hydrogen bonds between complementary bases can be disrupted, yielding single-stranded DNA molecules, iii) incubation for 30 seconds at the optimal temperature for the primer, so that the primers are to the single-stranded DNA template iv) incubation at 72 °C for 15 seconds so that the polymerase is able to bind to the primer-template hybrid and begin the DNA synthesis and elongation of the new strand.

In order to achieve a precise determination of the amplified product, it is necessary to amplify a reference gene whose amplification is not influenced by the experimental procedure and its expression level remains constant in our biological system. In our case, the glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GADPH) gene was used as reference gene.

3.8. Histology

Promptly after the extraction, liver samples were fixed at paraformaldehyde at 4 % for at least 24 hours and then the tissue was embedded into paraffin wax and cut in sections of 5 µm by an ultramicrotome. The sections were stained by hematoxylin–eosin; hematoxylin has a deep blue-purple color and stains nucleic acids and eosin is pink and stains proteins nonspecifically. In a typical tissue, nuclei are stained blue, whereas the cytoplasm and extracellular matrix have varying degrees of pink staining. Liver damage was evaluated using an ordinal scale from 0 to 4 as follows: grade 0: absence of injury; grade 1: mild injury consisting in cytoplasmic vacuolation and focal nuclear pycknosis; grade 2: moderate injury with focal nuclear pycknosis; grade 3: severe necrosis with extensive nuclear pycknosis and loss of intercellular borders; and grade 4: severe necrosis with disintegration of hepatic cords, hemorrhage, and neutrophil infiltration.

3.9. Statistics analysis

Statistical comparison was performed by variance analysis (ANOVA), followed by the Student– Newman–Keuls test, or the Kruskal-Wallis test. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data were expressed as mean ± standard error

4. RESULTS

4. Results

4.1. First study: SIRT1 in PC

<u>Silent information regulator 1 protects the liver against ischemia–</u> <u>reperfusion injury: implications in steatotic liver ischemic preconditioning.</u>

Summary

Introduction: IRI is a complex situation that is inherent to surgical procedures and various strategies have been proposed in order to combat its deleterious effects. Between them, PC, a surgical procedure that consists of short times of ischemia followed by short times of reperfusion before a prolonged ischemia-reperfusion, has been shown to protect livers against IRI. PC beneficial effects are owned, at last in part, in the activation of eNOS, AMPK, HSPs expression and decreased oxidative stress and apoptosis. PC has also been shown to protect steatotic livers which are more vulnerable to IRI than non-steatotic ones. SIRT1 is a deacetylase that activates or inhibits various proteins and in this way regulates various cellular processes involved in the cell stress response and cell cycle. Taking into account that SIRT1 has been associated with favorable effects in various IRI models, in the present study we aimed to evaluate whether SIRT1 is involved in the protective mechanisms of PC against IRI in fatty livers.

Experimental: Homozygous (Ob) Zucker rats aged 12 weeks were classified as follows: Group 1= Sham; Group 2= IR: Ob rats were subjected to 60 minutes of partial ischemia (70%) followed by 24-hour reperfusion; Group 3= PC : 5 minutes of partial ischemia (70%) followed by a reflow for 10 minutes and then livers were subjected to IRI as in group 2; Group 4= Sirtinol + PC : as in group 3, but treated with sirtinol, a SIRT1 inhibitor (0.9 mg/kg intravenously), 5 minutes before PC. Group 5: EX + PC. As in group 3, but treated with EX527 (5 mg/Kg i.v.), a SIRT1 inhibitor 30 min before PC. Rats were sacrificed after 24 hours of reperfusion. Liver injury (AST), oxidative stress (MDA) and SIRT1 activity were evaluated. Protein expression of SIRT1, ac-p53, p-AMPK, eNOS, HSP70, MAPKs (p-p38, p-ERK) and apoptosis parameters (Caspase 9 and 3, cytochrome c) were determined by Western blot.

Results: 1) SIRT1 protein levels and activity are enhanced in hepatic PC, 2) Inhibition of SIRT1 during PC increases liver injury and oxidative stress, 3) SIRT1 enhanced activity during PC was associated with activation of eNOS, AMPK and HSP70 and p-ERK, 4) Inhibition of SIRT1 during PC abolished the activation of the above proteins and resulted in enhanced apoptosis.

Conclusions: SIRT1 contributes to the protective mechanisms of PC against IRI in fatty livers.

TR	ANSPLANT	
IN'	TERNATION	41

Transplant International ISSN 0934-0874

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Silent information regulator 1 protects the liver against ischemia–reperfusion injury: implications in steatotic liver ischemic preconditioning*

Eirini Pantazi, ^{1,2} Mohamed Amine Zaouali, ^{1,2,3} Mohamed Bejaoui, ^{1,2} Anna Serafin, ⁴ Emma Folch-Puy, ^{1,2} Valerie Petegnief, ⁵ Nuria De Vera, ⁵ Hassen Ben Abdennebi, ³ Antoni Rimola^{6,2} and Joan Roselló-Catafau^{1,2}

- 1 Experimental Hepatic Ischemia-Reperfusion Unit, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona, IIBB-CSIC, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain
- 2 Networked Biomedical Research Center of Hepatic and Digestive Diseases (CiberEHD), Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain
- 3 Molecular Biology and Anthropology Applied to Development and Health (UR12ES11), Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Monastir, Monastir, Tunisia
- 4 Platform of Laboratory Animal Applied Research, Barcelona Science Park, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain
- 5 Department of Brain Ischemia and Neurodegeneration, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona August Pi Sunyer, IIBB-CSIC, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain
- 6 Hospital Clínic, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain

Keywords

ischemic preconditioning, liver ischemia– reperfusion injury, nitric oxide, oxidative stress, Sirtuin 1.

Correspondence

Dr. Joan Rosello-Catafau, Experimental Pathology Department, IIBB-CSIC, C/ Rosello 161, 7th floor, 08036-Barcelona, Spain. Tel.: +34 933638300; fax: +34 933638301; e-mail: ircbam@iibb.csic.es

Conflicts of Interest

The authors have declared no conflict of interests.

*This paper was presented as full oral presentation at the 16th Congress of the European Society for Organ Transplantation (ESOT), 8–11 September, 2013, Vienna, Austria

Received: 5 July 2013 Revision requested: 27 July 2013 Accepted: 23 January 2014 Published online: 5 March 2014

doi: 10.1111/tri.12276

Introduction

Ischemia-reperfusion (IR) injury is the main cause of organ damage and initial poor function of liver grafts and is

© 2014 Steunstichting ESOT 27 (2014) 493-503

Abstract

Ischemia–reperfusion (IR) injury is an important problem in liver surgery especially when steatosis is present. Ischemic preconditioning (PC) is the only surgical strategy that has been applied in patients with steatotic livers undergoing warm ischemia. Silent information regulator 1 (SIRT1) is a histone deacetylase that regulates various cellular processes. This study evaluates the SIRT1 implication in PC in fatty livers. Homozygous (Ob) Zucker rats were subjected to IR and IR + PC. An additional group treated with sirtinol or EX527 (SIRT1 inhibitors) before PC was also realized. Liver injury and oxidative stress were evaluated. SIRT1 protein levels and activity, as well as other parameters involved in PC protective mechanisms (adenosine monophosphate protein kinase, eNOS, HSP70, MAP kinases, apoptosis), were also measured. We demonstrated that the protective effect of PC was due in part to SIRT1 induction, as SIRT1 inhibition resulted in increased liver injury and abolished the beneficial mechanisms of PC. In this study, we report for the first time that SIRT1 is involved in the protective mechanisms induced by hepatic PC in steatotic livers.

> inherent to surgical procedures in liver transplantation. The shortage of organs has led to expand the criteria for the acceptance of marginal donors, including the use of steatotic grafts [1]. However, the use of fatty liver grafts

Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning

increases the rates of primary nonfunction and consequently compromises the graft viability after transplantation, exacerbating the organ shortage [2].

The high vulnerability of fatty livers against IR injury is due to the abnormal accumulation of fat within the cytoplasm of hepatocytes, resulting in increased hepatocellular volume and narrowing of sinusoid. As a consequence, hepatic flow is severely obstructed and results in important alterations in liver microcirculation that compromises the suitable graft revascularization and viability after transplantation [3]. Also, another important consequence of fat accumulation in steatotic livers is that hepatocytes are more susceptible to oxidative stress [4].

Therapeutic surgical strategies such as ischemic preconditioning (PC) diminish the high vulnerability of steatotic livers against IR injury [5–8]. The induced hepatoprotection is mediated, in part, through nitric oxide (NO) generation by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) which interferes with the mechanisms responsible for IR damage, such as the exacerbated lipoperoxidation in steatotic livers [5]. In addition, PC promotes the activation of adenosine monophosphate protein kinase (AMPK), a fuel energy sensor that contributes to maintain cellular function and integrity [9]. In this line, we have previously demonstrated a direct relationship between AMPK and NO in the protective mechanisms of PC in rat steatotic liver transplantation [10].

Silent information regulator 1 (SIRT1) is a member of the family of class III histone deacetylases involved in stress responses including hypoxic stress, heat shock stress, and inflammation [8,11–13]. SIRT1 deacetylates both histone and nonhistone proteins in a NAD⁺-dependent manner, including p53, eNOS, and AMPK. [14,15]. SIRT1 deacetylates p53 in the C-terminal Lys-382 residue and thus reduces its transcriptional activity and its ability to induce apoptosis [15,16]. Furthermore, it has been reported that SIRT1 ameliorates vascular function in endothelial cells after laminar shear stress, as enhancement of SIRT1 activity was associated with eNOS activation [17]. Moreover, various studies in cultured cells and in liver *in vivo* have shown evidence of AMPK activation by SIRT1 [18–20].

Silent information regulator 1 protects the heart from IR injury and decreases oxidative stress [21,22]. Moreover, the fact that SIRT1 downregulation under IR insult in heart was attenuated by PC suggests that SIRT1 may partly mediate the benefits induced by PC [23]. Accumulating data demonstrate the relationship between SIRT1 and AMPK/NO [17,24], both mediators of PC but no data have yet been reported in liver, regarding the involvement of SIRT1 in PC.

The role of SIRT1 in liver IR injury has been poorly investigated. For this reason, the aim of this paper is focused on the study of SIRT1 function in fatty liver IR injury, as well as to explore whether it is involved in the protective mechanisms induced in liver by PC. Pantazi et al.

Material and methods

Experimental animals

Homozygous obese (Ob) Zucker rats (Charles River, France) aged 12 weeks were used. Ob rats lack the cerebral leptin receptor and showed severe macro- and microvesicular fatty infiltration in hepatocytes (40–60% steatosis). All procedures were performed under isofluorane inhalation anesthesia. This study was performed in accordance with European Union regulations (Directive 86/609 EEC). Animal experiments were approved by the Ethics Committees for Animal Experimentation (CEEA, Directive 396/12), University of Barcelona. Animals were randomly distributed into groups as described below.

Experimental design

- Group 1: sham [n = 6]. Ob rats were subjected to laparatomy, and hepatic hilum vessels were dissected [25].
- Group 2: IR [n = 6]. Ob rats were subjected to 60 min of partial (70%) ischemia by applying a microvascular clamp to the hepatic artery and the portal vein, thus blocking the hepatic inflow to the median and left lobes. Then, 24-hour reperfusion was followed [25].
- Group 3: PC [n = 6]. To induce PC, 5 min of partial ischemia (70%) followed by a reflow for 10 min was applied in ob rats [25]. Livers were then subjected to IR as in group 2.
- Group 4: sirtinol + PC [n = 6]. As in group 3, but treated with sirtinol (dissolved in DMSO), a SIRT1 inhibitor (0.9 mg/kg i.v.) 5 min before PC [26].
- Group 5: EX + PC [n = 6]. As in group 3, but treated with EX527 (dissolved in DMSO/saline), a SIRT1 inhibitor (5 mg/Kg i.v.) 30 min before PC [27].

Biochemical determinations

Transaminases assay

Hepatic injury was assessed in terms of transaminases levels with commercial kits from RAL (Barcelona, Spain). Briefly, plasma extracts were collected before liver extraction and centrifuged at 4 °C for 10 min at 0.8 g. Then, 200 µl of the supernatant were added to the substrate provided by the commercial kit. ALT levels were determined at 365 nm with an UV spectrometer and calculated following the supplier instructions [28].

Lipid peroxidation assay

Lipid peroxidation in liver was used as an indirect measurement of the oxidative injury induced by ROS. Lipid peroxidation was determined by measuring the formation of malondialdehyde (MDA) with the thiobarbiturate reaction [29]. MDA in combination with thiobarbituric acid (TBA) forms a pink chromogen compound whose absorbance at 540 nm was measured. The result was expressed as nmols/ mg protein.

SIRT1 activity assay

Silent information regulator 1 activity was determined according to the method described by Becatti et al. [30] with some modifications. Protein extracts were obtained using a mild lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 125 mM NaCl, 1 mm DTT, 5 mm MgCl2, 1 mm EDTA, 10% glycerol, and 0.1% NP40). SIRT1 activity was measured using a deacetylase fluorometric assay kit (CY-1151; CycLex, MBL International Corp.), following the manufacturer's protocol. A total of 25 µl of assay buffer containing the same quantity of protein extracts (5 µl) were added to all wells, and the fluorescence intensity was monitored every 2 min for 1 h using the fluorescence plate reader Spectramax Gemini, applying an excitation wavelength of 355 nm and an emission wavelength of 460 nm. The results are expressed as the rate of reaction for the first 30 min, when there was a linear correlation between the fluorescence and this period of time.

Western blotting analysis

Liver tissue was homogenized in RIPA buffer (Tris-HCl pH = 7.5 50 mм, NaCl 150 mм, SDS 0.1%, C24H39O4Na 1%, NP-40 1%, EDTA 5 mм, Na₃VO₄ 1 mм, NaF 50 mм, DTT 1 mm, 1 complete tablet/100 ml) for SIRT1 immunodetection and in Hepes buffer (NaCl 40 mm, EDTA 1 mм, Triton X 0.1%, glycerol 5%, NaP2O7 10 mм, b-glycerophosphate 10 mм, Na₃VO₄ 1,5 mм, NaF 50 mм, 1 complete tablet/100 ml, Hepes-KOH pH = 7.4 50 mм) for the rest of proteins. Fifty µg of proteins were electrophoresed on 8-15% SDS-PAGE gels and transblotted on PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad). Membranes were then blocked with 5% (w/v) nonfat milk in TBS containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween 20 and incubated overnight at 4 °C with anti-SIRT1 (#07-131, Merck Millipore, Billerica, MA), anti-ac-p53 (ab37318, abcam, UK), anti-p-AMPK (Thr172, #2535), anti-caspase 3 (#9662), anti-cytochrome C (#4272), anti-p-p38 MAP kinase (Thr180/Tyr182, #9211), anti-p-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2; Thr202/Tyr204, #9101; all the above antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA) anti-eNOS (610296), anti-HSP70 (610607; both from Transduction Laboratories, Lexington, KY), and anti-β-actin (A5316, Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, USA). After washing, bound antibody was detected after incubation for 1 h at room temperature with the corresponding secondary antibody linked to horseradish peroxidase. Bound complexes were detected using WesternBright ECL-HRP substrate (Advansta) and were quantified using the Quantity One software for image

© 2014 Steunstichting ESOT 27 (2014) 493-503

Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning

analysis. Results were expressed as the densitometric ratio between the protein of interest and the loading control (β -actin).

Histology

To estimate the severity of hepatic injury, hematoxylineosin-stained sections were evaluated using an ordinal scale from 0 to 4 as follows: grade 0: absence of injury; grade 1: mild injury consisting in cytoplasmic vacuolation and focal nuclear pycknosis; grade 2: moderate injury with focal nuclear pycknosis; grade 3: severe necrosis with extensive nuclear pycknosis and loss of intercellular borders; and grade 4: severe necrosis with disintegration of hepatic cords, hemorrhage, and neutrophil infiltration.

Statistics

Data are expressed as mean \pm standard error and were compared statistically by the nonparametric Kruskal–Wallis test. A *P* value <0.05 was considered significant.

Results

SIRT1 protein expression and activity in PC

To study the implication of SIRT1 in PC, we first evaluated its protein expression pattern. As shown in Fig. 1a, the expression of SIRT1 in fatty livers subjected to IR was significantly augmented when compared with sham group. This increase was exacerbated when PC was carried out and reversed after sirtinol (a SIRT1 inhibitor) treatment. Treatment with EX527, another SIRT1 inhibitor, did not affect SIRT1 protein levels during PC. Furthermore, PC group exhibited an increased deacetylase activity compared with both IR and sham groups (Fig. 1b), and as expected, sirtinol and EX527 treatment groups during PC resulted in decreased SIRT1 activity. However, no significant differences in SIRT1 activity were observed between sham and IR groups or between the inhibitors groups. In addition to this, we analyzed the acetylation (Lys-382) of p53 (ac-p53), a direct substrate of SIRT1 (Fig. 1c). PC group was characterized by a marked decrease in ac-p53, which was reversed by treatment of both inhibitors. The increase of ac-p53 was more significant for sirtinol than EX527. Finally, the ac-p53 levels between sham and IR group were not significantly altered.

Liver injury

We next determined whether SIRT1 plays a role in the prevention of IR injury mediated by PC. As shown in Fig. 2a, IR injury increased ALT levels, which were reversed by PC. The administration of both sirtinol and EX527 resulted in Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning

Pantazi et al.



Figure 1 Role of preconditioning (PC) on SIRT1 expression and SIRT1 activity in steatotic livers subjected to ischemia–reperfusion (IR) injury. (a) Western blot and densitometric analysis of SIRT1; (b) SIRT1 enzymatic activity; (c) densitometric analysis of ac-p53. Sham: anesthesia and laparotomy, IR: 60 min partial ischemia and 24 h of reperfusion, PC: IR with previous preconditioning induced by 5 min of ischemia and 10 min of reperfusion, sirtinol + PC: administration of sirtinol 5 min before PC. EX527 + PC: administration of EX527 30 min before PC. PC * P < 0.05 versus sham, *P < 0.05 versus IR, †P < 0.05 versus PC; °P < 0.05 versus sirtinol + PC.

increased ALT levels, but sirtinol treatment provoked liver injury to a lesser extent than EX527. This result is consistent with the histological findings shown in Fig. 2b. Steatotic livers subjected to IR exhibited severe and extensive areas of coagulative necrosis with neutrophil infiltration (75%) that were significantly reduced (25%) when PC was performed. Pretreatment with sirtinol and EX527 aggravated tissue lesions as shown by extensive areas of coagulative necrosis (50% and 80% respectively), in comparison with PC group (Fig. 2c).

eNOS and AMPK activation

Given that the benefits of PC are mediated in part by NO, we explored the effects of SIRT1 on eNOS expression and AMPK activation induced by PC. As shown in Fig. 3a,b, PC potentiated IR induced eNOS expression and AMPK phosphorylation, respectively. Furthermore, the increased levels of eNOS expression/AMPK activation induced by PC were completely blocked by sirtinol and EX527 administration.

Oxidative stress and heat shock proteins

We evaluated the relevance of SIRT1 on the prevention of oxidative stress induced by IR. For this reason, we measured MDA levels in liver tissue. As indicated in Fig. 4a, the high MDA levels observed in IR group were reduced when PC was applied. SIRT1 inhibition resulted in increased lipid peroxidation and the highest MDA increase was observed when EX527 was administrated prior to PC. Furthermore, IR induced a significant increase in heat shock protein 70 (HSP70), which was further reinforced during PC. In addition, both sirtinol and EX527 reversed the HSP70 overexpression induced by PC (Fig. 4b).

MAPK kinases

We also explored the effect of SIRT1 on mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) activation. As shown in Fig. 5a, PC increased extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) phosphorylation, when compared with IR and sham groups. Moreover, we observed that PC reversed the

Pantazi et al.

```
Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning
```



Figure 2 Effect of the inhibition of SIRT1 during preconditioning (PC) in hepatic injury. (a) Photometric analysis of alarine aminotransfe ase (ALT) levels; (b) Histological lesions in steatotic liver by hematoxylin-eosin-stained sections; (c) Grade of necross in the experimental groups. Sh. m: anesthesia and laparotomy, ischemia–reperfusion (IR) injury: 60 min of partial ischemia and 24 h of reperfusion, PC: IR with previous preconditio ing induced by 5 min of ischemia and 10 min of reperfusion, PC + sirtinol: administration of sirtinol 5 min before PC. EX527 + PC: administration / *i* EX527 30 min before PC. **P* < 0.05 versus sham, **P* < 0.05 versus IR, **P* < 0.05 versus PC, °*P* < 0.05 versus sirtinol + PC.



Figure 3 Implication of Silent Information Regulator 1 on eNOS expression and adenosine monophosphate protein kinase (AMPK) activation during preconditioning (PC) in steatotic livers. Western blot and densitometric analysis of eNOS and pAMPK (a and b respectively). Sham: anesthesia and laparotomy, ischemia–reperfusion (IR) injury: 60 min partial ischemia and 24 h of reperfusion, PC: IR with previous preconditioning induced by 5 min of ischemia and 10 min of reperfusion, PC + sirtinol: administration of sirtinol 5 min before PC, EX527 + PC: administration of EX527 30 min before PC. *P < 0.05 versus sham, *P < 0.05 versus sham, *P < 0.05 versus Sham.

increased p-p38 protein levels caused by IR (Fig. 5b). Sirtinol and EX527 administration partially reduced the protective effects of PC on MAP kinases modulation, but no differences between both inhibitors were noted.

Apoptosis

We also evaluated the involvement of SIRT1 activation in PC and its consequences on liver apoptosis by measuring

Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning

Pantazi et al.



Figure 4 Effect of SIRT1 on oxidative stress and HSP70 expression during preconditioning (PC) in steatotic livers. (a) Photometric analysis of malondialdehyde levels. (b) Western blot and densitometric analysis of HSP70 protein expression. Sham: anesthesia and laparotomy, ischemia-reperfusion (\mathbb{F} injury: 60 min partial ischemia and 24 h of reperfusion, PC: IR with previous preconditioning induced by 5 min of ischemia and 10 min of reperfusion, \mathbb{P} C + sittinol: administration of sittinol 5 min before PC. EX527 + PC: administration of EX527 30 min before PC. *P < 0.05 versus sham, *P < C 35 versus R, T > 0.05 versus PC.



Figure 5 Modulation of MAPK expression and phosphorylation by Silent Information Regulator 1 during preconditioning (PC in steatotic livers. Western blot and densitometric analysis of pERK (a) and p-p38 (b). Sham: anesthesia and lapantomy, IR: 60 min partial ischemia and 24 h of reperfusion, PC: IR with previous preconditioning induced by 5 min of ischemia and 10 min of reperfusion, PC + sitinol: administration of sittinol 5 min before PC. EX527 + PC: administration of EX527 30 min before PC. EX527 + PC: administration of EX527 30 min before PC.

caspase-3, caspase-9 cleavage, and cytochrome c protein levels. Significant increases in the above parameters of apoptosis were seen during IR, which were then reversed when PC was applied (Fig. 6). SIRT1 inhibition by both inhibitors provoked increased liver apoptosis in comparison with PC group.

Discussion

In this study, we report for the first time that SIRT1 is implicated on the prevention of fatty liver IR injury by PC. Firstly, we have evidenced a significant up-regulation of SIRT1 protein levels induced by PC, and secondly, we have demonstrated that SIRT1 inhibition reverses the benefits of PC during liver damage. Furthermore, high SIRT1 deacetylase activity was observed in PC group, which was significantly decreased when SIRT1 was inhibited during PC by either sirtinol or EX527. The diminished levels of ac-p53 (a direct substrate of SIRT1) during PC were consistent with the high deacetylase activity, and this effect was reversed by both SIRT1 inhibitors. These results are in accordance with previous reported data in heart [23,31,32] and brain [15,33,34] where SIRT1 confers protection to those tissues against IR injury.

In addition, our findings support the fact that an overexpression of SIRT1 occurs in fatty livers subjected to IR. This observation agrees with previous *in vivo* and *in vitro* investigations in heart, where the SIRT1 levels were up-regulated by certain stresses, including IR injury, suggesting that SIRT1 could act as a self-compensatory mechanism for preventing tissue damage [21,22,30]. However, we observed that SIRT1 activity, as well as ac-p53 protein levels, was not

Pantazi et al.

Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning



Figure 6 Effect of SIRT1 on liver apoptosis. Western blot and densitometric analysis of cytochrome C (a), cleaved caspase 9 (b) and cleaved caspase3/caspase3/caspase3 (c). Sham: anesthesia and laparotomy, ischemia–reperfusion (IR) injury: 60 min partial ischemia and 24 h of reperfusion, preconditioning (PC): IR with previous preconditioning induced by 5 min of ischemia and 10 min of reperfusion, PC + sirtinol: administration of sirtinol 5 min before PC. EX527 + PC: administration of EX527 30 min before PC. *P < 0.05 versus sham, *P < 0.05 versus IR, †P < 0.05 versus PC.

altered during IR, which implicates that various factors can affect its activity. For example, in a similar study, it was observed that the activity of liver histone deacetylases is decreased only in short times of reperfusion, whereas it remains unchanged after 24 h of reperfusion [35].

Recent investigations in rodent aortic and human endothelial cells reported the relevance of SIRT1 in eNOS activation; SIRT1 interacts with eNOS, resulting in the activation of the enzyme [36–40]. In our study, SIRT1 up-regulation during PC was well correlated with the expression of eNOS which was inhibited after sirtinol or EX527 administration. This result suggests that SIRT1 is involved in PC hepatoprotection that is mediated by NO, counterbalancing the exacerbated microcirculation in fatty livers [5,41].

Protective PC mechanisms are associated with the activation of AMPK, as we have previously reported [9,10]. Once activated, AMPK phosphorylates various substrates to conserve ATP levels and switch on metabolic pathways that generate ATP [9]. The present study demonstrated that SIRT1 inhibition abolished the activation of AMPK during PC, suggesting a potential link between SIRT1 and AMPK signaling in liver PC. Our results are in agreement with reported investigations in hepatic cultured cells and mouse liver *in vivo*, showing that SIRT1 activates AMPK through LKB1 deacetylation [18–20]. In addition, we have previously reported that AMPK and eNOS activation are involved in the benefits of PC in a model of rat steatotic liver transplantation [10]. The fact that SIRT1 inhibition completely abrogated the activation of AMPK and eNOS suggests a potential relationship between SIRT1 and the above factors.

Results reported here also confirm that the overexpression of SIRT1 in PC is responsible for the attenuation of oxidative stress caused by PC. Indeed, SIRT1 inhibition reduced the prevention of lipoperoxidation induced by PC. A similar effect was observed in heart, where the overexpression of SIRT1 also attenuated oxidative stress through the stimulation of FoxO1 transcription factor, thus enhancing antioxidant enzymes like manganese superoxide dismutase [23].

It is well established that stressful conditions such as IR can induce besides ROS, the heat shock transcription response [42]. In this line, we previously provided evidence that HSP70 is activated during PC and protected against IR

Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning

injury [43]. Here, we demonstrate that SIRT1 is involved in the regulation of heat shock proteins expression in fatty liver PC, as confirmed by the decrease in HSP70 expression when SIRT1 was inhibited. These data agree with other studies in HeLa cells, demonstrating that SIRT1 enhances HSP70 expression through the regulation of HSF1 transcriptional activity. [44].

Moreover, the oxidative stress can activate MAPK by dual phosphorylation on tyrosine and threonine residues [45,46]. Given that PC affects the MAPK pathways [43,47,48], we examined whether SIRT1 regulated these kinases. We observed that SIRT1 inhibition decreased the expression of p-ERK and augmented p-p38 protein levels. ERK activation during PC protects against IR injury, by inhibiting apoptosis [49], whereas treatment with a p38 activator resulted in increased liver injury when PC was performed on steatotic livers [43]. It has also been reported that SIRT1 modulated MAPK pathways in an experimental model of IR using cardiomyocytes [30].

A variety of stressors, such as DNA damage and ROS, can activate a cascade of mediators, leading to increased apoptosis during IR injury [50]. This is accompanied by the release of cytochrome c, which promotes caspase 9 activation, which in turn activates caspase 3 and the final steps of apoptosis [51]. In our study, decreased levels of apoptotic parameters (caspase 3, caspase 9, and cytochrome c) were observed in the PC group when compared with the IR group, whereas inhibition of SIRT1 during PC promoted the increase in fatty liver apoptosis and would be in accordance with the concomitant p-ERK expression diminution, as previously commented. In addition, as it occurs with MAPK kinases, both inhibitors, sirtinol and EX527, partially reversed the protective effect of PC on apoptosis, suggesting that additional mechanisms can be involved in the beneficial effects of fatty liver PC.

Sirtinol and EX527 are both inhibitors of SIRT1 activity. However, it has been reported that sirtinol can also inhibit human SIRT2 activity in vitro [52], whereas EX527 has been described as a more specific inhibitor of SIRT1 and with a lower efficiency for SIRT2 inhibition [53]. In our model, treatment with either sirtinol or EX527 during PC resulted in increased liver injury. The fact that treatment with EX527 dramatically reduced the protective effect of PC, confirm our hypothesis that SIRT1 is involved in the beneficial effects of PC against IR. On the other hand, sirtinol is less potent to prevent the protection provided by PC. This fact may be attributed to its additional inhibitory effect on SIRT2; given that in recent studies, inhibition of SIRT2 has been found to be protective [54,55], the results obtained after sirtinol treatment might be the consequence of the inhibition of both SIRT2 (possible protective effect) and SIRT1 (detrimental effect).

Pantazi et al.

Moreover, it has been shown that inhibition of SIRT1 by sirtinol contributes to the expression of inflammatory cytokines, through the acetylation of NF-kB [56]. However, more recent studies provided data showing that administration of sirtinol in rats subjected to trauma-hemorrhage decreased hepatic/lung injury and production of proinflammatory mediators [26,57]. As in our study, the PC+sirtinol group resulted in increased hepatic injury compared with PC group and the administration of sirtinol and EX527 in a sham group provoked no significant changes in the parameters studied (data not shown), a possible protective role of sirtinol should be ruled out. Furthermore, we observed that treatment with sirtinol diminished SIRT1 levels, and a similar effect has been observed in other experimental model, but the underlying mechanisms are to be investigated [58].

In summary, our study demonstrates that SIRT1 is involved in the protective effects of PC against IR injury in fatty livers. More concretely, SIRT1 is associated with the activation of eNOS and AMPK, the attenuation of oxidative stress, and apoptosis (Fig. 7). Therefore, the application of SIRT1 activators, such as resveratrol, could be a potential pharmacological treatment of patients with steatotic livers submitted to liver transplantation. Indeed, it has already been shown that resveratrol prolongs allograft survival after liver transplantation in rats [59].

In conclusion, the data reported here provide new insights into the liver protection, suggesting that SIRT1 is a



Figure 7 Effects of Silent Information Regulator 1 (SIRT1) in liver ischemic preconditioning. Ischemic preconditioning in fatty livers induces SIRT1 upregulation and enhancement of its deacetylase activity that leads from one hand, to the enhancement of cytoprotective pathways, including eNOS, HSP70, pERK expression and adenosine monophosphate protein kinase activation and from the other hand to downregulation of p-p38 and apoptosis and to decreased oxidative stress. The final result is an enhanced protection of fatty liver against ischemiareperfusion (IR) injury.

Pantazi et al.

promising pharmacological target to increase the fatty liver tolerance against IR injury.

Authorship

EP and MB: carried out the experimental work. EP, MAZ, and EF-P: provided protocols and analyzed data. MAZ and MB: established the animal experimental model. AS: carried out the histological study. VP, NDeV, EF-P, HBA, and AR: contributed to the critical analyses of the data. EP, MAZ, and JR-C: designed the study, coordinate the experiments, and wrote the paper.

Funding

Eirini Pantazi is fellowship-holder of AGAUR (2012FI_B 00382), Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain. Mohamed Bejaoui is a recipient from CSIC for the development program (I-COOP0005). This work was supported by the Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias (FIS PI12/00519) and CiberEHD.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias (FIS PI12/00519) and CiberEHD. The authors thank Generalitat de Catalunya and CSIC for the economical support for Eirini Pantazi and Mohamed Bejaoui, respectively.

References

- Busuttil RW, Tanaka K. The utility of marginal donors in liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2003; 9: 651.
- Selzner M, Clavien PA. Fatty liver in liver transplantation and surgery. Semin Liver Dis 2001; 21: 105.
- Ramalho FS, Fernandez-Monteiro I, Rosello-Catafau J, Peralta C. Hepatic microcirculatory failure. *Acta Cir Bras* 2006; 21(Suppl. 1): 48.
- Czubkowski P, Socha P, Pawłowska J. Oxidative stress in liver transplant recipients. Ann Transplant 2011; 16: 99.
- Serafin A, Rosello-Catafau J, Prats N, Xaus C, Gelpi E, Peralta C. Ischemic preconditioning increases the tolerance of fatty liver to hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat. *Am J Pathol* 2002; 161: 587.
- Massip-Salcedo M, Zaouali MA, Padrissa-Altes S, et al. Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha inhibits the injurious effects of adiponectin in rat steatotic liver undergoing ischemia-reperfusion. *Hepatology* 2008; 47: 461.
- Clavien PA, Selzner M, Rudiger HA, et al. A prospective randomized study in 100 consecutive patients undergoing major liver resection with versus without ischemic preconditioning. Ann Surg 2003; 238: 843, discussion 51-2.

© 2014 Steunstichting ESOT 27 (2014) 493-503

Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning

- Brunet A, Sweeney LB, Sturgill JF, et al. Stress-dependent regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase. Science 2004; 303: 2011.
- Peralta C, Bartrons R, Serafin A, et al. Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase mediates the protective effects of ischemic preconditioning on hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat. *Hepatology* 2001; 34: 1164.
- Carrasco-Chaumel E, Rosello-Catafau J, Bartrons R, et al. Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase and nitric oxide in rat steatotic liver transplantation. J Hepatol 2005; 43: 997.
- Finkel T, Deng CX, Mostoslavsky R. Recent progress in the biology and physiology of sirtuins. *Nature* 2009; 460: 587.
- Yeung F, Hoberg JE, Ramsey CS, et al. Modulation of NFkappaB-dependent transcription and cell survival by the SIRT1 deacetylase. EMBO J 2004; 23: 2369.
- Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC. Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress. *Mol Cell* 2010; 40: 294.
- Pillarisetti S. A review of Sirt1 and Sirt1 modulators in cardiovascular and metabolic diseases. *Recent Pat Cardiovasc Drug Discov* 2008; 3: 156.
- Hernandez-Jimenez M, Hurtado O, Cuartero MI, et al. Silent information regulator 1 protects the brain against cerebral ischemic damage. Stroke 2013; 44: 2333.
- Luo J, Nikolaev AY, Imai S, *et al.* Negative control of p53 by Sir2alpha promotes cell survival under stress. *Cell* 2001; **107**: 137.
- Chen Z, Peng IC, Cui X, Li YS, Chien S, Shyy JY. Shear stress, SIRT1, and vascular homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2010; 107: 10268.
- Hou X, Xu S, Maitland-Toolan KA, et al. SIRT1 regulates hepatocyte lipid metabolism through activating AMP-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 20015.
- Lan F, Cacicedo JM, Ruderman N, Ido Y. SIRT1 modulation of the acetylation status, cytosolic localization, and activity of LKB1. Possible role in AMP-activated protein kinase activation. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 27628.
- Suchankova G, Nelson LE, Gerhart-Hines Z, et al. Concurrent regulation of AMP-activated protein kinase and SIRT1 in mammalian cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009; 378: 836.
- Alcendor RR, Kirshenbaum LA, Imai S, Vatner SF, Sadoshima J. Silent information regulator 2alpha, a longevity factor and class III histone deacetylase, is an essential endogenous apoptosis inhibitor in cardiac myocytes. *Circ Res* 2004; 95: 971.
- Alcendor RR, Gao S, Zhai P, et al. Sirt1 regulates aging and resistance to oxidative stress in the heart. Circ Res 2007; 100: 1512.
- Hsu CP, Zhai P, Yamamoto T, et al. Silent information regulator 1 protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion. Circulation 2010; 122: 2170.

Sirtuin 1 in liver ischemic preconditioning

- Ruderman NB, Xu XJ, Nelson L, et al. AMPK and SIRT1: a long-standing partnership? Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2010; 298: E751.
- Serafin A, Rosello-Catafau J, Prats N, Gelpi E, Rodes J, Peralta C. Ischemic preconditioning affects interleukin release in fatty livers of rats undergoing ischemia/reperfusion. *Hep*atology 2004; 39: 688.
- Liu FC, Day YJ, Liou JT, Lau YT, Yu HP. Sirtinol attenuates hepatic injury and pro-inflammatory cytokine production following trauma-hemorrhage in male Sprague-Dawley rats. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2008; 52: 635.
- Yan W, Fang Z, Yang Q, et al. SirT1 mediates hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning-induced ischemic tolerance in rat brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2013; 33: 396.
- Zaouali MA, Padrissa-Altes S, Ben Mosbah I, et al. Insulin like growth factor-1 increases fatty liver preservation in IGL-1 solution. World J Gastroenterol 2010; 16: 5693.
- Zaouali MA, Reiter RJ, Padrissa-Altes S, et al. Melatonin protects steatotic and nonsteatotic liver grafts against cold ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Pineal Res 2011; 50: 213.
- Becatti M, Taddei N, Cecchi C, Nassi N, Nassi PA, Fiorillo C. SIRT1 modulates MAPK pathways in ischemic-reperfused cardiomyocytes. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2012; 69: 2245.
- Rane S, He M, Sayed D, et al. Downregulation of miR-199a derepresses hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and Sirtuin 1 and recapitulates hypoxia preconditioning in cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 2009; 104: 879.
- Nadtochiy SM, Redman E, Rahman I, Brookes PS. Lysine deacetylation in ischaemic preconditioning: the role of SIRT1. Cardiovasc Res 2010; 89: 643.
- Raval AP, Dave KR, Perez-Pinzon MA. Resveratrol mimics ischemic preconditioning in the brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2006; 26: 1141.
- Della-Morte D, Dave KR, DeFazio RA, Bao YC, Raval AP, Perez-Pinzon MA. Resveratrol pretreatment protects rat brain from cerebral ischemic damage via a sirtuin 1-uncoupling protein 2 pathway. *Neuroscience* 2009; 159: 993.
- Evankovich J, Cho SW, Zhang R, et al. High mobility group box 1 release from hepatocytes during ischemia and reperfusion injury is mediated by decreased histone deacetylase activity. J Biol Chem 2010; 285: 39888.
- Ota H, Akishita M, Eto M, Iijima K, Kaneki M, Ouchi Y. Sirt1 modulates premature senescence-like phenotype in human endothelial cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2007; 43: 571.
- Mattagajasingh I, Kim CS, Naqvi A, et al. SIRT1 promotes endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation by activating endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 2007; 104: 14855.
- Ota H, Eto M, Ogawa S, Iijima K, Akishita M, Ouchi Y. SIRT1/eNOS axis as a potential target against vascular senescence, dysfunction and atherosclerosis. J Atheroscler Thromb 2010; 17: 431.
- Tajbakhsh N, Sokoya EM. Regulation of cerebral vascular function by sirtuin 1. *Microcirculation* 2012; 19: 336.

- Donato AJ, Magerko KA, Lawson BR, Durrant JR, Lesniewski LA, Seals DR. SIRT-1 and vascular endothelial dysfunction with ageing in mice and humans. *J Physiol* 2011; 589: 4545.
- Casillas-Ramirez A, Amine-Zaouali M, Massip-Salcedo M, et al. Inhibition of angiotensin II action protects rat steatotic livers against ischemia-reperfusion injury. Crit Care Med 2008; 36: 1256.
- Kume M, Yamamoto Y, Saad S, et al. Ischemic preconditioning of the liver in rats: implications of heat shock protein induction to increase tolerance of ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Lab Clin Med 1996; 128: 251.
- Massip-Salcedo M, Casillas-Ramirez A, Franco-Gou R, et al. Heat shock proteins and mitogen-activated protein kinases in steatotic livers undergoing ischemia-reperfusion: some answers. Am J Pathol 2006; 168: 1474.
- Westerheide SD, Anckar J, Stevens SM Jr, Sistonen L, Morimoto RI. Stress-inducible regulation of heat shock factor 1 by the deacetylase SIRT1. *Science* 2009; 323: 1063.
- Kobayashi M, Takeyoshi I, Yoshinari D, Matsumoto K, Morishita Y. P38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibition attenuates ischemia-reperfusion injury of the rat liver. Surgery 2002; 131: 344.
- Kyriakis JM, Avruch J. Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. *Physiol Rev* 2001; 81: 807.
- Nakano A, Baines CP, Kim SO, et al. Ischemic preconditioning activates MAPKAPK2 in the isolated rabbit heart: evidence for involvement of p38 MAPK. Circ Res 2000; 86: 144.
- Fryer RM, Patel HH, Hsu AK, Gross GJ. Stress-activated protein kinase phosphorylation during cardioprotection in the ischemic myocardium. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2001; 281: H1184.
- Terada K, Kaziro Y, Satoh T. Analysis of Ras-dependent signals that prevent caspase-3 activation and apoptosis induced by cytokine deprivation in hematopoietic cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2000; 267: 449.
- Datta G, Fuller BJ, Davidson BR. Molecular mechanisms of liver ischemia reperfusion injury: insights from transgenic knockout models. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 1683.
- Casillas-Ramirez A, Mosbah IB, Ramalho F, Rosello-Catafau J, Peralta C. Past and future approaches to ischemia-reperfusion lesion associated with liver transplantation. *Life Sci* 2006; **79**: 1881.
- Villalba JM, Alcain FJ. Sirtuin activators and inhibitors. *Bio-Factors* 2012; 38: 349.
- Schlicker C, Boanca G, Lakshminarasimhan M, Steegborn C. Structure-based development of novel sirtuin inhibitors. *Aging (Albany NY)* 2011; 3: 852.
- Narayan N, Lee IH, Borenstein R, et al. The NAD-dependent deacetylase SIRT2 is required for programmed necrosis. Nature 2012; 492: 199.

© 2014 Steunstichting ESOT 27 (2014) 493-503

Pantazi et al.

Pantazi et al.

- Donmez G, Outeiro TF. SIRT1 and SIRT2: emerging targets in neurodegeneration. EMBO Mol Med 2013; 5: 344.
- 56. Yang SR, Wright J, Bauter M, Seweryniak K, Kode A, Rahman I. Sirtuin regulates cigarette smoke-induced proinflammatory mediator release via RelA/p65 NF-kappaB in macrophages *in vitro* and in rat lungs *in vivo*: implications for chronic inflammation and aging. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2007; 292: L567.
- 57. Liu FC, Day YJ, Liao CH, Liou JT, Mao CC, Yu HP. Hemeoxygenase-1 upregulation is critical for

sirtinol-mediated attenuation of lung injury after trauma-hemorrhage in a rodent model. Anesth Analg 2009; 108: 1855.

- Jung-Hynes B, Nihal M, Zhong W, Ahmad N. Role of sirtuin histone deacetylase SIRT1 in prostate cancer. A target for prostate cancer management via its inhibition? *J Biol Chem* 2009; 284: 3823.
- Wu SL, Yu L, Meng KW, Ma ZH, Pan CE. Resveratrol prolongs allograft survival after liver transplantation in rats. World J Gastroenterol 2005; 11: 4745.

4.2. Second study: SIRT1 in OLT

Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach.

Summary

Introduction: During liver transplantation, grafts are submitted to cold ischemia through their conservation in a preservation solution and warm reperfusion after the revascularization to the recipient. Thus, IRI is an inevitable situation and the composition of the preservation solution is a crucial factor for the graft viability. SIRT1 is a NAD+-dependent deacetylase that regulates cellular stress responses, including autophagy processes. Besides this, the role of sirtuins in IRI associated to liver transplantation has not been investigated. In this work, we aim to study the SIRT1 implication in rat orthotopic liver transplantation (OTL) and its relationship with autophagy, when IGL-1 preservation solution supplemented or not with TMZ (an anti-ischemic drug) was used.

Experimental: Livers from Sprague-Dawley male rats (200-250 gr) were preserved for 8 hours in IGL-1 solution enriched or not with TMZ (10-6 M) and then subjected to OLT (Kamada's technique). After 24 hours of reperfusion, rats were sacrificed and blood and liver tissue samples were collected for analyzing liver injury (ALT), mitochondrial damage (GLDH) and oxidative stress (MDA). Then, we examined the protein expression pattern of SIRT1, ac-p53 and ac-FoxO1 (its direct substrates), as well as the levels of NAD⁺, the co-factor necessary for SIRT1 activity and the expression of NAMPT, the precursor of NAD⁺. Moreover, the protein expression of p-AMPK, p-mTOR and p-p70s6K, MAPKs (p-p38 and p-ERK) and of the autophagy parameters (beclin-1, LCB3), were also determined by western blot.

Results: The presence of TMZ in IGL-1 solution reduced liver injury and increased SIRT1 protein expression levels. Moreover, TMZ presence enhanced SIRT1 deacetylase activity, as evidenced by the augmented NAD⁺ levels and the decreased expression of ac-p53 and ac-FoxO1. SIRT1 overexpression was accompanied by a significant increase in p-AMPK levels, an inhibition of p-m-TOR and the subsequent inactivation of p70S6K. These findings were consistent with an important activation of autophagy parameters

(beclin-1 and LC3B). In the same group, MAPKs protein expression was also regulated. Moreover, TMZ addition in IGL-1 solution prevented the oxidative stress and the mitochondrial damage.

Conclusion: The use of a modified IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with TMZ resulted in SIRT1 overexpression and enhancement of autophagy. We evidenced by the first time the implication of SIRT1 in hepatic IRI associated to OLT.



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1765 World J Gastroenterol 2015 February 14; 21(6): 1765-1774 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach

Eirini Pantazi, Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Mohamed Bejaoui, Emma Folch-Puy, Hassen Ben Abdennebi, Ana Teresa Varela, Anabela Pinto Rolo, Carlos Marques Palmeira, Joan Roselló-Catafau

Eirini Pantazi, Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Mohamed Bejaoui, Emma Folch-Puy, Joan Roselló-Catafau, Experimental Hepatic Ischemia, Reperfusion Unit, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona, Barcelona, 08036 Catalonia, Spain Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Hassen Ben Abdennebi, Faculty of Pharmacy, Molecular Biology and Anthropology Applied to

Development and Health, 5000 Monastir, Tunisia Ana Teresa Varela, Carlos Marques Palmeira, Department of Life Sciences and Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology,

University of Coimbra, 3004-517 Coimbra, Portugal Anabela Pinto Rolo, Department of Biology, University of

Availed Finto Rolo, Department of Biology, Oniversity of Aveiro, 3810-193 Aveiro, Portugal

Author contributions: Pantazi E and Zaouali MA designed and performed the experimental work; Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M and Folch-Puy E provided protocols and analysed data; Zaouali MA and Bejaoui M established the animal experimental model; Varela AT, Rolo AP and Palmeira CM determined NAD+, NAMPT levels; Ben Abdennebi H, Palmeira CM and Roselló-Catafau J contributed to the critical analyses of the data; Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Folch-Puy E and Roselló-Catafau J coordinated the experiments and wrote the paper; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias, No. FIS PI12/00519; and Eirini Pantazi is the recipient of a fellowship from AGAUR, No. 2012FI B00382, Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Joan Roselló-Catafau, Professor, Experimental Hepatic Ischemia, Reperfusion Unit, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona, IIBB-CSIC, C/ Rosselló 161, 7th floor, 08036 Barcelona, Spain. jrcbam@iibb.csic.es

Telephone: +34-93-3638300 Fax: +34-93-3638301 Received: August 5, 2014 Peer-review started: August 6, 2014 First decision: October 14, 2014 Revised: October 25, 2014 Accepted: November 7, 2014 Article in press: November 11, 2014 Published online: February 14, 2015

Abstract

AIM: To investigate the possible involvement of Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) in rat orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT), when Institute Georges Lopez 1 (IGL-1) preservation solution is enriched with trimetazidine (TMZ).

METHODS: Male Spraque-Dawley rats were used as donors and recipients. Livers were stored in IGL-1 preservation solution for 8h at 4 °C, and then underwent OLT according to Kamada's cuff technique without arterialization. In another group, livers were stored in IGL-1 preservation solution supplemented with TMZ, at 10⁶ mol/L, for 8 h at 4 °C and then underwent OLT. Rats were sacrificed 24 h after reperfusion, and liver and plasma samples were collected. Liver injury (transaminase levels), mitochondrial damage (glutamate dehydrogenase activity) oxidative stress (malondialdehyde levels), and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺), the cofactor necessary for SIRT1 activity, were determined by biochemical methods. SIRT1 and its substrates (ac-FoxO1, ac-p53), the precursor of NAD⁺, nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), as well as the phosphorylation of adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK), p-mTOR, p-p70S6K (direct substrate of mTOR), autophagy parameters (beclin-1, LC3B) and MAP kinases (p-p38 and p-ERK) were determined by Western blot.

RESULTS: Liver grafts preserved in IGL-1 solution enriched with TMZ presented reduced liver injury and mitochondrial damage compared with those preserved



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

February 14, 2015 | Volume 21 | Issue 6 |

Pantazi E et al. Involvement of Sirtuin 1 in liver transplantation

in IGL-1 solution alone. In addition, livers preserved in IGL-1 + TMZ presented reduced levels of oxidative stress. This was consistent with enhanced SIRT1 protein expression and elevated SIRT1 activity, as indicated by decreased acetylation of p53 and FoxO1. The elevated SIRT1 activity in presence of TMZ can be attributed to the enhanced NAMPT protein and NAD⁺/NADH levels. Up-regulation of SIRT1 was consistent with activation of AMPK and inhibition of phosphorylation of mTOR and its direct substrate (p-p7056K). As a consequence, autophagy mediators (beclin-1 and LC3B) were overexpressed. Furthermore, MAP kinases were regulated in livers preserved with IGL-1 + TMZ, as they were characterized by enhanced p-ERK and decreased p-p38 protein expression.

CONCLUSION: Our study shows that IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with TMZ protects liver grafts from the IRI associated with OLT, through SIRT1 up-regulation.

Key words: Sirtuin 1; Ischemia-reperfusion injury; Liver transplantation; IGL-1 preservation solution; Trimetazidine

© The Author(s) 2015. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) has been implicated in pathways associated with ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI), but its role in rat orthotopic liver transplantation has not yet been established. In our study, SIRT1 protein expression levels and activity increased when Institut Georges Lopez 1 (IGL-1) preservation solution was supplemented with trimetazidine, which was associated with less hepatic injury and mitochondrial damage. The increased deacetylation of FoxO1 by SIRT1 agreed with less oxidative stress and the activation of the autophagy pathway. These findings support the notion that SIRT1 up-regulation may be an effective strategy for reducing IRI and improving liver transplantation outcome.

Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Varela AT, Rolo AP, Palmeira CM, Roselló-Catafau J. Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21(6): 1765-1774 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v21/i6/1765.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1765

INTRODUCTION

Liver ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) can cause primary graft non-function and may lead to organ failure^[1,2]. The oxygen deprivation during ischemia provokes depletion of cellular energy, whereas the subsequent re-oxygenation during reperfusion initiates a cascade of complex pathways, including the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which in part are responsible for the subsequent induction of hepatocellular injury. Given the complexity of IRI pathophysiology, a more profound knowledge of the underlying mechanisms is needed in order to design new therapeutic strategies able to minimize its adverse effects.

SIRT1 is a histone deacetylase that either activates or suppresses the transcription activities of various non-histone proteins through its nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺)-dependent activity. SIRT1 has been associated with the pathophysiology of IRI in several organs^[3]. In fact, SIRT1 is involved in a wide variety of cellular processes, including apoptosis, cellular stress and autophagy[4-7]. It has been reported that SIRT1 deacetylates p53, thus reducing its transcriptional activity and its ability to induce apoptosis^[8]. Forkhead box-containing protein O 1 (FoxO1) is also a target for SIRT1, and its deacetylation has been implicated in the detoxification of ROS and the promotion of autophagy^[9]. Furthermore, we have recently shown that SIRT1 activation contributes, in part, to the protective effects of liver ischemic preconditioning against IRI^[10]

Adequate liver preservation is vital for the success of transplantation, in order to maintain graft quality after cold storage. At present, University of Wisconsin (UW) solution is the most widely used preservation solution. Recent studies have demonstrated that Institute Georges Lopez 1 (IGL-1) preservation solution is a valuable alternative for liver grafts in orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT)^[11,12]. Moreover, supplementation of IGL-1 with trimetazidine (TMZ) has been shown to increase the preservation of both steatotic and non-steatotic liver grafts in an isolated and perfused "*ex vivo*" model^[13]. However, the role of SIRT1 in rat OLT when IGL-1 solutions are used has not been assessed to date.

Given that TMZ is a promising additive for increasing liver graft preservation and since SIRT1 exerts a protective role against warm IRI in the liver, the aim of this study is to investigate the potential role of SIRT1 in rat OLT when TMZ-enriched IGL-1 preservation solution is used.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (200-250 g) were used as donors and recipients. Throughout the study, animals were housed in conventional animal facilities where temperature and humidity were controlled with a 12 h light/dark cycle. All animals had free access to water and a standard laboratory diet. All procedures were performed under isofluorane inhalation anesthesia. The experiments were approved by the Ethics Committees for Animal Experimentation (CEEA, Directive 400/12), University of Barcelona and all procedures complied with European Union regulations for animal experiments (EU guideline 86/609/EEC). Rats were randomly distributed into groups as de-



WJG www.wjgnet.com

Pantazi E et al. Involvement of Sirtuin 1 in liver transplantation

scribed below.

Experimental design

The following experimental groups were created: (1) Sham (n = 6): Animals underwent transverse laparotomy and received silk ligatures in the right suprarenal vein, diaphragmatic vein, and hepatic artery; (2) IGL-1 (n = 6): Livers were flushed and stored in IGL-1 preservation solution for 8h at 4 °C, and then underwent OLT according to Kamada's cuff technique without arterialization. Rats were sacrificed 24 h after reperfusion for liver and plasma sample collection; and (3) IGL-1 + TMZ (n = 6): Same as group 2, but livers were preserved in IGL-1 solution supplemented with trimetazidine (TMZ) at 10⁻⁶ mol/L.

Transaminase assay

Hepatic injury was assessed in terms of alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels with commercial kits from RAL (Barcelona, Spain). Briefly, plasma extracts were collected before liver extraction and centrifuged at 4 °C for 10 min at 0.8 g. Then, 200 μ L of the supernatant was added to the substrate provided by the commercial kit. ALT levels were determined at 365 nm with a UV spectrometer (DU 800, Beckman Coulter) and calculated following the supplier's instructions^[14].

Glutamate dehydrogenase activity

Glutamate dehydrogenase (GLDH) is a mitochondrial enzyme that catalyses the conversion of glutamate to 2-oxoglutarate. It was used as an indirect marker of mitochondrial damage; it was measured in plasma, as described previously^[15].

Lipid peroxidation assay

Lipid peroxidation in the liver was used as an indirect measure of the oxidative injury induced by ROS. Lipid peroxidation was determined by measuring the formation of malondialdehyde (MDA) with the thiobarbiturate reaction^[16]. Liver samples were homogenized in Tris-HCL pH = 7 and 250 μ L of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) were added to 250 μ L of liver homogenates. Then, the samples were centrifugated in 3000 rpm at 4 °C for 15 min. Then, 250 μ L of thiobarbituric acid (TBA) were added to the supernatant and were heated at 100 °C for 30 min. MDA reacted with TBA to form a pink chromogenic compound whose absorbance at 540 nm was measured. The result was expressed as nmols/mg protein.

NAD^{*}/NADH determination

NAD⁺/NADH from liver were quantified with a commercially available kit (MAK037, Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, United States) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Western blot analysis

Liver tissue was homogenized in HEPES buffer as

www.wjgnet.com

previously described^[10]. Fifty µg of proteins was separated on 8%-15% SDS-PAGE gels and transblotted on PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad). Membranes were then blocked for one hour with 5% (w/v) nonfat milk in T-TBS and incubated overnight at 4 °C with antibody against SIRT1 (#07-131), p-mTOR (Ser2481, #09-343), mTOR (#04-385), all purchased from Merck Millipore, Billerica, MA; ac-p53 (ab37318, abcam, United kingdom); ac-FoxO1 (D-19, sc-49437), BECN1 (H-300, sc-11427), both purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, CA, United States; p-AMPK (Thr172, #2535), p-p38 mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase (Thr180/Tyr182,#9211), p-70S6K (Thr389, #9205), LC3B (#2775), p-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2, Thr202/Tyr204), #9101, all from Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, NAMPT (AP22021SU, Acris Antibodies GmbH, Germany), HSP70 (610607, Transduction Laboratories, Lexington, KY) and b-actin (A5316, Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, United States). Membranes were then incubated for 1 h at room temperature with the corresponding secondary antibody linked to horseradish peroxidase. Bound complexes were detected using WesternBright ECL-HRP substrate (Advansta, Barcelona, Spain) and were quantified using the Quantity One software for image analysis. Results were expressed as the densitometric ratio between the protein of interest and the loading control (b-actin).

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean \pm SE. Statistical comparison was performed by variance analysis, followed by the Student-Newman-Keuls test (Graft Pad prism software). P < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Liver injury and mitochondrial damage

We first determined liver and mitochondrial injury through transaminase and GLDH levels respectively in the different experimental groups. Livers preserved in IGL-1 and subjected to OLT showed the highest ALT and GLDH levels, whereas addition of TMZ to the IGL-1 solution resulted in a significant decrease in liver and mitochondrial injury in comparison with IGL-1 solution alone (Figure 1).

SIRT1, NAMPT, ac-p53 ac-FoxO1 proteins expression and NAD * levels

In order to explore the potential involvement of SIRT1 in the protective effects of TMZ on rat OLT, we first determined its protein expression pattern. SIRT1 protein expression was significantly increased when livers were preserved in IGL-1 solution compared with the Sham group (Figure 2C). Interestingly, the addition of TMZ to IGL-1 solution clearly enhanced SIRT1 expression compared with IGL-1 solution alone (Figure 2C). In view of the altered SIRT1 protein levels, we then investigated parameters associated with SIRT1 activity, such as the protein expression of Pantazi E et al. Involvement of Sirtuin 1 in liver transplantation



Figure 1 Alanine aminotransferase levels (A) and hepatic glutamate dehydrogenase (B) in plasma after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10-6 M Trimetazidine (TMZ). *P < 0.05 vs Sham; *P < 0.05 vs IGL-1. ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; GLDH: Glutamate dehydrogenase.

nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), the NAD⁺/NADH levels, as well as the acetylation state of two direct substrates, p53 and FoxO1. As shown in Figure 2A, liver graft preservation in IGL-1 solution led to high NAMPT protein expression, which was further enhanced in case of IGL-1 supplemented with TMZ. Furthermore, NAD⁺/NADH levels were significantly reduced in both IGL-1 groups in comparison to nontreated animals (Figure 2B). However, the presence of TMZ in IGL-1 resulted in a better preservation of NAD⁺/NADH levels than the IGL-1 alone (Figure 2B). This was consistent with decreased acetylated FoxO1 and p53 protein levels in IGL-1 + TMZ group compared with IGL-1 (Figure 2D and Figure 2E respectively). These results suggest an increase in SIRT1 activity in the IGL-1 + TMZ group; therefore, the protective effect of TMZ is exerted, at least in part, through the induction of both SIRT1 expression and activation.

Oxidative stress and HSP70 protein expression

Next, we evaluated lipid peroxidation as an indicator of oxidative stress in OLT. Livers preserved in IGL-1 solution showed significantly increased MDA compared with Sham (Figure 3A). This increase was prevented by the addition of TMZ in IGL-1 solution. Moreover, livers preserved in IGL-1 solution up-regulated the levels of the cytoprotective heat shock protein 70 (HSP70), which was further enhanced in the presence of TMZ (Figure 3B).

p-AMPK and p-mTOR activation

It is known that both AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and SIRT1 regulate each other and share many common target molecules^[17]. We therefore assessed the possible involvement of AMPK activation in the protective effects of TMZ. As shown in Figure 4A, livers preserved with IGL-1 solution showed increased phosphorylated AMPK (p-AMPK). However, this AMPK activation was further enhanced in the presence of TMZ. Given that the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) activity is regulated by AMPK, we next evaluated both phosphorylated mTOR (pmTOR) and mTOR protein levels as well as the phosphorylation levels of its direct substrate, p-p70S6K. As shown in Figure 4B and C, the addition of TMZ to IGL-1 solution significantly reduced p-mTOR/mTOR and p-p70S6k protein levels compared with IGL-1 preservation solution alone.

Autophagy: Beclin-1 and LC3B protein levels

Autophagy is a conserved cellular process that is activated under conditions of nutrient stress to promote cell survival. Given the importance of the mTOR signaling pathway in the suppression of autophagy^[18] and the fact that IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with TMZ was characterized by inactivation of both mTOR and p70S6k protein, we sought to test whether TMZ-induced SIRT1 protective effects might be mediated through the activation of autophagy. To do so, we explored the expression of beclin-1 and LC3B, two well-known proteins involved in the autophagic pathway. Both proteins presented significant upregulation in the IGL-1 + TMZ group compared with both Sham and IGL-1 group (Figure 5A, B).

MAP kinases

Finally, we explored the modulation of MAP kinases by TMZ. Here we observed increased phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in IGL-1 preserved livers, which was further enhanced when TMZ was added to the preservation solution (Figure 6A). Moreover, the presence of TMZ in IGL-1 solution reversed the increased phosphorylation of p38 protein levels detected in the livers preserved in IGL-1 solution (Figures 6B and 7).

DISCUSSION

The present study provides the first evidence that SIRT1 up-regulation in a rat model of OLT contributes to a better preservation of liver grafts against IRI. SIRT1 over-expression is attributed to the use of a modified IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with



WJG www.wjgnet.com


Figure 2 NAMPT protein expression (A), NAD'/NADH levels (B), SIRT1 (C), ac-FoxO1 (D) and ac-p53 (E) protein expression in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation, IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted afte

TMZ, an anti-ischemic drug administered for the treatment of angina pectoris^[19]. In earlier work with an isolated perfused rat liver model, we already showed that TMZ addition to IGL-1 solution promotes cytoprotective markers that are induced during ischemia, such as hypoxia inducible factor- 1α through

nitric oxide generation, as well as those promoted during reperfusion, such as heme oxygenase-1^[13]. Here, we report that the addition of TMZ in IGL-1 preservation solution favors the activation of SIRT1 in rat OLT.

The increases observed in SIRT1 protein levels

Raisbidengs WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Malondialdehyde (A) and HSP70 protein levels (B) in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10° mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). $^{\circ}P < 0.05$ vs Sham; $^{\circ}P < 0.05$ vs Sham; $^{\circ}P < 0.05$ vs IGL-1. MDA: Malondialdehyde.



Figure 4 Protein levels of p-AMPK (A), p-mTOR/mTOR (B) and p-p70S6k (C) in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution; IGL-1 + TMZ: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10° mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). *P < 0.05 vs Sham; *P < 0.05 vs IGL-1.

Beisbidung: WJG | www.wjgnet.com

February 14, 2015 | Volume 21 | Issue 6 |



Figure 5 Protein expression of beclin-1 (A) and LC3B (III)/(I) (B) in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10⁴ mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). *P < 0.05 vs Sham; ⁵P < 0.05 vs IGL-1.



Figure 6 Protein levels of pERK (A) and p-p38 (B) in livers after 24 h of reperfusion. Sham: Liver harvested without transplantation; IGL-1: Liver transplanted after 8 h of cold storage in IGL-1 solution with 10^{4} mol/L trimetazidine (TMZ). *P < 0.05 vs Sham; *P < 0.05 vs IGL-1.

were consistent with an effective prevention of liver injury and mitochondrial damage. We previously reported the protective effect of TMZ on liver damage after graft preservation, and showed that its addition to UW solution reduces liver injury and improves liver function^[20]. Our current data confirm that SIRT1 upregulation in OLT due to TMZ can be considered as a protective cellular signaling response against IRI. This finding corroborates previous reports of a protective effect for SIRT1 against IRI in different organs such as heart, kidney and brain^[21-23].

SIRT1 over-expression in liver grafts preserved in IGL-1 + TMZ was concomitant with increased levels of both NAMPT and NAD⁺. NAD⁺ is a cofactor required for SIRT1 enzymatic activity. Furthermore, it has been shown that NAMPT is the rate-limiting enzyme in the NAD⁺ biosynthetic pathway and directly regulates SIRT1 activity in mammalian cells^[24]. NAMPT upregulation has been shown to be beneficial against cardiac IRI through preservation of NAD⁺ levels and SIRT1 regulation^[25]. Taking this into account, we suggest that in the IGL-1 + TMZ group the increased NAMPT protein levels promote NAD⁺ production, which in turn contributes to the high SIRT1 deacetylase activity. Indeed, in the same group we observed decreased levels of acetylated p53 and FoxO1, two direct substrates of SIRT1, which have been reported to be SIRT1 activity markers^[26,27]. Therefore, the TMZ protective effects observed are mediated, at least in part, by enhanced SIRT1 activity.

SIRT1 plays an important role in cellular stress, including the oxidative stress associated with IRI. FoxO1 deacetylation by SIRT1 has been linked with the capacity of FoxO1 to enhance the transcription



Figure 7 Schematic model of the protective effect of sirtuin 1 against ischemia-reperfusion injury associated to rat orthotopic liver transplantation. Trimetazidine (TMZ) addition to IGL-1 promotes NAMPT expression and enhances NAD+ levels, which in turn provokes SIRT1 up-regulation. SIRT1 contributes to decreased hepatic injury by inhibiting mitochondrial damage and oxidative stress, activating autophagic pathway and by enhancing p-ERK and decreasing p-p38 protein expression. SIRT1: Sirtuin 1; IRI: Ischemia-reperfusion injury; OLT: Orthotopic liver transplantation.

of anti-oxidant enzymes, thus contributing to the resistance against oxidative stress^[4,5,21]. For these reasons, we decided to explore the potential relationship between SIRT1, ac-FoxO1 and the lipid peroxidation that occurs in OLT. In the present study, we found that the significant SIRT1 induction and FoxO1 deacetylation were accompanied by marked decreases in lipid peroxidation when TMZ was added to IGL-1. Moreover, SIRT1 up-regulation in OLT may contribute to reducing hepatic vulnerability against oxidative stress and to improving the mitochondrial status during oxidative stress conditions. Our results corroborate those of Ou et al [28] who demonstrated that over-expression of SIRT1 under oxidative stress conditions enhanced mitochondrial function in embryonic stem cells. In addition, Hsu et al[21] demonstrated that hearts over-expressing SIRT1 were more resistant to oxidative stress in response to IRI, due, in part, to the effective FoxO1 deacetylation by SIRT1.

It is well known that increases in heat shock protein expression are involved in the protection against oxidative stress^[29]. Our results also demonstrate strong HSP70 protein expression in the IGL-1 + TMZ group. This direct connection between SIRT1 and HSP70 during liver IRI was recently reported by our group in liver ischemic preconditioning^[10].

Autophagy plays an important role in both sensing oxidative stress and removing oxidative damaged proteins and organelles^[30]. This process involves the inhibition of p-mTOR (mammalian TOR) and the subsequent inactivation of its direct substrate, p70S6k^[31]. During autophagy, specific proteins such as beclin-1 (in the initial stages of autophagosome formation) and LC3B (during autophagosome expansion) are activated^[32,33]. AMPK activation results in mTOR inhibition and subsequent autophagy activation^[31]. In addition, SIRT1 deacetylase activity has been associated with activation of AMPK, and SIRT1- mediated deacetylation of FoxO1 has also been implicated in increased autophagy^[34-36]. In our study, SIRT1 overexpression and the enhanced activity in the IGL-1 + TMZ group was concomitant with AMPK activation, reduced levels of p-mTOR/p-p70S6k, and increased autophagy (beclin-1 and LC3B). Our findings are in agreement with other investigations carried out in liver^[37-39] and kidney^[40] which have shown the protective effect of autophagy against IRI. Autophagy activation through a NAMPT/SIRT1-dependent mechanism has also been shown to be protective against cerebral ischemia^[41].

However, the role of autophagy in IRI has been controversial, as various studies have evidenced either a beneficial or detrimental role. For example Jiang et al^{(40]} have reported a renoprotective role of autophagy against IRI; during ischemia, autophagy can contribute to the provision of nutrients, whereas during reperfusion can eliminate damaged proteins and organelles. Similarly, Matsui et al(42) in cardiac IRI showed that autophagy was protective during ischemia, but beclin-1 dependent autophagy activation during reperfusion was associated with cell death. Autophagy is stimulated by various factors and it still remains unknown which steps determine the decision for the survival or death. Between them, the time of ischemia seems to influence the autophagy outcome, as a prolonged ischemia time can result in excessive activation of autophagy and subsequently to cell death^[43]. In our case, autophagy is associated with decreased graft injury and thus we may suppose that eight hours of cold preservation is not sufficient



time for an excessive and detrimental activation of autophagy. More profound investigations are required in order to define the regulatory mechanisms of autophagy.

In a recent publication, we reported that SIRT1 modulates (MAP) kinases, whose activation is a consequence of oxidative stress generation associated to IRI^[16]. Here, we show that TMZ addition to IGL-1 enhances p-ERK protein levels and reduces p-p38 protein levels in comparison to IGL-1 alone. As a result, the increased SIRT1 over-expression in OLT coincided with the modulation of the MAP kinases, as reported in other studies^[44].

Taken together, our results show that TMZ exerts its protective role against IRI associated with OLT, in part, through the induction of SIRT1 protein expression and activity. We found that SIRT1 up-regulation prevented liver injury and oxidative stress and promoted liver autophagy (see Figure 7). Our findings support the benefits of pharmacological activation of SIRT1, a new therapeutic strategy for improving liver graft preservation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Michael Maudsley at the Language Advisory Service of the University of Barcelona for revising the English text.

COMMENTS

Background

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is a complex but unavoidable situation during liver transplantation, which contributes to organ failure. Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) is a NAD⁻-dependent deacetylase that regulates several cellular pathways associated with IRI, including oxidative stress and autophagy. Institut Georges Lopez 1 (IGL-1) preservation solution has been proposed as a good alternative to UW solution for the preservation of liver grafts. Moreover, the addition of trimetazidine (TMZ), an anti-ischemic drug, to both preservation solutions has been shown to improve liver graft preservation. In this study, the authors demonstrate that TMZ addition in IGL-1 solution reduces IRI associated with rat orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) through increases in both SIRT1 protein expression and activity.

Research frontiers

SIRT1 plays an important role in several processes, including IRI. Here we report for the first time that the presence of TMZ in IGL-1 provoked elevated FoxO1 deacetylation, oxidative stress diminution and augmented autophagy and was associated with SIRT1 activation.

Innovations and breakthroughs

SIRT1 exerts a protective effect against IRI in several organs through a variety of mechanisms. However, SIRT1 involvement in models of transplantation has not been determined to date. The present study evaluated the potential role of SIRT1 in a rat OLT model. SIRT1 was up-regulated when livers were stored in IGL + TMZ preservation solution and helped to improve the protection of liver grafts against IRI, as reflected by decreases in hepatic injury, mitochondrial damage, and oxidative stress.

Applications

Pharmacological treatment in order to enhance SIRT1 activity is a promising tool for reducing the detrimental effects of IRI associated with liver transplantation.

Peer-review

This is a relevant manuscript on to date important issue as IRI in organ transplantation as well as in other clinical condition. The manuscript is well written and the study is well conducted. The beneficial effect of adding trimetazidine on preservation solution is documented in several ways ranging from hepatic enzyme dosage to all the biological cellular expression of damage (SIRT1, ac-p53 ac-Fox O1 protein expression, to oxidative stress and HSP70 protein expression.

REFERENCES

- Casillas-Ramirez A, Mosbah IB, Ramalho F, Roselló-Catafau J, Peralta C. Past and future approaches to ischemia-reperfusion lesion associated with liver transplantation. *Life Sci* 2006; 79: 1881-1894 [PMID: 16828807 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2006.06.024]
- 2 Schemmer P, Lemasters JJ, Clavien PA. İschemia/Reperfusion injury in liver surgery and transplantation. *HPB Surg* 2012; 2012: 453295 [PMID: 23345924 DOI: 10.1155/2012/453295]
- 3 Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Rosellò-Catafau J. Role of sirtuins in ischemia-reperfusion injury. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 7594-7602 [PMID: 24616566 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i43.7594]
- 4 Nogueiras R, Habegger KM, Chaudhary N, Finan B, Banks AS, Dietrich MO, Horvath TL, Sinclair DA, Pfluger PT, Tschöp MH. Sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3: physiological modulators of metabolism. *Physiol Rev* 2012; 92: 1479-1514 [PMID: 22811431 DOI: 10.1152/ physrev.00022.2011]
- 5 Hori YS, Kuno A, Hosoda R, Horio Y. Regulation of FOXOs and p53 by SIRT1 modulators under oxidative stress. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e73875 [PMID: 24040102 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073875]
- 6 Anekonda TS, Adamus G. Resveratrol prevents antibody-induced apoptotic death of retinal cells through upregulation of Sirt1 and Ku70. BMC Res Notes 2008; 1: 122 [PMID: 19046449 DOI: 10.1186/1756-0500-1-122]
- 7 Stein S, Schäfer N, Breitenstein A, Besler C, Winnik S, Lohmann C, Heinrich K, Brokopp CE, Handschin C, Landmesser U, Tanner FC, Lüscher TF, Matter CM. SIRT1 reduces endothelial activation without affecting vascular function in ApoE-/- mice. Aging (Albany NY) 2010; 2: 353-360 [PMID: 20606253]
- 8 Kim DH, Jung YJ, Lee JE, Lee AS, Kang KP, Lee S, Park SK, Han MK, Lee SY, Ramkumar KM, Sung MJ, Kim W. SIRT1 activation by resveratrol ameliorates cisplatin-induced renal injury through deacetylation of p53. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2011; 301: F427-F435 [PMID: 21593185 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00258.2010]
- 9 Calnan DR, Brunet A. The FoxO code. Oncogene 2008; 27: 2276-2288 [PMID: 18391970 DOI: 10.1038/onc.2008.21]
- 10 Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Serafin A, Folch-Puy E, Petegnief V, De Vera N, Ben Abdennebi H, Rimola A, Roselló-Catafau J. Silent information regulator 1 protects the liver against ischemia-reperfusion injury: implications in steatotic liver ischemic preconditioning. *Transpl Int* 2014; 27: 493-503 [PMID: 24472096 DOI: 10.1111/ti.12276]
- 11 Mosbah IB, Zaouali MA, Martel C, Bjaoui M, Abdennebi HB, Hotter G, Brenner C, Roselló-Catafau J. IGL-1 solution reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in rat liver transplantation. *Cell Death Dis* 2012; 3: e279 [PMID: 22402603 DOI: 10.1038/cddis.2012.12]
- 12 Ben Abdennebi H, Elrassi Z, Scoazec JY, Steghens JP, Ramella-Virieux S, Boillot O. Evaluation of IGL-1 preservation solution using an orthotopic liver transplantation model. World J Gastroenterol 2006; 12: 5326-5330 [PMID: 16981262 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12. i33.5326]
- 13 Zaouali MA, Ben Mosbah I, Boncompagni E, Ben Abdennebi H, Mitjavila MT, Bartrons R, Freitas I, Rimola A, Roselló-Catafau J. Hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha accumulation in steatotic liver preservation: role of nitric oxide. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; 16: 3499-3509 [PMID: 20653058 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i28.3499]
- 14 Zaouali MA, Padrissa-Altés S, Ben Mosbah I, Ben Abdennebi H, Boillot O, Rimola A, Saidane-Mosbahi D, Roselló-Catafau J. Insulin like growth factor-1 increases fatty liver preservation in IGL-1 solution. World J Gastroenterol 2010; 16: 5693-5700 [PMID: 21128318 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i45.5693]
- 15 Bejaoui M, Zaouali MA, Folch-Puy E, Pantazi E, Bardag-Gorce F, Carbonell T, Oliva J, Rimola A, Abdennebi HB, Roselló-Catafau

MJG | www.wjgnet.com

February 14

February 14, 2015 | Volume 21 | Issue 6 |

J. Bortezomib enhances fatty liver preservation in Institut George Lopez-1 solution through adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase and Akt/mTOR pathways. J Pharm Pharmacol 2014; 66: 62-72 [PMID: 24127984 DOI: 10.1111/jphp.12154]

- 16 Zaouali MA, Reiter RJ, Padrissa-Altés S, Boncompagni E, García JJ, Ben Abnennebi H, Freitas I, García-Gil FA, Rosello-Catafau J. Melatonin protects steatotic and nonsteatotic liver grafts against cold ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Pineal Res 2011; 50: 213-221 [PMID: 21108657 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-079X.2010.00831 x]
- Ruderman NB, Xu XJ, Nelson L, Cacicedo JM, Saha AK, Lan F, 17 Ido Y. AMPK and SIRT1: a long-standing partnership? Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2010; 298: E751-E760 [PMID: 20103737 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00745.2009]
- Levine B, Kroemer G. Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell 2008; 132: 27-42 [PMID: 18191218 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.12.018] 18
- 19 Gupta R, Sawhney JP, Narain VS. Treatment of stable angina pectoris with trimetazidine modified release in Indian primary care practice. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 2005; 5: 325-329 [PMID: 16156688]
- 20 Ben Mosbah I, Casillas-Ramírez A, Xaus C, Serafin A, Roselló-Catafau J, Peralta C. Trimetazidine: is it a promising drug for use in steatotic grafts? World J Gastroenterol 2006; 12: 908-914 [PMID: 16521219 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i6.908]
- 21 Hsu CP, Zhai P, Yamamoto T, Maejima Y, Matsushima S, Hariharan N, Shao D, Takagi H, Oka S, Sadoshima J. Silent information regulator 1 protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion. Circulation 2010; 122: 2170-2182 [PMID: 21060073 DOI: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.110.958033]
- 22 Fan H, Yang HC, You L, Wang YY, He WJ, Hao CM. The histone deacetylase, SIRT1, contributes to the resistance of young mice to ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. Kidney Int 2013; 83: 404-413 [PMID: 23302720 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2012.394]
- Hernández-Jiménez M, Hurtado O, Cuartero MI, Ballesteros I, 23 Moraga A, Pradillo JM, McBurney MW, Lizasoain I, Moro MA. Silent information regulator 1 protects the brain against cerebral ischemic damage. Stroke 2013; 44: 2333-2337 [PMID: 23723308 DOI: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001715]
- 24 Revollo JR, Grimm AA, Imai S. The NAD biosynthesis pathway mediated by nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase regulates Sir2 activity in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 50754-50763 [PMID: 15381699 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M408388200]
- 25 Yamamoto T, Byun J, Zhai P, Ikeda Y, Oka S, Sadoshima J. Nicotinamide mononucleotide, an intermediate of NAD+ synthesis, protects the heart from ischemia and reperfusion. PLoS One 2014; 9: e98972 [PMID: 24905194 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098972]
- 26 Rebollo A, Roglans N, Baena M, Padrosa A, Sánchez RM, Merlos M, Alegret M, Laguna JC. Liquid fructose down-regulates liver insulin receptor substrate 2 and gluconeogenic enzymes by modifying nutrient sensing factors in rats. J Nutr Biochem 2014; 25: 250-258 [PMID: 24445051 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmtbio.2013.10.014]
- Tajbakhsh N, Sokoya EM. Sirtuin 1 is upregulated in young obese Zucker rat cerebral arteries. Eur J Pharmacol 2013; 721: 43-48 [PMID: 24113524 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.09.057]
- 28 Ou X, Lee MR, Huang X, Messina-Graham S, Broxmever HE. SIRT1 positively regulates autophagy and mitochondria function in embryonic stem cells under oxidative stress. Stem Cells 2014; 32: 1183-1194 [PMID: 24449278 DOI: 10.1002/stem.1641]
- 29 Chien CY, Chien CT, Wang SS. Progressive thermopreconditioning attenuates rat cardiac ischemia/reperfusion injury by mitochondriamediated antioxidant and antiapoptotic mechanisms. J Thorac

Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 148: 705-713 [PMID: 24507988 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.12.065]

- Lee J, Giordano S, Zhang J. Autophagy, mitochondria and oxidative stress: cross-talk and redox signalling, Biochem J 2012; 441: 523-540 [PMID: 22187934 DOI: 10.1042/BJ20111451]
- Inoki K, Kim J, Guan KL. AMPK and mTOR in cellular energy homeostasis and drug targets. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 2012; 52: 381-400 [PMID: 22017684 DOI: 10.1146/annurevpharmtox-010611-134537]
- Kroemer G, Mariño G, Levine B. Autophagy and the integrated stress response. Mol Cell 2010; 40: 280-293 [PMID: 20965422 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.023]
- Codogno P, Meijer AJ. Autophagy in the liver. J Hepatol 2013; 59: 389-391 [PMID: 23669287 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.02.031]
- Hou X, Xu S, Maitland-Toolan KA, Sato K, Jiang B, Ido Y, Lan F, Walsh K, Wierzbicki M, Verbeuren TJ, Cohen RA, Zang M. SIRT1 regulates hepatocyte lipid metabolism through activating AMPactivated protein kinase. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 20015-20026 [PMID: 18482975 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M802187200]
- 35 Ng F, Tang BL. Sirtuins' modulation of autophagy. J Cell Physiol 2013; 228: 2262-2270 [PMID: 23696314 DOI: 10.1002/jcp.24399]
- Hariharan N, Maejima Y, Nakae J, Paik J, Depinho RA, Sadoshima 36 J. Deacetylation of FoxO by Sirt1 Plays an Essential Role in Mediating Starvation-Induced Autophagy in Cardiac Myocytes. Circ Res 2010; 107: 1470-1482 [PMID: 20947830 DOI: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA 110 2273711
- Cardinal J, Pan P, Dhupar R, Ross M, Nakao A, Lotze M, Billiar T, Geller D, Tsung A. Cisplatin prevents high mobility group box 1 release and is protective in a murine model of hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury. Hepatology 2009; 50: 565-574 [PMID: 19492424 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23021]
- Kim JS, Nitta T, Mohuczy D, O'Malley KA, Moldawer LL, 38 Dunn WA, Behrns KE. Impaired autophagy: A mechanism of mitochondrial dysfunction in anoxic rat hepatocytes. Hepatology 2008; 47: 1725-1736 [PMID: 18311843 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22187]
- Lu Z, Dono K, Gotoh K, Shibata M, Koike M, Marubashi S, 39 Miyamoto A, Takeda Y, Nagano H, Umeshita K, Uchiyama Y, Monden M. Participation of autophagy in the degeneration process of rat hepatocytes after transplantation following prolonged cold preservation. Arch Histol Cytol 2005; 68: 71-80 [PMID: 15827380]
- Jiang M, Liu K, Luo J, Dong Z. Autophagy is a renoprotective mechanism during in vitro hypoxia and in vivo ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am J Pathol 2010; 176: 1181-1192 [PMID: 20075199 DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090594]
- Wang P, Guan YF, Du H, Zhai QW, Su DF, Miao CY. Induction of autophagy contributes to the neuroprotection of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase in cerebral ischemia. Autophagy 2012; 8: 77-87 [PMID: 22113203 DOI: 10.4161/auto.8.1.18274]
- Matsui Y, Takagi H, Qu X, Abdellatif M, Sakoda H, Asano T, Levine B, Sadoshima J. Distinct roles of autophagy in the heart during ischemia and reperfusion: roles of AMP-activated protein kinase and Beclin 1 in mediating autophagy. Circ Res 2007; 100: 914-922 [PMID: 17332429 DOI: 10.1161/01.RES.0000261924.76669.36]
- Decuypere JP, Pirenne J, Jochmans I. Autophagy in renal ischemiareperfusion injury: friend or foe? Am J Transplant 2014; 14: 1464-1465 [PMID: 24730471 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12717]
- Becatti M, Taddei N, Cecchi C, Nassi N, Nassi PA, Fiorillo C. SIRT1 modulates MAPK pathways in ischemic-reperfused cardiomyocytes. Cell Mol Life Sci 2012; 69: 2245-2260 [PMID: 22311064 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-012-0925-5]

P- Reviewer: Fourtounas C, Fulop T, Salvadori M S- Editor: Qi Y L- Editor: A E- Editor: Liu XM





WJG | www.wjgnet.com



Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wjgnet.com





© 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

4.3. Third study: SIRT1 in ROLT

Losartan activates sirtuin 1 in rat reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation.

(under revision in World Journal of Gastroenterology)

Summary

Introduction: SIRT1 is a histone deacetylase that has been associated with protective mechanisms against IRI, but its role in liver transplantation has been poorly investigated. Angiotensin II, the main effector of the renin-angiotensin system, has been associated with increased hepatic injury and its inhibition with beneficial effects against IRI. Although both angiotensin II and SIRT1 are involved in common processes related to IRI, a potential link between them has not yet been reported in a model of LT. The purpose of this study is to evaluate the possible SIRT1 implication in the rat ROLT, as well as to examine a potential relationship between SIRT1 and losartan, an antagonist of angiotensin II type I receptor (AT1R).

Experimental: Livers of male Sprague-Dawley rats (200-250gr) were preserved in University of Wisconsin (UW) storage solution for 1 hour at 4 ^oC and then subjected to ROLT (Kamadas'technique). In an additional group, losartan was orally administered (5 mg/kg) 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient rats. Liver injury (transaminases), SIRT1 protein levels and activity, SIRT3 protein and mRNA expression, ERS parameters (GRP78, IRE1a and p-elf2), heat shock proteins (HO-1, HSP70) expression and apoptosis parameters (Caspase 12 and 3) were measured 24 hours after reperfusion.

Results: The present study demonstrated that losartan pretreatment diminished hepatic injury in ROLT, which was consistent with induction of both SIRT1 protein expression and activity. Losartan administration provoked also enhanced NAD⁺ levels, the co-factor necessary for SIRT1 activity. Furthermore, SIRT1 induction by losartan pre-treatment coincided with decreases in the ERS parameters and in liver apoptosis. Losartan administration also modulated HSPs expression. In addition, both mRNA and protein levels of SIRT3 were comparable in ROLT and losartan + ROLT group.

114

Conclusions: We evidenced that SIRT1 is induced upon losartan pretreatment in ROLT and can be considered as an emerging therapeutic strategy in order to diminish hepatic IRI associated to ROLT. Name of journal: World Journal of Gastroenterology ESPS Manuscript NO: 16393 Basic study

Losartan activates Sirtuin 1 in rat reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation

Pantazi E et al. SIRT1 and losartan in liver transplantation

Eirini Pantazi, Mohamed Bejaoui, Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Emma Folch-Puy, Anabela Pinto Rolo, Arnau Panisello, Carlos Marques Palmeira and Joan Roselló-Catafau.

Eirini Pantazi, Mohamed Bejaoui, Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Emma Folch-Puy, Arnau Panisello and Joan Roselló-Catafau, Experimental Hepatic Ischemia-Reperfusion Unit, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona (IIBB-CSIC), Barcelona, 08036, Catalonia, Spain

Anabela Pinto Rolo, Carlos Marques Palmeira, Department of Life Sciences, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Coimbra, 3004-517, Coimbra, Portugal and Center for Neurosciences and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra, 3004-517, Coimbra, Portugal

Author contributions: Pantazi E carried out the experimental work; Pantazi E, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E provided protocols and analyzed data; Zaouali MA; Bejaoui M, Panisello A established the animal experimental model and injury parameters; Rolo AP, Palmeira CM determinated NAD⁺, NAMPT levels and contributed to critical analyzes of the data and discussion; Pantazi E, Folch-Puy E and Roselló-Catafau J designed the study, coordinate the experiments and wrote the paper.

Supported by: Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias (FIS PI12/00519). Eirini Pantazi is the recipient of a fellowship from Agència de Gestió d'Ajuts Universitaris i de Recerca (AGAUR, 2012FI_B00382), Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain

Ethics approval: The present study does not involve human beings/samples.

Institutional animal care and use committee: All procedures involving animals were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committees for Animal Experimentation (CEEA, Directive 400/12), University of Barcelona and all procedures complied with European Union regulations for animal experiments (EU guideline 86/609/EEC).

Biostatistics: Data are expressed as mean \pm standard error. Statistical comparison was performed by variance analysis, followed by the Student– Newman–Keuls test, using the GraphPad Prism software. P <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Conflict-of-interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest or any financial interests.

Data sharing: Any further information related to technical appendix, statistical code and dataset are available from the corresponding author at jrcbam@iibb.csic.es. The authors gave informed consent for data sharing.

Correspondence to: Joan Rosello-Catafau, Professor, Experimental Pathology Department, IIBB-CSIC, C/ Rosello 161, 7th floor, 08036-Barcelona, Spain. E-mail address: <u>ircbam@iibb.csic.es</u>

Tel: +34 933638300; Fax: +34 933638301

Abstract

AIM: To investigate a possible association between losartan and sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) in reducedsize orthotopic liver transplantation (ROLT) in rats.

METHODS: Livers of male Sprague-Dawley rats (200-250 gr) were preserved in University of Wisconsin preservation solution for 1 hour at 4 °C prior to ROLT. In an additional group, an antagonist of angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R; losartan), was orally administered (5 mg/kg) 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donors and the recipients. Transaminase (as an indicator of liver injury), SIRT1 activity, and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+, a co-factor necessary for SIRT1 activity) levels were determined by biochemical methods. Protein expression of SIRT1, acetylated FoxO1 (ac-FoxO1), NAMPT (the precursor of NAD+), heat shock proteins (HSP70, HO-1) expression, endoplasmic reticulum stress (GRP78, IRE1α, p-eIF2) and apoptosis (caspase 12 and caspase 3) parameters were determined by Western blot. Possible alterations in protein expression of mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK), such as p-p38 and p-ERK, were also evaluated. Furthermore, the SIRT3 protein expression and mRNA levels were examined.

RESULTS: The present study demonstrated that losartan administration led to diminished liver injury when compared to ROLT group, as evidenced by the significant decreases in ALT (358,3 \pm 133,44 vs 206 \pm 33,61, P< 0.05) and AST levels (893,57 \pm 397,69 vs 500,85 \pm 118,07, P< 0.05). The lessened hepatic injury in case of losartan was associated with enhanced SIRT1 protein expression and activity (5,27 \pm 0,32 vs 6,08 \pm 0,30, P<0.05). This was concomitant with increased levels of NAD⁺ (0,87 \pm 0,22 vs 1,195 \pm 0,144, P<0.05) the co-factor necessary for SIRT1 activity, as well as with decreases in ac-FoxO1 expression. Losartan treatment also provoked significant attenuation of endoplasmic reticulum stress parameters (GRP78, IRE1a, p-eIF2) which was consistent with reduced levels of both caspase 12 and caspase 3. Furthermore, losartan administration stimulated HSP70 protein expression and attenuated HO-1 expression. However, no changes were observed in protein or mRNA expression of SIRT3. Finally, the protein expression pattern of p-ERK and p-p38 were not altered upon losartan administration.

CONCLUSION: The present study reports that losartan induces SIRT1 expression and activity, and that it reduces hepatic injury in a ROLT model.

Keywords: losartan, sirtuin 1, endoplasmic reticulum stress, liver ischemia reperfusion injury, angiotensin II

Core tip

Losartan is an angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R) antagonist known to protect livers against ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI). However, the mechanisms underlying this hepatoprotective effect are not fully understood, especially in case of reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation (ROLT). SIRT1 has recently emerged as an important target to modulate for alleviating IRI. In our study, we describe that AT1R antagonism enhances SIRT1 activity and prevents endoplasmic reticulum stress and liver apoptosis in a rat model of ROLT. Consequently, losartan increases the resistance of ROLT grafts against IRI.

Pantazi E, Bejaoui M, Zaouali MA, Folch-Puy E, Pinto Rolo A, Panisello A, Palmeira CM and Roselló-Catafau J. Losartan activates SIRT1 in rat reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; In press

INTRODUCTION

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is an important obstacle during liver transplantation, contributing to a significant loss of graft function. It is characterized by a cascade of deleterious cellular responses that lead to inflammation, cell death, and ultimately, organ failure [246]. These complications are increased in case of reduced-size liver grafts compared with standard liver transplant operations [247, 248]. Thus, further investigation is required to explore new therapeutic strategies to counteract IRI.

Various reports have associated the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) with liver IRI [90, 249]. The main effector of RAS is angiotensin II, which is produced via angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) from angiotensin I. It exerts its biological actions through two receptor subtypes: angiotensin II type I receptor (AT1R) and angiotensin II type II receptor (AT2R) [82]. Angiotensin II has been associated with increased inflammation and oxidative stress in liver IRI, and various studies have evidenced that AT1R antagonists, such as losartan, efficiently protected livers against IRI in both warm ischemia and transplantation models [87, 89, 250, 251].

Sirtuins are deacetylases dependent on nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD)+ that either activate or suppress various proteins. Thus, they are implicated in various cellular pathways, including metabolic processes, apoptosis and oxidative stress [165]. Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) and the mitochondrial sirtuin 3 (SIRT3) are the most studied sirtuins and represent interesting targets for counteracting IRI in various organs [252, 253]. SIRT1 has been shown to be involved in a wide range of cellular processes related to cell cycle and the cellular response to stresses, including the endoplasmic reticulum stress (ERS) [164, 227, 234, 254].

IRI is known to promote ERS which finally induces cellular death [76]. In addition, we have previously shown that inhibiting ERS can be a useful strategy against IRI [255]. In a model of partial hepatectomy with ischemia-reperfusion in steatotic and non-steatotic rat livers, ERS inhibition ameliorated hepatic damage by reducing inflammation and apoptosis [255]. Therefore, we may hypothesize that preventing ERS might be useful for ameliorating the negative outcomes of reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation (ROLT).

There is little evidence about a potential relationship between SIRT1 and amgiotensin II antagonists. Miyazaki *et al.* have reported that SIRT1 overexpression suppresses AT1R in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells [256]. In addition, a recent study in primary cultures of adipocytes evidenced a mutual interaction between RAS and SIRT1, with an association with metabolic homeostasis. [257]. Conversely, there are no reports concerning a relationship between SIRT1 and angiotensin II antagonists in liver transplantation. Given that both are involved in common processes related to IRI, ERS, and apoptosis [258, 259], we hypothesized

that SIRT1 may be implicated in the protective effects of an AT1R antagonist against hepatic IRI following ROLT.

The present study therefore aimed to assess whether an AT1R antagonist, losartan, could be effective in protecting reduced-size liver grafts from IRI and to examine the possible underlying mechanisms involved. Furthermore, a potential relationship between losartan and SIRT1 was explored.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental animals

Male Sprague–Dawley rats (200–250 g) were used as donors and recipients. Animals were housed in conventional temperature- and humidity-controlled facilities with a 12-hour light/dark cycle. All animals had free access to water and a standard laboratory diet. All procedures were performed under isoflurane inhalation anesthesia. Animal experiments were approved by the Ethics Committees for Animal Experimentation (CEEA, Directive 400/12), University of Barcelona and all procedures complied with European Union regulations for animal experiments (EU guideline 86/609/EEC). Rats were randomly distributed into groups as described below.

Experimental design

The following experimental groups were created:

1) Sham (n=6): Animals were subjected to transverse laparotomy and silk ligatures were located in the right suprarenal vein, diaphragmatic vein, and hepatic artery. After 24 hours, animals were sacrificed and blood and liver samples were collected and stored at -20 °C and -80 °C respectively, for further investigation.

2) ROLT (n =12, 6 transplants): ROLT was performed according to the Kamada's cuff technique, without hepatic artery reconstruction [242]. During the donor surgery, the right suprarenal vein, diaphragmatic vein, and hepatic artery were ligated and the bile duct was cannulated. Then, the reduction of the liver was carried out. Liver reduction was achieved by removing the left lateral lobe and the two caudate lobes just before harvesting the liver, resulting in a 40% reduction of the liver mass. The pedicle of the left lateral lobe was ligated with 5.0 silk ligature, and the lobe was removed. The two caudate lobes were removed separately with the ligation[243]. Then, the donor livers were flushed and preserved with cold (4 °C) University of Wisconsin (UW) solution for 1 hour and then implanted to the receptor. Receptors were killed 24 hours after transplantation and blood and liver samples were collected and stored at -20 °C and -80 °C respectively for further investigation.

3) Losartan + ROLT (n=12, 6 transplants): We used the same protocol as for group 2, but an AT1R antagonist (losartan) was orally administered (5 mg/kg) at 24 hours and 1 hour before the donor and the recipient surgery [89].

Transaminase assay

Hepatic injury was assessed in terms of transaminase levels with commercial kits from RAL (Barcelona, Spain). Briefly, plasma extracts were collected before liver extraction and centrifuged at 4 °C for 10 min at 0.8xg. Then, 200 µL of the supernatant were added to the substrate provided by the commercial kit. Alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels were determined at 365 nm with an ultraviolet spectrometer and calculated according to the manufacturer's instructions [260].

NAD⁺/NADH determination

Liver NAD⁺ / NADH levels were quantified with a commercially available kit (MAK037, Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Western blot analysis

Liver tissue was homogenized in a HEPES ((N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethanesulfonic acid) buffer as previously described [261]. Then, 50 μ g of proteins were separated on 8%–15% SDS-PAGE (sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) gels and trans-blotted on PVDF (polyvinylidene difluoride) membranes (Bio-Rad). Membranes were then blocked for one hour with 5% (w/v) non-fat milk in T-TBS (tween-tris-buffered saline) and incubated overnight at 4 °C with the corresponding primary antibody: SIRT1 (#07-131), purchased from Merck Millipore, Billerica, MA; ac-FoxO1 (D-19, sc-49437) and GRP78 (GRP78, H-129, sc-13968), both purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, CA, USA); SIRT3 (#2627), cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175, #9664), p-eIF2a (Ser51, #9721), IRE1α (#3294), caspase-12 (#2202), p-p38 Thr180/Tyr182, #9211), p-p44/42 (Erk1/2, Thr202/Tyr204, #9101) purchased from Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA; HSP70 (610607, Transduction Laboratories, Lexington, KY); Heme Oxygenase-1 (H4535), NAMPT (AP22021SU, Acris Antibodies GmbH, Germany); and b-actin (A5316, Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, USA). Membranes were then incubated for 1 h at room temperature with the corresponding secondary antibody linked to horseradish peroxidase. Bound complexes were detected using WesternBright ECL-HRP substrate (Advansta, Barcelona, Spain) and quantified via the Quantity One software for image analysis. Results were expressed as the densitometric ratio between the protein of interest and the loading control (b-actin).

Real-time quantitative reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction

Real-time quantitative reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) was performed. Total liver RNA was isolated using a TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen). Reverse transcription was realized on a 1 µg RNA sample using the iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories). The reaction included incubation at 25 °C (5 min), at 42 °C (30 min) and 85 °C (5 min) and then cDNA was stored at -80 °C. Subsequent PCR amplification was conducted in an iCycler iQ Multi-Color Real-Time PCR device (Bio-Rad Laboratories) using SsoAdvancedTM Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-rad Laboratories) and the following rat primers for SIRT3: forward, 5'-tagtccagggtgtggaaagg-3' and reverse, 3'-ccgcaggtgaagaagtaagc-5'. Reactions were performed in duplicate and threshold cycle values were normalized to GAPDH gene expression. The ratio of SIRT3 relative expression to GAPDH was calculated by the Δ Ct formula.

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean ± standard error. Statistical comparison was performed by variance analysis, followed by the Student– Newman–Keuls test, using the GraphPad Prism software. P <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Hepatic injury

We first examined whether treatment with losartan affected hepatic injury in our experimental model. As shown in Table 1, increased ALT and AST levels were observed when rats were submitted to ROLT in comparison with the sham group. However, treatment with losartan significantly reduced the transaminase levels in the ROLT group.

Losartan-induced SIRT1 expression and activity

To investigate the possible interaction of SIRT1 with angiotensin II, we investigated the activity and the protein expression pattern of SIRT1. Animals subjected to ROLT showed augmented SIRT1 protein expression levels, which were further enhanced when losartan was administered (Fig. 1A). In addition, losartan administration prior to the ROLT procedure significantly increased SIRT1 activity compared with both the ROLT and sham groups (Fig. 1B). However, no significant differences were observed between the sham and ROLT groups.

In addition, we examined the levels of NAD⁺/NADH, the co-factor necessary for SIRT1 activity and nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT) protein expression, which is the major precursor for NAD⁺ biosynthesis. Figure 1C demonstrates that NAD+ levels were high in the sham group, but decreased in the ROLT and losartan + ROLT groups; however, losartan pretreatment contributed to elevated NAD⁺ levels compared with ROLT alone. NAMPT protein was significantly augmented in both the ROLT and losartan + ROLT group in comparison to sham (Fig. 1D).

Further, the forkheadbox (FoxO) transcription factors subfamily have been shown to mediate some of the effects of sirtuins. Given that FoxO1 is a direct substrate of SIRT1, we therefore determined its acetylation (Fig. 1E). Animals subjected to ROLT showed elevated ac-FoxO1 protein levels compared with the sham group. By contrast, the augmented SIRT1 activity found when losartan was administered was consistent with a decrease in the ac-FoxO1 protein levels.

Losartan acted independently of SIRT3 expression

Because SIRT1 appeared to be modulated, we explored the role of SIRT3. We observed that SIRT3 mRNA levels were significantly downregulated in both ROLT and losartan + ROLT groups when compared with the sham group (Fig. 2A). The same pattern was observed for SIRT3 protein levels, with significant decreases in animals subjected to ROLT and losartan + ROLT (Fig. 2B).

Angiotensin II inhibition attenuated ERS

To identify other potential molecular mechanisms involved in the hepatoprotective effect of losartan against IRI, we examined different ERS parameters, including GRP78, IRE1 α , and p-eIF2. As indicated in Figure 3, important increases of all ERS parameters occurred following ROLT but not the sham operation. Losartan pre-treatment also restored the ERS parameters.

Losartan affected heat shock protein expression

Because heat shock proteins are implicated in liver IRI, we determined the protein expression pattern of heme homoxygenase 1 (HO-1) and of the heat shock protein 70 (HSP70). As it is shown in Figure 4, enhanced HO-1 and HSP70 protein levels were found in animals subjected to ROLT. However, Losartan treatment decreased HO-1 protein levels and increased HSP70 protein levels.

Angiotensin II inhibition reduced liver apoptosis

Liver IRI is characterized by increased hepatic apoptosis, so we determined the protein levels of caspase-12 and caspase-3, which are known to promote apoptosis. Figure 5 shows that increased levels of both proteins in animals undergoing ROLT were diminished by losartan pre-treatment.

MAPK regulation

The mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are serine/threonine protein kinases that mediate intracellular signal transduction events associated with IRI. Therefore, we determined the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and p38. Figure 6A shows that animals undergoing ROLT had increased levels of p-ERK, but that losartan pre-treatment did not enhance ERK activation compared with ROLT alone. Moreover, the content of p-p38 was decreased in both the ROLT and losartan + ROLT groups. Losartan pre-treatment did not alter p-p38 content when compared to ROLT alone (Fig. 6B).

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrated that inhibition of AT1R lessens hepatic injury in ROLT. Specifically, we provide new insights into losartan-mediated hepatoprotection in rats undergoing ROLT, including the induction of SIRT1 and the attenuation of ERS.

The protective effects of losartan against IRI were associated with increased SIRT1 activation and protein expression. SIRT1 up-regulation and angiotensin II blockade have been separately reported as therapeutic strategies against IRI in various organs [90, 252, 262, 263]. Enhancement of SIRT1 has also been associated with decreased hepatic injury in rat orthotopic liver transplantation [264]. In our experimental rat ROLT model, SIRT1 protein expression was upregulated, but we observed no differences in its activity. Furthermore, FoxO1 deacetylation was inhibited in the ROLT group. SIRT1 overexpression and failure to augment its activity during IRI has also been reported in a recent work by our group [261]. In addition, losartan administration not only enhanced SIRT1 expression but also significantly increased both SIRT1 activity and FoxO1 deacetylation in comparison with the ROLT group. Further, losartaninduced increases in SIRT1 activity can be attributed to the enhanced NAD⁺ levels, which are indispensable for sirtuin activity. In turn, the NAD+ levels may be attributed to the NAMPT levels, which were slightly, but not significantly, increased after losartan treatment. Moreover, enhanced deacetylation of FoxO1 was related with NAMPT/NAD⁺ increases in rat orthotopic liver transplantation [264]. The present data demonstrate the existence of an angiotensin II/SIRT1 axis in liver transplantation, and that the benefits of angiotensin II inhibition against liver IRI are mediated, at least in part, through SIRT1 activation. This is consistent with a recent study in rat skeletal muscle, in which angiotensin II administration decreased SIRT1 expression [265].

Next, we speculated that SIRT3 might be affected by ROLT and losartan treatment. Real-time qRT-PCR and Western blot analysis revealed that SIRT3 mRNA and protein levels were significantly decreased in both the ROLT and losartan + ROLT groups compared with the sham group. This may be attributed to the mitochondrial disturbances that commonly take place

during IRI [204]. SIRT3 is the major mitochondrial deacetylase implicated in metabolism, oxidative stress responses, and cardiac IRI [195, 253, 266, 267]. The fact that SIRT3 mRNA and protein levels were comparable between the ROLT and losartan + ROLT groups suggests that the protective effect of losartan was independent of the SIRT3 pathway.

The endoplasmic reticulum is an organelle responsible for protein folding. Under stress conditions, the homeostasis of the endoplasmic reticulum is disturbed, leading to accumulation of unfolded proteins. In this case, an adaptive unfolded protein response (UPR) is activated to lessen the effects of ERS; however, when the insult is exaggerated in IRI, the ERS response can lead to cell death [73]. The UPR has three core branches: an inositol-requiring enzyme 1a (IRE1a) that induces the cleavage of the mRNA encoding X-box-binding protein 1 (XBP-1); a PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) that phosphorylates the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 (eIF2a); and an activating transcription factor (ATF6). Under stress conditions, IRE1a, PERK, and ATF6 are released from their binding with the 78-kD glucoseregulated/binding immunoglobulin protein (GRP78) and become activated [268]. In a liver transplantation model, we have previously seen that activation of these UPR branches is associated with cell death and is a determinant factor of liver injury [76]. In this study, we observed that ROLT triggered the activation of GRP78 and the subsequent activation of the IRE1 α and p-eIF2 pathways. Moreover, losartan pre-treatment abolished the activation of all ERS parameters. This is consistent with a recent study in human islets, which revealed that losartan exerted its protective effects against glucotoxicity by reducing ERS [269].

Losartan treatment was also accompanied by significant regulation of HSP70 and HO-1. The chaperone activity of HSP70 has been associated with cellular attempts to maintain proteins in an accurately folded state [73]. In our study, losartan pre-treatment induced HSP70 overexpression, which could have contributed to a decreased accumulation of unfolded proteins and therefore less ERS. Furthermore, because a direct relationship has previously been reported between SIRT1 and HSP70 in hepatic IRI, SIRT1 might contribute to HSP70 enhancement [261]. The increased ERS levels observed in the ROLT group were consistent with enhanced HO-1 protein expression that probably occurred due to an adaptive cell mechanism to prevent stress, as previously proposed by Liu *et al.* [270]. In this sense, HO-1 expression was decreased when losartan pre-treatment diminished ERS.

Apoptosis is one of the most significant events in the pathophysiology of liver IRI. Aiming to mitigate the effects of ERS-mediated apoptosis could be an effective strategy for minimize IRI. It is known that IRE1a provokes caspase 12 cleavage, which in turn activates caspase 9 and then caspase 3 to stimulate apoptosis [271, 272]. In our study, the induction of ERS in the ROLT group led to increased cell death, as reflected by the enhanced caspase 12 and caspase 3 protein

levels. Further, the decrease in ERS in the losartan + ROLT group coincided with decreases in the levels of these caspases.

MAPKs are linked with cell cycle, liver regeneration, apoptosis, and oxidative stress pathways. The ERK cascade is closely connected with the regulation of cell growth and differentiation, whereas p38 is involved in cellular responses to environmental stress [112]. It has been reported that active p38 MAPK is present in the quiescent liver, and that it is dephosphorylated in the regenerating liver [273, 274]. ERK phosphorylation is also involved in the signaling pathways of liver regeneration [19]. Therefore, the lowered p-p38 and increased p-ERK levels observed in the ROLT and losartan + ROLT groups could be associated with enhanced liver regeneration. In a previous study, our group reported that losartan pre-treatment did not enhance liver regeneration after ROLT [275]. Thus, losartan pre-treatment did not provide an additional increase in liver regeneration, resulting in no differences in p-p38/ERK activation between the two ROLT groups. Consequently, we can assume that SIRT1 activation by losartan treatment is not associated with liver regeneration in a ROLT model. Losartan administration decreased significantly hepatic injury and affected signaling processes related to IRI, such ERS and apoptosis. However, it could not further enhance liver regeneration, an essential processes for the success of transplantation with reduced-size liver grafts. Further studies will be required to elucidate the mechanisms by which losartan improves hepatic injury after ROLT.

Furthermore, angiotensin II is known to exert vasoconstrictor effects [276-278] and angiotensin II blockers, such as losartan, have been reported to decrease arterial pressure and act as effective antihypertensive agents [279, 280]. A potential hypotensive effect of losartan was out of the scope of the present study, whereas prolonged time treatments with losartan are usually applied in order to evaluate blood pressure changes [281].

In conclusion, the present results indicate that SIRT1 is implicated in the protective effects of AT1R inhibition by losartan against IRI following ROLT. Losartan pre-treatment markedly attenuates liver injury by regulating signaling pathways that are involved in the pathophysiology of IRI, including heat shock protein, ERS, and liver apoptosis pathways. Moreover, it is evidenced that SIRT1 is a downstream target of angiotensin II in a rat ROLT model. Further studies are required to identify whether other angiotensin peptides (i.e., 1–7) can also modulate SIRT1.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Robert Sykes and Michael Maudsley at the Language Advisory Service of the University of Barcelona for revising the English text.

COMMENTS

Background

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is a complex pathophysiological process inherent to liver transplantation. Endoplasmic reticulum stress (ERS) and apoptosis are common features of liver IRI in this context. Angiotensin II is a basic constituent of the renin-angiotensin system and has been shown to worsen IRI. Angiotensin II acts by binding to angiotensin II type I receptors (AT1R) and angiotensin II type II receptors (AT2R). Of note, antagonists of these receptors have been found to protect against liver IRI. In addition, sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) is a NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase that modulates various cellular pathways associated to IRI, but its relationship with angiotensin II in liver IRI has not been studied. In this study, we demonstrate that administration of losartan, an antagonist of AT1R, significantly reduced liver injury in a rat model of reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation (ROLT) by activating SIRT1 and decreasing ERS and liver apoptosis.

Research frontiers

Angiotensin II has been associated with inflammatory responses and oxidative stress in liver IRI. Inhibition of its action with AT1R antagonists, such as losartan, results in decreased hepatic injury by attenuating pro-inflammatory responses, activating HIF-1a and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR- γ) in various hepatic IRI models. Here we report that the hepatoprotective effects of losartan against IRI associated with ROLT are mediated through SIRT1 enhancement, HSP70 overexpression, and attenuation of ERS and liver apoptosis.

Innovations and breakthroughs

The role of SIRT1 in a ROLT model has not yet been determined, nor has the potential link between angiotensin II and SIRT1 or ERS in liver IRI. The present study evaluated the potential role of losartan administration on SIRT1 expression and activity and on ERS activation in a rat ROLT model. We demonstrated that angiotensin II inhibition led to SIRT1 up-regulation and a subsequent decrease in ERS that contributed to reduced hepatic injury following ROLT.

Applications

Pharmacological activation of SIRT1 by losartan might be a promising therapeutic tool for ameliorating the detrimental effects of IRI following ROLT in rat models.

Peer review

REFERENCES

1 Quesnelle KM, Bystrom PV, Toledo-Pereyra LH. Molecular responses to ischemia and reperfusion in the liver. Archives of toxicology 2015 [PMID: 25566829 DOI: 10.1007/s00204-014-1437-x]

2 Du Z, Wei C, Cheng K, Han B, Yan J, Zhang M, Peng C, Liu Y. Mesenchymal stem cellconditioned medium reduces liver injury and enhances regeneration in reduced-size rat liver transplantation. J Surg Res 2013; 183(2): 907-915 [PMID: 23522455 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.02.009]

3 Dahm F, Georgiev P, Clavien PA. Small-for-size syndrome after partial liver transplantation: definition, mechanisms of disease and clinical implications. American journal of transplantation : official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons 2005; 5(11): 2605-2610 [PMID: 16212618 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01081.x]

4 Ramalho FS, Alfany-Fernandez I, Casillas-Ramirez A, Massip-Salcedo M, Serafin A, Rimola A, Arroyo V, Rodes J, Rosello-Catafau J, Peralta C. Are angiotensin II receptor antagonists useful strategies in steatotic and nonsteatotic livers in conditions of partial hepatectomy under ischemia-reperfusion? The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 2009; 329(1): 130-140 [PMID: 19116369 DOI: 10.1124/jpet.108.147835]

5 Casillas-Ramirez A, Amine-Zaouali M, Massip-Salcedo M, Padrissa-Altes S, Bintanel-Morcillo M, Ramalho F, Serafin A, Rimola A, Arroyo V, Rodes J, Rosello-Catafau J, Peralta C. Inhibition of angiotensin II action protects rat steatotic livers against ischemia-reperfusion injury. Crit Care Med 2008; 36(4): 1256-1266 [PMID: 18379253 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31816a023c]

6 Paul M, Poyan Mehr A, Kreutz R. Physiology of local renin-angiotensin systems. Physiol Rev 2006; 86(3): 747-803 [PMID: 16816138 DOI: 10.1152/physrev.00036.2005]

7 Yang YY, Lee PC, Huang YT, Lee WP, Kuo YJ, Lee KC, Hsieh YC, Lee TY, Lin HC. Involvement of the HIF-1alpha and Wnt/beta-catenin pathways in the protective effects of losartan on fatty liver graft with ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Clin Sci (Lond) 2014; 126(2): 163-174 [PMID: 23875703 DOI: 10.1042/CS20130025]

8 Koh EJ, Yoon SJ, Lee SM. Losartan protects liver against ischaemia/reperfusion injury through PPAR-gamma activation and receptor for advanced glycation end-products downregulation. Br J Pharmacol 2013; 169(6): 1404-1416 [PMID: 23647130 PMCID: 3831716 DOI: 10.1111/bph.12229]

9 Guo L, Richardson KS, Tucker LM, Doll MA, Hein DW, Arteel GE. Role of the reninangiotensin system in hepatic ischemia reperfusion injury in rats. Hepatology 2004; 40(3): 583-589 [PMID: 15349896 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20369] 10 Alfany-Fernandez I, Casillas-Ramirez A, Bintanel-Morcillo M, Brosnihan KB, Ferrario CM, Serafin A, Rimola A, Rodes J, Rosello-Catafau J, Peralta C. Therapeutic targets in liver transplantation: angiotensin II in nonsteatotic grafts and angiotensin-(1-7) in steatotic grafts. American journal of transplantation : official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons 2009; 9(3): 439-451 [PMID: 19191767 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02521.x]

11 Nogueiras R, Habegger KM, Chaudhary N, Finan B, Banks AS, Dietrich MO, Horvath TL, Sinclair DA, Pfluger PT, Tschop MH. Sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3: physiological modulators of metabolism. Physiol Rev 2012; 92(3): 1479-1514 [PMID: 22811431 DOI: 92/3/1479 [pii] 10.1152/physrev.00022.2011]

Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Rosello-Catafau J.
 Role of sirtuins in ischemia-reperfusion injury. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19(43): 7594-7602
 [PMID: 24616566 PMCID: 3837258 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i43.7594]

 Porter GA, Urciuoli WR, Brookes PS, Nadtochiy SM. SIRT3 deficiency exacerbates ischemia-reperfusion injury: implication for aged hearts. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2014; 306(12): H1602-1609 [PMID: 24748594 PMCID: 4059981 DOI: 10.1152/ajpheart.00027.2014]

14 Satoh A, Brace CS, Rensing N, Cliften P, Wozniak DF, Herzog ED, Yamada KA, Imai S. Sirt1 Extends Life Span and Delays Aging in Mice through the Regulation of Nk2 Homeobox 1 in the DMH and LH. Cell Metab 2013; 18(3): 416-430 [PMID: 24011076 DOI: S1550-4131(13)00333-1 [pii]

10.1016/j.cmet.2013.07.013]

15 Morris KC, Lin HW, Thompson JW, Perez-Pinzon MA. Pathways for ischemic cytoprotection: role of sirtuins in caloric restriction, resveratrol, and ischemic preconditioning. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2011; 31(4): 1003-1019 [PMID: 21224864 DOI: jcbfm2010229 [pii] 10.1038/jcbfm.2010.229]

Li Y, Xu S, Giles A, Nakamura K, Lee JW, Hou X, Donmez G, Li J, Luo Z, Walsh K, Guarente L, Zang M. Hepatic overexpression of SIRT1 in mice attenuates endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in the liver. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 2011; 25(5): 1664-1679 [PMID: 21321189 PMCID: 3079300 DOI: 10.1096/fj.10-173492]

17 Brunet A, Sweeney LB, Sturgill JF, Chua KF, Greer PL, Lin Y, Tran H, Ross SE, Mostoslavsky R, Cohen HY, Hu LS, Cheng HL, Jedrychowski MP, Gygi SP, Sinclair DA, Alt FW, Greenberg ME. Stress-dependent regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase. Science 2004; 303(5666): 2011-2015 [PMID: 14976264 DOI: 10.1126/science.1094637 1094637 [pii]] 18 Mosbah IB, Zaouali MA, Martel C, Bjaoui M, Abdennebi HB, Hotter G, Brenner C, Rosello-Catafau J. IGL-1 solution reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in rat liver transplantation. Cell Death Dis 2012; 3: e279 [PMID: 22402603 DOI: cddis201212 [pii] 10.1038/cddis.2012.12]

Ben Mosbah I, Alfany-Fernandez I, Martel C, Zaouali MA, Bintanel-Morcillo M, Rimola A, Rodes J, Brenner C, Rosello-Catafau J, Peralta C. Endoplasmic reticulum stress inhibition protects steatotic and non-steatotic livers in partial hepatectomy under ischemia-reperfusion. Cell Death Dis 2010; 1: e52 [PMID: 21364657 PMCID: 3032561 DOI: 10.1038/cddis.2010.29]

20 Miyazaki R, Ichiki T, Hashimoto T, Inanaga K, Imayama I, Sadoshima J, Sunagawa K. SIRT1, a longevity gene, downregulates angiotensin II type 1 receptor expression in vascular smooth muscle cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2008; 28(7): 1263-1269 [PMID: 18420994 DOI: ATVBAHA.108.166991 [pii]

10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.166991]

21 Oliveira Andrade JM, Paraiso AF, Garcia ZM, Ferreira AV, Sinisterra RD, Sousa FB, Guimaraes AL, de Paula AM, Campagnole-Santos MJ, dos Santos RA, Santos SH. Cross talk between angiotensin-(1-7)/Mas axis and sirtuins in adipose tissue and metabolism of high-fat feed mice. Peptides 2014; 55: 158-165 [PMID: 24642355 DOI: 10.1016/j.peptides.2014.03.006]

Uhal BD, Nguyen H, Dang M, Gopallawa I, Jiang J, Dang V, Ono S, Morimoto K. Abrogation of ER stress-induced apoptosis of alveolar epithelial cells by angiotensin 1-7. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2013; 305(1): L33-41 [PMID: 23624786 PMCID: 3726942 DOI: 10.1152/ajplung.00001.2013]

Jung TW, Lee KT, Lee MW, Ka KH. SIRT1 attenuates palmitate-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in HepG2 cells via induction of oxygen-regulated protein 150. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2012; 422(2): 229-232 [PMID: 22564731 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.04.129]

24 Kamada N, Calne RY. Orthotopic liver transplantation in the rat. Technique using cuff for portal vein anastomosis and biliary drainage. Transplantation 1979; 28(1): 47-50 [PMID: 377595]

25 Xia R, Emond JC. Orthotopic partial liver transplantation in the rat: a model of 70% hepatectomy and reduced size liver transplantation. Transplantation 1993; 56(4): 1041-1043 [PMID: 8212189]

Bejaoui M, Zaouali MA, Folch-Puy E, Pantazi E, Bardag-Gorce F, Carbonell T, Oliva J, Rimola A, Abdennebi HB, Rosello-Catafau J. Bortezomib enhances fatty liver preservation in Institut George Lopez-1 solution through adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase and Akt/mTOR pathways. J Pharm Pharmacol 2014; 66(1): 62-72 [PMID: 24127984 DOI: 10.1111/jphp.12154] 27 Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Serafin A, Folch-Puy E, Petegnief V, De Vera N, Abdennebi HB, Rimola A, Rosello-Catafau J. Silent information regulator 1 protects the liver against ischemia-reperfusion injury: implications in steatotic liver ischemic preconditioning. Transpl Int 2014 [PMID: 24472096 DOI: 10.1111/tri.12276]

Lutz J, Risch K, Liu S, Antus B, Schmaderer C, Roos M, Ouyang N, Lehmann M, Heemann U. Angiotensin type 1 and type 2 receptor blockade in chronic allograft nephropathy. Kidney Int 2006; 70(6): 1080-1088 [PMID: 16850018 DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.5001709]

29 Pauly DF, Johnson BD, Anderson RD, Handberg EM, Smith KM, Cooper-DeHoff RM, Sopko G, Sharaf BM, Kelsey SF, Merz CN, Pepine CJ. In women with symptoms of cardiac ischemia, nonobstructive coronary arteries, and microvascular dysfunction, angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibition is associated with improved microvascular function: A doubleblind randomized study from the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE). American heart journal 2011; 162(4): 678-684 [PMID: 21982660 PMCID: 3191889 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2011.07.011]

30 Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Varela AT, Rolo AP, Palmeira CM, Rosello-Catafau J. Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21(6): 1765-1774 [PMID: 25684941 PMCID: 4323452 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1765]

31 Kackstein K, Teren A, Matsumoto Y, Mangner N, Mobius-Winkler S, Linke A, Schuler G, Punkt K, Adams V. Impact of angiotensin II on skeletal muscle metabolism and function in mice: contribution of IGF-1, Sirtuin-1 and PGC-1alpha. Acta histochemica 2013; 115(4): 363-370 [PMID: 23092805 DOI: 10.1016/j.acthis.2012.09.009]

32 Halestrap AP, Clarke SJ, Javadov SA. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening during myocardial reperfusion--a target for cardioprotection. Cardiovasc Res 2004; 61(3): 372-385 [PMID: 14962470 DOI: 10.1016/S0008-6363(03)00533-9]

Teodoro JS, Duarte FV, Gomes AP, Varela AT, Peixoto FM, Rolo AP, Palmeira CM. Berberine reverts hepatic mitochondrial dysfunction in high-fat fed rats: a possible role for SirT3 activation. Mitochondrion 2013; 13(6): 637-646 [PMID: 24041461 DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2013.09.002]

34 Schwer B, Verdin E. Conserved metabolic regulatory functions of sirtuins. Cell Metab 2008; 7(2): 104-112 [PMID: 18249170 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2007.11.006]

35 Someya S, Yu W, Hallows WC, Xu J, Vann JM, Leeuwenburgh C, Tanokura M, Denu JM, Prolla TA. Sirt3 mediates reduction of oxidative damage and prevention of age-related hearing loss under caloric restriction. Cell 2010; 143(5): 802-812 [PMID: 21094524 PMCID: 3018849 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.002]

132

36 Kim I, Xu W, Reed JC. Cell death and endoplasmic reticulum stress: disease relevance and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2008; 7(12): 1013-1030 [PMID: 19043451 DOI: 10.1038/nrd2755]

Malhi H, Kaufman RJ. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in liver disease. J Hepatol 2011;
54(4): 795-809 [PMID: 21145844 PMCID: 3375108 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.11.005]

Madec AM, Cassel R, Dubois S, Ducreux S, Vial G, Chauvin MA, Mesnier A, Chikh K, Bosco D, Rieusset J, Van Coppenolle F, Thivolet C. Losartan, an angiotensin II type 1 receptor blocker, protects human islets from glucotoxicity through the phospholipase C pathway. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 2013; 27(12): 5122-5130 [PMID: 24008754 DOI: 10.1096/fj.13-234104]

Liu XM, Peyton KJ, Ensenat D, Wang H, Schafer AI, Alam J, Durante W. Endoplasmic reticulum stress stimulates heme oxygenase-1 gene expression in vascular smooth muscle. Role in cell survival. J Biol Chem 2005; 280(2): 872-877 [PMID: 15546873 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M410413200]

40 Szegezdi E, Fitzgerald U, Samali A. Caspase-12 and ER-stress-mediated apoptosis: the story so far. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 2003; 1010: 186-194 [PMID: 15033718]

Badiola N, Penas C, Minano-Molina A, Barneda-Zahonero B, Fado R, Sanchez-Opazo G, Comella JX, Sabria J, Zhu C, Blomgren K, Casas C, Rodriguez-Alvarez J. Induction of ER stress in response to oxygen-glucose deprivation of cortical cultures involves the activation of the PERK and IRE-1 pathways and of caspase-12. Cell Death Dis 2011; 2: e149 [PMID: 21525936 PMCID: 3122062 DOI: 10.1038/cddis.2011.31]

42 King LA, Toledo AH, Rivera-Chavez FA, Toledo-Pereyra LH. Role of p38 and JNK in liver ischemia and reperfusion. Journal of hepato-biliary-pancreatic surgery 2009; 16(6): 763-770 [PMID: 19680593 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-009-0155-x]

Liao Y, Shikapwashya ON, Shteyer E, Dieckgraefe BK, Hruz PW, Rudnick DA. Delayed hepatocellular mitotic progression and impaired liver regeneration in early growth response-1deficient mice. J Biol Chem 2004; 279(41): 43107-43116 [PMID: 15265859 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M407969200]

44 Campbell JS, Argast GM, Yuen SY, Hayes B, Fausto N. Inactivation of p38 MAPK during liver regeneration. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2011; 43(2): 180-188 [PMID: 20708092 PMCID: 3022113 DOI: 10.1016/j.biocel.2010.08.002]

45 Fausto N, Campbell JS, Riehle KJ. Liver regeneration. J Hepatol 2012; 57(3): 692-694 [PMID: 22613006 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.04.016]

46 Padrissa-Altes S, Franco-Gou R, Boillot O, Serafin A, Rimola A, Arroyo V, Rodes J, Peralta C, Rosello-Catafau J. Effect of angiotensin II and bradykinin inhibition in rat reducedsize liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2009; 15(3): 313-320 [PMID: 19242996 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21693]

133

47 Garcia-Pagan JC, Gracia-Sancho J, Bosch J. Functional aspects on the pathophysiology of portal hypertension in cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2012; 57(2): 458-461 [PMID: 22504334 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.03.007]

48 Morton JJ, Beattie EC, MacPherson F. Angiotensin II receptor antagonist losartan has persistent effects on blood pressure in the young spontaneously hypertensive rat: lack of relation to vascular structure. Journal of vascular research 1992; 29(3): 264-269 [PMID: 1387008]

49 Loria AS, Kang KT, Pollock DM, Pollock JS. Early life stress enhances angiotensin IImediated vasoconstriction by reduced endothelial nitric oxide buffering capacity. Hypertension 2011; 58(4): 619-626 [PMID: 21876076 PMCID: 3754790 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.168674]

50 Park CG, Youn HJ, Chae SC, Yang JY, Kim MH, Hong TJ, Kim CH, Kim JJ, Hong BK, Jeong JW, Park SH, Kwan J, Choi YJ, Cho SY. Evaluation of the dose-response relationship of amlodipine and losartan combination in patients with essential hypertension: an 8-week, randomized, double-blind, factorial, phase II, multicenter study. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 2012; 12(1): 35-47 [PMID: 22217192 DOI: 10.2165/11597170-000000000-00000]

Agasti AK, Mahajan AU, Phadke AY, Nathani PJ, Sawant P. Comparative randomized study on efficacy of losartan versus propranolol in lowering portal pressure in decompensated chronic liver disease. J Dig Dis 2013; 14(5): 266-271 [PMID: 23280243 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12025]

52 Kwon HM, Shin JW, Lim JS, Hong YH, Lee YS, Nam H. Comparison of the effects of amlodipine and losartan on blood pressure and diurnal variation in hypertensive stroke patients: a prospective, randomized, double-blind, comparative parallel study. Clinical therapeutics 2013; 35(12): 1975-1982 [PMID: 24296324 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2013.10.013]

FIGURE LEGENDS

Table 1: Effect of losartan administration in liver injury after ROLT. Alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) in plasma after 24h of reperfusion. Sham: liver harvested without transplantation, ROLT: liver subjected to reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation after 1h of cold storage in University of Wisconsin solution; losartan + ROLT: same as ROLT group, but with further administration of losartan 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient. *P<0.05 vs. Sham, #P<0.05 vs. ROLT

Figure 1: Effect of losartan treatment in SIRT1 protein expression and SIRT1 activity parameters. (A) SIRT1 protein expression, (B) SIRT1 activity, (C) NAD+/NADH levels, (D) NAMPT and (E) ac-FoxO1 protein expression in livers after 24 hours of reperfusion. Sham: liver harvested without transplantation, ROLT: liver subjected to reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation after 1h of cold storage in University of Wisconsin solution; losartan + ROLT: same as ROLT group, but with further administration of losartan 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient. *P<0.05 vs. Sham, #P<0.05 vs. ROLT

Figure 2: Implication of losartan administration in (A) mRNA and (B) protein levels of SIRT3. Sham: liver harvested without transplantation, ROLT: liver subjected to reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation after 1h of cold storage in University of Wisconsin solution; losartan + ROLT: Same as ROLT group, but with further administration of losartan 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient. *P<0.05 vs. Sham

Figure 3: Role of losartan pretreatment in endoplasmic reticulum stress parameters. (A) GRP78, (B) IRE1a, (C) p-elf2 protein levels. Sham: liver harvested without transplantation, ROLT: liver subjected to reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation after 1h of cold storage in University of Wisconsin solution; losartan + ROLT: same as ROLT group, but with further administration of losartan 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient. *P<0.05 vs. Sham, #P<0.05 vs. ROLT

Figure 4: losartan administration regulates heat shock proteins expression. (A) HO-1 and (B) HSP70 protein levels. Sham: liver harvested without transplantation, ROLT: liver subjected to reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation after 1h of cold storage in University of Wisconsin solution; losartan + ROLT: Same as ROLT group, but with further administration of losartan 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient. *P<0.05 vs. Sham, #P<0.05 vs. ROLT

Figure 5: Liver apoptosis in ROLT after losartan treatment. Protein levels of (A) Caspase 12 and (B) Cleaved Caspase 3. Sham: liver harvested without transplantation, ROLT: liver subjected to reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation after 1h of cold storage in University

of Wisconsin solution; losartan + ROLT: Same as ROLT group, but with further administration of losartan 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient. *P<0.05 vs. Sham, #P<0.05 vs. ROLT

Figure 6: MAP kinases modulation by losartan administration. Effect of losartan in (A) p-ERK and (B) p-p38 protein expression. Sham: liver harvested without transplantation, ROLT: liver subjected to reduced-size orthotopic liver transplantation after 1h of cold storage in University of Wisconsin solution; losartan + ROLT: same as ROLT group, but with further administration of losartan 24 hours and 1 hour before the surgical procedure to both the donor and the recipient. *P<0.05 vs. Sham

FIGURES

	sham	ROLT	Losartan + ROLT
ALT (U/L)	48,8 ± 2,58	358,3 ± 133,44 *	206 ± 33,61 ^{*,#}
AST (U/L)	88,2 ± 4,65	893,57 ± 397,69 [*]	500,85 ± 118,07*,#

Table 1













138

5. DISCUSSION

Discussion

5. DISCUSSION

A wide range of pathological processes contribute to IRI. Particularly during organ transplantation, IRI contributes to early graft dysfunction. For this reason, it is important to gain additional mechanistic insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying this injury. Recently, SIRT1 has emerged as a critical modulator of various cellular processes, including those that contribute to the pathogenesis of IRI. Considering the poor evidence of SIRT1 in liver IRI and organ transplantation, here we aimed to identify the potential impact of SIRT1 modulation in various situations of liver IRI, including PC, IRI associated with rat OLT or with ROLT.

5.1. Ischemic preconditioning

In the first study, we explored the role of SIRT1 after 1-hour of warm partial ischemia (70%) followed by 24 hours of reperfusion in steatotic livers. In fact, hepatic steatosis is a major risk factor after liver surgery because steatotic livers show poor tolerance to IRI [282]. Moreover, it has been reported that operative mortality associated with steatosis exceeds 14% after major resection compared to 2% for healthy livers [283, 284]. Therefore, developing protective strategies to minimize the adverse effects of IRI in steatotic livers is an urgent need. In our study, we observed that SIRT1 expression is significantly enhanced after 1 hour of ischemia followed by 24 hours of reperfusion. However, neither its deacetylase activity nor the levels of acetylated p53 have been altered. Various factors seem to be able to modify the activity of the histone deacetylases, including SIRT1, which are not fully clarified. For example, in a similar model of mice warm IRI, it has been reported that the liver histone deacetylase activity decreases after 1 hour of ischemia and after 1 hour of ischemia followed by 1 hour reperfusion. However, it remains unchanged after prolonged times of reperfusion [285]. Thus, we can suggest that the duration of ischemia and reperfusion can affect the activity of histone deacetylases and the conditions of our model (24 hours of reperfusion) cannot favor SIRT1 deacetylation, although the protein levels of SIRT1 are significantly enhanced. Various studies in heart have mentioned the up-regulation of SIRT1 protein expression in various conditions of stress, like oxidative stress, aging and hypoxia/reoxygenation which has been

142
correlated with protection against damage [186, 286]. Thus, in our case we can suggest that enhancement of SIRT1 protein expression could act as a self-compensatory mechanism in order to provide resistance against injury.

As PC is a surgical strategy applied to diminish hepatic IRI, we sought to investigate whether SIRT1 is involved in the protective effect of PC after warm ischemiareperfusion. For this reason, not only we assessed PC prior to ischemia reperfusion, but also we administrated SIRT1 inhibitors, either sirtinol or EX527, prior to PC. Significant increases in SIRT1 deacetylase activity and expression, as well as decreased ac-p53 levels were evident in PC group, which were abolished when SIRT1 inhibitors were applied. Further, application of SIRT1 inhibitors was associated with increased liver injury in comparison to PC group. . Thus, we demonstrated that enhancement of SIRT1 activity is an additional molecular mechanism by which PC diminishes hepatic IRI in fatty livers. However, it remains to be elucidated how PC promotes the deacetylase activity of SIRT1.

Then, we examined the possible mechanisms by which SIRT1 could exert its beneficial effect in PC. PC provoked eNOS and AMPK activation, which were reversed by SIRT1 inhibition. AMPK activation is responsible for maintenance of energy levels during sustained ischemia and eNOS activation contributes to alleviating the microcirculation disturbances which are more exacerbated in fatty livers [110] [103]. Consequently, our study demonstrates that AMPK and eNOS activation are mediated by SIRT1 in fatty liver PC. SIRT1 may activate AMPK through deacetylation of serinethreonine liver kinase B1 (LKB1), provoking its translocation from nucleus to cytoplasm, where it enhances the phosphorylation of Thr172 on the α -subunit of AMPK [287]. Furthermore, it has been shown that SIRT1 and eNOS colocalize in endothelial cells, SIRT1 deacetylates eNOS and thus promotes eNOS activity, which results in enhanced production of NO [213]. Besides this, it has been shown that AMPK can augment SIRT1 activity by augmenting NAD⁺/NADH levels and that eNOS activation has been correlated with SIRT1 increases, providing thus evidence of the existence of a strong correlation between SIRT1-AMPK and SIRT1-eNOS [211, 287, 288]. In addition, eNOS activation by AMPK during PC has also been described in rat LT [110]. In our

case, it has been demonstrated that SIRT1 is upstream of AMPK and eNOS in hepatic PC.

Production of ROS and oxidative stress consist the most important hallmarks of reperfusion injury. In addition, steatotic livers are more vulnerable to oxidative stress due to their reduced antioxidant defenses and augmented generation of ROS [289]. In our study, SIRT1 overexpression and activity during fatty liver PC was associated with diminished oxidative stress. This agrees with previous published studies that have described the effect of SIRT1 against oxidative stress; SIRT1 can deacetylate the FoxO factors, like FoxO1 and subsequently promote their transcriptional activity, resulting in the expression of antioxidants enzymes, like catalase, MnSOD and Trx [188] [290].

In addition, SIRT1 has also been correlated with HSPs; we have shown that inhibition of SIRT1 abolished the HSP70 expression increases during PC. HSP70 gene expression is regulated by the transcription factor heat shock factor 1 (HSF1). Normally, HSF1 is localized in the cytoplasm, but in presence of stress, like ischemia or hypoxia, HSF1 is phosphorylated and translocates to nucleus in order to induce HSP70 transcription [291]. Besides phosphorylation, recently it has been shown that HSF1 transciption activity can also be enhanced by SIRT1 deacetylation [292]. In this way, SIRT1 could favor HSP70 expression and contribute to increase the tolerance of the liver against IRI.

High oxidative stress environments, such as those occuring during ischemiareperfusion, stimulate p38 activation. Phosphorylated p38 has been shown to initiate inflammatory pathways and administration of p38 inhibitor in steatotic livers subjected to ischemia-reperfusion attenuated liver injury [115] [116]. In our case, PC through SIRT1 activation decreased p38 activation, attenuating thus its detrimental effects. In addition to p38, ERK ½ is another MAPK involved in IRI, mainly with anti-apoptotic effect [293]. Activation of ERK was observed after ischemia-reperfusion, which was enhanced when PC was applied. SIRT1 inhibition abolished ERK activation during PC, demonstrating thus that SIRT1 regulates MAPKs activation during PC. However, the exact mechanism by which SIRT1 affects MAPKs has not yet been clarified.

The anti-apoptotic effect of ERK during PC was confirmed by the decreased antiapoptotic markers CytC, Caspase 9 and Caspase 3. SIRT1 inhibition resulted in augmented liver apoptosis, providing thus evidence that SIRT1 contributes to the antiapoptotic effect of hepatic PC. This fact agrees with various reports, where SIRT1 downregulates apoptosis and protects against IRI, through p53 inhibition [245, 294] [188].

In our attempt to investigate the role of SIRT1 in liver PC, we administrated separately two SIRT1 inhibitors, sirtinol and EX527, where EX527 has been shown to be a more specific inhibitor for SIRT1 [295]. In addition, it has been reported that sirtinol can also inhibit human SIRT2 activity in vitro [296] and that inhibition of SIRT2 has been found to be protective [297] [298]. Consequently, the fact that sirtinol treatment failed to reduce completely the protective effect of PC in hepatic injury might be attributed to its combined effect on SIRT2 (potential protective effect) and SIRT1 (detrimental effect). Moreover, the fact that sirtinol administration in a sham group did not provoke any diference in transaminase levels when compared to sham group, discard any other potential positive effect of PC in MAPK kinases and apoptosis implies that additional mechanisms may be involved in the beneficial effects exerted by SIRT1 in fatty liver PC.

5.2. Transplantation models

As we observed that SIRT1 is implicated in the warm liver IRI, we then speculated to investigate the possible SIRT1 alterations in models of transplantation. We observed that in both OLT and ROLT, SIRT1 protein expression is upregulated in comparison to sham group. Besides this, in both cases, the acetylation of FoxO1 was increased, suggesting that SIRT1 deacetylase activity is attenuated. However, measurement of deacetylase activity in the ROLT model showed no changes in SIRT1 activity. These results are similar to those obtained in warm ischemia-reperfusion, providing thus evidence that either warm or cold ischemia-reperfusion result in enhancement of SIRT1 protein expression, but not in activity.

5.2.1. Orthotopic liver transplantation

Our study of SIRT1 implication in OLT was also associated with our examination of whether an IGL-1 preservation solution enriched with TMZ could enhance liver graft viability. First of all, we observed that SIRT1 protein expression levels were significantly augmented in IGL-1+TMZ group in comparison to both untreated and IGL-1 preserved livers. Further, TMZ addition in IGL-1 solution in OLT enhanced SIRT1 activity, as evidenced by significant decreases of both acetylated FoxO1 and p53. TMZ can enhance SIRT1 activity by stimulating NAMPT protein expression and consequently augmenting NAD⁺ levels; NAMPT constitutes an important step in NAD⁺ biosynthesis from nicotinamide and NAD⁺ is essential for SIRT1 activity. TMZ protective effects against IRI have been associated with better preservation of mitochondria and energy metabolism and diminution of oxidative stress and microcirculation disturbances in an "ex-vivo" liver perfusion model [299]. In our case, TMZ addition in the preservation solution diminished mitochondrial damage and oxidative stress and was concomitant with SIRT1 activation; SIRT1 deacetylated FoxO1 and in this way might enhance antioxidant mechanisms. We also demonstrated that TMZ-mediated SIRT1 activation was correlated with stress-related signaling pathways, such as increases in HSP70 and p-ERK protein expression and decreases in p38 activation. Besides this, in order to verify the above effects of SIRT1 in OLT, the addition of a SIRT1 inhibitor/activator should be provided in a future study.

In our study, we related the decreased oxidative stress and the FoxO1 deacetylation with the activation of autophagy. It has been described that SIRT1 can promote autophagy by deacetylating and thus activating FoxO1, which results to increased expression of autophagy-related genes [300]. Autophagy is closely linked with oxidative stress, impaired mitochondrial function and accumulation of protein aggregates [301]. Autophagy can be a way for the elimination of mitochondria that release ROS and apoptotic factors, preventing thus the damage to neighboring mitochondria and the entire cell [302]. Thus, we could suppose that autophagy enhancement due to the presence of TMZ could contribute to decrease the detrimental effects of oxidative stress and maintain cellular homeostasis. Moreover, the addition of an autophagy inhibitor and the study of its potential effect on oxidative

stress and mitochondrial integrity could be essential to clarify the relationship between autophagy and oxidative stress in OLT. Furthermore, as the role of autophagy in the phase of reperfusion remains controversial and the duration of ischemia appears to be a determinant factor for autophagy outcome [303], future studies could examine various times of ischemia and its relationship with the autophagy. In addition, as activation of autophagy can be a cell response for the elimination of unfolded proteins and accumulation of unfolded proteins can provoke ERS [304], it could also be interesting to explore whether autophagy activation in TMZmediated activation of SIRT1 was concomitant with ERS decreases.

5.2.2. Reduced size orthotopic liver transplantation

In the third study of our work, we aimed to investigate whether SIRT1 is altered in a model of ROLT, as well as its potential link with angiotensin II and ERS. Various stimuli, such as ischemia, can potentially cause ER dysfunction/stress, which is characterized by a marked up-regulation of ER chaperones such as GRP78. When ERS is excess and/or prolonged, the initiation of the apoptotic processes is promoted by the activation of caspase-12-dependent pathways; Caspase-12 is located on the ER membrane and is activated only by ER stress [305, 306]. In our study, we observed that inhibition of AT1R resulted in attenuation of ERS and liver apoptosis. This fact agrees with other studies in pancreas and heart demonstrating that the administration of losartan or others AT1R antagonists protect against ERS [307] [269, 308]. Although the intracellular signaling pathway by which angiotensin II induces ERS is not fully elucidated, it has been supposed that AngII might enhance protein synthesis [305]. In our study, we observed that Losartan induced a significant increase of SIRT1 protein expression and activity, and taking into account that SIRT1 has been associated with ERS [309] [254], we can suppose that SIRT1 activation might be an intermediate mechanism between angiotensin II and ER. In addition, SIRT1 could also contribute to diminished apoptosis, as the anti-apoptotic effect of SIRT1 has been demonstrated in our first study related to PC. Besides this, the unchanged mRNA and protein levels of SIRT3 between the animals submitted to ROLT and those pretreated with Losartan prior to ROLT revealed that SIRT3 is not involved in Losartan protective effects.

It is well known that HSPs play essential roles as molecular chaperones facilitating the folding and the intercellular transport of cellular proteins [310]. In addition, due to the fact that various stressful stimuli, such as IRI, increase the intercellular synthesis of HSPs, we then speculated whether HSP70 and HO-1 protein expression could be modified in our model. Indeed, the decreased ERS in case of losartan + ROLT group was concomitant with increased HSP70 protein levels, suggesting thus that HSP70 may contribute to the attenuation of misfolded proteins and thus to reduced ERS. Further, similarly to our previous studies in PC and OLT, HSP70 up-regulation corroborated with SIRT1 increased activity. On the other hand, HO-1 protein levels were enhanced in case of ROLT group, but decreased significantly after losartan treatment. As HO-1 expression has been reported to be attenuated upon stress decreases [311], we may suppose that in case of ROLT, HO-1 levels augmented in a cell attempt to enhance cytoprotective mechanisms and diminish injury, whereas the losartan protective action abolished its activation.

We next investigated whether SIRT1 up-regulation by losartan is concomitant with MAPKs alterations, as occurred in the previous studied models. We observed that pERK and p-p38 protein expression is enhanced and decreased respectively in the same way in both transplant groups. Although MAPKs have been mainly associated with stress responses and apoptosis, they also participate in the intracellular kinase cascades that drive cell cycle progression during liver regeneration. ERK phosphorylation has been clearly shown to lead to DNA replication and promote hepatocyte proliferation [19]. On the other hand, it still remains controversial the effect and the timing of p38 activation [274, 312, 313]. Between the various studies, it has been proposed that p38 is dephosphorylated in the regenerating liver [273]. Moreover, in the same experimental conditions, we have previously observed that losartan does not further enhance liver regeneration when compared to ROLT group [275]. Consequently, we can assume that MAPKs are not regulated in our model, as liver regeneration is not altered. This fact could also lead us to the conclusion that SIRT1 is not related with hepatic regeneration in a ROLT model.

5.3. New perspectives

The present tesis demonstrated that SIRT1 is implicated in the pathophysiology of hepatic IRI and surgical or pharmacological strategies able to enhance its activity can be effective strategies to mitigate the IRI detrimental effects. Besides this, there is poor evidence in the literature concerning the potential role of other members of sirtuins family in IRI. Between them, SIRT3 could be an ideal candidate to explore in future studies, taking into account its correlation with the anti-oxidative defense mechanisms of mitochondria. Indeed, it has been recently reported that deficiency of SIRT3 augments the susceptibility of heart to IRI [253]. Thus, it remains to be proved whether a similar effect can be achieved in liver, as well as the potential underlying mechanisms.

One of the most remarkable foundings demonstrated here is that SIRT1 contributes to increase the resistance of steatotic livers towards IRI. Steatotic livers have been the main point of various investigations, due to the increased rate of obesity in our days, as well as to the shortage of organs for transplantation. For this reason, it is an urgent need the development of strategies that modulate fatty acid metabolism and thus contribute to decrease the susceptibility of steatotic livers towards IRI. In this context, activating SIRT1 and SIRT3 might be a potential strategy to be explored. It has been reported that deletion of hepatic SIRT1 resulted in hepatic steatosis, hepatic inflammation and endoplasmatic reticulum stress [314]. The relevance of SIRT3 in the hepatic metabolism has also been confirmed in a study showing that its overexpression in hepatocytes decreased the accumulation of lipids via AMPK activation [315]. Thus, it would be interesting to examine the role of SIRT1 and SIRT3 in the context of steatotic LT.

6. CONCLUSIONS

6. Conclusions

The conclusions of the present thesis are the following:

- SIRT1 is involved in the protective effects of PC in fatty livers against IRI. SIRT1 activity is enhanced during PC and contributes to increase the activation of eNOS and AMPK, to enhanced HSP70 and p-ERK protein expression and to decreases in p-p38 expression, oxidative stress and liver apoptosis.
- SIRT1 is implicated in OLT, as its enhanced activity has been associated with the beneficial mechanisms of TMZ addition to IGL-1 preservation solution. These include the decreases in mitochondrial damage and oxidative stress, the activation of AMPK, ERK and autophagy and the p-p38 decreases
- SIRT1 is a downstream target of AngII and forms part of the hepato-protective mechanisms exerted by losartan administration in ROLT. SIRT1 enhanced activity by losartan was associated with increased HSP70 expression, decreases in ERS and HO-1 protein expression and in liver apoptosis.

7. **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

7. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Rodés, J., *Textbook of hepatology : from basic science to clinical practice*. 3rd ed. 2007, Malden, Mass.: Blackwell.
- 2. Boyer, T.D., et al., *Zakim and Boyer's hepatology : a textbook of liver disease*. 5th ed. 2006, Edinburgh: Elsevier Saunders.
- 3. Boyer, J.L. and I.M. Arias, *The Liver : biology and pathobiology*. 3rd ed ed. 1994, New York: Raven Press. XXXI, 1628 p.
- 4. Corsini, A. and M. Bortolini, *Drug-induced liver injury: the role of drug metabolism and transport.* J Clin Pharmacol, 2013. **53**(5): p. 463-74.
- 5. Guicciardi, M.E., et al., *Apoptosis and necrosis in the liver*. Compr Physiol, 2013. **3**(2): p. 977-1010.
- Grace, J.A., et al., Update on new aspects of the renin-angiotensin system in liver disease: clinical implications and new therapeutic options. Clin Sci (Lond), 2012. 123(4): p. 225-39.
- Adam, R., et al., Evolution of indications and results of liver transplantation in Europe. A report from the European Liver Transplant Registry (ELTR). J Hepatol, 2012. 57(3): p. 675-88.
- 8. Llado, L. and J. Figueras, *Techniques of orthotopic liver transplantation*. HPB (Oxford), 2004. **6**(2): p. 69-75.
- 9. Clavien, P.A., et al., *Strategies for safer liver surgery and partial liver transplantation*. N Engl J Med, 2007. **356**(15): p. 1545-59.
- 10. Busuttil, R.W. and J.A. Goss, *Split liver transplantation.* Ann Surg, 1999. **229**(3): p. 313-21.
- 11. Adam, R., et al., *Evolution of liver transplantation in Europe: report of the European Liver Transplant Registry*. Liver Transpl, 2003. **9**(12): p. 1231-43.
- 12. Bismuth, H. and D. Houssin, *Reduced-sized orthotopic liver graft in hepatic transplantation in children.* Surgery, 1984. **95**(3): p. 367-70.
- 13. Malago, M., X. Rogiers, and C.E. Broelsch, *Reduced-size hepatic allografts*. Annu Rev Med, 1995. **46**: p. 507-12.
- 14. Broelsch, C.E., et al., *Liver transplantation with reduced-size donor organs*. Transplantation, 1988. **45**(3): p. 519-24.
- 15. Jurim, O., et al., *Reduced-size grafts--the solution for hepatic artery thrombosis after pediatric liver transplantation?* J Pediatr Surg, 1995. **30**(1): p. 53-5.
- 16. Houssin, D., et al., Orthotopic liver transplantation with a reduced-size graft: an ideal compromise in pediatrics? Surgery, 1992. **111**(5): p. 532-42.
- 17. Langnas, A.N., et al., *The results of reduced-size liver transplantation, including split livers, in patients with end-stage liver disease.* Transplantation, 1992. **53**(2): p. 387-91.
- 18. Heriot, A.G. and N.D. Karanjia, *A review of techniques for liver resection*. Ann R Coll Surg Engl, 2002. **84**(6): p. 371-80.
- 19. Fausto, N., J.S. Campbell, and K.J. Riehle, *Liver regeneration.* J Hepatol, 2012. **57**(3): p. 692-4.
- 20. Hotta, S.S. and United States. Agency for Health Care Policy and Research. Office of Health Technology Assessment., *Living related liver transplantation*, in *Health technology review no 13*. 1996, U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, Office of Health Technology Assessment,: Rockville, Md. p. 1 electronic text.
- 21. Strong, R.W., et al., *Successful liver transplantation from a living donor to her son*. N Engl J Med, 1990. **322**(21): p. 1505-7.
- 22. Yang, X., J. Gong, and J. Gong, *The value of living donor liver transplantation*. Ann Transplant, 2012. **17**(4): p. 120-4.

- 23. Kousoulas, L., et al., *Living-donor liver transplantation: impact on donor's healthrelated quality of life.* Transplant Proc, 2011. **43**(10): p. 3584-7.
- Gruttadauria, S., et al., Early regeneration of the remnant liver volume after right hepatectomy for living donation: a multiple regression analysis. Liver Transpl, 2012.
 18(8): p. 907-13.
- 25. Giacomoni, A., et al., Should we still offer split-liver transplantation for two adult recipients? A retrospective study of our experience. Liver Transpl, 2008. **14**(7): p. 999-1006.
- 26. Cardillo, M., et al., *Split and whole liver transplantation outcomes: a comparative cohort study.* Liver Transpl, 2006. **12**(3): p. 402-10.
- 27. Rai, R., *Liver transplantatation- an overview*. Indian J Surg, 2013. **75**(3): p. 185-91.
- 28. Nunez, A., et al., Enlargement of the cadaveric-liver donor pool using in-situ split-liver transplantation despite complex hepatic arterial anatomy. Transplantation, 2003. **76**(7): p. 1134-6.
- 29. Broering, D.C., et al., *Split liver transplantation and risk to the adult recipient: analysis using matched pairs.* J Am Coll Surg, 2002. **195**(5): p. 648-57.
- 30. Hong, J.C., et al., *Longterm outcomes for whole and segmental liver grafts in adult and pediatric liver transplant recipients: a 10-year comparative analysis of 2,988 cases.* J Am Coll Surg, 2009. **208**(5): p. 682-9; discusion 689-91.
- 31. De Carlis, L., et al., *Is the use of marginal donors justified in liver transplantation? Analysis of results and proposal of modern criteria.* Transpl Int, 1996. **9 Suppl 1**: p. S414-7.
- 32. Fishbein, T.M., et al., *Use of livers with microvesicular fat safely expands the donor pool.* Transplantation, 1997. **64**(2): p. 248-51.
- 33. Schlegel, A. and P. Dutkowski, *Role of hypothermic machine perfusion in liver transplantation.* Transpl Int, 2014.
- 34. Burt, A.D., A. Mutton, and C.P. Day, *Diagnosis and interpretation of steatosis and steatohepatitis*. Semin Diagn Pathol, 1998. **15**(4): p. 246-58.
- 35. Selzner, M. and P.A. Clavien, *Fatty liver in liver transplantation and surgery*. Semin Liver Dis, 2001. **21**(1): p. 105-13.
- 36. Alwayn, I.P. and R.J. Porte, *How to make steatotic livers suitable for transplantation*. Liver Transpl, 2007. **13**(4): p. 480-2.
- 37. Serkova, N.J., et al., *Metabolic profiling of livers and blood from obese Zucker rats.* J Hepatol, 2006. **44**(5): p. 956-62.
- 38. Montalvo-Jave, E.E., et al., *Role of ischemic preconditioning in liver surgery and hepatic transplantation.* J Gastrointest Surg, 2009. **13**(11): p. 2074-83.
- 39. Alchera, E., et al., *Molecular mechanisms of liver preconditioning.* World J Gastroenterol, 2010. **16**(48): p. 6058-67.
- 40. Abu-Amara, M., et al., *Liver ischemia/reperfusion injury: processes in inflammatory networks--a review.* Liver Transpl, 2010. **16**(9): p. 1016-32.
- 41. Gurusamy, K.S., et al., *Methods of vascular occlusion for elective liver resections*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2009(1): p. CD007632.
- 42. Ramalho, F.S., et al., *Hepatic microcirculatory failure*. Acta Cir Bras, 2006. **21 Suppl 1**: p. 48-53.
- 43. Kalogeris, T., Y. Bao, and R.J. Korthuis, *Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species: a double edged sword in ischemia/reperfusion vs preconditioning.* Redox Biol, 2014. **2**: p. 702-14.
- 44. Massip-Salcedo, M., et al., *The response of the hepatocyte to ischemia*. Liver Int, 2007. **27**(1): p. 6-16.
- 45. Iniguez, M., et al., *Novel pharmacologic strategies to protect the liver from ischemiareperfusion injury.* Recent Pat Cardiovasc Drug Discov, 2008. **3**(1): p. 9-18.

- 46. Glantzounis, G.K., et al., *The contemporary role of antioxidant therapy in attenuating liver ischemia-reperfusion injury: a review.* Liver Transpl, 2005. **11**(9): p. 1031-47.
- 47. Andrukhiv, A., et al., Opening mitoKATP increases superoxide generation from complex I of the electron transport chain. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2006. **291**(5): p. H2067-74.
- 48. Jaeschke, H., et al., *Complement activates Kupffer cells and neutrophils during reperfusion after hepatic ischemia.* Am J Physiol, 1993. **264**(4 Pt 1): p. G801-9.
- 49. Jaeschke, H. and B.L. Woolbright, *Current strategies to minimize hepatic ischemia*reperfusion injury by targeting reactive oxygen species. Transplant Rev (Orlando), 2012. **26**(2): p. 103-14.
- 50. Datta, G., B.J. Fuller, and B.R. Davidson, *Molecular mechanisms of liver ischemia* reperfusion injury: Insights from transgenic knockout models. World J Gastroenterol, 2013

19(11): p. 1683-98.

- 51. Guan, L.Y., et al., *Mechanisms of hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury and protective effects of nitric oxide*. World J Gastrointest Surg, 2014. **6**(7): p. 122-8.
- 52. Cuzzocrea, S. and R.J. Reiter, *Pharmacological action of melatonin in shock, inflammation and ischemia/reperfusion injury.* Eur J Pharmacol, 2001. **426**(1-2): p. 1-10.
- 53. Reiter, R.J., et al., *Free radical-mediated molecular damage. Mechanisms for the protective actions of melatonin in the central nervous system.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2001. **939**: p. 200-15.
- 54. Sener, G., et al., *Melatonin and N-acetylcysteine have beneficial effects during hepatic ischemia and reperfusion*. Life Sci, 2003. **72**(24): p. 2707-18.
- 55. Lemasters, J.J., et al., *Role of mitochondrial inner membrane permeabilization in necrotic cell death, apoptosis, and autophagy.* Antioxid Redox Signal, 2002. **4**(5): p. 769-81.
- 56. Arai, M., et al., Blood coagulation in the hepatic sinusoids as a contributing factor in liver injury following orthotopic liver transplantation in the rat. Transplantation, 1996.
 62(10): p. 1398-401.
- 57. Casillas-Ramirez, A., et al., *Past and future approaches to ischemia-reperfusion lesion associated with liver transplantation.* Life Sci, 2006. **79**(20): p. 1881-94.
- 58. Zaouali, M.A., et al., *Hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha accumulation in steatotic liver preservation: role of nitric oxide.* World J Gastroenterol, 2010. **16**(28): p. 3499-509.
- 59. Ben Abdennebi, H., et al., *How to protect liver graft with nitric oxide.* World J Gastroenterol, 2011. **17**(24): p. 2879-89.
- 60. Bzeizi, K.I., et al., *Primary graft dysfunction after liver transplantation: from pathogenesis to prevention.* Liver Transpl Surg, 1997. **3**(2): p. 137-48.
- 61. Malhi, H., G.J. Gores, and J.J. Lemasters, *Apoptosis and necrosis in the liver: a tale of two deaths?* Hepatology, 2006. **43**(2 Suppl 1): p. S31-44.
- 62. Jaeschke, H. and J.J. Lemasters, *Apoptosis versus oncotic necrosis in hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury.* Gastroenterology, 2003. **125**(4): p. 1246-57.
- 63. Yin, X.M., W.X. Ding, and W. Gao, *Autophagy in the liver*. Hepatology, 2008. **47**(5): p. 1773-85.
- 64. Inoki, K., J. Kim, and K.L. Guan, *AMPK and mTOR in cellular energy homeostasis and drug targets.* Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 2012. **52**: p. 381-400.
- 65. Klionsky, D.J., *The molecular machinery of autophagy: unanswered questions*. J Cell Sci, 2005. **118**(Pt 1): p. 7-18.
- Takagi, H., Y. Matsui, and J. Sadoshima, *The role of autophagy in mediating cell survival and death during ischemia and reperfusion in the heart*. Antioxid Redox Signal, 2007.
 9(9): p. 1373-81.

- 67. Ma, S., et al., *The role of the autophagy in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2015. **1852**(2): p. 271-276.
- 68. Hoshino, A., et al., *p53-TIGAR axis attenuates mitophagy to exacerbate cardiac damage after ischemia.* J Mol Cell Cardiol, 2012. **52**(1): p. 175-84.
- 69. Matsui, Y., et al., Distinct roles of autophagy in the heart during ischemia and reperfusion: roles of AMP-activated protein kinase and Beclin 1 in mediating autophagy. Circ Res, 2007. **100**(6): p. 914-22.
- 70. Brady, N.R., et al., *The autophagic response to nutrient deprivation in the hl-1 cardiac myocyte is modulated by Bcl-2 and sarco/endoplasmic reticulum calcium stores.* FEBS J, 2007. **274**(12): p. 3184-97.
- 71. Pattingre, S., et al., *Bcl-2 antiapoptotic proteins inhibit Beclin 1-dependent autophagy.* Cell, 2005. **122**(6): p. 927-39.
- 72. Zaouali, M.A., et al., *Polyethylene glycol rinse solution: An effective way to prevent ischemia-reperfusion injury.* World J Gastroenterol, 2014. **20**(43): p. 16203-14.
- 73. Kim, I., W. Xu, and J.C. Reed, *Cell death and endoplasmic reticulum stress: disease relevance and therapeutic opportunities.* Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2008. **7**(12): p. 1013-30.
- 74. Xu, C., B. Bailly-Maitre, and J.C. Reed, *Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions*. J Clin Invest, 2005. **115**(10): p. 2656-64.
- 75. Ye, J., et al., *ER stress induces cleavage of membrane-bound ATF6 by the same proteases that process SREBPs.* Mol Cell, 2000. **6**(6): p. 1355-64.
- 76. Mosbah, I.B., et al., *IGL-1 solution reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in rat liver transplantation.* Cell Death Dis, 2012. **3**: p. e279.
- McCullough, K.D., et al., Gadd153 sensitizes cells to endoplasmic reticulum stress by down-regulating Bcl2 and perturbing the cellular redox state. Mol Cell Biol, 2001.
 21(4): p. 1249-59.
- 78. Ji, C., Dissection of endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling in alcoholic and nonalcoholic liver injury. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2008. **23 Suppl 1**: p. S16-24.
- 79. Zaouali, M.A., et al., *Pharmacological strategies against cold ischemia reperfusion injury*. Expert Opin Pharmacother, 2010. **11**(4): p. 537-55.
- 80. Emadali, A., et al., *Distinct endoplasmic reticulum stress responses are triggered during human liver transplantation.* J Pathol, 2005. **207**(1): p. 111-8.
- 81. Koh, S.L., E.I. Ager, and C. Christophi, *Liver regeneration and tumour stimulation: implications of the renin-angiotensin system*. Liver Int, 2010. **30**(10): p. 1414-26.
- 82. Paul, M., A. Poyan Mehr, and R. Kreutz, *Physiology of local renin-angiotensin systems*. Physiol Rev, 2006. **86**(3): p. 747-803.
- 83. Kobori, H., et al., *The intrarenal renin-angiotensin system: from physiology to the pathobiology of hypertension and kidney disease.* Pharmacol Rev, 2007. **59**(3): p. 251-87.
- 84. Fujiyama, S., et al., Angiotensin AT(1) and AT(2) receptors differentially regulate angiopoietin-2 and vascular endothelial growth factor expression and angiogenesis by modulating heparin binding-epidermal growth factor (EGF)-mediated EGF receptor transactivation. Circ Res, 2001. **88**(1): p. 22-9.
- 85. Bataller, R., et al., *Prolonged infusion of angiotensin II into normal rats induces stellate cell activation and proinflammatory events in liver.* Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2003. **285**(3): p. G642-51.
- 86. Bataller, R., et al., *NADPH oxidase signal transduces angiotensin II in hepatic stellate cells and is critical in hepatic fibrosis.* J Clin Invest, 2003. **112**(9): p. 1383-94.
- 87. Yang, Y.Y., et al., *Involvement of the HIF-1alpha and Wnt/beta-catenin pathways in the protective effects of losartan on fatty liver graft with ischaemia/reperfusion injury.* Clin Sci (Lond), 2014. **126**(2): p. 163-74.
- 88. Terui, Y., et al., *Effect of angiotensin receptor antagonist on liver fibrosis in early stages* of chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology, 2002. **36**(4 Pt 1): p. 1022.

- 89. Guo, L., et al., *Role of the renin-angiotensin system in hepatic ischemia reperfusion injury in rats.* Hepatology, 2004. **40**(3): p. 583-9.
- 90. Casillas-Ramirez, A., et al., *Inhibition of angiotensin II action protects rat steatotic livers against ischemia-reperfusion injury.* Crit Care Med, 2008. **36**(4): p. 1256-66.
- 91. De, B.K., et al., *Portal pressure response to losartan compared with propranolol in patients with cirrhosis.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2003. **98**(6): p. 1371-6.
- 92. Yokohama, S., et al., *Therapeutic efficacy of an angiotensin II receptor antagonist in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis.* Hepatology, 2004. **40**(5): p. 1222-5.
- 93. Carini, R. and E. Albano, *Recent insights on the mechanisms of liver preconditioning.* Gastroenterology, 2003. **125**(5): p. 1480-91.
- 94. Peralta, C., et al., *Hepatic preconditioning in rats is defined by a balance of adenosine and xanthine.* Hepatology, 1998. **28**(3): p. 768-73.
- 95. Grande, L., J. Rosello-Catafau, and C. Peralta, *[Ischemic preconditioning of the liver: from molecular bases to clinical application].* Cir Esp, 2006. **80**(5): p. 275-82.
- 96. Yellon, D.M. and A. Dana, *The preconditioning phenomenon: A tool for the scientist or a clinical reality?* Circ Res, 2000. **87**(7): p. 543-50.
- 97. Yu, S.Y., et al., *Preconditioned hyperbaric oxygenation protects the liver against ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats.* J Surg Res, 2005. **128**(1): p. 28-36.
- 98. Matsumoto, K., K. Honda, and N. Kobayashi, Protective effect of heat preconditioning of rat liver graft resulting in improved transplant survival. Transplantation, 2001. 71(7): p. 862-8.
- 99. Ito, K., et al., *Doxorubicin preconditioning: a protection against rat hepatic ischemiareperfusion injury.* Hepatology, 2000. **31**(2): p. 416-9.
- Lai, I.R., et al., Pharmacological preconditioning with simvastatin protects liver from ischemia-reperfusion injury by heme oxygenase-1 induction. Transplantation, 2008.
 85(5): p. 732-8.
- 101. Carini, R., et al., *Signal pathway involved in the development of hypoxic preconditioning in rat hepatocytes.* Hepatology, 2001. **33**(1): p. 131-9.
- 102. Teoh, N., A. Dela Pena, and G. Farrell, *Hepatic ischemic preconditioning in mice is associated with activation of NF-kappaB, p38 kinase, and cell cycle entry.* Hepatology, 2002. **36**(1): p. 94-102.
- 103. Peralta, C., et al., Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase mediates the protective effects of ischemic preconditioning on hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat. Hepatology, 2001. **34**(6): p. 1164-73.
- 104. Carini, R., et al., *Purinergic P2Y2 receptors promote hepatocyte resistance to hypoxia.* J Hepatol, 2006. **45**(2): p. 236-45.
- 105. Peralta, C., et al., *Liver ischemic preconditioning is mediated by the inhibitory action of nitric oxide on endothelin.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1996. **229**(1): p. 264-70.
- 106. Koti, R.S., et al., *Effect of ischemic preconditioning on hepatic microcirculation and function in a rat model of ischemia reperfusion injury.* Liver Transpl, 2002. **8**(12): p. 1182-91.
- 107. Peralta, C., et al., *Strategies to modulate the deleterious effects of endothelin in hepatic ischemia-reperfusion*. Transplantation, 2000. **70**(12): p. 1761-70.
- 108. Koti, R.S., et al., *Nitric oxide synthase distribution and expression with ischemic preconditioning of the rat liver.* FASEB J, 2005. **19**(9): p. 1155-7.
- 109. Serafin, A., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning affects interleukin release in fatty livers of rats undergoing ischemia/reperfusion.* Hepatology, 2004. **39**(3): p. 688-98.
- 110. Carrasco-Chaumel, E., et al., *Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase and nitric oxide in rat steatotic liver transplantation.* J Hepatol, 2005. **43**(6): p. 997-1006.
- 111. Franco-Gou, R., et al., *How ischaemic preconditioning protects small liver grafts.* J Pathol, 2006. **208**(1): p. 62-73.

- 112. King, L.A., et al., *Role of p38 and JNK in liver ischemia and reperfusion*. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg, 2009. **16**(6): p. 763-70.
- 113. Armstrong, S.C., *Protein kinase activation and myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury.* Cardiovasc Res, 2004. **61**(3): p. 427-36.
- 114. Ono, K. and J. Han, *The p38 signal transduction pathway: activation and function.* Cell Signal, 2000. **12**(1): p. 1-13.
- 115. Kaminska, B., *MAPK signalling pathways as molecular targets for anti-inflammatory therapy--from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic benefits.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2005. **1754**(1-2): p. 253-62.
- 116. Massip-Salcedo, M., et al., Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptoralpha inhibits the injurious effects of adiponectin in rat steatotic liver undergoing ischemia-reperfusion. Hepatology, 2008. **47**(2): p. 461-72.
- 117. Hausenloy, D.J., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning protects by activating prosurvival kinases at reperfusion.* Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2005. **288**(2): p. H971-6.
- 118. Didelot, C., et al., *Heat shock proteins: endogenous modulators of apoptotic cell death.* Handb Exp Pharmacol, 2006(172): p. 171-98.
- 119. Bauer, M. and I. Bauer, *Heme oxygenase-1: redox regulation and role in the hepatic response to oxidative stress.* Antioxid Redox Signal, 2002. **4**(5): p. 749-58.
- 120. Uchinami, H., et al., *Effect of heat shock preconditioning on NF-kappaB/I-kappaB pathway during I/R injury of the rat liver.* Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2002. **282**(6): p. G962-71.
- 121. Kume, M., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning of the liver in rats: implications of heat shock protein induction to increase tolerance of ischemia-reperfusion injury.* J Lab Clin Med, 1996. **128**(3): p. 251-8.
- Massip-Salcedo, M., et al., *Heat shock proteins and mitogen-activated protein kinases in steatotic livers undergoing ischemia-reperfusion: some answers*. Am J Pathol, 2006.
 168(5): p. 1474-85.
- 123. Sakamoto, T., et al., *Mitosis and apoptosis in the liver of interleukin-6-deficient mice after partial hepatectomy.* Hepatology, 1999. **29**(2): p. 403-11.
- Hirano, T., et al., *Biological and clinical aspects of interleukin 6.* Immunol Today, 1990.
 11(12): p. 443-9.
- 125. Cressman, D.E., et al., *Liver failure and defective hepatocyte regeneration in interleukin-6-deficient mice*. Science, 1996. **274**(5291): p. 1379-83.
- 126. Fukada, T., et al., STAT3 orchestrates contradictory signals in cytokine-induced G1 to S cell-cycle transition. EMBO J, 1998. **17**(22): p. 6670-7.
- 127. Shen, Y., et al., Constitutively activated Stat3 protects fibroblasts from serum withdrawal and UV-induced apoptosis and antagonizes the proapoptotic effects of activated Stat1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(4): p. 1543-8.
- 128. Matsumoto, T., et al., Interleukin-6 and STAT3 protect the liver from hepatic ischemia and reperfusion injury during ischemic preconditioning. Surgery, 2006. **140**(5): p. 793-802.
- 129. Yadav, S.S., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning protects the mouse liver by inhibition of apoptosis through a caspase-dependent pathway.* Hepatology, 1999. **30**(5): p. 1223-31.
- 130. Izuishi, K., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning of the murine liver protects through the Akt kinase pathway.* Hepatology, 2006. **44**(3): p. 573-80.
- Cavalieri, B., et al., Ischemic preconditioning attenuates the oxidant-dependent mechanisms of reperfusion cell damage and death in rat liver. Liver Transpl, 2002. 8(11): p. 990-9.
- 132. Macedo, F.I. and L.E. Miranda, *Role of ischemic preconditioning in liver transplant: a review of literature.* Exp Clin Transplant, 2010. **8**(1): p. 1-3.

- 133. Yadav, S.S., et al., *P-Selectin mediates reperfusion injury through neutrophil and platelet sequestration in the warm ischemic mouse liver.* Hepatology, 1999. **29**(5): p. 1494-502.
- 134. Sawaya, D.E., Jr., et al., *The role of ischemic preconditioning in the recruitment of rolling and adherent leukocytes in hepatic venules after ischemia/reperfusion.* J Surg Res, 1999. **85**(1): p. 163-70.
- 135. Peralta, C., et al., *The combination of ischemic preconditioning and liver Bcl-2 overexpression is a suitable strategy to prevent liver and lung damage after hepatic ischemia-reperfusion*. Am J Pathol, 2002. **160**(6): p. 2111-22.
- 136. Serafin, A., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning increases the tolerance of Fatty liver to hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat.* Am J Pathol, 2002. **161**(2): p. 587-601.
- 137. Rolo, A.P., et al., *Prevention of I/R injury in fatty livers by ischemic preconditioning is associated with increased mitochondrial tolerance: the key role of ATPsynthase and mitochondrial permeability transition.* Transpl Int, 2009. **22**(11): p. 1081-90.
- 138. Fernandez, L., et al., *Is ischemic preconditioning a useful strategy in steatotic liver transplantation?* Am J Transplant, 2004. **4**(6): p. 888-99.
- 139. Nuzzo, G., et al., *Pedicle clamping with ischemic preconditioning in liver resection*. Liver Transpl, 2004. **10**(2 Suppl 1): p. S53-7.
- 140. Li, S.Q., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning protects liver from hepatectomy under hepatic inflow occlusion for hepatocellular carcinoma patients with cirrhosis.* World J Gastroenterol, 2004. **10**(17): p. 2580-4.
- 141. Heizmann, O., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning improves postoperative outcome after liver resections: a randomized controlled study.* Eur J Med Res, 2008. **13**(2): p. 79-86.
- 142. Clavien, P.A., et al., A prospective randomized study in 100 consecutive patients undergoing major liver resection with versus without ischemic preconditioning. Ann Surg, 2003. **238**(6): p. 843-50; discussion 851-2.
- 143. Winbladh, A., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning prior to intermittent Pringle maneuver in liver resections.* J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci, 2012. **19**(2): p. 159-70.
- 144. Scatton, O., et al., *Randomized clinical trial of ischaemic preconditioning in major liver resection with intermittent Pringle manoeuvre*. Br J Surg, 2011. **98**(9): p. 1236-43.
- 145. Ye, B., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning provides no additive clinical value in liver resection of cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic patients under portal triad clamping: a prospective randomized controlled trial.* Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol, 2014. **38**(4): p. 467-74.
- 146. Amador, A., et al., *Ischemic pre-conditioning in deceased donor liver transplantation: a prospective randomized clinical trial.* Am J Transplant, 2007. **7**(9): p. 2180-9.
- 147. Degli Esposti, D., et al., *Ischemic preconditioning induces autophagy and limits necrosis in human recipients of fatty liver grafts, decreasing the incidence of rejection episodes.* Cell Death Dis, 2011. **2**: p. e111.
- 148. Azoulay, D., et al., Effects of 10 minutes of ischemic preconditioning of the cadaveric liver on the graft's preservation and function: the ying and the yang. Ann Surg, 2005.
 242(1): p. 133-9.
- 149. Koneru, B., et al., *The ischemic preconditioning paradox in deceased donor liver transplantation-evidence from a prospective randomized single blind clinical trial.* Am J Transplant, 2007. **7**(12): p. 2788-96.
- 150. Bejaoui, M., et al., *Emerging concepts in liver graft preservation*. World J Gastroenterol, 2015. **21**(2): p. 396-407.
- 151. Guibert, E.E., et al., Organ Preservation: Current Concepts and New Strategies for the Next Decade. Transfus Med Hemother, 2011. **38**(2): p. 125-142.
- 152. Muhlbacher, F., F. Langer, and C. Mittermayer, *Preservation solutions for transplantation*. Transplant Proc, 1999. **31**(5): p. 2069-70.

- 153. Ar'Rajab, A., et al., *The function of a colloid in liver cold-storage preservation*. Transplantation, 1991. **52**(1): p. 34-8.
- 154. Morariu, A.M., et al., Hyperaggregating effect of hydroxyethyl starch components and University of Wisconsin solution on human red blood cells: a risk of impaired graft perfusion in organ procurement? Transplantation, 2003. **76**(1): p. 37-43.
- 155. Ramella-Virieux, S.G., et al., *Nifedipine improves recovery function of kidneys preserved in a high-sodium, low-potassium cold-storage solution: study with the isolated perfused rat kidney technique.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 1997. **12**(3): p. 449-55.
- 156. Codas, R., et al., *IGL-1 solution in kidney transplantation: first multi-center study.* Clin Transplant, 2009. **23**(3): p. 337-42.
- 157. Wiederkehr, J.C., et al., *Use of IGL-1 preservation solution in liver transplantation*. Transplant Proc, 2014. **46**(6): p. 1809-11.
- 158. Ben Abdennebi, H., et al., *Evaluation of IGL-1 preservation solution using an orthotopic liver transplantation model.* World J Gastroenterol, 2006. **12**(33): p. 5326-30.
- 159. Franco-Gou, R., et al., *New preservation strategies for preventing liver grafts against cold ischemia reperfusion injury.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2007. **22**(7): p. 1120-6.
- 160. Ben Mosbah, I., et al., *Preservation of steatotic livers in IGL-1 solution*. Liver Transpl, 2006. **12**(8): p. 1215-23.
- 161. Nakagawa, T. and L. Guarente, *Sirtuins at a glance*. J Cell Sci, 2011. **124**(Pt 6): p. 833-8.
- 162. Cohen, H.Y., et al., *Calorie restriction promotes mammalian cell survival by inducing the SIRT1 deacetylase.* Science, 2004. **305**(5682): p. 390-2.
- 163. Rodgers, J.T., et al., *Nutrient control of glucose homeostasis through a complex of PGC-1alpha and SIRT1*. Nature, 2005. **434**(7029): p. 113-8.
- Morris, K.C., et al., Pathways for ischemic cytoprotection: role of sirtuins in caloric restriction, resveratrol, and ischemic preconditioning. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2011.
 31(4): p. 1003-19.
- 165. Nogueiras, R., et al., Sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3: physiological modulators of metabolism. Physiol Rev, 2012. **92**(3): p. 1479-514.
- 166. Pillarisetti, S., *A review of Sirt1 and Sirt1 modulators in cardiovascular and metabolic diseases.* Recent Pat Cardiovasc Drug Discov, 2008. **3**(3): p. 156-64.
- 167. Gorenne, I., et al., *Vascular smooth muscle cell sirtuin 1 protects against DNA damage and inhibits atherosclerosis.* Circulation, 2013. **127**(3): p. 386-96.
- 168. Suchankova, G., et al., *Concurrent regulation of AMP-activated protein kinase and SIRT1 in mammalian cells.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2009. **378**(4): p. 836-41.
- 169. Lempiainen, J., et al., *AMPK activator AICAR ameliorates ischaemia reperfusion injury in the rat kidney.* Br J Pharmacol, 2012. **166**(6): p. 1905-15.
- 170. Della-Morte, D., et al., *Resveratrol pretreatment protects rat brain from cerebral ischemic damage via a sirtuin 1-uncoupling protein 2 pathway*. Neuroscience, 2009. **159**(3): p. 993-1002.
- 171. Dioum, E.M., et al., *Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha signaling by the stress-responsive deacetylase sirtuin 1.* Science, 2009. **324**(5932): p. 1289-93.
- 172. Lim, J.H., et al., Sirtuin 1 modulates cellular responses to hypoxia by deacetylating hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. Mol Cell, 2010. **38**(6): p. 864-78.
- 173. Majmundar, A.J., W.J. Wong, and M.C. Simon, *Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress.* Mol Cell, 2010. **40**(2): p. 294-309.
- 174. Zhong, L., et al., *The histone deacetylase Sirt6 regulates glucose homeostasis via Hif1alpha*. Cell, 2010. **140**(2): p. 280-93.
- 175. Bell, E.L., et al., *SirT3 suppresses hypoxia inducible factor 1alpha and tumor growth by inhibiting mitochondrial ROS production.* Oncogene, 2011. **30**(26): p. 2986-96.
- 176. Finley, L.W., et al., *SIRT3 opposes reprogramming of cancer cell metabolism through HIF1alpha destabilization.* Cancer Cell, 2011. **19**(3): p. 416-28.

- 177. Nemoto, S., M.M. Fergusson, and T. Finkel, SIRT1 functionally interacts with the metabolic regulator and transcriptional coactivator PGC-1{alpha}. J Biol Chem, 2005. 280(16): p. 16456-60.
- 178. Chen, S.D., et al., Protective effects of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors gamma coactivator-1alpha against neuronal cell death in the hippocampal CA1 subfield after transient global ischemia. J Neurosci Res, 2010. **88**(3): p. 605-13.
- 179. St-Pierre, J., et al., Suppression of reactive oxygen species and neurodegeneration by the PGC-1 transcriptional coactivators. Cell, 2006. **127**(2): p. 397-408.
- 180. Shin, J.A., et al., *Acute resveratrol treatment modulates multiple signaling pathways in the ischemic brain.* Neurochem Res, 2012. **37**(12): p. 2686-96.
- 181. Mattiasson, G., et al., Uncoupling protein-2 prevents neuronal death and diminishes brain dysfunction after stroke and brain trauma. Nat Med, 2003. **9**(8): p. 1062-8.
- 182. McLeod, C.J., et al., Uncoupling proteins 2 and 3 function in concert to augment tolerance to cardiac ischemia. J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(39): p. 33470-6.
- 183. Bodyak, N., et al., *Uncoupling protein 2 modulates cell viability in adult rat cardiomyocytes.* Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2007. **293**(1): p. H829-35.
- 184. de Bilbao, F., et al., *Resistance to cerebral ischemic injury in UCP2 knockout mice:* evidence for a role of UCP2 as a regulator of mitochondrial glutathione levels. J Neurochem, 2004. **89**(5): p. 1283-92.
- 185. Czubkowski, P., P. Socha, and J. Pawlowska, *Oxidative stress in liver transplant recipients*. Ann Transplant, 2011. **16**(1): p. 99-108.
- 186. Alcendor, R.R., et al., *Sirt1 regulates aging and resistance to oxidative stress in the heart.* Circ Res, 2007. **100**(10): p. 1512-21.
- 187. Vinciguerra, M., et al., *mIGF-1/JNK1/SirT1* signaling confers protection against oxidative stress in the heart. Aging Cell, 2011. **11**(1): p. 139-49.
- 188. Hsu, C.P., et al., *Silent information regulator 1 protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion.* Circulation, 2010. **122**(21): p. 2170-82.
- 189. Daitoku, H., et al., Silent information regulator 2 potentiates Foxo1-mediated transcription through its deacetylase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(27): p. 10042-7.
- 190. Hasegawa, K., et al., *Kidney-specific overexpression of Sirt1 protects against acute kidney injury by retaining peroxisome function.* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(17): p. 13045-56.
- 191. Lombard, D.B., et al., *Mammalian Sir2 homolog SIRT3 regulates global mitochondrial lysine acetylation*. Mol Cell Biol, 2007. **27**(24): p. 8807-14.
- 192. Chen, Y., et al., *Tumour suppressor SIRT3 deacetylates and activates manganese superoxide dismutase to scavenge ROS.* EMBO Rep, 2011. **12**(6): p. 534-41.
- 193. Qiu, X., et al., *Calorie restriction reduces oxidative stress by SIRT3-mediated SOD2 activation.* Cell Metab, 2010. **12**(6): p. 662-7.
- 194. Zhao, S., et al., *Regulation of cellular metabolism by protein lysine acetylation*. Science, 2010. **327**(5968): p. 1000-4.
- 195. Someya, S., et al., *Sirt3 mediates reduction of oxidative damage and prevention of agerelated hearing loss under caloric restriction.* Cell, 2010. **143**(5): p. 802-12.
- 196. Choudhary, C., et al., *Lysine acetylation targets protein complexes and co-regulates major cellular functions.* Science, 2009. **325**(5942): p. 834-40.
- 197. Palacios, O.M., et al., *Diet and exercise signals regulate SIRT3 and activate AMPK and PGC-1alpha in skeletal muscle*. Aging (Albany NY), 2009. **1**(9): p. 771-83.
- Sundaresan, N.R., et al., Sirt3 blocks the cardiac hypertrophic response by augmenting Foxo3a-dependent antioxidant defense mechanisms in mice. J Clin Invest, 2009. 119(9): p. 2758-71.

- 199. Jacobs, K.M., et al., SIRT3 interacts with the daf-16 homolog FOXO3a in the mitochondria, as well as increases FOXO3a dependent gene expression. Int J Biol Sci, 2008. **4**(5): p. 291-9.
- 200. Kong, X., et al., *Sirtuin 3, a new target of PGC-1alpha, plays an important role in the suppression of ROS and mitochondrial biogenesis.* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(7): p. e11707.
- 201. Sanderson, T.H., et al., *Molecular mechanisms of ischemia-reperfusion injury in brain: pivotal role of the mitochondrial membrane potential in reactive oxygen species generation.* Mol Neurobiol, 2013. **47**(1): p. 9-23.
- 202. Andrews, D.T., C. Royse, and A.G. Royse, *The mitochondrial permeability transition* pore and its role in anaesthesia-triggered cellular protection during ischaemia-reperfusion injury. Anaesth Intensive Care, 2012. **40**(1): p. 46-70.
- 203. Halestrap, A.P., *Calcium, mitochondria and reperfusion injury: a pore way to die.* Biochem Soc Trans, 2006. **34**(Pt 2): p. 232-7.
- 204. Halestrap, A.P., S.J. Clarke, and S.A. Javadov, *Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening during myocardial reperfusion--a target for cardioprotection*. Cardiovasc Res, 2004. **61**(3): p. 372-85.
- 205. Shahzad, T., et al., *Mechanisms involved in postconditioning protection of cardiomyocytes against acute reperfusion injury.* J Mol Cell Cardiol, 2013. **58**: p. 209-16.
- Hafner, A.V., et al., Regulation of the mPTP by SIRT3-mediated deacetylation of CypD at lysine 166 suppresses age-related cardiac hypertrophy. Aging (Albany NY), 2010.
 2(12): p. 914-23.
- 207. Ahuja, N., et al., *Regulation of insulin secretion by SIRT4, a mitochondrial ADP-ribosyltransferase.* J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(46): p. 33583-92.
- 208. Schlicker, C., et al., Substrates and regulation mechanisms for the human mitochondrial sirtuins Sirt3 and Sirt5. J Mol Biol, 2008. **382**(3): p. 790-801.
- 209. Eltzschig, H.K. and C.D. Collard, *Vascular ischaemia and reperfusion injury*. Br Med Bull, 2004. **70**: p. 71-86.
- 210. Schmitt, C.A., E.H. Heiss, and V.M. Dirsch, *Effect of resveratrol on endothelial cell function: Molecular mechanisms.* Biofactors, 2010. **36**(5): p. 342-9.
- 211. Ota, H., et al., *SIRT1/eNOS axis as a potential target against vascular senescence, dysfunction and atherosclerosis.* J Atheroscler Thromb, 2010. **17**(5): p. 431-5.
- 212. Donato, A.J., et al., *SIRT-1 and vascular endothelial dysfunction with ageing in mice and humans*. J Physiol, 2011. **589**(Pt 18): p. 4545-54.
- 213. Mattagajasingh, I., et al., *SIRT1 promotes endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation by activating endothelial nitric oxide synthase.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(37): p. 14855-60.
- 214. Nadtochiy, S.M., et al., *SIRT1-mediated acute cardioprotection*. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2011. **301**(4): p. H1506-12.
- 215. Dong, W., et al., *Resveratrol ameliorates subacute intestinal ischemia-reperfusion injury*. J Surg Res, 2013.
- 216. Liu, J.C., et al., *Inhibition of cyclic strain-induced endothelin-1 gene expression by resveratrol.* Hypertension, 2003. **42**(6): p. 1198-205.
- 217. Zou, J.G., et al., *Effect of red wine and wine polyphenol resveratrol on endothelial function in hypercholesterolemic rabbits.* Int J Mol Med, 2003. **11**(3): p. 317-20.
- Liu, Z., et al., Effects of trans-resveratrol on hypertension-induced cardiac hypertrophy using the partially nephrectomized rat model. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol, 2005.
 32(12): p. 1049-54.
- Yang, J., et al., Effects of resveratrol on NO secretion stimulated by insulin and its dependence on SIRT1 in high glucose cultured endothelial cells. Endocrine, 2010. 37(2): p. 365-72.

- 220. Fondevila, C., R.W. Busuttil, and J.W. Kupiec-Weglinski, *Hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury--a fresh look.* Exp Mol Pathol, 2003. **74**(2): p. 86-93.
- 221. Stein, S. and C.M. Matter, *Protective roles of SIRT1 in atherosclerosis*. Cell Cycle, 2011. **10**(4): p. 640-7.
- 222. Stein, S., et al., *SIRT1 reduces endothelial activation without affecting vascular function in ApoE-/- mice.* Aging (Albany NY), 2010. **2**(6): p. 353-60.
- 223. Hernandez-Jimenez, M., et al., Silent Information Regulator 1 Protects the Brain Against Cerebral Ischemic Damage. Stroke, 2013.
- 224. Murphy, E. and C. Steenbergen, *Mechanisms underlying acute protection from cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury.* Physiol Rev, 2008. **88**(2): p. 581-609.
- 225. Kosieradzki, M. and W. Rowinski, *Ischemia/reperfusion injury in kidney transplantation: mechanisms and prevention.* Transplant Proc, 2008. **40**(10): p. 3279-88.
- 226. Bordone, L., et al., *SIRT1 transgenic mice show phenotypes resembling calorie restriction*. Aging Cell, 2007. **6**(6): p. 759-67.
- 227. Satoh, A., et al., *Sirt1 Extends Life Span and Delays Aging in Mice through the Regulation of Nk2 Homeobox 1 in the DMH and LH.* Cell Metab, 2013. **18**(3): p. 416-30.
- 228. Radak, Z., et al., *Redox-regulating sirtuins in aging, caloric restriction, and exercise.* Free Radic Biol Med, 2013. **58**: p. 87-97.
- 229. Vaziri, H., et al., *hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase.* Cell, 2001. **107**(2): p. 149-59.
- 230. Cheng, H.L., et al., *Developmental defects and p53 hyperacetylation in Sir2 homolog* (*SIRT1*)-*deficient mice*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(19): p. 10794-9.
- 231. Anekonda, T.S. and G. Adamus, *Resveratrol prevents antibody-induced apoptotic death of retinal cells through upregulation of Sirt1 and Ku70.* BMC Res Notes, 2008. **1**: p. 122.
- 232. Jeong, J., et al., *SIRT1 promotes DNA repair activity and deacetylation of Ku70.* Exp Mol Med, 2007. **39**(1): p. 8-13.
- 233. Fan, H., et al., *The histone deacetylase, SIRT1, contributes to the resistance of young mice to ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury.* Kidney Int, 2013. **83**(3): p. 404-13.
- 234. Brunet, A., et al., *Stress-dependent regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase*. Science, 2004. **303**(5666): p. 2011-5.
- 235. Yeung, F., et al., *Modulation of NF-kappaB-dependent transcription and cell survival by the SIRT1 deacetylase*. EMBO J, 2004. **23**(12): p. 2369-80.
- 236. Chen, C.J., et al., *SIRT3 protects cardiomyocytes from oxidative stress-mediated cell death by activating NF-kappaB.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2013. **430**(2): p. 798-803.
- 237. Pellegrini, L., et al., *SIRT3 protects from hypoxia and staurosporine-mediated cell death by maintaining mitochondrial membrane potential and intracellular pH.* Cell Death Differ, 2012. **19**(11): p. 1815-25.
- 238. Cheng, Y., et al., Interaction of Sirt3 with OGG1 contributes to repair of mitochondrial DNA and protects from apoptotic cell death under oxidative stress. Cell Death Dis, 2013. **4**: p. e731.
- 239. Yang, H., et al., *Nutrient-sensitive mitochondrial NAD+ levels dictate cell survival.* Cell, 2007. **130**(6): p. 1095-107.
- 240. Kim, H.S., et al., *SIRT3 is a mitochondria-localized tumor suppressor required for maintenance of mitochondrial integrity and metabolism during stress.* Cancer Cell, 2010. **17**(1): p. 41-52.
- 241. Allison, S.J. and J. Milner, *SIRT3 is pro-apoptotic and participates in distinct basal apoptotic pathways.* Cell Cycle, 2007. **6**(21): p. 2669-77.
- 242. Kamada, N. and R.Y. Calne, *Orthotopic liver transplantation in the rat. Technique using cuff for portal vein anastomosis and biliary drainage.* Transplantation, 1979. **28**(1): p. 47-50.

- 243. Xia, R. and J.C. Emond, Orthotopic partial liver transplantation in the rat: a model of 70% hepatectomy and reduced size liver transplantation. Transplantation, 1993. **56**(4): p. 1041-3.
- 244. Liu, F.C., et al., Sirtinol attenuates hepatic injury and pro-inflammatory cytokine production following trauma-hemorrhage in male Sprague-Dawley rats. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand, 2008. **52**(5): p. 635-40.
- 245. Yan, W., et al., *SirT1 mediates hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning-induced ischemic tolerance in rat brain.* J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2013. **33**(3): p. 396-406.
- 246. Quesnelle, K.M., P.V. Bystrom, and L.H. Toledo-Pereyra, *Molecular responses to ischemia and reperfusion in the liver.* Arch Toxicol, 2015.
- 247. Du, Z., et al., Mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium reduces liver injury and enhances regeneration in reduced-size rat liver transplantation. J Surg Res, 2013. **183**(2): p. 907-15.
- 248. Dahm, F., P. Georgiev, and P.A. Clavien, *Small-for-size syndrome after partial liver transplantation: definition, mechanisms of disease and clinical implications.* Am J Transplant, 2005. **5**(11): p. 2605-10.
- 249. Ramalho, F.S., et al., Are angiotensin II receptor antagonists useful strategies in steatotic and nonsteatotic livers in conditions of partial hepatectomy under ischemia-reperfusion? J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2009. **329**(1): p. 130-40.
- 250. Koh, E.J., S.J. Yoon, and S.M. Lee, *Losartan protects liver against ischaemia/reperfusion injury through PPAR-gamma activation and receptor for advanced glycation end-products down-regulation*. Br J Pharmacol, 2013. **169**(6): p. 1404-16.
- 251. Alfany-Fernandez, I., et al., *Therapeutic targets in liver transplantation: angiotensin II in nonsteatotic grafts and angiotensin-(1-7) in steatotic grafts.* Am J Transplant, 2009. **9**(3): p. 439-51.
- 252. Pantazi, E., et al., *Role of sirtuins in ischemia-reperfusion injury*. World J Gastroenterol, 2013. **19**(43): p. 7594-602.
- 253. Porter, G.A., et al., *SIRT3 deficiency exacerbates ischemia-reperfusion injury: implication for aged hearts.* Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2014. **306**(12): p. H1602-9.
- 254. Li, Y., et al., *Hepatic overexpression of SIRT1 in mice attenuates endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in the liver.* FASEB J, 2011. **25**(5): p. 1664-79.
- 255. Ben Mosbah, I., et al., *Endoplasmic reticulum stress inhibition protects steatotic and non-steatotic livers in partial hepatectomy under ischemia-reperfusion*. Cell Death Dis, 2010. **1**: p. e52.
- 256. Miyazaki, R., et al., *SIRT1, a longevity gene, downregulates angiotensin II type 1 receptor expression in vascular smooth muscle cells.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2008. **28**(7): p. 1263-9.
- 257. Oliveira Andrade, J.M., et al., *Cross talk between angiotensin-(1-7)/Mas axis and sirtuins in adipose tissue and metabolism of high-fat feed mice.* Peptides, 2014. **55**: p. 158-65.
- 258. Uhal, B.D., et al., *Abrogation of ER stress-induced apoptosis of alveolar epithelial cells by angiotensin 1-7.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2013. **305**(1): p. L33-41.
- 259. Jung, T.W., et al., *SIRT1 attenuates palmitate-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in HepG2 cells via induction of oxygen-regulated protein 150.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2012. **422**(2): p. 229-32.
- 260. Bejaoui, M., et al., Bortezomib enhances fatty liver preservation in Institut George Lopez-1 solution through adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase and Akt/mTOR pathways. J Pharm Pharmacol, 2014. **66**(1): p. 62-72.
- 261. Pantazi, E., et al., Silent information regulator 1 protects the liver against ischemiareperfusion injury: implications in steatotic liver ischemic preconditioning. Transpl Int, 2014.

- 262. Lutz, J., et al., Angiotensin type 1 and type 2 receptor blockade in chronic allograft nephropathy. Kidney Int, 2006. **70**(6): p. 1080-8.
- 263. Pauly, D.F., et al., In women with symptoms of cardiac ischemia, nonobstructive coronary arteries, and microvascular dysfunction, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition is associated with improved microvascular function: A double-blind randomized study from the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE). Am Heart J, 2011. **162**(4): p. 678-84.
- 264. Pantazi, E., et al., *Sirtuin 1 in rat orthotopic liver transplantation: An IGL-1 preservation solution approach.* World J Gastroenterol, 2015. **21**(6): p. 1765-74.
- 265. Kackstein, K., et al., Impact of angiotensin II on skeletal muscle metabolism and function in mice: contribution of IGF-1, Sirtuin-1 and PGC-1alpha. Acta Histochem, 2013. **115**(4): p. 363-70.
- 266. Teodoro, J.S., et al., *Berberine reverts hepatic mitochondrial dysfunction in high-fat fed rats: a possible role for SirT3 activation.* Mitochondrion, 2013. **13**(6): p. 637-46.
- 267. Schwer, B. and E. Verdin, *Conserved metabolic regulatory functions of sirtuins*. Cell Metab, 2008. **7**(2): p. 104-12.
- 268. Malhi, H. and R.J. Kaufman, *Endoplasmic reticulum stress in liver disease*. J Hepatol, 2011. **54**(4): p. 795-809.
- 269. Madec, A.M., et al., Losartan, an angiotensin II type 1 receptor blocker, protects human islets from glucotoxicity through the phospholipase C pathway. FASEB J, 2013. 27(12): p. 5122-30.
- 270. Liu, X.M., et al., Endoplasmic reticulum stress stimulates heme oxygenase-1 gene expression in vascular smooth muscle. Role in cell survival. J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(2): p. 872-7.
- 271. Szegezdi, E., U. Fitzgerald, and A. Samali, *Caspase-12 and ER-stress-mediated apoptosis: the story so far.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2003. **1010**: p. 186-94.
- 272. Badiola, N., et al., Induction of ER stress in response to oxygen-glucose deprivation of cortical cultures involves the activation of the PERK and IRE-1 pathways and of caspase-12. Cell Death Dis, 2011. **2**: p. e149.
- 273. Liao, Y., et al., *Delayed hepatocellular mitotic progression and impaired liver regeneration in early growth response-1-deficient mice.* J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(41): p. 43107-16.
- 274. Campbell, J.S., et al., *Inactivation of p38 MAPK during liver regeneration*. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2011. **43**(2): p. 180-8.
- 275. Padrissa-Altes, S., et al., *Effect of angiotensin II and bradykinin inhibition in rat reduced-size liver transplantation.* Liver Transpl, 2009. **15**(3): p. 313-20.
- 276. Garcia-Pagan, J.C., J. Gracia-Sancho, and J. Bosch, *Functional aspects on the pathophysiology of portal hypertension in cirrhosis.* J Hepatol, 2012. **57**(2): p. 458-61.
- 277. Morton, J.J., E.C. Beattie, and F. MacPherson, Angiotensin II receptor antagonist losartan has persistent effects on blood pressure in the young spontaneously hypertensive rat: lack of relation to vascular structure. J Vasc Res, 1992. **29**(3): p. 264-9.
- 278. Loria, A.S., et al., *Early life stress enhances angiotensin II-mediated vasoconstriction by reduced endothelial nitric oxide buffering capacity.* Hypertension, 2011. **58**(4): p. 619-26.
- 279. Park, C.G., et al., Evaluation of the dose-response relationship of amlodipine and losartan combination in patients with essential hypertension: an 8-week, randomized, double-blind, factorial, phase II, multicenter study. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs, 2012. 12(1): p. 35-47.
- 280. Agasti, A.K., et al., Comparative randomized study on efficacy of losartan versus propranolol in lowering portal pressure in decompensated chronic liver disease. J Dig Dis, 2013. **14**(5): p. 266-71.

- 281. Kwon, H.M., et al., Comparison of the effects of amlodipine and losartan on blood pressure and diurnal variation in hypertensive stroke patients: a prospective, randomized, double-blind, comparative parallel study. Clin Ther, 2013. **35**(12): p. 1975-82.
- 282. Peralta, C. and J. Rosello-Catafau, *The future of fatty livers.* J Hepatol, 2004. **41**(1): p. 149-51.
- 283. Behrns, K.E., et al., *Hepatic steatosis as a potential risk factor for major hepatic resection.* J Gastrointest Surg, 1998. **2**(3): p. 292-8.
- 284. Clavien, P.-A., *Malignant liver tumors : current and emerging therapies*. 1999, Malden, Mass., USA: Blackwell Science. xiv, 363 p.
- 285. Evankovich, J., et al., *High mobility group box 1 release from hepatocytes during ischemia and reperfusion injury is mediated by decreased histone deacetylase activity.* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(51): p. 39888-97.
- 286. Becatti, M., et al., *SIRT1 modulates MAPK pathways in ischemic-reperfused cardiomyocytes.* Cell Mol Life Sci, 2012. **69**(13): p. 2245-60.
- 287. Ruderman, N.B., et al., *AMPK and SIRT1: a long-standing partnership?* Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2010. **298**(4): p. E751-60.
- 288. Canto, C., et al., *AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity.* Nature, 2009. **458**(7241): p. 1056-60.
- 289. Elias-Miro, M., et al., *Current knowledge on oxidative stress in hepatic ischemia/reperfusion.* Free Radic Res, 2013. **47**(8): p. 555-68.
- 290. Salminen, A., K. Kaarniranta, and A. Kauppinen, *Crosstalk between Oxidative Stress and SIRT1: Impact on the Aging Process.* Int J Mol Sci, 2013. **14**(2): p. 3834-59.
- 291. Kuboki, S., et al., *Role of heat shock protein 70 in hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in mice.* Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2007. **292**(4): p. G1141-9.
- 292. Westerheide, S.D., et al., *Stress-inducible regulation of heat shock factor 1 by the deacetylase SIRT1*. Science, 2009. **323**(5917): p. 1063-6.
- 293. Sasaki, T., et al., *Diacylglycerol kinase alpha exacerbates cardiac injury after ischemia/reperfusion.* Heart Vessels, 2014. **29**(1): p. 110-8.
- 294. Hernandez-Jimenez, M., et al., *Silent information regulator 1 protects the brain against cerebral ischemic damage.* Stroke, 2013. **44**(8): p. 2333-7.
- 295. Schlicker, C., et al., *Structure-based development of novel sirtuin inhibitors.* Aging (Albany NY), 2011. **3**(9): p. 852-72.
- 296. Villalba, J.M. and F.J. Alcain, *Sirtuin activators and inhibitors.* Biofactors, 2012. **38**(5): p. 349-59.
- 297. Narayan, N., et al., *The NAD-dependent deacetylase SIRT2 is required for programmed necrosis.* Nature, 2012. **492**(7428): p. 199-204.
- 298. Donmez, G. and T.F. Outeiro, *SIRT1 and SIRT2: emerging targets in neurodegeneration*. EMBO Mol Med, 2013. **5**(3): p. 344-52.
- 299. Ben Mosbah, I., et al., *Trimetazidine: is it a promising drug for use in steatotic grafts?* World J Gastroenterol, 2006. **12**(6): p. 908-14.
- 300. Ng, F. and B.L. Tang, *Sirtuins' modulation of autophagy*. J Cell Physiol, 2013. **228**(12): p. 2262-70.
- 301. Lee, J., S. Giordano, and J. Zhang, *Autophagy, mitochondria and oxidative stress: crosstalk and redox signalling.* Biochem J, 2012. **441**(2): p. 523-40.
- 302. Gottlieb, R.A. and R.S. Carreira, *Autophagy in health and disease. 5. Mitophagy as a way of life.* Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2010. **299**(2): p. C203-10.
- 303. Decuypere, J.P., J. Pirenne, and I. Jochmans, *Autophagy in renal ischemia-reperfusion injury: friend or foe?* Am J Transplant, 2014. **14**(6): p. 1464-5.
- 304. Yorimitsu, T., et al., *Endoplasmic reticulum stress triggers autophagy*. J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(40): p. 30299-304.

- 305. Okada, K., et al., *Prolonged endoplasmic reticulum stress in hypertrophic and failing heart after aortic constriction: possible contribution of endoplasmic reticulum stress to cardiac myocyte apoptosis.* Circulation, 2004. **110**(6): p. 705-12.
- 306. Nakagawa, T., et al., *Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid-beta*. Nature, 2000. **403**(6765): p. 98-103.
- 307. Guan, H.S., et al., *Endoplasmic reticulum stress caused by left ventricular hypertrophy in rats: effects of telmisartan*. Am J Med Sci, 2011. **342**(4): p. 318-23.
- 308. Sukumaran, V., et al., Olmesartan, an AT1 antagonist, attenuates oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum stress and cardiac inflammatory mediators in rats with heart failure induced by experimental autoimmune myocarditis. Int J Biol Sci, 2011. **7**(2): p. 154-67.
- 309. Ghosh, H.S., B. Reizis, and P.D. Robbins, *SIRT1 associates with eIF2-alpha and regulates the cellular stress response.* Sci Rep, 2011. **1**: p. 150.
- 310. Saibil, H., *Chaperone machines for protein folding, unfolding and disaggregation.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2013. **14**(10): p. 630-42.
- 311. Collino, M., et al., Oxidative stress and inflammatory response evoked by transient cerebral ischemia/reperfusion: effects of the PPAR-alpha agonist WY14643. Free Radic Biol Med, 2006. **41**(4): p. 579-89.
- 312. Yamamoto, T., et al., *p38 MAP-kinase regulates function of gap and tight junctions during regeneration of rat hepatocytes.* J Hepatol, 2005. **42**(5): p. 707-18.
- 313. Horimoto, M., et al., Uncoupling protein-2 deficiency promotes oxidant stress and delays liver regeneration in mice. Hepatology, 2004. **39**(2): p. 386-92.
- 314. Purushotham, A., et al., *Hepatocyte-specific deletion of SIRT1 alters fatty acid metabolism and results in hepatic steatosis and inflammation.* Cell Metab, 2009. **9**(4): p. 327-38.
- 315. Shi, T., G.Q. Fan, and S.D. Xiao, *SIRT3 reduces lipid accumulation via AMPK activation in human hepatic cells*. J Dig Dis, 2010. **11**(1): p. 55-62.

8. ANNEX

Here there are reported the publications related directly or indirectly with the present thesis:

- Role of sirtuins in ischemia-reperfusion injury. <u>Pantazi E</u>, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Roselló-Catafau J. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(43):7594-602. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i43.7594. Review
- Advances in treatment strategies for ischemia reperfusion injury. <u>Eirini Pantazi,</u> Mohamed Bejaoui, Emma-Folch-Puy, René Adam and Joan Roselló-Catafau. Submitted to Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy
- Emerging concepts in liver graft preservation. Bejaoui M, <u>Pantazi E</u>, Folch-Puy E, Baptista PM, García-Gil A, Adam R, Roselló-Catafau J. World J Gastroenterol. 2015 Jan 14;21(2):396-407. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i2.396.
- Polyethylene glycol rinse solution: an effective way to prevent ischemiareperfusion injury. Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Calvo M, Folch-Puy E, <u>Pantazi E</u>, Pasut G, Rimola A, Ben Abdennebi H, Adam R, Roselló-Catafau J. World J Gastroenterol. 2014 Nov 21;20(43):16203-14. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i43.16203.
- Bortezomib enhances fatty liver preservation in Institut George Lopez-1 solution through adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase and Akt/mTOR pathways. Bejaoui M, Zaouali MA, Folch-Puy E, <u>Pantazi E</u>, Bardag-Gorce F, Carbonell T, Oliva J, Rimola A, Abdennebi HB, Roselló-Catafau J. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2014 Jan;66(1):62-72. doi: 10.1111/jphp.12154.
- AMPK involvement in endoplasmic reticulum stress and autophagy modulation after fatty liver graft preservation: a role for melatonin and trimetazidine cocktail. Zaouali MA, Boncompagni E, Reiter RJ, Bejaoui M, Freitas I, <u>Pantazi E,</u> Folch-Puy E, Abdennebi HB, Garcia-Gil FA, Roselló-Catafau J. J Pineal Res. 2013 Aug;55(1):65-78. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12051.
- Proteasome inhibitors protect the steatotic and non-steatotic liver graft against cold ischemia reperfusion injury. Zaouali MA, Bardag-Gorce F, Carbonell T, Oliva J, <u>Pantazi E</u>, Bejaoui M, Ben Abdennebi H, Rimola A, Roselló-Catafau J. Exp Mol Pathol. 2013 Apr;94(2):352-9. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2012.12.005.
 Between them, I present those those that I am the first author.



bpgoffice@wjgnet.com doi:10.3748/wjg.v19.i43.7594 World J Gastroenterol 2013 November 21; 19(43): 7594-7602 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) © 2013 Baishideng Publishing Group Co., Limited. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

Role of sirtuins in ischemia-reperfusion injury

Eirini Pantazi, Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Mohamed Bejaoui, Emma Folch-Puy, Hassen Ben Abdennebi, Joan Roselló-Catafau

Eirini Pantazi, Mohamed Amine Zaouali, Mohamed Bejaoui, Emma Folch-Puy, Experimental Hepatic Ischemia-Reperfusion Unit, Institut of Biomedical Research of Barcelona-Spanish National Research Council, Barcelona, 08036 Catalonia, Spain Hassen Ben Abdennebi, Molecular Biology and Anthropology

applied to development and health (UR12ES11), Faculty of Pharmacy, Monastir 5000, Tunisia

Joan Roselló-Catafau, Experimental Pathology Department, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona-Spanish National Research Council, Barcelona, 08036 Catalonia, Spain

Author contributions: Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Folch-Puy E and Bejaoui M wrote the article and reviewed the literature; Ben Abdennebi H and Roselló-Catafau J made significant contributions to the design and revision of the manuscript; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by AGAUR, No. 2012FI B00382, Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain, to Pantazi E; CSIC for the development program to Bejaoui M, No. I-COOP0005; The Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias, No. FIS PI12/00519

Correspondence to: Joan Rosello-Catafau, PhD, Experimental Pathology Department, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona-Spanish National Research Council, C/ Rosselló 161, 7th floor, Barcelona, 08036 Catalonia,

Spain. jrcbam@iibb.csic.es

Telephone: +34-93-3638300 Fax: +34-93-3638301 Received: June 28, 2013 Revised: September 16, 2013 Accepted: September 29, 2013 Published online: November 21, 2013

Abstract

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) remains an unresolved and complicated situation in clinical practice, especially in the case of organ transplantation. Several factors contribute to its complexity; the depletion of energy during ischemia and the induction of oxidative stress during reperfusion initiate a cascade of pathways that lead to cell death and finally to severe organ injury. Recently, the sirtuin family of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide-dependent deacetylases has gained increasing attention from researchers, due to their involvement in the modulation of a wide variety of cellular functions. There are seven mammalian sirtuins and,



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

among them, the nuclear/cytoplasmic sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) and the mitochondrial sirtuin 3 (SIRT3) are ubiquitously expressed in many tissue types. Sirtuins are known to play major roles in protecting against cellular stress and in controlling metabolic pathways, which are key processes during IRI. In this review, we mainly focus on SIRT1 and SIRT3 and examine their role in modulating pathways against energy depletion during ischemia and their involvement in oxidative stress, apoptosis, microcirculatory stress and inflammation during reperfusion. We present evidence of the beneficial effects of sirtuins against IRI and emphasize the importance of developing new strategies by enhancing their action.

© 2013 Baishideng Publishing Group Co., Limited. All rights reserved.

Key words: Sirtuin 1; Sirtuin 3; Ischemia-reperfusion injury; Oxidative stress; Apoptosis

Core tip: Sirtuins are responsible for the regulation of protein activation by deacetylating a range of proteins that play important roles in the pathophysiology of various diseases. The present review summarizes the beneficial effects of sirtuins 1 and 3, the two most prominent sirtuins involved in mammalian energy homeostasis and oxidative stress. We conclude that both sirtuins might be attractive targets for counteracting the detrimental effects of ischemia-reperfusion injury.

Pantazi E, Zaouali MA, Bejaoui M, Folch-Puy E, Ben Abdennebi H, Roselló-Catafau J. Role of sirtuins in ischemia-reperfusion injury. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19(43): 7594-7602 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v19/ i43/7594.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v19.i43.7594

INTRODUCTION

Sirtuins belong to the highly conserved class III histone

November 21, 2013 | Volume 19 | Issue 43 |

deacetylases with homology to the yeast silent information regulator 2. To date, seven sirtuins have been described in mammals. They posses nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺)-dependent deacetylase activity, with the exception of sirtuin 4 (SIRT4) which has only ADPribosyltransferase activity, and SIRT1 and SIRT6 which have not only deacetylase activity but also relatively weak ADP-ribosyltransferase activity. Their enzymatic activity depends on their protein expression levels, the availability of NAD⁺ and the presence of proteins that modulate sirtuin enzymatic activity. For instance, SIRT1 expression increases during starvation or when cells are exposed to conditions of oxidative stress and DNA damage^[2,3].

Sirtuins are found in several subcellular locations, including the nucleus (SIRT1, SIRT6, and SIRT7), cytosol (SIRT2), and mitochondria (SIRT3-SIRT5). In some studies, however, SIRT1 has been found to possess cytosolic activity, and SIRT2 has been found to be associated with nuclear proteins^[4].

Several recent studies have shown that sirtuins regulate a wide variety of cellular processes, such as gene transcription, metabolism and cellular stress response^[5-7]. SIRT1, the most studied member of the family, plays an important role in several processes ranging from cell cycle regulation to energy homeostasis^[6,9]. SIRT3 has recently been reported to have a considerable impact on mitochondrial energy metabolism and function^[10,11]. In this review, we will focus mainly on SIRT1 and SIRT3 functions in ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI).

IRI is one of the most significant problems in graft injury, contributing to primary graft dysfunction or non-function after organ transplantation^[2-14]. Many factors contribute to IRI. First of all, the loss of oxygen supply during ischemia results in the reduction of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis and subsequent changes in ion influx, acidosis and cell swelling which may eventually lead to cell death. The restoration of blood flow is followed by an excessive acute inflammatory response triggering the reperfusion injury. Although the ischemic insult causes significant damage in cells, the tissue injury generated during reperfusion is much more severe. On reperfusion, oxygen is suddenly available, and metabolism proceeds rapidly, resulting in a sudden production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), cytokines and chemokines which increase the accumulation of inflammatory cells (monocytes, dendritic cells and granulocytes). In combination with excessive nitric oxide (NO), ROS are able to induce DNA damage and activate various types of cell death pathways^[15-17].

Understanding the mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of IRI is the first step to mitigate its adverse effects. Sirtuins are known to regulate many important processes in cell physiology, including those affecting IRI, such as cellular metabolism and stress response. This makes them potentially appealing targets for therapeutic interventions against IR-induced injury.

ROLE OF SIRTUINS IN ISCHEMIA

The low energy state during ischemia results in activation

Pantazi E et al. Sirtuins 1 and 3 in IRI

of adenosine monophosphate protein kinase (AMPK), a fuel-sensing enzyme that is positively regulated by an increased ratio of adenosine monophosphate to ATP. When AMPK is activated, it stimulates processes that restore ATP levels (e.g., fatty acid oxidation) and inhibits other processes that consume ATP (e.g., protein synthesis)^[15]. The activity of sirtuins is directly related to the metabolic state of the cell due to their dependence on NAD⁺. Suchankova and collaborators found that glucoseinduced changes in AMPK are linked to alterations in the NAD⁺/reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide ratio and SIRT1 abundance and activity^[19]. These results may suggest a possible interaction between AMPK and SIRT1 in ischemic conditions. Indeed, an activator of AMPK, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-B-D-ribofuranoside, has been found to improve IRI and increase SIRT1 expression in the rat kidney^[20]. Furthermore, enhancing the activity of SIRT1 through the application of resveratrol, a SIRT1 activator, has been demonstrated to protect against cerebral ischemia^[21]

Another element that plays an essential role in triggering cellular protection and preventing metabolic alterations caused by oxygen deprivation is hypoxiainducible factors (HIFs). Mammals possess three isoforms of HIF α , of which HIF1 α and HIF2 α are the most structurally similar and the best characterized. During hypoxia, protein levels of HIF2 α increase slightly, but it presents significant activation, which suggests that its activity is regulated by additional post-translational mechanisms. One of these post-translational modulations may be deacetylation, since in hypoxic Hep3B cells SIRT1 deacetylates lysine residues in the HIF2 α protein, enhancing its transcriptional activity^[22].

Additionally, SIRT1 interacts with HIF1 α , but in this case SIRT1 represses HIF1 α transcriptional activity^[23]. Under hypoxic stress, decreased cellular NAD⁺ downregulates SIRT1, increases HIF1 α acetylation, and thereby promotes the expression of HIF1 α target genes^[23]. Interestingly, other studies have shown that HIF2 α compete with HIF1 α for binding to SIRT1^[24]. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that SIRT6 is also linked to HIF1 α by repressing the transcription of HIF1 α target genes^[23].

Likewise, the effects of SIRT3 appear to be protective in the context of hypoxic stress in human cancer cells. SIRT3 overexpression resulted in decreased ROS production, impediment of HIF1 α stabilization and subsequent suppression of tumorigenesis^[26,27]. However, the effect of SIRT3 in HIF1 α stabilization in IRI has not been reported to date.

One of the most important factors involved in the metabolic control regulated by SIRT1 is peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator 1 α (PGC1 α), a transcriptional co-activator of many nuclear receptors and transcriptional factors. SIRT1 functionally interacts with PGC1 α and deacetylates it, thus inducing the expression of mitochondrial proteins involved in ATPgenerating pathways^[20]. Increased PGC1 α activity is also associated with lower levels of oxidative damage during



November 21, 2013 | Volume 19 | Issue 43 |

Pantazi E et al. Sirtuins 1 and 3 in IRI

ischemia, as shown by the decrease ROS scavenging in rodents lacking PGC1a subjected to global ischemia Furthermore, the uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2), an inner mitochondrial membrane protein, regulates the proton electrochemical gradient and in neuronal cells PGC1a is required for the induction of UCP2 and subsequent protection against oxidative stress^[30]. It has also been shown that enhanced activity of SIRT1 during ischemic preconditioning (IPC) or resveratrol preconditioning confers protection against cerebral ischemia by reducing UCP2 levels, which results in increased ATP levels^[21]. However, a more recent study associated the protective effect of resveratrol against oxidative stress in cerebral ischemia with increased levels of SIRT1/PGC1a and UCP2[31]. Moreover, the exact role of UCP2 during ischemia is not fully understood, as studies of its effects have produced conflicting results [32-35]

ROLE OF SIRTUINS IN REPERFUSION

Deprivation of oxygen to the grafts during ischemia induces severe lesions, but the most important damage is caused during reperfusion, when oxygen entry to the organ is restored. During reperfusion, the cellular metabolism returns to aerobic pathways, which results in the generation of a wide variety of ROS, including superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and reactive nitrogen species, such as peroxynitrite. ROS are mainly produced in mitochondria and trigger several phenomena, including accumulation of Ca²⁺, caspase activation, cytokine upregulation, lipid, protein and DNA damage^[36-36]. ROS can be eliminated by enzymatic pathways including manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), catalase (Cat) and peroxidases. Imbalance between ROS generation and elimination produces oxidative stress^[15,16].

Various reports in cardiomyocytes have demonstrated the protective role of SIRT1 against oxidative stress^[39,40] Hearts overexpressing SIRT1 were more resistant to oxidative stress in response to IRI, as SIRT1 upregulated the expression of anti-oxidants like MnSOD and thioredoxin 1^[41]. SIRT1 also deacetylated Forkhead boxcontaining protein O (FoxO) 1 transcription factor, inducing its nuclear translocation and subsequent transcription of anti-oxidant molecules [41,42]. Moreover, the question of whether SIRT1 can induce the transcription of other FoxO transcription factors, like FoxO3a, has not yet been investigated. However, the levels of SIRT1 activation are decisive for its protective role, as very high cardiac SIRT1 expression induces mitochondrial dysfunction and increases oxidative stress^[39]. Furthermore, in a model of kidney IRI, the protective effect of SIRT1 against oxidative stress has also been demonstrated since SIRT1 upregulated Cat levels and maintained peroxisome number and function^[43]

Although mitochondrial sirtuins (SIRT3-SIRT5) have not been studied as extensively as SIRT1, an increasing body of evidence indicates the importance of SIRT3 in mitochondrial biology and function. Lombard *et al*¹⁴ demonstrated that SIRT3 is the dominant mitochondrial deacetylase, as a significant number of mitochondrial proteins are hyperacetylated in SIRT3^{-/-} mice. SIRT3 deacetylates and thus enhances the activity of various proteins that appear to be an important part of the antioxidative defense mechanisms of mitochondria, such as MnSOD^[45,46], regulatory proteins of the glutathione^[47-49] and thioredoxin system^[50].

Transcriptional upregulation of the antioxidant enzymes MnSOD, Cat and peroxiredoxin can also be achieved by FoxO3 α transcription factor, which is translocated to the nucleus after being deacetylated by SIRT3^[51,52]. Furthermore, SIRT3 is necessary for the enhanced expression of cytochrome c, which presents peroxidase- and superoxidase-scavenging capacity^[47,49,53]. However, a similar anti-oxidant effect of SIRT3 in models of IRI has not yet been established.

A wide array of functional alterations develop in mitochondria during reperfusion injury^[36,54]. In healthy cells, their primary function is the provision of ATP through oxidative phosphorylation in order to meet the high energy demands. There is increasing evidence of the involvement of a multi-protein complex called the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) in the decline in mitochondrial function, which is a common finding during reperfusion injury^[55-57]. SIRT3 is known to deacetylate the regulatory component of the mPTP, cyclophilin D, and thereby reduce its activity and the subsequent mitochondrial swelling in the heart^[50]. It has also been shown that SIRT4 interacts with the adenine nucleotide translocator, another component of mPTP, and that SIRT5 deacetylates cytochrome c, but the physiological importance of these interactions has not yet been established^[59,60], especially in models of IRI.

Microcirculatory alterations play an important part in IRI. During the ischemic period, vascular hypoxia can cause increased vascular permeability. After reperfusion, complement system activation, leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion and platelet-leukocyte aggregation further aggravate microvascular dysfunction^[81].

NO produced by endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) is a key regulator of endothelial function, as it opposes the vasoconstrictive actions of endothelins and provokes vasodilatation. Thus, it can abrogate the microcirculatory stress generated during reperfusion^[62]. However, NO produced by inducible NO synthase (iNOS) exacerbates IRI through the NOS-derived superoxide production or the generation of peroxynitrite^[12]. There is a large body of evidence in favor of the relationship between eNOS and SIRT1; SIRT1 interacts and modifies the acetylation state of eNOS, resulting in the activation of the enzyme^[63-65]. In SIRT1^{+/+} hearts subjected to IRI SIRT1 was associated with eNOS activation^[66]. SIRT1 activation by resveratrol protected against subacute intestinal IRI by reducing the NO production through iNOS^[67] Moreover, various experimental models showed that resveratrol inhibits endothelin-1 levels, providing better regulation of vascular tone [60-70]. However, a recent study in human umbilical vein endothelial cells

Pantazi E et al. Sirtuins 1 and 3 in IRI



Figure 1 Protective role of sirtuin 1 during ischemia. Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) activates adenosine monophosphate protein kinase (AMPK) as a cell response to counteract the energy deficiency. SIRT1 upregulates hypoxia-inducible factor 2α (HIF2α) and downregulates HIF1α to increase their transcriptional activity. SIRT1 upregulates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ coactivator, leading to enhancement of anti-oxidant capacity of uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2). PGC1α: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ coactivator.



Figure 2 Protective role of sirtuin 1 and suggestive role of sirtuin 3 during reperfusion. Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) inhibits inflammation through inhibition of nuclear factor kappa B and activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase for a better microcirculation. SIRT1 downregulates apoptosis through multiple pathways, for example, inhibiting p53 transcriptional activity or favoring the binding between Ku70 and Bax. SIRT1 also enhances forkhead box-containing protein 0 1 (FoxO1) transcriptional activity, resulting in Bax downregulation and in the upregulation of B cell lymphoma-2 and Bcl-like X. Deacetylation of FoxO1 by SIRT1 also results in lessening oxidative stress, whereas the same effect may be achieved by deacetylation of forkhead box-containing protein 3 alpha (FoxO3α). Sirtuin 3 (SIRT3) is suggested to contribute to decrease in oxidative stress either by a direct interaction with mitochondrial anti-oxidant enzymes [manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), thioredoxin system (Trx), cytochrome (Cyt)] or by enhancing FoxO3α to transcribe MnSOD and Cat. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) may also be inhibited by SIRT3 and result in less production of oxidative stress. NF+xB: Nuclear factor kappa B; eNOS: Endothelial nitric oxide synthase; Bcl-2: B cell lymphoma-2; Bcl-AL: Bcl-like X, Bax: Bcl-2-associated X; Cat: Catalase.

to exert a beneficial effect in regulating hepatic fatty acid metabolism, it would be interesting to investigate their role in the context of liver transplantation. Currently, the shortage of organs for transplantation has obliged physicians to utilize marginal grafts, including grafts with moderate steatosis. Steatotic livers exhibit a more severe inflammatory reaction and more exacerbated oxidative stress and consequently a higher vulnerability to IRI^{12]}. Thus, activating SIRT1 and SIRT3 might be a potential strategy to protect steatotic livers from IRI as well as to expand the donor pool for liver transplantation. In fact, in preliminary studies our group observed that SIRT1 is involved in the protective mechanisms against IRI elicited by IPC in fatty livers.

For this reason, both surgical and pharmacological

strategies should be developed to enhance the activity of sirtuins and thus mitigate the detrimental effect of IRI. Recent studies have highlighted the important role of SIRT1 in IPC-mediated protection in the heart and brain; in IPC brain, SIRT1 prevents neuronal death^[97], whereas during cardiac IPC, SIRT1 regulates HIF1 α protein levels^[96,99]. A recent review has also associated SIRT1 with the protective effects of hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning against apoptosis in the rat brain^[100]. However, it is still to be established whether SIRT1 contributes to the protective effects of preconditioning through the regulation of other signalling pathways. Furthermore, its possible implication in IPC related mechanisms in other organs, including the liver or kidney, remains to be elucidated.

Nor has the potential role of sirtuins in cold ischemia



November 21, 2013 | Volume 19 | Issue 43 |
has shown that the inhibitory effects of resveratrol on endothelin-1 levels are SIRT1-independent^[71].

ROLE OF SIRTUINS IN IRI-ASSOCIATED INFLAMMATION

IRI results in a profound inflammatory tissue reaction with immune cells infiltrating the tissue. The damage is mediated by various cytokines, chemokines, adhesion molecules, and compounds of the extracellular matrix. The expression of these factors is regulated by specific transcription factors with nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) being one of the key modulators of inflammation. After activation, the transcription factor migrates to the nucleus and enhances the transcription. of pro-inflammatory genes potentiating the inflammatory response. This is followed by an infiltration of lymphocytes, mononuclear cells/macrophages, and granulocytes into the injured tissue^[12-74].

In this way, SIRT1 plays an important role in neuroprotection against brain ischemia by deacetylation and subsequent inhibition of p53 and NF- κ B pathways^[78]. In SIRT1^{+/+} hearts subjected to IRI SIRT1 was correlated with decreased acetylation of NF- κ B and possible prevention of inflammation^[66]. Moreover, the anti-inflammatory action of SIRT1 by deacetylating NF- κ B and thus inhibiting the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules has also been demonstrated in human aortic endothelial cells^[74].

SIRTUINS: CELL SURVIVAL OR DEATH?

Apoptotic cell death is a well known mechanism involved in IRI which occurs via activation of caspases that cleave DNA and other cellular components^[16,17,76]. There is evidence that SIRT1 is associated with longevity in mammals and enhances mammalian cell survival under stress conditions *via* regulating the specific substrates^[7-79]. In fact, several studies have mentioned the anti-apoptotic effect of SIRT1 in IRI. SIRT1 deacetylates known mediators of apoptosis, such as the tumor-suppressor p53, resulting in inhibition of its transcriptional activitv ^{31]}. SIRT1 also deacetylates the DNA repair factor Ku70^[2,82,83]; thus Ku70 prevents the translocation of Bax, a pro-apoptotic B cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) family protein, to the mitochondria. In ischemic kidney and brain SIRT1 has been identified as an important survival mediator, given that increased SIRT1 was associated with reduced p53 expression and apoptosis^[75,04]. SIRT1 also modulates apoptosis-related molecules through the deacetylation of the FoxO family of transcription factors. During IRI in heart-specific SIRT1^{+/+} transgenic mice, SIRT1 induces nuclear translocation of FoxO1, which upregulates the anti-apoptotic factors Bcl-2 and Bcl-like X and downregulates Bax^[41]. As regards other members of the FoxO family, Brunet et al^[85] revealed a dual role of SIRT1 in the cell cycle depending on stress conditions; SIRT1 inhibited the ability of FoxO3 to induce cell death, thus promoting cell survival and, surprisingly, it also increased the

Pantazi E et al. Sirtuins 1 and 3 in IRI

ability of FoxO3 to induce cell cycle arrest and resistance to oxidative stress.

A possible pro-apoptotic role of SIRT1 in IRI has not been reported previously. However, studies in human embryonic kidney cells have revealed that SIRT1 can promote cell death by inhibiting NF-KB in response to tumor necrosis factor alpha^[56]. Further investigation is required to define the conditions under which SIRT1 may promote apoptosis.

Apoptotic pathways are known to be initiated during reperfusion upon the opening of the mPTP which leads to the release of caspase-activating molecules^[07,89]. Since SIRT3 is located in the mitochondria, it may be involved in anti-apoptotic pathways. In this regard, SIRT3 protects various types of cells from apoptotic cell death triggered by genotoxic or oxidative stress^[09,92]. The pro-apoptotic role of SIRT3 has also been associated with tumor suppression and restraint of ROS^[93]. However, SIRT3 has also been reported to contribute to Bcl-2- and JNK-related apoptotic pathways in human colorectal carcinoma cells^[94]. In any case, the potential anti-apoptotic mechanisms of SIRT3 during IRI are yet to be elucidated.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

A wide range of pathological processes contribute to IRI. Particularly during organ transplantation, IRI contributes to early graft dysfunction. For this reason, it is important to gain additional mechanistic insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying this injury. In the past few years, sirtuins have emerged as critical modulators of various cellular processes, including those that contribute to the pathogenesis of IRI.

In this paper, we have reviewed the signaling pathways of SIRT1 and SIRT3 protection in IRI. SIRT1 has been shown to exert its beneficial effect against oxidative stress, hypoxic injury or inflammation associated with IRI by activating FoxO1, PGC1 α and HIF2 α or by inhibiting NF- κ B transcription factors (Figures 1 and 2). SIRT3's protective role in IRI is mainly mediated by activating FoxO3 α and mitochondrial anti-oxidant enzymes (Figure 2). Investigations that can further determine other intracellular signaling, trafficking and post-translational modifications by SIRT1 and SIRT3 in a variety of cell systems and environments will allow us to translate this knowledge into effective treatment strategies that will be applicable in multiple disorders.

Numerous studies have demonstrated key roles for SIRT1 and SIRT3 in brain, heart and kidney IRI. However, the protective effect of these sirtuins against ischemic processes in other organs such as the liver has not yet been demonstrated. The relevance of SIRT3 in the hepatic metabolism has been confirmed in a study showing that its overexpression in hepatocytes decreased the accumulation of lipids *via* AMPK activation^[93]. Furthermore, deletion of hepatic SIRT1 resulted in hepatic steatosis, hepatic inflammation and endoplasmatic reticulum stress^[96]. Since SIRT1 and SIRT3 have been shown



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

and reperfusion yet been established. In the context of liver IRI, a previous study by our group demonstrated that during normoxic reperfusion, after cold ischemia, the presence of NO favors HIF1 α accumulation, also promoting the activation of other cytoprotective proteins, such as heme oxygenase-1^[101]. Among these cytoprotective proteins, SIRT1 may be ideally suited to enhance the protective effect.

This review summarizes the basic mediators of IRI influenced by the action of SIRT1 and SIRT3 and highlights the importance of their regulation. Future research should aim to elucidate the complete action of all members of the sirtuins family in IRI, and to develop pharmacological strategies that can allow their action to be modulated.

REFERENCES

- Nakagawa T, Guarente L. Sirtuins at a glance. J Cell Sci 2011; 124: 833-838 [PMID: 21378304 DOI: 10.1242/jcs.081067]
- 2 Cohen HY, Miller C, Bitterman KJ, Wall NR, Hekking B, Kessler B, Howitz KT, Gorospe M, de Cabo R, Sinclair DA. Calorie restriction promotes mammalian cell survival by inducing the SIRT1 deacetylase. *Science* 2004; 305: 390-392 [PMID: 15205477 DOI: 10.1126/science.1099196]
- 3 Rodgers JT, Lerin C, Haas W, Gygi SP, Spiegelman BM, Puigserver P. Nutrient control of glucose homeostasis through a complex of PGC-1alpha and SIRT1. Nature 2005; 434: 113-118 [PMID: 15744310 DOI: 10.1038/nature03354]
- 4 Morris KC, Lin HW, Thompson JW, Perez-Pinzon MA. Pathways for ischemic cytoprotection: role of sirtuins in caloric restriction, resveratrol, and ischemic preconditioning. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2011; 31: 1003-1019 [PMID: 21224864 DOI: 10.1038/jcbfm.2010.229]
- 5 Nogueiras R, Habegger KM, Chaudhary N, Finan B, Banks AS, Dietrich MO, Horvath TL, Sinclair DA, Pfluger PT, Tschöp MH. Sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3: physiological modulators of metabolism. *Physiol Rev* 2012; 92: 1479-1514 [PMID: 22811431 DOI: 10.1152/physrev.00022.2011]
- 6 Pillarisetti S. A review of Sirt1 and Sirt1 modulators in cardiovascular and metabolic diseases. Recent Pat Cardiovasc Drug Discov 2008; 3: 156-164 [PMID: 18991791]
- 7 Gorenne I, Kumar S, Gray K, Figg N, Yu H, Mercer J, Bennett M. Vascular smooth muscle cell sirtuin 1 protects against DNA damage and inhibits atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 2013; 127: 386-396 [PMID: 23224247 DOI: 10.1161/CIR-CULATIONAHA.112.124404]
- 8 Al Massadi O, Quiñones M, Lear P, Dieguez C, Nogueiras R. The Brain: A New Organ for the Metabolic Actions of SIRT1. *Horm Metab Res* 2013 Aug 15; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 23950036 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1351322]
- 9 Gillum MP, Kotas ME, Erion DM, Kursawe R, Chatterjee P, Nead KT, Muise ES, Hsiao JJ, Frederick DW, Yonemitsu S, Banks AS, Qiang L, Bhanot S, Olefsky JM, Sears DD, Caprio S, Shulman GI. SirT1 regulates adipose tissue inflammation. *Diabetes* 2011; 60: 3235-3245 [PMID: 22110092 DOI: 10.2337/ db11-0616]
- 10 Brenmoehl J, Hoeflich A. Dual control of mitochondrial biogenesis by sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3. *Mitochondrion* 2013 Apr 11; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 23583953 DOI: 10.1016/ j.mito.2013.04.002]
- 11 Rardin MJ, Newman JC, Held JM, Cusack MP, Sorensen DJ, Li B, Schilling B, Mooney SD, Kahn CR, Verdin E, Gibson BW. Label-free quantitative proteomics of the lysine acetylome in mitochondria identifies substrates of SIRT3 in metabolic pathways. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2013; 110: 6601-6606 [PMID: 23576753 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1302961110]

Pantazi E et al. Sirtuins 1 and 3 in IRI

- 12 Casillas-Ramírez A, Mosbah IB, Ramalho F, Roselló-Catafau J, Peralta C. Past and future approaches to ischemiareperfusion lesion associated with liver transplantation. *Life Sci* 2006; 79: 1881-1894 [PMID: 16828807 DOI: 10.1016/ j.lfs.2006.06.024]
- 13 Treska V, Kobr J, Hasman D, Racek J, Trefil L, Reischig T, Hes O, Kuntscher V, Molacek J, Treska I. Ischemia-reperfusion injury in kidney transplantation from non-heart-beating donor--do antioxidants or antiinflammatory drugs play any role? *Bratisl Lek Listy* 2009; 110: 133-136 [PMID: 19507631]
- 14 Schemmer P, Lemasters JJ, Clavien PA. Ischemia/Reperfusion injury in liver surgery and transplantation. HPB Surg 2012; 2012: 453295 [PMID: 23345924 DOI: 10.1155/2012/453295]
- 15 Czubkowski P, Socha P, Pawlowska J. Oxidative stress in liver transplant recipients. Ann Transplant 2011; 16: 99-108 [PMID: 21436783]
- 16 Datta G, Fuller BJ, Davidson BR. Molecular mechanisms of liver ischemia reperfusion injury: insights from transgenic knockout models. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 1683-1698 [PMID: 23555157 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i11.1683]
- 17 Murphy E, Steenbergen C. Mechanisms underlying acute protection from cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Physiol Rev* 2008; 88: 581-609 [PMID: 18391174 DOI: 10.1152/physrev.00024.2007]
- 18 Ruderman NB, Xu XJ, Nelson L, Cacicedo JM, Saha AK, Lan F, Ido Y. AMPK and SIRT1: a long-standing partnership? Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2010; 298: E751-E760 [PMID: 20103737 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00745.2009]
- 19 Suchankova G, Nelson LE, Gerhart-Hines Z, Kelly M, Gauthier MS, Saha AK, Ido Y, Puigserver P, Ruderman NB. Concurrent regulation of AMP-activated protein kinase and SIRT1 in mammalian cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2009; 378: 836-841 [PMID: 19071085 DOI: 10.1016/ j.bbrc.2008.11.130]
- 20 Lempiäinen J, Finckenberg P, Levijoki J, Mervaala E. AMPK activator AICAR ameliorates ischaemia reperfusion injury in the rat kidney. Br J Pharmacol 2012; 166: 1905-1915 [PMID: 22324445 DOI: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.01895.x]
- 21 Della-Morte D, Dave KR, DeFazio RA, Bao YC, Raval AP, Perez-Pinzon MA. Resveratrol pretreatment protects rat brain from cerebral ischemic damage via a sirtuin 1-uncoupling protein 2 pathway. *Neuroscience* 2009; 159: 993-1002 [PMID: 19356683 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.01.017]
- 22 Dioum EM, Chen R, Alexander MS, Zhang Q, Hogg RT, Gerard RD, Garcia JA. Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha signaling by the stress-responsive deacetylase sirtuin 1. Science 2009; 324: 1289-1293 [PMID: 19498162 DOI: 10.1126/science.1169956]
- 23 Lim JH, Lee YM, Chun YS, Chen J, Kim JE, Park JW. Sirtuin 1 modulates cellular responses to hypoxia by deacetylating hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. *Mol Cell* 2010; 38: 864-878 [PMID: 20620956 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.05.023]
- 24 Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC. Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress. Mol Cell 2010; 40: 294-309 [PMID: 20965423 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.022]
- 25 Zhong L, D'Urso A, Toiber D, Sebastian C, Henry RE, Vadysirisack DD, Guimaraes A, Marinelli B, Wikstrom JD, Nir T, Clish CB, Vaitheesvaran B, Iliopoulos O, Kurland I, Dor Y, Weissleder R, Shirihai OS, Ellisen LW, Espinosa JM, Mostoslavsky R. The histone deacetylase Sirt6 regulates glucose homeostasis via Hiftalpha. *Cell* 2010; 140: 280-293 [PMID: 20141841 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.041]
- 26 Bell EL, Emerling BM, Ricoult SJ, Guarente L. SirT3 suppresses hypoxia inducible factor 1α and tumor growth by inhibiting mitochondrial RO5 production. Oncogene 2011; 30: 2986-2996 [PMID: 21358671 DOI: 10.1038/onc.2011.37]
- 27 Finley LW, Carracedo A, Lee J, Souza A, Egia A, Zhang J, Teruya-Feldstein J, Moreira PI, Cardoso SM, Clish CB, Pandolfi PP, Haigis MC. SIRT3 opposes reprogramming

www.wjgnet.com

Pantazi E et al. Sirtuins 1 and 3 in IRI

of cancer cell metabolism through HIF1r destabilization. Cancer Cell 2011; 19: 416-428 [PMID: 21397863 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ccr.2011.02.014]

- 28 Nemoto S, Fergusson MM, Finkel T. SIRT1 functionally interacts with the metabolic regulator and transcriptional coactivator PGC-1[alpha]. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 16456-16460 [PMID: 15716268 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M501485200]
- 29 Chen SD, Lin TK, Yang DI, Lee SY, Shaw FZ, Liou CW, Chuang YC. Protective effects of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors gamma coactivator-1alpha against neuronal cell death in the hippocampal CA1 subfield after transient global ischemia. J Neurosci Res 2010; 88: 605-613 [PMIID: 19774674 DOI: 10.1002/jnr.22225]
- 30 St-Pierre J, Drori S, Uldry M, Silvaggi JM, Rhee J, Jäger S, Handschin C, Zheng K, Lin J, Yang W, Simon DK, Bachoo R, Spiegelman BM. Suppression of reactive oxygen species and neurodegeneration by the PGC-1 transcriptional coactivators. *Cell* 2006; 127: 397-408 [PMID: 17055439 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cell.2006.09.024]
- 31 Shin JA, Lee KE, Kim HS, Park EM. Acute resveratrol treatment modulates multiple signaling pathways in the ischemic brain. *Neurochem Res* 2012; 37: 2686-2696 [PMID: 22878646 DOI: 10.1007/s11064-012-0858-2]
- 32 Mattiasson G, Shamloo M, Gido G, Mathi K, Tomasevic G, Yi S, Warden CH, Castilho RF, Melcher T, Gonzalez-Zulueta M, Nikolich K, Wieloch T. Uncoupling protein-2 prevents neuronal death and diminishes brain dysfunction after stroke and brain trauma. *Nat Med* 2003; 9: 1062-1068 [PMID: 12858170 DOI: 10.1038/nm903]
- 33 McLeod CJ, Aziz A, Hoyt RF, McCoy JP, Sack MN. Uncoupling proteins 2 and 3 function in concert to augment tolerance to cardiac ischemia. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 33470-33476 [PMID: 16079144 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M505258200]
- 34 de Bilbao F, Arsenijevic D, Vallet P, Hjelle OP, Ottersen OP, Bouras C, Raffin Y, Abou K, Langhans W, Collins S, Plamondon J, Alves-Guerra MC, Haguenauer A, Garcia I, Richard D, Ricquier D, Giannakopoulos P. Resistance to cerebral ischemic injury in UCP2 knockout mice: evidence for a role of UCP2 as a regulator of mitochondrial glutathione levels. J Neurochem 2004; 89: 1283-1292 [PMID: 15147521 DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02432.x]
- 35 Bodyak N, Rigor DL, Chen YS, Han Y, Bisping E, Pu WT, Kang PM. Uncoupling protein 2 modulates cell viability in adult rat cardiomyocytes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2007; 293: H829-H835 [PMID: 17468330 DOI: 10.1152/ajpheart.01409.2006]
- 36 Sanderson TH, Reynolds CA, Kumar R, Przyklenk K, Hüttemann M. Molecular mechanisms of ischemia-reperfusion injury in brain: pivotal role of the mitochondrial membrane potential in reactive oxygen species generation. *Mol Neurobiol* 2013; 47: 9-23 [PMID: 23011809 DOI: 10.1007/s12035-012-8344-z]
- 37 Rodrigo R, Prieto JC, Castillo R. Cardioprotection against ischaemia/reperfusion by vitamins C and E plus n-3 fatty acids: molecular mechanisms and potential clinical applications. Clin Sci (Lond) 2013; 124: 1-15 [PMID: 22963444 DOI: 10.1042/CS20110663]
- 38 Raedschelders K, Ansley DM, Chen DD. The cellular and molecular origin of reactive oxygen species generation during myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. *Pharmacol Ther* 2012; 133: 230-255 [PMID: 22138603 DOI: 10.1016/j.pharmthe ra.2011.11.004]
- 39 Alcendor RR, Gao S, Zhai P, Zablocki D, Holle E, Yu X, Tian B, Wagner T, Vatner SF, Sadoshima J. Sirt1 regulates aging and resistance to oxidative stress in the heart. *Circ Res* 2007; 100: 1512-1521 [PMID: 17446436 DOI: 10.1161/01. RES.0000267723.65696.4a]
- 40 Vinciguerra M, Santini MP, Martinez C, Pazienza V, Claycomb WC, Giuliani A, Rosenthal N. mIGF-1/JNK1/SirT1 signaling confers protection against oxidative stress in the

heart. Aging Cell 2012; 11: 139-149 [PMID: 22051242 DOI: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00766.x]

- 41 Hsu CP, Zhai P, Yamamoto T, Maejima Y, Matsushima S, Hariharan N, Shao D, Takagi H, Oka S, Sadoshima J. Silent information regulator 1 protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion. *Circulation* 2010; 122: 2170-2182 [PMID: 21060073 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.958033]
- 42 Daitoku H, Hatta M, Matsuzaki H, Aratani S, Ohshima T, Miyagishi M, Nakajima T, Fukamizu A. Silent information regulator 2 potentiates Foxo1-mediated transcription through its deacetylase activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2004; 101: 10042-10047 [PMID: 15220471 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0400593101]
- 43 Hasegawa K, Wakino S, Yoshioka K, Tatematsu S, Hara Y, Minakuchi H, Sueyasu K, Washida N, Tokuyama H, Tzukerman M, Skorecki K, Hayashi K, Itoh H. Kidney-specific overexpression of Sirt1 protects against acute kidney injury by retaining peroxisome function. J Biol Chem 2010; 285: 13045-13056 [PMID: 20139070 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M109.067728]
- 44 Lombard DB, Alt FW, Cheng HL, Bunkenborg J, Streeper RS, Mostoslavsky R, Kim J, Yancopoulos G, Valenzuela D, Murphy A, Yang Y, Chen Y, Hirschey MD, Bronson RT, Haigis M, Guarente LP, Farese RV, Weissman S, Verdin E, Schwer B. Mammalian Sir2 homolog SIRT3 regulates global mitochondrial lysine acetylation. *Mol Cell Biol* 2007; 27: 8807-8814 [PMID: 17923681 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.01636-07]
- 45 Chen Y, Zhang J, Lin Y, Lei Q, Guan KL, Zhao S, Xiong Y. Tumour suppressor SIRT3 deacetylates and activates manganese superoxide dismutase to scavenge ROS. EMBO Rep 2011; 12: 534-541 [PMID: 21566644 DOI: 10.1038/embor.2011.65]
- 46 Qiu X, Brown K, Hirschey MD, Verdin E, Chen D. Calorie restriction reduces oxidative stress by SIRT3-mediated SOD2 activation. *Cell Metab* 2010; 12: 662-667 [PMID: 21109198 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2010.11.015]
- 47 Zhao S, Xu W, Jiang W, Yu W, Lin Y, Zhang T, Yao J, Zhou L, Zeng Y, Li H, Li Y, Shi J, An W, Hancock SM, He F, Qin L, Chin J, Yang P, Chen X, Lei Q, Xiong Y, Guan KL. Regulation of cellular metabolism by protein lysine acetylation. *Science* 2010; 327: 1000-1004 [PMID: 20167786 DOI: 10.1126/science.1179689]
- 48 Someya S, Yu W, Hallows WC, Xu J, Vann JM, Leeuwenburgh C, Tanokura M, Denu JM, Prolla TA. Sirt3 mediates reduction of oxidative damage and prevention of age-related hearing loss under caloric restriction. *Cell* 2010; 143: 802-812 [PMID: 21094524 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.002]
- 49 Choudhary C, Kumar C, Gnad F, Nielsen ML, Rehman M, Walther TC, Olsen JV, Mann M. Lysine acetylation targets protein complexes and co-regulates major cellular functions. *Science* 2009; 325: 834-840 [PMID: 19608861 DOI: 10.1126/science.1173371]
- 50 Palacios OM, Carmona JJ, Michan S, Chen KY, Manabe Y, Ward JL, Goodyear LJ, Tong Q. Diet and exercise signals regulate SIRT3 and activate AMPK and PGC-1alpha in skeletal muscle. Aging (Albany NY) 2009; 1: 771-783 [PMID: 20157566]
- 51 Sundaresan NR, Gupta M, Kim G, Rajamohan SB, Isbatan A, Gupta MP. Sirt3 blocks the cardiac hypertrophic response by augmenting Foxo3a-dependent antioxidant defense mechanisms in nuice. J Clin Invest 2009; 119: 2758-2771 [PMID: 19652361 DOI: 10.1172/JCI39162]
- 52 Jacobs KM, Pennington JD, Bisht KS, Aykin-Burns N, Kim HS, Mishra M, Sun L, Nguyen P, Ahn BH, Leclerc J, Deng CX, Spitz DR, Gius D. SIRT3 interacts with the daf-16 homolog FOXO3a in the mitochondria, as well as increases FOXO3a dependent gene expression. Int J Biol Sci 2008; 4: 291-299 [PMID: 18781224]
- 53 Kong X, Wang R, Xue Y, Liu X, Zhang H, Chen Y, Fang F, Chang Y. Sirtuin 3, a new target of PGC-1alpha, plays an important role in the suppression of ROS and mitochondrial

IS Tet

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

biogenesis. PLoS One 2010; 5: e11707 [PMID: 20661474 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011707]

- 54 Andrews DT, Royse C, Royse AG. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in anaesthesia-triggered cellular protection during ischaemia-reperfusion injury. Anaesth Intensive Care 2012; 40: 46-70 [PMID: 22313063]
- 55 Halestrap AP. Calcium, mitochondria and reperfusion injury: a pore way to die. Biochem Soc Trans 2006; 34: 232-237 [PMID: 16545083 DOI: 10.1042/BST20060232]
- 56 Halestrap AP, Clarke SJ, Javadov SA. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening during myocardial reperfusion--a target for cardioprotection. *Cardiovasc Res* 2004; 61: 372-385 [PMID: 14962470 DOI: 10.1016/ 50008-6363(03)00333-9]
- 57 Shahzad T, Kasseckert SA, Iraqi W, Johnson V, Schulz R, Schlüter KD, Dörr O, Parahuleva M, Hamm C, Ladilov Y, Abdallah Y. Mechanisms involved in postconditioning protection of cardiomyocytes against acute reperfusion injury. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 2013; 58: 209-216 [PMID: 23328483 DOI: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.01.003]
- 58 Hafner AV, Dai J, Gomes AP, Xiao CY, Palmeira CM, Rosenzweig A, Sinclair DA. Regulation of the mPTP by SIRT3mediated deacetylation of CypD at lysine 166 suppresses age-related cardiac hypertrophy. *Aging* (Albany NY) 2010; 2: 914-923 [PMID: 21212461]
- 59 Ahuja N, Schwer B, Carobbio S, Waltregny D, North BJ, Castronovo V, Maechler P, Verdin E. Regulation of insulin secretion by SIRT4, a mitochondrial ADP-ribosyltransferase. J Biol Chem 2007; 282: 33583-33592 [PMID: 17715127 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M705488200]
- 60 Schlicker C, Gertz M, Papatheodorou P, Kachholz B, Becker CF, Steegborn C. Substrates and regulation mechanisms for the human mitochondrial sirtuins Sirt3 and Sirt5. J Mol Biol 2008; 382: 790-801 [PMID: 18680753 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.07.048]
- 61 Eltzschig HK, Collard CD. Vascular ischaemia and reperfusion injury. Br Med Bull 2004; 70: 71-86 [PMID: 15494470 DOI: 10.1093/bmb/ldh025]
- 62 Schmitt CA, Heiss EH, Dirsch VM. Effect of resveratrol on endothelial cell function: Molecular mechanisms. *Biofactors* 2010; 36: 342-349 [PMID: 20730905 DOI: 10.1002/biof.109]
- 63 Ota H, Eto M, Ogawa S, Iijima K, Akishita M, Ouchi Y. SIRT1/eNOS axis as a potential target against vascular senescence, dysfunction and atherosclerosis. J Atheroscler Thromb 2010; 17: 431-435 [PMID: 20215708]
- 64 Donato AJ, Magerko KA, Lawson BR, Durrant JR, Lesniewski LA, Seals DR. SIRT-1 and vascular endothelial dysfunction with ageing in mice and humans. J Physiol 2011; 589: 4545-4554 [PMID: 21746786 DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.211219]
- 65 Mattagajasingh I, Kim CS, Naqvi A, Yamamori T, Hoffman TA, Jung SB, DeRicco J, Kasuno K, Irani K. SIRT1 promotes endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation by activating endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007; 104: 14855-14860 [PMID: 17785417 DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.0704329104]
- 66 Nadtochiy SM, Yao H, McBurney MW, Gu W, Guarente L, Rahman I, Brookes PS. SIRT1-mediated acute cardioprotection. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2011; 301: H1506-H1512 [PMID: 21856913 DOI: 10.1152/ajpheart.00587.2011]
- 67 Dong W, Li F, Pan Z, Liu S, Yu H, Wang X, Bi S, Zhang W. Resveratrol ameliorates subacute intestinal ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Surg Res 2013; 185: 182-189 [PMID: 23735732 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.05.013]
- 68 Liu JC, Chen JJ, Chan P, Cheng CF, Cheng TH. Inhibition of cyclic strain-induced endothelin-1 gene expression by resveratrol. *Hypertension* 2003; 42: 1198-1205 [PMID: 14623829]
- 69 Zou JG, Wang ZR, Huang YZ, Cao KJ, Wu JM. Effect of red wine and wine polyphenol resveratrol on endothelial function in hypercholesterolemic rabbits. Int J Mol Med 2003; 11:

Pantazi E et al. Sirtuins 1 and 3 in IRI

317-320 [PMID: 12579333]

- 70 Liu Z, Song Y, Zhang X, Liu Z, Zhang W, Mao W, Wang W, Cui W, Zhang X, Jia X, Li N, Han C, Liu C. Effects of transresveratrol on hypertension-induced cardiac hypertrophy using the partially nephrectomized rat model. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 2005; 32: 1049-1054 [PMID: 16445570 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.2005.04303.x]
- 71 Yang J, Wang N, Li J, Zhang J, Feng P. Effects of resveratrol on NO secretion stimulated by insulin and its dependence on SIRT1 in high glucose cultured endothelial cells. *Endocrine* 2010; 37: 365-372 [PMID: 20960276 DOI: 10.1007/ s12020-010-9314-8]
- 72 Fondevila C, Busuttil RW, Kupiec-Weglinski JW. Hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury--a fresh look. Exp Mol Pathol 2003; 74: 86-93 [PMID: 12710939]
- 73 Stein S, Matter CM. Protective roles of SIRT1 in atherosclerosis. Cell Cycle 2011; 10: 640-647 [PMID: 21293192 DOI: 10.4161/cc.10.4.14863]
- 74 Stein S, Schäfer N, Breitenstein A, Besler C, Winnik S, Lohmann C, Heinrich K, Brokopp CE, Handschin C, Landmesser U, Tanner FC, Lüscher TF, Matter CM. SIRT1 reduces endothelia activation without affecting vascular function in ApoE-/- mice. Aging (Albany NY) 2010; 2: 353-360 [PMID: 20606253]
- 75 Hernández-Jiménez M, Hurtado O, Cuartero MI, Ballesteros I, Moraga A, Pradillo JM, McBurney MW, Lizasoain I, Moro MA. Silent information regulator 1 protects the brain against cerebral ischemic damage. *Stroke* 2013; 44: 2333-2337 [PMID: 23723308 DOI: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001715]
- 76 Kosieradzki M, Rowiński W. Ischemia/reperfusion injury in kidney transplantation: mechanisms and prevention. *Transplant Proc* 2008; 40: 3279-3288 [PMID: 19100373 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.10.004]
- 77 Bordone L, Cohen D, Robinson A, Motta MC, van Veen E, Czopik A, Steele AD, Crowe H, Marmor S, Luo J, Gu W, Guarente L. SIRT1 transgenic mice show phenotypes resembling calorie restriction. Aging Cell 2007; 6: 759-767 [PMID: 17877786 DOI: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2007.00335.x]
- 78 Satoh A, Brace CS, Rensing N, Cliften P, Wozniak DF, Herzog ED, Yamada KA, Imai S. Sirt1 extends life span and delays aging in mice through the regulation of Nk2 homeobox 1 in the DMH and LH. Cell Metab 2013; 18: 416-430 [PMID: 24011076 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.07.013]
- 79 Radak Z, Koltai E, Taylor AW, Higuchi M, Kumagai S, Ohno H, Goto S, Boldogh I. Redox-regulating sirtuins in aging, caloric restriction, and exercise. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2013; 58: 87-97 [PMID: 23339850 DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.01.004]
- 80 Vaziri H, Dessain SK, Ng Eaton E, Imai SI, Frye RA, Pandita TK, Guarente L, Weinberg RA. hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase. *Cell* 2001; 107: 149-159 [PMID: 11672523]
- 81 Cheng HL, Mostoslavsky R, Saito S, Manis JP, Gu Y, Patel P, Bronson R, Appella E, Alt FW, Chua KF. Developmental defects and p53 hyperacetylation in Sir2 homolog (SIRT1)deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2003; 100: 10794-10799 [PMID: 12960381 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1934713100]
- 82 Anekonda TS, Adamus G. Resveratrol prevents antibodyinduced apoptotic death of retinal cells through upregulation of Sirt1 and Ku70. *BMC Res Notes* 2008; 1: 122 [PMID: 19046449 DOI: 10.1186/1756-0500-1-122]
- 83 Jeong J, Juhn K, Lee H, Kim SH, Min BH, Lee KM, Cho MH, Park GH, Lee KH. SIRT1 promotes DNA repair activity and deacetylation of Ku70. *Exp Mol Med* 2007; 39: 8-13 [PMID: 17334224]
- 84 Fan H, Yang HC, You L, Wang YY, He WJ, Hao CM. The histone deacetylase, SIRT1, contributes to the resistance of young mice to ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int* 2013; 83: 404-413 [PMID: 23302720 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2012.394]
- 85 Brunet A, Sweeney LB, Sturgill JF, Chua KF, Greer PL, Lin Y,

www.wjgnet.com

Pantazi E et al. Sirtuins 1 and 3 in IRI

Tran H, Ross SE, Mostoslavsky R, Cohen HY, Hu LS, Cheng HL, Jedrychowski MP, Gygi SP, Sinclair DA, Alt FW, Greenberg ME. Stress-dependent regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase. *Science* 2004; 303: 2011-2015 [PMID: 14976264 DOI: 10.1126/science.1094637]

- 86 Yeung F, Hoberg JE, Ramsey CS, Keller MD, Jones DR, Prye RA, Mayo MW. Modulation of NF-kappaB-dependent transcription and cell survival by the SIRT1 deacetylase. *EMBO J* 2004; 23: 2369-2380 [PMID: 15152190 DOI: 10.1038/ sj.emboj.7600244]
- 87 Zhao G, Ma H, Shen X, Xu GF, Zhu YL, Chen B, Tie R, Qu P, Lv Y, Zhang H, Yu J. Role of glycogen synthase kinase 3β in protective effect of propofol against hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Surg Res 2013; 185: 388-398 [PMID: 23743186 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.05.004]
- 88 Cui J, Li Z, Qian LB, Gao Q, Wang J, Xue M, Lou XE, Bruce IC, Xia Q, Wang HP. Reducing the oxidative stress mediates the cardioprotection of bicyclol against ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 2013; 14: 487-495 [PMID: 23733425 DOI: 10.1631/jzus.B1200263]
- 89 Chen CJ, Fu YC, Yu W, Wang W. SIRT3 protects cardiomyocytes from oxidative stress-mediated cell death by activating NF-KB. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2013; 430: 798-803 [PMID: 23201401 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.11.066]
- 90 Pellegrini L, Pucci B, Villanova L, Marino ML, Marfe G, Sansone L, Vernucci E, Bellizzi D, Reali V, Fini M, Russo MA, Tafani M. SIRT3 protects from hypoxia and staurosporinemediated cell death by maintaining mitochondrial membrane potential and intracellular pH. Cell Death Differ 2012; 19: 1815-1825 [PMID: 22595756 DOI: 10.1038/cdd.2012.62]
- 91 Cheng Y, Ren X, Gowda AS, Shan Y, Zhang L, Yuan YS, Patel R, Wu H, Huber-Keener K, Yang JW, Liu D, Spratt TE, Yang JM. Interaction of Sirt3 with OGG1 contributes to repair of mitochondrial DNA and protects from apoptotic cell death under oxidative stress. *Cell Death Dis* 2013; 4: e731 [PMID: 23868064 DOI: 10.1038/cddis.2013.254]
- 92 Yang H, Yang T, Baur JA, Perez E, Matsui T, Carmona JJ, Lamming DW, Souza-Pinto NC, Bohr VA, Rosenzweig A, de Cabo R, Sauve AA, Sinclair DA. Nutrient-sensitive mitochondrial NAD+ levels dictate cell survival. *Cell* 2007; 130: 1095-1107 [PMID: 17889652 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.035]
- 93 Kim HS, Patel K, Muldoon-Jacobs K, Bisht KS, Aykin-Burns

N, Pennington JD, van der Meer R, Nguyen P, Savage J, Owens KM, Vassilopoulos A, Ozden O, Park SH, Singh KK, Abdulkadir SA, Spitz DR, Deng CX, Gius D. SIRT3 is a mitochondria-localized tumor suppressor required for maintenance of mitochondrial integrity and metabolism during stress. *Cancer Cell* 2010; 17: 41-52 [PMID: 20129246 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.023]

- 94 Allison SJ, Milner J. SIRT3 is pro-apoptotic and participates in distinct basal apoptotic pathways. *Cell Cycle* 2007; 6: 2669-2677 [PMID: 17957139 DOI: 10.4161/cc.6.21.4866]
- 95 Shi T, Fan GQ, Xiao SD. SIRT3 reduces lipid accumulation via AMPK activation in human hepatic cells. J Dig Dis 2010; 11: 55-62 [PMID: 20132432 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1751-2980.2009.00416.x]
- 96 Purushotham A, Schug TT, Xu Q, Surapureddi S, Guo X, Li X. Hepatocyte-specific deletion of SIRTI alters fatty acid metabolism and results in hepatic steatosis and inflammation. *Cell Metab* 2009; 9: 327-338 [PMID: 19356714 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2009.02.006]
- 97 Raval AP, Dave KR, Pérez-Pinzón MA. Resveratrol mimics ischemic preconditioning in the brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2006; 26: 1141-1147 [PMID: 16395277 DOI: 10.1038/ sj.jcbfm.9600262]
- 98 Nadtochiy SM, Redman E, Rahman I, Brookes PS. Lysine deacetylation in ischaemic preconditioning: the role of SIRT1. Cardiovasc Res 2011; 89: 643-649 [PMID: 20823277 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvq287]
- 99 Rane S, He M, Sayed D, Vashistha H, Malhotra A, Sadoshima J, Vatner DE, Vatner SF, Abdellatif M. Downregulation of miR-199a derepresses hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and Sirtuin 1 and recapitulates hypoxia preconditioning in cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 2009; 104: 879-886 [PMID: 19265035 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.193102]
- 100 Yan W, Fang Z, Yang Q, Dong H, Lu Y, Lei C, Xiong L. SirT1 mediates hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning-induced ischemic tolerance in rat brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2013; 33: 396-406 [PMID: 23299244 DOI: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.179]
- 101 Zaouali MA, Ben Mosbah I, Boncompagni E, Ben Abdennebi H, Mitjavila MT, Bartrons R, Freitas I, Rimola A, Roselló-Catafau J. Hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha accumulation in steatotic liver preservation: role of nitric oxide. World J Gastroenterol 2010; 16: 3499-3509 [PMID: 20653058]

P- Reviewers: Du C, Zhang Y S- Editor: Ma YJ L- Editor: Wang TQ E- Editor: Wang CH







Published by **Baishideng Publishing Group Co., Limited** Flat C, 23/F., Lucky Plaza,

315-321 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, China Fax: +852-65557188 Telephone: +852-31779906 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com http://www.wjgnet.com





© 2013 Baishideng Publishing Group Co., Limited. All rights reserved.

Advances in treatment strategies for ischemia reperfusion injury

Eirini Pantazi¹, Mohamed Bejaoui¹, Emma-Folch-Puy¹, René Adam²

and Joan Roselló-Catafau¹.

1. Experimental Hepatic Ischemia-Reperfusion Unit, Institute of Biomedical Research of Barcelona (IIBB-CSIC), Barcelona, 08036, Catalonia, Spain

 AP-HP Hôpital Paul Brousse, Centre Hepato-Biliaire, Univ Paris-Sud Villejuif, 75008 Paris, France

Correspondence to: Joan Rosello-Catafau, Professor, Experimental Pathology Department, IIBB-CSIC, C/ Rosello 161, 7th floor, 08036-Barcelona, Spain.

E-mail address: jrcbam@iibb.csic.es

Tel: +34 933638300; Fax: +34 933638301



Please download and read the instructions before proceeding to the peer review

Advances in treatment strategies for ischemia reperfusion injury

Journal:	Expert Opinion On Pharmacotherapy
Manuscript ID:	Draft
Manuscript Type:	Review
Keywords:	ischemia-reperfusion injury, clinical trial, inflammation, suboptimal grafts



Advances in treatment strategies for ischemia reperfusion injury

Abstract

Introduction: Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is a pathophysiological process that limits the outcome of various surgical interventions. Clinical trials, based on the data of experimental models, aim to prove whether a pharmacological/technical approach could be suitable for providing a beneficial effect in humans. Due to the complexity of IRI, few pharmacological treatments have reached to be investigated in clinical phase III.

Areas covered: In this review we report the clinical trials of phase III associated with IRI, which are mainly focused in brain and heart clinical situations. Future clinical trials of phase III might be focused on the advances of those of phase II, which include the administration of matrix metalloproteinases or caspases or P-selectin inhibitors and of anti-oxidant agents.

Expert opinion: More efforts to standardize the tools for evaluating the grade of organ function, as well as the application of techniques suitable for organs with increased vulnerability to IRI could be the objectives for future clinical trials.

Key words: clinical trial, inflammation, ischemia-reperfusion injury, suboptimal grafts

Abbreviations: IRI: ischemia-reperfusion injury; ATP: adenosine triphosphate; NHE: Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger; mPTP: mitochondrial permeability transition pore; CABG: coronary artery bypass graft; MI: myocardial infarction; PLP: Pyridoxal 5-phosphate; LV: left ventricular; ECCM: extracellular collagen matrix; MMPs: matrix

metalloproteinases; NAC: N-Acetylcysteine; rPSGL-Ig: recombinant P-selectin glycoprotein ligand IgG; MP: machine perfusion

tor peer periew only

1. Introduction

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is an inevitable situation in a wide range of surgical settings and has an important impact on the clinical outcome [1]. It occurs when the blood supply is interrupted for a prolonged period of time and then it is restored. Although the involved IRI mechanisms have been the subject of extensive investigations, the effective strategies for its prevention, are still lacking.

It is well known that during the ischemic period, tissues are deprived of oxygen and nutrients leading to cellular metabolism breakdown. Besides this, a more severe damage is provoked to the ischemic tissue when blood flow is restored (reperfusion) which extend inflammation and necrotic and apoptotic events leading finally to the organ failure [2, 3]. IRI mechanisms are highly complex and involve the interaction between different molecular pathways which justify further clinical investigations for the development of therapeutic assays in order to combat IRI detrimental effects.

It is well described that clinical trials aim to examine whether a medical strategy could present a beneficial impact without adverse effects in humans. For safety purposes, clinical trials are carried out firstly with small groups of patients (phase I) to discard any potential harm. Furthermore, important aspects related to the design of the protocol, such as the doses, route or timing of administration are established. In the clinical trial of phase II, the number of participants is augmented and the main objective is to determine whether the drug has sufficient biological activity against the disease and evaluate its safety. If the treatment complies with the predefined clinical end points, further investigation is accomplished in a clinical trial of phase III. In this case, a large group of patients (including thousands) participate in order to confirm its effectiveness, examine the side effects and compare the obtaining results to those for a standard

treatment. Once the drug has been marketed, further investigation is realized in order to evaluate information on the drug's effect in various populations, as well as any potential side effect associated with its long-term use (phase IV) [4]. To provide reliable results, the studies follow strict scientific standards. Clinical studies must always be approved by an Institutional Review Board; an independent committee of physicians and statisticians that assure that the study complies with the ethical laws and the rights and welfare of the participants are protected. The final result of clinical trials is the advances in medical knowledge and patient care.

The present review aims to present the last advances in clinical trials phase III for situations associated to IRI. For this reason, a general overview of the factors and mediators that contribute to IRI is firstly presented. Then, the results and the molecular basis of clinical studies of phase III are analyzed. Moreover, recent clinical studies of phase II that can potentiate the design of new clinical trials of phase III are commented. This review was only based on the published results in Pubmed website considering the selective search for clinical trials of phase III or II.

2. Pathophysiology of ischemia-reperfusion injury

IRI is a complex pathophysiology process that is inherent to organ surgery. Ischemia is characterized by oxygen deprivation to the organ. Energy metabolism is breakdown and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis in inhibited leading to the increased intracellular acidosis. In these conditions, the action of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE) is stimulated and resulted in an increased Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ influx [5].

During reperfusion, the NHE is further activated and the final result is a high intracellular increase of Ca²⁺ [6]. This Ca²⁺ accumulation and the return of intracellular pH to normal values provokes the opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition

pore (mPTP) in the inner mitochondrial membrane, allowing a free passage of protons and small molecules. This fact are responsible for the irreversible cell damage andl death through two main mechanisms. First of all, colloidal osmotic pressure is raised that causes mitochondria swelling and breakdown of the outer membrane. Mitochondrial proteins, such as cytochrome c, are released in the intermembrane space, activate caspases and further initiate apoptotic pathways. In addition, the disruption of the oxidative phosphorylation leads to the activation of degradation enzymes such as phospholipases, nucleases, and proteases [7].

Inhibition of respiratory chain can also promote a rapid and extensive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by mitochondria. Also, ROS are generated by xanthine oxidase, NADPH oxidase, as well as by the activated Kupffer cells and neutrophils. ROS have deleterious effects on various cellular functions; ROS damage various biomolecules, including nucleic acids, membrane lipids, enzymes, and receptors. Peroxidation of membrane lipids can disrupt membrane fluidity and cell compartmentalization, which can result in cell lysis. Also, lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation may contribute to the impaired cellular function and cell death [8, 9]

In addition ROS generation also promote Kupffer cells activation and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines including tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF-a) and interleukin-1b (IL-1b). These chemokines are responsible for neutrophil recruiting and their adhesion to the sinusoidal cell and hepatocytes. Neutrophils further release ROS as well as proteolytic enzymes (elastases, proteinases, and collagenases), which can degrade components of the extracellular matrix, attack cells, and inactivate various proteins such as immunoglobulins and proteins of complement [10, 11]. The augmented production of chemokines in combination with the increased translocation of P-selectin to the surface of endothelial cells and platelets promote the adherence of leukocytes to the

microvascular endothelium, contributing thus to an exacerbated inflammatory response and tissue injury. A brief summary of the most important mediators are shown in figure 1.

Given that IRI significantly limits the clinical outcome in various surgical procedures and minimizing its adverse effects could dramatically alleviate the extent of organ failure. For this reason, more clinical trials should be attempted in order to explore effective methods for improving clinical treatments for IRI. Along these lines we discuss the relevance of the different clinical trials targeting IRI in phase III, as follows.

3. Clinical trials of phase III

3.1. Heart

There are very few studies of clinical phase III concerning complex circumstances associated with IRI. Most studies have been proposed for combating cardiac damage in situations where low-flow states are followed by immediate recovery of flow, as happens in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery. CABG is a type of surgery that improves blood flow to the heart and is commonly used to treat people with severe coronary heart disease [12]. According a study realized in the decade of 90s, CABG procedure is widely used in United States (approximately 400000 per year), but 3% of patients die within 30 days of surgery [13]. CABG is usually accompanied by serious complications including myocardial infarction (MI), arrhythmias, renal insufficiency, and stroke. Many of these are attributable to the process of IRI [13, 14]. Consequently, the development of strategies able to significantly attenuate IRI could also improve the outcome of CABG.

3.1.a. Inhibitors of the complement system

Pro-inflammatory pathways, such as activation of complement, can result in thrombosis, myocardial injury and MI and subsequently increase the postoperative morbidity and mortality after CABG. The complement consists of a family of circulating proteins, such as enzymes and cofactors, as well as the receptors for complement factors such as C5a. The complement system can be activated by IgM or IgG antigen/antibody binding, the presence of microbial cell surfaces or by the binding with the glucosamine residues on bacterial cell walls. The activated complement promotes phagocytosis and inflammation in order to confer protection against the bacterial and viral invasion [15]. However, it can also provoke tissue damage [16, 17]. In addition, it has been shown that IRI induces an early activation of the complement system and subsequent initiation of inflammation [18]. In this case, C5b assemblies other molecules of the component and the resulting complex leads to the formation of a tube, which is inserted into the plasma membrane and induces the cellular lysis [19]. Apart from the cell injury, the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators and the recruitment of inflammatory cells and leukocyte adhesion to endothelium is enhanced [20].

Clinical trials have already shown the beneficial effect of pexelizumab , a C5 complement inhibitor, in the end point of death and MI in patients undergoing CABG surgery without concomitant valve surgery, but not in case of CABG with concomitant valve surgery [21, 22]. Then, pexelizumab was tested in a CABG (with or without valve replacement) surgery trial of phase 3 which involved the participation of 3,099 patients (PRIMO-CABG trial) [23]. In this trial, patients had one or more risk factors (diabetes, female gender, a history of congestive heart failure/MI /cerebral vascular accident /transient ischemic attack/urgent surgical intervention/prior CABG). Patients were randomly assigned to receive either an intravenous pexelizumab/placebo (2.0 mg/kg)

followed by a 24-hour infusion (0.05 mg/kg/hour) 10 minutes prior to initiating cardiopulmonary bypass. The investigators concluded that pexelizumab treatment could not confer a significant reduction in the composite endpoint of death or MI through day 30 in the population of CABG without valve replacement. However, pexelizumab did have a beneficial effect in the intent-to-treat population of patients undergoing CABG without or without concurrent valve surgery.

Moreover, as patients with various risk factors require a prolonged (≥90 minutes) crossclamp time, a sub analysis of the original PRIMO-CABG trial was realized in order to investigate the potential effect of complement inhibition on post-operative myocardial injury and morbidity after prolonged aortic cross-clamp time [24]. In this phase III clinical study, inhibition of terminal complement activation with pexelizumab reduced the degree of myocardial tissue injury after prolonged ischemia. Moreover, it improved postoperative outcomes across the entire population, including the higher risk patients who were susceptible to increased postoperative morbidity and mortality after prolonged cross-clamp time.

3.1.b. Antagonists of purinergic receptors

ATP plays a central role in cellular metabolism but also can be an extracellular messenger that activates a family of cell surface receptors, the P2 receptor family, in order to promote various physiological responses. P2 receptors are found in the central nervous system and peripheral tissues and can be activated by ATP or ADP. The physiological consequences of activation of P2 receptors by ATP include contractile responses of cardiac, vascular, and smooth muscle; excitatory and inhibitory effects on neurons; stimulatory and inhibitory effects on ion, hormone, platelet, and inflammatory cell secretions [25]. In normal physiological conditions, ATP is co-released with various neurotransmitters such as acetylcholine and regulates physiological functions, such as

the contraction of the heart muscle. On the other hand, a sudden increase of ATP accompanied by a prolonged opening of P2 channels can result in the activation of a non-desensitizing channel; provoking Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ influx and K⁺ efflux. The final result could be plasma membrane depolarization, swelling and disaggregation of the cytoskeletal network and finally cell death or cardiac arrhythmia [26, 27].

Pyridoxal 5-phosphate (PLP) is the biologically active form of pyridoxine (vitamin B6) and catalyzes various biochemical reactions, including biosynthesis of amino acids and amino sugars and lipid metabolism. Further, PLP is an important coenzyme for the synthesis of neurotransmitters, such as dopamine [28]. PLP also exerts an antagonistic effect on purinergic receptors, affecting the ATP-induced increase in Ca²⁺ [29]. Consequently, the administration of a drug that acts as antagonist of purinergic receptors could be promising for limiting IRI, by preventing calcium entry into cells. This fact led to the development of MC-1, a drug that contains PLP and the investigation of its potential effects. Indeed, in a rat model of focal embolic stroke, MC-1 has been found to be neuroprotective, as significantly reduced the infarct volume and improved functional recovery [30, 31]. Further, in a randomized trial of phase II with high-risk patients for ischemic complications, treatment with MC-1 was associated with decreased myocardial injury [30, 31].

In a phase III, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial (MEND-CABG II) was evaluated the effect of MC-1, 250 mg/d, given preoperatively and for 30 days postoperatively on cardiovascular death or nonfatal MI in high-risk patients undergoing CABG surgery [32]. Briefly, as high-risk patients were persons aged of older than 65 years; smokers; persons suffered from diabetes mellitus, stroke, heart failure, renal dysfunction or MI. The study concluded that administration of MC-1 at 250 mg/d immediately before and for 30 days following CABG surgery, did not

lessen cardiovascular death or nonfatal MI in high-risk patients. However, the authors did not exclude the possibility that it may be efficient in populations of elevated risk of IRI, such as patients with acute MI, shock, prolonged valve surgery or that a different dose could provide different results.

3.1.c. Na+/H+ exchanger inhibitor

NHE is considered to be an important mediator of IRI, as previously mentioned. Consequently, inhibitors of NHE have been proposed to be a useful tool to combat IRI [6, 33] and a phase II clinical trial confirmed that cariporide, a NHE-1 inhibitor, is a safe drug to be used in patients undergoing CABG [34]. Thus, the EXPEDITION (for Na⁺/H⁺ Exchange inhibition to Prevent coronary Events in acute cardiac condition), the first clinical study phase III for evaluating the efficacy of inhibiting NHE, was assessed in order to evaluate its potential efficacy in preventing the death or the MI in patients undergoing CABG [35]. Cariporide showed to be cardioprotective, as it decreased the incidence of MI, but its neurologic effects preclude its use at the present time.

NHE inhibitors show cardioprotective effects but it seems to be necessary to discover NHE inhibitors that do not exhibit neurotoxicity. In this sense, the administration of TY-51924, a NHE inhibitor that contains an additional water-soluble functional group, has been developed and it has been shown that not only it protects heart against IRI, but also presents a low distribution to central nervous system [36]. Taking this into account, a clinical phase II study is aimed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of TY-51924 at 30 mg/kg in patients with MI undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI).

3.2. Brain

3.2.a. Anti-thrombotic drug

Ischemic stroke is a pathophysiology that affects about 22 million people per year, of whom 4 million come from high-income countries [37, 38]. Ischemic stroke is provoked when blood circulation is blocked in a part of the brain and subsequently results in an important loss of neurologic function. Strokes usually result from a thrombus that is traveling into the central circulation and finally occludes a blood vessel. Regulation of blood homeostasis is an important factor that can affect the sequences of stroke [39]. Fibrin and the tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) are important components of blood homeostasis. Fibrin contributes to clot formation and thus prevents blood bleeding. On the other hand, tPA converts the inactive zymogen plasminogen into the active protease plasmin, which catalyzes the digestion of fibrin and thus promotes clot dissolution. Consequently, it has been tested the efficiency of recombinant tPA (rtPA or alteplase) treatment in order to achieve the restoration of blood flow through thrombolysis (breakdown of blood clots) and thus attenuate ischemic tissue damage.

Although various studies have evidenced the beneficial use of rtPA against stoke [40, 41], its benefits are limited due to the increased incidence of intracerebral hemorrhage. Thus, these studies have proposed that in order to attenuate the risk of hemorrhage and to augment the potential for recovery, it is essential an immediate treatment (within 90-180 minutes of the onset of the symptoms) with less than 0.95 mg of t-PA per kilogram of body weight. Longer intervals from the onset of stoke have also been studied [42], which resulted in the acquisition of a licence for the use of rt-PA within 3 h of ischaemic stroke in USA (1996) and Europe (2002) [43]. However, a more recent clinical study evidenced that treatment with 0.9 mg of intravenous rTPA within 6 hours of symptom onset was not associated with enhanced brain metabolic recovery, a crucial

factor for ameliorating clinical outcome, after ischemic stroke [44]. Besides this, it still remains controversial the beneficial action of rTPA, as many doubts have been aroused concerning its final effects for the functional outcome or for people older than 80 years old, the time window for achieving a net benefit, as well as the contribution of other factors on the treatment outcome, such as stroke severity, use of antiplatelet drugs before stroke [43]. For example, it has been suggested that endovascular treatment could be combined with rTPA in order to achieve a rapid reperfusion and thus ameliorate the clinical outcome [45]. Thus, the use of recombinant human tissue plasminogen activator (t-PA) for cerebral arterial thrombolysis requires a careful evaluation of both the risks and the potential benefits.

4. Clinical trials of phase II

Following, we describe the most recent studies of phase II that can potentially be the basis for a future design of clinical studies of phase III. In this case, studies carried out in heart, liver and kidney, are reported.

4.1. Heart

4.1.a. MMPS inhibitors

A common consequence of MI is left ventricular (LV) remodeling, which contributes significantly to LV dysfunction and death. Remodeling of the extracellular collagen matrix (ECCM) plays a major role in LV remodeling. In response to MI, myocytes and their surrounding extracellular matrix reorganize resulting in progressive ventricular dilatation, wall thinning, and cardiac dysfunction. The ECCM is composed of highly organized proteins, such collagen type I and III, that form the structural scaffold of various tissues, including myocardium; thus they confer structural support and integrity to the adjoining myocytes, contributing thus to the proper LV pump [46]. Besides this,

in heart diseases, the myocardial matrix is degraded by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and not only the structural support is eliminated, but also the products of ECCM degradation, such as fibronectin, laminin, and elastin enhance the migration of cells like macrophages [47, 48]. Indeed, MMPs activation has been implicated in ECCM damage and LV remodeling, as well as in cardiac IRI [49, 50]. In this sense, MMPs inhibitors have been reported to reduce reperfusion injury [51].

One of the most potent MMPs inhibitors is doxycycline, which inhibits MMP-9 and -2, the two members MMPS that have been largely reported to play a significant role during MI and LV remodeling[48, 52-54] and various studies have associated the inhibitory effect of doxycycline in MMPs with improved LV function and attenuation of inflammation [55, 56]. Taking also into account that doxycycline belongs to tetracyclines, drugs with a well-known safety profile [57], the effects of doxycycline on LV remodelling in patients treated with acute myocardial infarction and LV dysfunction were evaluated in a randomized, phase II trial [58]. All the patients were treated with primary PCI and doxycycline was administered at 100 mg oral dose immediately after primary PCI and then every 12 h for 7 days. The time and the duration of doxycycline administration was in accordance with previous studies [55, 56], as the time of inhibiting MMPs seems to be a crucial factor for the final effect on LV remodeling; an early short-term MMPs inhibition after experimental MI provides a beneficial effect, in comparison to the unfavorable results of a prolonged MMPs inhibition [48, 59]. The study evidenced that this short-term treatment with doxycycline was efficient to lessen LV remodeling.

4.2. Liver

4.2.a. Caspase inhibitors

Studies in human liver transplantation have evidenced the presence of apoptosis after reperfusion and concluded that the intensity of apoptosis increases with hepatic injury and is related with delayed graft dysfunction [60, 61]. Consequently, inhibition of apoptosis may serve to decrease allograft reperfusion injury. In this sense, various studies investigated the potential effect of IDN-6556, an irreversible and broadspectrum caspase inhibitor, in cold ischemia and warm reperfusion [62, 63]. IDN-6556 administration was associated with decreased hepatic apoptosis and hepatic injury. Subsequently, a clinical phase II trial in liver transplantation aimed to evaluate whether the addition of IDN-6556 in the storage and flush solutions and in combination or not with its intravenous administration could ameliorate liver injury by reducing hepatic apoptosis, as well as the appearance of any possible side effect [64]. The study concluded that IDN-6556 lessened both reperfusion-mediated apoptosis and postoperative liver injury, without provoking any complication, when it was added to the storage and flush solutions. However, an additional intravenous administration of IDN-6556 abolished the previously observed protective effects. The investigators associated this paradoxical phenomenon with the process of turnover of neutrophils. Apoptosis is essential for neutrophil turnover and limitation of inflammation; aged neutrophils or neutrophils that have migrated to inflamed sites undergo apoptosis and thus they can be recognized and eliminated by macrophages [65]. Taking this into account, inhibition of caspases activation could reduce neutrophil apoptosis and consequently exaggerate the inflammatory response [66, 67]. Indeed, in the present study postoperative intravenous administration of IDN-6556 was associated with neutrophil infiltration in the liver, confirming thus the idea that when a caspase inhibitor

is provided in the later phases of cold ischemia and warm reperfusion could intensify the inflammatory process and thus limit its beneficial effect in inhibiting the overall liver apoptosis.

4.2.b. Anti-oxidant agents

As ROS generation is one of the most considerable features of IRI, investigations have been focused on the development of drugs that could provide an anti-oxidative effect. In this case, the antioxidants should penetrate the cell membrane in order to be able to localize the ROS and scavenge them. Glutathione (GSH) is one of the most important endogenous antioxidants and changes in hepatic GSH levels can be an indicator of postischemic hepatic injury [68, 69]. N-Acetylcysteine (NAC) is the acetylated precursor of both the amino acid L-cysteine and reduced GSH. NAC can easily enter to intracellular compartments and its reduced thiol groups can scavenge oxygen free radicals [70]. In addition, NAC has a very good safety profile, as no side effects dependent to dose have been reported [71]. It has been demonstrated a protective effect of NAC administration against hepatic IRI; NAC prevented hepatic malfunction and inhibited the generation of free radicals and accumulation of neutrophils in the damaged hepatic tissue [72]. Furthermore, experimental animal models have evidenced that intravenous GSH administration decreased reperfusion injury after transplantation of both normal and fatty livers [73, 74].

In a recent prospective randomized study phase II, the potential clinical benefits of NAC infusions in patients with chronic liver disease undergoing liver transplantation with deceased donor livers were evaluated [71]. The protocol included the systemic NAC infusion 30 minutes before the initiation of the harvesting procedure. The study resulted in a significant amelioration of graft survival, through decreasing the risk of primary dysfunction and graft failure, after liver transplantation, even when older donors were

used. The authors supported the idea that early systemic infusion of NAC is necessary for the achievement of the protective effect, as in this way the liver can be effectively enriched with adequate reserves of GSH. Further advantages of the NAC administration were the absence of any adverse side effect and its low cost. Furthermore, melatonin, an hormone of pineal origin, can easily be diffused through the cell membrane and be distributed to all subcellular compartments, as it is soluble to both aqueous and lipid substances [75].

Various studies have evidenced the anti-oxidant capacity of melatonin and its beneficial effects against IRI in various organs [76-78]. As a result, the Melatonin Adjunct in the acute myocaRdial Infarction treated with Angioplasty (MARIA) trial, has been designed in order to examine whether an intravenous dose of melatonin (100 µM) would diminish infarct size in patients with acute MI [79].

4.2.c. P-selectin inhibitors

IRI contributes to poor early graft function or primary non-function in transplant recipients, partially through the induction of inflammatory process. One of the earliest events of IRI is the translocation of P-selectin to the surface of endothelial cells and platelets. This fact results in recruitment of polymorphonuclear leukocyte which further enhances endothelial P- and E- selectin expression and subsequently acute inflammatory changes [80-83]. Administration of monoclonal antibodies against P-selectin or studies in P-selectin-deficient mice have evidenced the protective effects of P-selectin against IRI [84-86]. Furthermore, treatment with a recombinant P-selectin antagonist, known as recombinant P-selectin glycoprotein ligand IgG (rPSGL-Ig) has been shown to be efficient against organ IRI in experimental settings; it decreased inflammatory responses and thus lessened hepatic and renal injury [80, 87, 88]. rPSGL-Ig also diminished hepatic neutrophil infiltration and improved survival and hepatic function in obese

Zucker rats that underwent liver "ex-vivo" cold ischemia followed by reperfusion or transplantation [89].

A single-center double blind placebo-controlled phase II study examined the potential efficacy of rPSGLIg in patients undergoing deceased-donor whole liver transplantation [90]. The study involved infusion of the donor liver with 20 mg rPSGL-Ig or placebo after liver graft retrieval via the portal vein and an intravenous dose of 1 mg/kg of rPSGL-Ig or placebo prior to arterial reperfusion. A beneficial impact of rPSGL-Ig on hepatic IRI and early liver graft function was evidenced, as indicated by consistently lower transaminases and bilirubin levels. Moreover, the investigators examined the transcript levels of biomarkers associated with hepatic IRI, such as the chemokine IP-10, the pro-inflammatory interleukin 6 (IL-6) and the anti-inflammatory interleukin 10 (IL-10) [91, 92]. Although the average differences were borderline statistically significant, the administration of rPSGLIg prevented IP-10 and IL-6 induction, whereas enhanced the cytoprotective biomarker IL-10 in comparison to placebo group. Furthermore, as similarly occurred in a previous clinical investigation [93], the administration of rPSGL-Ig was not accompanied with any side effect.

4.3. Kidney

4.3.a. P-selectin inhibitors

The potential efficacy of rPSGLIg was also investigated in patients undergoing deceased-donor kidney transplantation [94]. The trial involved a group of patients were rPSGLIg or placebo were administrated either intravenously only into the recipient or in both the recipient and in the donor organ flush. The study confirmed that no safety concerns were raised from using this drug in the peri-operative period. Considering the incidence of dialysis as a parameter for delayed graft function, it seems that rPSGLIg

did not provide a beneficial impact on renal graft function within the first seven posttransplant days. Moreover, the rPSGLIg administration to the donor organ flush tended to result in poorer short-term renal function than intravenously treatment alone. However, the investigators supported the notion that rPSGLIg treatment could be a favorable approach for ameliorating early renal graft function, as dialysis is not an absolutely reliable indicator for delayed graft function in the early postoperative period [95, 96], whereas decreased creatinine levels were present at day five in patients treated with rPSGLIg. Consequently, further clinical studies of phase 2 and phase 3 with more appropriate objective endpoints are needed to be established in order to evaluate the effect of rPSGLIg treatment in kidney transplantation.

5. Conclusions

There are few clinical trials that potentiate strategies able to minimize the adverse effects of IRI in various clinical situations. The majority of clinical trials of phase III has been carried out in cardiac experiments aiming to reduce MI and included inhibitors of complement system or NHE and purinergic receptors antagonists. An anti-thrombotic therapy has been proposed for ischemic stroke. In all of them, the proposed therapy failed to achieve the predetermined endpoint, whereas adverse effects like neurotoxicity or hemorrhage were evidenced in case of NHE inhibitor and anti-thrombotic drug respectively. Between the promising strategies to be examined in future trials of phase III, we can report the inhibitors of MMPs, caspases, P-selectin and anti-oxidant agents.

6. Expert opinion

Although the extensive investigations in defining the molecular mechanisms behind the IRI and the various therapeutic strategies proposed, few clinical studies at phase III achieved to provide encouraging results that ameliorate the clinical outcome. In all

Annex

Expert Opinion On Pharmacotherapy

cases, more clinical trials with more standardized protocols or including various risks factors are required in order to contribute to important advances in clinical therapy.

The fact that phase III clinical trials related to IRI were not accompanied by a complete success can be attributed to the complex pathophysiology of IRI. Various cell signaling pathways are activated during IRI and interact with each other successively; for example ROS enhance the inflammatory response and the activated neutrophils/Kupffer cells contribute to a more exacerbated ROS production. Clinical trials with pharmacological treatments usually aim to block a concrete target or signaling pathway. In this way they offer a partial solution to the situation, which is not always sufficient to provide the most complete protection with the best suppression of the bad side effects. With this in mind we suppose that the future investigations could try to examine the application of a combined use of drugs that could afford a multi target confrontation of IRI.

Clinical trials failed to show evidence for the success of a treatment, partially because there have not yet been established adequate biochemical determinations or biomarkers that reflect the organ function upon concrete conditions. Such is the case of rPSGLIg when administrated in patients undergoing kidney transplantation [94]. Considering the incidence of dialysis as a criterion for delayed graft function, rPSGLIg administration was not associated with improved renal function at the first seven post-transplant days, although it did decrease creatinine levels. Due to the fact that there is no consensus about the criteria for dialysis requirement, the decision for realizing dialysis in the early postoperative time depends on the protocols of each transplant center and in this way dialysis cannot be applied as an objective marker for evaluating early graft function. Thus, it is of crucial importance the choice and the establishment of appropriate parameters in order to evaluate the function/recovery of the organ.

Moreover, the appropriate route of administration may vary between the clinical trials of different phases, as patients with more serious disease aspects are evaluated in the more advanced phases of trials. For example, intravenous administration of caspase inhibitor IDN-6556 was found to be effective in a Phase I in patients with mild liver impairment [62]. However, this was not the case for patients with end-stage liver disease that needed to be submitted to transplantation when examined in a clinical phase II [64]. In this model that consisted of cold ischemia and warm reperfusion, the hepatic injury not only was not improved by the intravenous administration of IDN-6556, rather than it was exaggerated. Local organ treatment was found to be the most effective treatment. Consequently, the clinical trials should examine with more details the conditions upon which the route of administration is selected.

In addition, trials of phase III try to incorporate patients with various high risk factors so as to investigate the effect of the treatment in cases of increased vulnerability or injury. However, the predefined risk factors do not always present the same level of importance or intensity in the development of the disease. Besides this, clinical trials usually apply the same treatment for patients with different risk factors, a fact that can limit an appropriate interpretation of the results. For this reason, it would be better to examine the results by evaluating the impact of each risk factor separately.

In clinical transplantation field, the waiting lists for organ transplant are continuously growing, so physicians are obliged to use suboptimal grafts in order to increase donor's pool for transplantation. For example, suboptimal livers can be those characterized by steatosis, old donor age or grafts subjected to prolonged cold ischemia. Due to the fact that these organs are more vulnerable to IRI, they present an increased graft dysfunction and long-term survival problems after transplantation. For this reason, new clinical trials are needed in order to explore the most suitable strategies for rescuing suboptimal grafts

that are actually discarded for transplantation purposes. Between the trials analyzed, the use of anti-oxidant agents such NAC in liver transplantation provided favorable results for ameliorating graft function in older donors [71]. Antioxidant hormones as melatonin, whose levels decline with the age, could be combined with NAC and further ameliorate the organ function in older donor grafts. Other natural antioxidants as resveratrol could also be applied.

Fatty livers are characterized by an important accumulation of fat in hepatocytes which results in narrowing of the sinusoidal lumen and impaired tissue microcirculation and oxygen transfer. With this in mind, it could be of special interest the exploration of drugs that target to lessen the fat storage and subsequently diminish their vulnerability against IRI. Inhibitors of ubiquitin proteasome system, for example, could be an intriguing approach to evaluate, since a non-toxic low dose administration of bortezomib, a proteasome inhibitor, resulted in significant lipolysis in a rat experimental model [97]. In the same context, melatonin could be another promising candidate for decreasing fat accumulation, according to a recent hypothesis that melatonin might inhibit the ubiquitin proteasome system [98]. In this way, treatment with melatonin could combine both anti-oxidant and fat decreasing properties and thus with increased resistance against IRI. Apart from suboptimal grafts, clinical trials could also be centered to the development of strategies for organs highly vulnerable to IRI, including pancreas [99].

Machine perfusion (MP) techniques have recently emerged as an alternative preservation strategy for rescuing suboptimal graft [100]. For this reason, clinical transplantation trials should be focused on optimizing MP techniques. In this context, aspects concerning to the amelioration of perfusate solutions and to a better oxygenation of the graft should be attempted in the future for increasing the protection of high

207

vulnerable organs like pancreas and fatty livers. It also seems to be interesting the possible enrichment of perfusate solutions with drugs or natural products that could promote a better graft oxygenation and consequently ameliorate transplantation outcome.

Clinical trials are an indispensable step in order to evaluate the efficacy of a potential treatment in human populations. The choice of the appropriate biomarkers, a more profound examination of the impact of the various risks factors in the disease and the development of studies targeting to suboptimal grafts could be the goals for the future clinical trials.

Highlights

- Clinical trials for the prevention of IRI are limited, due to the multifactorial agents implicated in IRI pathophysiology
- Current clinical trials of phase III associated to IRI are mainly focused on heart and brain
- Future basis for phase III clinical trials might include MMPS/caspase/ P-selectin inhibitors and anti-oxidant agents
- The beneficial effects of drug therapy in clinical trials are limited by the potential side effects
- To the best of our knowledge, no phase III clinical trials have been established for the prevention of IRI in vulnerable organs such as pancreas and fatty liver

Acknowledgments

Supported by Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias (FIS PI12/00519). Eirini Pantazi is the recipient of a fellowship from Agència de Gestió d'Ajuts Universitaris i de Recerca (AGAUR, 2012FI_B00382), Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain.

Bibliography

- Kalogeris, T., et al., Cell biology of ischemia/reperfusion injury. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol, 2012. 298: p. 229-317.
- Eltzschig, H.K. and T. Eckle, Ischemia and reperfusion--from mechanism to translation. Nat Med, 2011. 17(11): p. 1391-401.
- Kono, H. and K.L. Rock, How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. 8(4): p. 279-89.
- Simon, R., Optimal two-stage designs for phase II clinical trials. Control Clin Trials, 1989. 10(1): p. 1-10.
- Allen, D.G. and X.H. Xiao, Role of the cardiac Na+/H+ exchanger during ischemia and reperfusion. Cardiovasc Res, 2003. 57(4): p. 934-41.
- Levitsky, J., D. Gurell, and W.H. Frishman, Sodium ion/hydrogen ion exchange inhibition: a new pharmacologic approach to myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Clin Pharmacol, 1998. 38(10): p. 887-97.
- Halestrap, A.P., S.J. Clarke, and S.A. Javadov, Mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening during myocardial reperfusion--a target for cardioprotection. Cardiovasc Res, 2004. 61(3): p. 372-85.
- Guan, L.Y., et al., Mechanisms of hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury and protective effects of nitric oxide. World J Gastrointest Surg, 2014. 6(7): p. 122-8.
- Reiter, R.J., et al., Free radical-mediated molecular damage. Mechanisms for the protective actions of melatonin in the central nervous system. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2001.
 939: p. 200-15.
- Danobeitia, J.S., A. Djamali, and L.A. Fernandez, *The role of complement in the pathogenesis of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and fibrosis.* Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair, 2014. 7: p. 16.
- 11. Jaeschke, H., *Molecular mechanisms of hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury and preconditioning*. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2003. **284**(1): p. G15-26.
- Rosamond, W., et al., Heart disease and stroke statistics--2008 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation, 2008. 117(4): p. e25-146.
- Ferguson, T.B., Jr., et al., A decade of change--risk profiles and outcomes for isolated coronary artery bypass grafting procedures, 1990-1999: a report from the STS National Database Committee and the Duke Clinical Research Institute. Society of Thoracic Surgeons. Ann Thorac Surg, 2002. 73(2): p. 480-9; discussion 489-90.
- Yellon, D.M. and D.J. Hausenloy, Myocardial reperfusion injury. N Engl J Med, 2007. 357(11): p. 1121-35.
- Arumugam, T.V., et al., Complement mediators in ischemia-reperfusion injury. Clin Chim Acta, 2006. 374(1-2): p. 33-45.
- Thurman, J.M., et al., Acute tubular necrosis is characterized by activation of the alternative pathway of complement. Kidney Int, 2005. 67(2): p. 524-30.
- Neumann, E., et al., Local production of complement proteins in rheumatoid arthritis synovium. Arthritis Rheum, 2002. 46(4): p. 934-45.
- Arumugam, T.V., et al., The role of the complement system in ischemia-reperfusion injury. Shock, 2004. 21(5): p. 401-9.
- Fondevila, C., et al., The membrane attack complex (C5b-9) in liver cold ischemia and reperfusion injury. Liver Transpl, 2008. 14(8): p. 1133-41.

- Guo, R.F. and P.A. Ward, Role of C5a in inflammatory responses. Annu Rev Immunol, 2005. 23: p. 821-52.
- Fitch, J.C., et al., Pharmacology and biological efficacy of a recombinant, humanized, single-chain antibody C5 complement inhibitor in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass. Circulation, 1999. 100(25): p. 2499-506.
- Shernan, S.K., et al., Impact of pexelizumab, an anti-C5 complement antibody, on total mortality and adverse cardiovascular outcomes in cardiac surgical patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass. Ann Thorac Surg, 2004. 77(3): p. 942-9; discussion 949-50.
- Verrier, E.D., et al., Terminal complement blockade with pexelizumab during coronary artery bypass graft surgery requiring cardiopulmonary bypass: a randomized trial. JAMA, 2004. 291(19): p. 2319-27.
- Smith, P.K., et al., Effect of pexelizumab in coronary artery bypass graft surgery with extended aortic cross-clamp time. Ann Thorac Surg, 2006. 82(3): p. 781-8; discussion 788-9.
- Burnstock, G. and M. Williams, P2 purinergic receptors: modulation of cell function and therapeutic potential. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2000. 295(3): p. 862-9.
- Vassort, G., Adenosine 5'-triphosphate: a P2-purinergic agonist in the myocardium. Physiol Rev, 2001. 81(2): p. 767-806.
- 27. Di Virgilio, F., et al., Cytolytic P2X purinoceptors. Cell Death Differ, 1998. 5(3): p. 191-9.
- Kandzari, D.E., et al., MC-1 (pyridoxal 5'-phosphate): novel therapeutic applications to reduce ischaemic injury. Expert Opin Investig Drugs, 2005. 14(11): p. 1435-42.
- Wang, X., et al., Pyridoxal 5'-phosphate is an ATP-receptor antagonist in freshly isolated rat cardiomyocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 1999. 31(5): p. 1063-72.
- Kandzari, D.E., et al., Reduction of myocardial ischemic injury following coronary intervention (the MC-1 to Eliminate Necrosis and Damage trial). Am J Cardiol, 2003. 92(6): p. 660-4.
- 31. Wang, C.X., et al., Role of MC-1 alone and in combination with tissue plasminogen activator in focal ischemic brain injury in rats. J Neurosurg, 2005. **103**(1): p. 165-9.
- Investigators, M.-C.I., et al., Efficacy and safety of pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (MC-1) in high-risk patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: the MEND-CABG II randomized clinical trial. JAMA, 2008. 299(15): p. 1777-87.
- Liu, H., P.M. Cala, and S.E. Anderson, Na/H exchange inhibition protects newborn heart from ischemia/reperfusion injury by limiting Na+-dependent Ca2+ overload. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 2010. 55(3): p. 227-33.
- Theroux, P., et al., Inhibition of the sodium-hydrogen exchanger with cariporide to prevent myocardial infarction in high-risk ischemic situations. Main results of the GUARDIAN trial. Guard during ischemia against necrosis (GUARDIAN) Investigators. Circulation, 2000. 102(25): p. 3032-8.
- Mentzer, R.M., Jr., et al., Sodium-hydrogen exchange inhibition by cariporide to reduce the risk of ischemic cardiac events in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: results of the EXPEDITION study. Ann Thorac Surg, 2008. 85(4): p. 1261-70.
- Aihara, K., et al., Cardioprotective effect of TY-12533, a novel Na(+)/H(+) exchange inhibitor, on ischemia/reperfusion injury. Eur J Pharmacol, 2000. 404(1-2): p. 221-9.
- Feigin, V.L., et al., Worldwide stroke incidence and early case fatality reported in 56 population-based studies: a systematic review. Lancet Neurol, 2009. 8(4): p. 355-69.
- Strong, K., C. Mathers, and R. Bonita, Preventing stroke: saving lives around the world. Lancet Neurol, 2007. 6(2): p. 182-7.
- Sheehan, J.J. and S.E. Tsirka, Fibrin-modifying serine proteases thrombin, tPA, and plasmin in ischemic stroke: a review. Glia, 2005. 50(4): p. 340-50.

- Haley, E.C., Jr., et al., Urgent therapy for stroke. Part II. Pilot study of tissue plasminogen activator administered 91-180 minutes from onset. Stroke, 1992. 23(5): p. 641-5.
- 41. Brott, T.G., et al., Urgent therapy for stroke. Part I. Pilot study of tissue plasminogen activator administered within 90 minutes. Stroke, 1992. 23(5): p. 632-40.
- Hacke, W., et al., Randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial of thrombolytic therapy with intravenous alteplase in acute ischaemic stroke (ECASS II). Second European-Australasian Acute Stroke Study Investigators. Lancet, 1998. 352(9136): p. 1245-51.
- Wardlaw, J.M., et al., Recombinant tissue plasminogen activator for acute ischaemic stroke: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet, 2012. 379(9834): p. 2364-72.
- Berrouschot, J., et al., Reperfusion and metabolic recovery of brain tissue and clinical outcome after ischemic stroke and thrombolytic therapy. Stroke, 2000. 31(7): p. 1545-51.
- Khatri, P., et al., *Time to angiographic reperfusion and clinical outcome after acute ischaemic stroke: an analysis of data from the Interventional Management of Stroke (IMS III) phase 3 trial.* Lancet Neurol, 2014. 13(6): p. 567-74.
- Spinale, F.G., Myocardial matrix remodeling and the matrix metalloproteinases: influence on cardiac form and function. Physiol Rev, 2007. 87(4): p. 1285-342.
- Fedak, P.W., et al., Matrix remodeling in experimental and human heart failure: a possible regulatory role for TIMP-3. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2003. 284(2): p. H626-34.
- Matsumura, S., et al., Targeted deletion or pharmacological inhibition of MMP-2 prevents cardiac rupture after myocardial infarction in mice. J Clin Invest, 2005. 115(3): p. 599-609.
- Jugdutt, B.I., Ventricular remodeling after infarction and the extracellular collagen matrix: when is enough enough? Circulation, 2003. 108(11): p. 1395-403.
- Kandasamy, A.D., et al., Matrix metalloproteinase-2 and myocardial oxidative stress injury: beyond the matrix. Cardiovasc Res, 2010. 85(3): p. 413-23.
- Ali, M.A., et al., Titin is a target of matrix metalloproteinase-2: implications in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Circulation, 2010. 122(20): p. 2039-47.
- Ducharme, A., et al., Targeted deletion of matrix metalloproteinase-9 attenuates left ventricular enlargement and collagen accumulation after experimental myocardial infarction. J Clin Invest, 2000. 106(1): p. 55-62.
- 53. Mukherjee, R., et al., *Myocardial infarct expansion and matrix metalloproteinase inhibition*. Circulation, 2003. **107**(4): p. 618-25.
- Webb, C.S., et al., Specific temporal profile of matrix metalloproteinase release occurs in patients after myocardial infarction: relation to left ventricular remodeling. Circulation, 2006. 114(10): p. 1020-7.
- Villarreal, F.J., et al., Early short-term treatment with doxycycline modulates postinfarction left ventricular remodeling. Circulation, 2003. 108(12): p. 1487-92.
- Garcia, R.A., K.V. Go, and F.J. Villarreal, Effects of timed administration of doxycycline or methylprednisolone on post-myocardial infarction inflammation and left ventricular remodeling in the rat heart. Mol Cell Biochem, 2007. 300(1-2): p. 159-69.
- Smith, K. and J.J. Leyden, Safety of doxycycline and minocycline: a systematic review. Clin Ther, 2005. 27(9): p. 1329-42.
- Cerisano, G., et al., Early short-term doxycycline therapy in patients with acute myocardial infarction and left ventricular dysfunction to prevent the ominous progression to adverse remodelling: the TIPTOP trial. Eur Heart J, 2014. 35(3): p. 184-91.

- Spinale, F.G., et al., Chronic matrix metalloproteinase inhibition following myocardial infarction in mice: differential effects on short and long-term survival. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2006. 318(3): p. 966-73.
- Kuo, P.C., et al., Apoptosis and hepatic allograft reperfusion injury. Clin Transplant, 1998. 12(3): p. 219-23.
- Clavien, P.A., P.R. Harvey, and S.M. Strasberg, Preservation and reperfusion injuries in liver allografts. An overview and synthesis of current studies. Transplantation, 1992. 53(5): p. 957-78.
- Valentino, K.L., et al., First clinical trial of a novel caspase inhibitor: anti-apoptotic caspase inhibitor, IDN-6556, improves liver enzymes. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther, 2003. 41(10): p. 441-9.
- Linton, S.D., et al., First-in-class pan caspase inhibitor developed for the treatment of liver disease. J Med Chem, 2005. 48(22): p. 6779-82.
- Baskin-Bey, E.S., et al., Clinical Trial of the Pan-Caspase Inhibitor, IDN-6556, in Human Liver Preservation Injury. Am J Transplant, 2007. 7(1): p. 218-25.
- Savill, J.S., et al., Macrophage phagocytosis of aging neutrophils in inflammation. Programmed cell death in the neutrophil leads to its recognition by macrophages. J Clin Invest, 1989. 83(3): p. 865-75.
- Khreiss, T., et al., Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase couples plateletactivating factor-induced adhesion and delayed apoptosis of human neutrophils. Cell Signal, 2004. 16(7): p. 801-10.
- Perianayagam, M.C., et al., C5a delays apoptosis of human neutrophils via an extracellular signal-regulated kinase and Bad-mediated signalling pathway. Eur J Clin Invest, 2004. 34(1): p. 50-6.
- Casini, A.F., et al., Lipid peroxidation, protein thiols and calcium homeostasis in bromobenzene-induced liver damage. Basic Life Sci, 1988. 49: p. 773-6.
- Pompella, A., et al., 4-Hydroxynonenal and other lipid peroxidation products are formed in mouse liver following intoxication with allyl alcohol. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1988. 961(3): p. 293-8.
- Holdiness, M.R., Clinical pharmacokinetics of N-acetylcysteine. Clin Pharmacokinet, 1991. 20(2): p. 123-34.
- D'Amico, F., et al., Use of N-acetylcysteine during liver procurement: a prospective randomized controlled study. Liver Transpl, 2013. 19(2): p. 135-44.
- Sener, G., et al., Melatonin and N-acetylcysteine have beneficial effects during hepatic ischemia and reperfusion. Life Sci, 2003. 72(24): p. 2707-18.
- Schauer, R.J., et al., Intravenous administration of glutathione protects parenchymal and non-parenchymal liver cells against reperfusion injury following rat liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol, 2004. 10(6): p. 864-70.
- Pratschke, S., et al., GSH attenuates organ injury and improves function after transplantation of fatty livers. Eur Surg Res, 2010. 45(1): p. 13-9.
- Reiter, R.J., Pineal melatonin: cell biology of its synthesis and of its physiological interactions. Endocr Rev, 1991. 12(2): p. 151-80.
- Rodriguez, C., et al., Regulation of antioxidant enzymes: a significant role for melatonin. J Pineal Res, 2004. 36(1): p. 1-9.
- Reiter, R.J. and D.X. Tan, Melatonin: a novel protective agent against oxidative injury of the ischemic/reperfused heart. Cardiovasc Res, 2003. 58(1): p. 10-9.
- Zaouali, M.A., et al., Melatonin protects steatotic and nonsteatotic liver grafts against cold ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Pineal Res, 2011. 50(2): p. 213-21.
- 79. Dominguez-Rodriguez, A., et al., A unicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled study of Melatonin as an Adjunct in patients with acute myocaRdial Infarction undergoing primary Angioplasty The Melatonin Adjunct in the acute

myocaRdial Infarction treated with Angioplasty (MARIA) trial: study design and rationale. Contemp Clin Trials, 2007. **28**(4): p. 532-9.

- Takada, M., et al., The cytokine-adhesion molecule cascade in ischemia/reperfusion injury of the rat kidney. Inhibition by a soluble P-selectin ligand. J Clin Invest, 1997. 99(11): p. 2682-90.
- Lentsch, A.B., et al., Inflammatory mechanisms and therapeutic strategies for warm hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury. Hepatology, 2000. 32(2): p. 169-73.
- Khandoga, A., et al., P-selectin mediates platelet-endothelial cell interactions and reperfusion injury in the mouse liver in vivo. Shock, 2002. 18(6): p. 529-35.
- Chamoun, F., et al., Pathophysiologic role of selectins and their ligands in ischemia reperfusion injury. Front Biosci, 2000. 5: p. E103-9.
- Zhou, T., et al., Effect of anti-P-selectin monoclonal antibody on renal ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. Chin Med J (Engl), 2000. 113(9): p. 790-3.
- Singbartl, K., S.A. Green, and K. Ley, Blocking P-selectin protects from ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute renal failure. FASEB J, 2000. 14(1): p. 48-54.
- Connolly, E.S., Jr., et al., Exacerbation of cerebral injury in mice that express the Pselectin gene: identification of P-selectin blockade as a new target for the treatment of stroke. Circ Res, 1997. 81(3): p. 304-10.
- Dulkanchainun, T.S., et al., Reduction of hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury by a soluble P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. Ann Surg, 1998. 227(6): p. 832-40.
- Fuller, T.F., et al., Reduction of severe ischemia/reperfusion injury in rat kidney grafts by a soluble P-selectin glycoprotein ligand. Transplantation, 2001. 72(2): p. 216-22.
- Amersi, F., et al., P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (rPSGL-lg)-mediated blockade of CD62 selectin molecules protects rat steatotic liver grafts from ischemia/reperfusion injury. Am J Transplant, 2002. 2(7): p. 600-8.
- Busuttil, R.W., et al., rPSGL-Ig for improvement of early liver allograft function: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, single-center phase II study. Am J Transplant, 2011. 11(4): p. 786-97.
- Liu, Z., et al., Expression of the CXC chemokine receptor 3 and its ligands in ischemiareperfusion injury of liver in rats. Transplant Proc, 2008. 40(5): p. 1300-2.
- 92. Zhai, Y., et al., *CXCL10 regulates liver innate immune response against ischemia and reperfusion injury*. Hepatology, 2008. **47**(1): p. 207-14.
- Mertens, P., et al., Recombinant P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-immunoglobulin, a P-selectin antagonist, as an adjunct to thrombolysis in acute myocardial infarction. The P-Selectin Antagonist Limiting Myonecrosis (PSALM) trial. Am Heart J, 2006. 152(1): p. 125 e1-8.
- Gaber, A.O., et al., YSPSL (rPSGL-Ig) for improvement of early renal allograft function: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, multi-center Phase IIa study. Clin Transplant, 2011.
 25(4): p. 523-33.
- 95. Rodrigo, E., et al., Creatinine reduction ratio on post-transplant day two as criterion in defining delayed graft function. Am J Transplant, 2004. **4**(7): p. 1163-9.
- Bonventre, J.V., Dialysis in acute kidney injury--more is not better. N Engl J Med, 2008. 359(1): p. 82-4.
- Oliva, J., et al., Proteasome inhibitor treatment reduced fatty acid, triacylglycerol and cholesterol synthesis. Exp Mol Pathol, 2012. 93(1): p. 26-34.
- Vriend, J. and R.J. Reiter, *Melatonin and ubiquitin: what's the connection*? Cell Mol Life Sci, 2014. **71**(18): p. 3409-18.
- Hoffmann, T.F., et al., Ischemia and reperfusion in pancreas. Microsc Res Tech, 1997. 37(5-6): p. 557-71.
- Bejaoui, M., et al., Emerging concepts in liver graft preservation. World J Gastroenterol, 2015. 21(2): p. 396-407.

Figure legends

Figure 1: Mediators involved in ischemia-reprefusion injury; the oxygen deprivation during ischemia provokes ATP decreases, elevated intracellular acidosis and activation of Na+/H+ exchanger (NHE). The oxygen supply during reperfusion promotes intracellular Ca2+ and opening of the mitochondrial transition pore (mPTP). This initiates the apoptotic cascade and the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS contribute to intensify the inflammatory response, whereas pro-inflammatory mediators also contribute to exacerbated ROS. The final result is organ injury.

se, whereas pro-.. sult is organ injury.
Expert Opinion On Pharmacotherapy



338×190mm (96 x 96 DPI)